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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Except for historical information, this report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities
Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Such forward-looking statements include, among others, those statements
including the words “believes”, “anticipates”, “expects”, “intends”, “estimates”, “plans” and words of similar import. Such forward-looking statements involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements, or industry results, to be materially different from any future

results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and assumptions regarding our business, potential target businesses, the economy and other future conditions.
Because forward-looking statements relate to the future, by their nature, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict.
Our actual results may differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements. We caution you therefore that you should not rely on any of these forward-
looking statements as statements of historical fact or as guarantees or assurances of future performance. You should understand that many important factors, in addition to those
discussed or incorporated by reference in this report, could cause our results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements. Important factors that
could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements include changes in local, regional, national, or global political, economic, business,
competitive, market (supply and demand) and regulatory conditions and the following:

e  Our ability to raise capital when needed and on acceptable terms and conditions;

e  Our ability to attract and retain management with experience in digital media including digital video music streaming, and similar emerging technologies;
e Our ability to negotiate, finalize and maintain economically feasible agreements with the major and independent music labels, publishers and performance rights
organizations;

Our expectations regarding market acceptance of our products in general, and our ability to penetrate the digital video music streaming market in particular;
The scope, validity and enforceability of our and third-party intellectual property rights;

Our ability to comply with governmental regulation;

The intensity of competition;

The effects of the ongoing pandemic caused by the spread of the novel coronavirus COVID-19 (“COVID-19") and our business customers ability to service their
customers in out of home venues, especially considering government-imposed business shutdowns and capacity limitations;
Changes in the political and regulatory environment and in business and fiscal conditions in the United States and overseas;
Our ability to attract prospective users and to retain existing users;

Our dependence upon third-party licenses for sound recordings and musical compositions;

Our lack of control over the providers of our content and their effect on our access to music and other content;

Our ability to comply with the many complex license agreements to which we are a party;

Our ability to accurately estimate the amounts payable under our license agreements;

The limitations on our operating flexibility due to the minimum guarantees required under certain of our license agreements;
Our ability to obtain accurate and comprehensive information about music compositions in order to obtain necessary licenses or perform obligations under our existing
license agreements;

Potential breaches of our security systems;

Assertions by third parties of infringement or other violations by us of their intellectual property rights;

Competition for users and user listening time;

Our ability to generate sufficient revenue to be profitable or to generate positive cash flow on a sustained basis;

Our ability to accurately estimate our user metrics;

Risks associated with manipulation of stream counts and user accounts and unauthorized access to our services;

Changes in legislation or governmental regulations affecting us;

Ability to hire and retain key personnel;

Our ability to maintain, protect and enhance our brand;

Risks associated with our international expansion, including difficulties obtaining rights to stream music on favorable terms;
Risks relating to the acquisition, investment and disposition of companies or technologies;

Dilution resulting from additional share issuances;

Tax-related risks;

The concentration of voting power among our founders who have and will continue to have substantial control over our business;




e International, national, or local economic, social or political conditions, and
e  Risks associated with accounting estimates, currency fluctuations and foreign exchange controls.

Other sections of this report describe additional risk factors that could adversely impact our business and financial performance. Moreover, we operate in an evolving
environment. New risk factors and uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for our management to predict all risk factors and uncertainties, nor are we able
to assess the impact of all of these risk factors on our business or the extent to which any risk factor, or combination of risk factors, may cause actual results to differ materially
from those contained in any forward-looking statements. These risks and others described under the section “Risk Factors” below are not exhaustive.

Given these uncertainties, readers of this Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”) are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking

statements. We disclaim any obligation to update any such factors or to publicly announce the result of any revisions to any of the forward-looking statements contained herein
to reflect future events or developments.




PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

History

On January 3, 2020, we (the “Company”, “Loop Media”, “Issuer”, “we”, “us”, “our”) entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) by and
among the Company, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Loop Media Acquisition, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Merger Sub”), and Loop Media, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (“Predecessor Loop”). Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, on February 6, 2020, Merger Sub merged with and into Predecessor Loop with Predecessor Loop
surviving the merger and becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Merger”). At the time of the Merger, Predecessor Loop stockholders received one newly
issued share of the Company’s common stock in exchange for each share of Predecessor Loop common stock.

The Merger was treated as a recapitalization and reverse acquisition of the Company for financial accounting purposes. Predecessor Loop is considered the acquirer for
accounting purposes, and the Company’s historical financial statements before the Merger have been replaced with the historical financial statements of Predecessor Loop
before the Merger in our filings with the SEC since the Merger.

Prior to the Merger our business comprised two main business segments: (i) travel agency assistance services and (ii) convention services. Upon completion of the
Merger, on February 6, 2020, the Company sold these businesses and related assets to a stockholder of the Company in exchange for 2,000,000 outstanding shares of common
stock of the Company.

On May 22, 2020, the Company entered into a Plan of Merger by and among the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Predecessor Loop, pursuant to which,
Predecessor Loop merged with and into the Company with the Company surviving the merger and the separate existence of Predecessor Loop ceasing (the “Consolidation”). To
affect the Consolidation, the Certificate of Ownership and Merger were filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on June 8, 2020 and the Articles of Merger were filed with the
Nevada Secretary of State on June 9, 2020. In connection with the Consolidation the Company changed its name to Loop Media, Inc. and remained a Nevada corporation.

On June 8, 2020, the Company filed a Certificate of Change pursuant to NRS 78.209 with the Nevada Secretary of State to implement the reverse split of the
Company’s authorized and outstanding shares of common stock on a 1 to 1.5 basis (the “Reverse Split”). In connection with the Reverse Split, the number of shares of common
stock the Company has the authority to issue decreased from 500,000,000 to 333,333,334 shares, and there was a corresponding decrease in the number of issued and
outstanding shares of each class and series of common stock. Except for de minimus adjustments that resulted from the treatment of fractional shares, the Reverse Split did not
have any dilutive effect on our then current stockholders at the time of the Reverse Split because each stockholder held the same percentage of our common stock outstanding
immediately following the Reverse Split as such stockholder held immediately prior to the Reverse Split. As a result of the Reverse Split, the number of shares of our common
stock that may be purchased upon exercise of warrants, options, or other securities outstanding at the time of the Reverse Split and convertible into, or exercisable or
exchangeable for, shares of our common stock, and the exercise or conversion prices for these securities, have also been ratably adjusted in accordance with their terms. All
share and per share numbers in this report relating to our common stock prior to the Reverse Stock Split have been adjusted to give effect to the Reverse Split, unless otherwise
stated.

The Company

We were incorporated in Nevada on May 11, 2015. Our historical business comprised two main business segments: (i) travel agency assistance services and (ii)
convention services, which business was sold upon consummation of the Merger with Predecessor Loop. As a result of the Merger with Predecessor Loop, on February 6, 2020,
we became an early-stage media company and acquired Predecessor Loop’s video streaming business and the management team of Predecessor Loop became our management
team.

Predecessor Loop was started in 2016 with the intention of developing and then delivering a streaming video music service to consumers on their in-home and mobile
devices. In 2016, Predecessor Loop sought to acquire ScreenPlay, Inc., a Washington corporation (“ScreenPlay”), which operated a business-focused video streaming service
providing music video and other content to business venues and which had a vast short-form video content library that contained over 500,000 videos, including music videos,
game, and TV trailers. At that time, Predecessor Loop acquired 20% of the remaining outstanding shares of ScreenPlay and entered into an agreement to acquire all of the
remaining outstanding shares.

Predecessor Loop sought to acquire ScreenPlay to obtain access to and ownership of ScreenPlay’s vast video content, which could then be streamed to Predecessor
Loop’s target retail customers, and to benefit from ScreenPlay’s relationships with the major music label companies whose licenses would be required to provide music video
content to such retail customers. The acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of ScreenPlay by Predecessor Loop was consummated in 2019, at which time ScreenPlay’s
content became the foundation of Predecessor Loop’s (and now our) business. Since the acquisition of ScreenPlay, we have continued to procure additional content, through
acquisitions and licenses, to further grow our video library.




You can find more information about us at our website located at www.loop.tv.

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, our Current Reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports are available free of
charge through our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file or furnish such material with the SEC. The contents of our website are not incorporated
into or deemed to be part of this Annual Report or any of our other filings with the SEC.

Our principal executive offices are located at 700 N. Central Avenue, Suite 430, Glendale, CA 91203 (telephone: 213-436-2100).
Our Business

Loop Media is at the forefront of curating short-form video content into dynamic and engaging visual experiences, which we deliver to business customers for their out
of home (“OOH”) venues and directly to retail consumers (“D2C”) in their home and on their mobile devices. Our curated video content, which is currently primarily music
videos, is provided to business venues and consumers on either a paid subscription (“Premium Service”) or unpaid advertising (“Ad-Supported Service”, and together with the
Premium Service, the “Service”) basis. We are actively developing our non-music video content and expect to expand this area of our service to help further diversify our video
offerings. We seek to monetize our content through the provision of our Services primarily in the United States. Our revenue is generated by advertisers who pay to have their
advertisements viewed by the end users of our services and by business owners and users who pay a subscription fee to access our services without advertisements.

We are an early-stage operating company, with limited revenue and negative cash flow from operations. Our revenue for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020,
consists almost entirely of revenue from our historic ScreenPlay business, which we acquired along with ScreenPlay’s catalogue of music and other videos in February 2020 and
does not yet fully reflect expected revenues from our more recent product offerings, Services, and business model. See “Business Model.”

The Company employed approximately 43 people as of December 31, 2020, 34 of whom were full-time employees and 9 of whom were contract workers.

We have made significant investment and incurred a large amount of fees and expenses, including some non-cash items, in order to develop our business and will need
to continue to do so for the foreseeable future. We rely on external funding to finance our business and will continue to do so. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
our revenues were $2,794,081 and $3,381,121, respectively. We had a net loss in both years ending December 31, 2020 and 2019. The Company has an accumulated deficit.
The Company’s continuation as a going concern is dependent on its ability to generate sufficient cash flows from operations to meet its obligations, which it has not been able to
accomplish to date, and/or obtain additional financing from its stockholders and/or other third parties. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.”

Our Services
We provide curated short-form video content to business customers for their OOH venues and D2C customers in their home and on their mobile devices.

Loop Media’s music video service provides a unique three-hundred-and-sixty-degree experience that allows a user to access our product in their home on a connected
television (CTV) or mobile device, while they travel outside their home on their mobile device, and upon arriving at an OOH venue that offers our Services. While at home or
in the OOH venue a consumer may also be able to use our mobile application (Loop — Live Music Videos) (the “Loop App”) to interact with their home CTV or the venue’s
televisions, as our mobile application includes social features that allow users to follow and be followed by other users, share their location and any user created playlist (a
video music “Loop”), view activity, signal support for a particular music video, and listen to other users’ Loops. We believe we are the only service licensed by all three major
music labels (see “License Agreements”) providing users with access to a music video product in both OOH venues and directly to their CTVs and mobile devices.

An upcoming feature is expected to allow us to engage customers while they are at an OOH venue that has our service through social media applications and on-screen
identification. We will encourage the customer to download the Loop App which allows them the opportunity to influence what is playing on select screens while in the venue
(at the venue’s discretion). Using the D2C application the user is expected to be able to access a large variety of playlists in the free advertising supported version of the
application. Premium Service subscribers will be able to access even more content and features in the paid version of our application.

With the introduction of our D2C service we have begun to take the programing and music video management experience we have developed in our OOH service to
the under-serviced consumer market. Although there are other avenues to watch individual music videos on-line, we believe there is a shortage of professionally produced music
video programs available. In addition to being able to play individual music videos, users of our premium version will also be able to program their own playlists in expanded
ways. We expect our advertising-enabled free video service will be welcomed by consumers as it will bring dozens of professionally produced video programs to the market at
no direct cost to the viewer.




Our Operations

We acquire short-form video content and produce, curate, develop and package that content for distribution to our customers. Customers can access our content
primarily by visiting select OOH venues, through over the top (“OTT”) linear channels on CTVs and similar devices and on their mobile devices through our Loop App.

Content acquisition

We acquire video content through acquisition, obtaining licensing rights and partnering with owners and creators of content. The backbone of our content is currently
our vast music video library, which we acquired from ScreenPlay.

Music videos

We believe our music video library is one of the largest in the world and gives us an advantage over many of our competitors, which may have more limited historical
libraries. Our music video library contains videos from the 1950s up until 2021, with the newest videos being obtained directly from the music labels. Historical music video
libraries are more difficult to obtain, as there is generally no central data base to purchase such videos and the individual music labels who have rights over portions of such
videos do not easily and readily provide their entire back catalogue of music videos to those seeking to acquire them.

Although we own copies of the music videos that we deliver to our customers, we need to secure the rights to stream the video and sound recordings and the musical
compositions embodied therein (i.e., the musical notes and the lyrics) to provide these videos to our customers. To do so we enter into license agreements to obtain licenses from
rights holders such as record labels, music publishers, performance rights organizations, collecting societies, and other copyright owners or their agents, and pay royalties to
such parties or their agents.

We currently have licenses and agreements with multiple parties to distribute our music videos for our OOH and consumer customers in the United States, Canada, and
Mexico, and are looking to expand our reach by securing licenses for other regions, including other countries in South America and, possibly, Europe and Asia. We have
longstanding limited, non-exclusive licenses to digitally distribute certain music video recordings and related materials owned or controlled by the three main music labels (the
“Music Labels”) to our OOH customers. In 2020, we entered into agreements with the Music Labels, pursuant to which the Company was also provided limited, non-exclusive
licenses to digitally distribute certain music video recordings and related materials owned or controlled by the Music Labels in connection with our D2C business and the
provision of music videos to users of the Loop App for mobile and CTV. The last of these agreements was entered into in December 2020 at which time we were able to provide
a more complete offering of music video content to our D2C customers.

Trailers

Our film, game, and TV trailer library is one of our larger video libraries and, like our music video library, includes a back catalog of older videos, dating from the
early 1900s to the present. More recent trailers are secured from the relevant production companies, at no cost to us, and add to our growing library. Our back catalogue of older
trailers was obtained with the acquisition of ScreenPlay.

Other

In addition to music videos and movie trailers, we have obtained other video content for curation and distribution to our customers. This content includes, college
sports highlights, viral videos (including “fail” and animal videos), atmospherics, travel, and children’s videos.

We continue to explore opportunities to secure other forms of video content to add to our growing content library, including content related to entertainment, lifestyle,
and information.

Content curation

In October 2020 we created a new business division at Loop, called Loop Music Studios (“Loop Studios™), to lead the acquisition, curation, production, and branding
of our video content.

Loop Studios works to curate content to create a compelling user experience by, among other things, curating playlists by genre, mood, or time periods (‘“Playlists”)
and creating streaming linear channels, delivered under our “watch live tv” product feature, which is organized along genres and moods (“Channels”). We currently have over
80 English language music video Playlists, 65 Spanish language music video Playlists, 65 music video Channels for OOH venues, 13 non-music video Channels for OOH
venues, and 24 music video Channels for our consumer end users delivered through the Loop App on CTVs or mobile devices.




Through Loop Studios we are also seeking to produce our own content “in-house” that can be packaged separately or as part of our third-party content offerings
through our existing and future Channels.

Content distribution

We seek to make our content available virtually anywhere and anytime throughout the evolving media landscape. We leverage our existing content across a number of
distribution platforms, reaching consumers in OOH venues and via our Loop App on their CTVs and mobile devices. These digital and mobile initiatives are expected to drive
growth as users consume content and utilize services across an increasing number of platforms.

OOH

The foundation of our company was built around OOH: providing licensed music videos to businesses and public venues. Our OOH business has been supporting the
hospitality and retail industries with music video services for over 20 years, originally by ScreenPlay, which we acquired in 2019. Our OOH service is targeted at commercial
outlets throughout the United States.

Most OOH venues deliver visual content to their customers by use of cable TV boxes and computer-based audio-visual (“A/V”’) equipment requiring significant
investment and cost. Capital investment in equipment has been historically, and in many cases still is, a barrier for many OOH venues to provide visual entertainment to their
customers. Unlike consumers in their homes, who have been more willing in recent years to invest in CTVs and streaming services, businesses as a general matter have been
slower in adopting often lower cost streaming options and acquiring the related necessary equipment in their OOH venues. We believe the COVID-19 pandemic, which began
in early 2020, has accelerated the consideration by OOH operators of lower cost solutions to providing visual content in their venues.

Historically, our OOH business model was a Premium Service-only model and required computer hardware for the provision of content. With a Premium Service
OOH model, business owners would pay a monthly subscription fee and we would provide them with curated business Channels for which they subscribed. Customers would
purchase computer hardware equipment from us in order for us to deliver the content to them and for them to play the content through their A/V systems to the televisions in
their venues. The customers signing up for our Premium Service were primarily bars and restaurants, but also included casinos and retail stores.

To gain greater access to, and expand our business with, OOH venues, we developed the Loop Player (the “Loop Player”), our own proprietary “small-box” streaming
video player that plugs directly into a television’s HDMI video input, or can be plugged into an A/V system to stream video content to multiple television sets. We originally
offered the Loop Player at a relatively low cost to OOH businesses but have more recently offered free Loop Players to businesses, which eliminates the need for OOH
customers to pay for costly computer hardware and allows us to introduce more easily an Ad-Supported Service to such OOH customers. The Ad-Supported Service also
eliminates a business customer’s monthly subscription fees. We believe the Loop Player and our Ad-Supported Service has brought the cost of specialty equipment and visual
entertainment significantly down for business owners who replace their existing equipment and service with our Loop Player, as there is no payment from the OOH venue
operators for our Loop Player or Ad-Supported Service.

The Loop Player was introduced in early 2020, but the push to get it into the hands of business owners only began in earnest in the 4th quarter of 2020. We believe the
COVID-19 pandemic, which started in early 2020 and caused many businesses to shut down or reduce capacity, has accelerated the demand of business owners to look for
CTVs and streaming services, including the Loop Player, to reduce their costs. We believe the introduction of our Loop Player and the switch to an Ad-Supported business
model for our OOH business has contributed in recent months to the growth of our OOH clients and the expansion of our client base beyond our typical hospitality-based clients
to smaller venues, franchisees and venues that service non-hospitality industries, like pet stores, doctors’ offices, and other non-traditional venues.

The Loop Player allows us to stream content over the Internet to retail consumers without the need for a cable subscription or a CTV. Our OOH service is also offered
to business customers by downloading our on-line business application through CTVs and other streaming video players like the Amazon Fire Stick, Roku Streaming devices,
and native television manufacturer applications such as Vizio. In the near term, customers switching from a Premium Service, which was the primary contributor to our
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020, to an Ad-Supported Service may adversely impact our revenues as the Ad-Supported Service ramps up. Over time, however,
the Ad-Supported Service is expected to provide more revenue than our Premium Service for individual OOH customers as we are increasingly able to fill advertising inventory
in our content with paid advertisements. OOH commercial and public venues provide advertisers with access to multiple consumers at once, as opposed to, for instance, a single
consumer viewing an advertisement on their individual mobile device. This makes an Ad-Supported Service for our OOH business more attractive to us than a Premium
Service. OOH business customers who do not want advertising displayed on the content streamed to their venues can choose a Premium Service with ad-free content streamed
by the Loop Player for a subscription fee.

The Loop Player allows our clients to program their in-store monitors and audio systems to, among other things, schedule Playlists to come on and off depending on the
time of day, promote a client’s products or services through digital signage, or deliver franchise or company-wide messages to staff in back office or break room locations.
Business owners can filter out content based on ratings or explicit language and can control which genres of videos to exclude from their programming. Business owners can
also use our scheduling function to play specific playlists that highlight the natural rhythms of their businesses (e.g., special promotional nights or relaxed lunchtimes).




The Loop Player is a lightweight, interactive solution for a business’ A/V and communication needs. The Loop Player comes with an expanded local memory for
offline caching and provides a failsafe in the event of loss of internet connection. The OOH streaming player is also equipped with a wide range of direct outputs for various
A/V setups including audio and stereo outputs, ethernet plugin, USB 2, USB 3, HDMI, SD input, and Bluetooth.

Our OOH Playlists last between 5-10 hours to reduce the number of repeats of videos and are pre-screened for content that may not be appropriate for businesses.
Mobile applications

We have developed mobile and internet applications such as the Loop App smart phone application and our online app accessed through OTT platforms for the
distribution of our music video content only. These mobile and internet applications allow users of our Ad-Supported Service to use their smart phones, tablets, or other digital
devices to interact directly with our Channels and Playlists, while providing an additional method for advertisers to reach consumers. For Premium users they are given
enhanced functionality to search for titles of music videos and artists, request music videos, and create custom and personalized “Loops”. Our Loop App was made available in
mid-2020, but we have not promoted or advertised it in any meaningful way, as we were unable to provide a full music video offering until we secured the last of our three
major label licenses in December 2020. As a result, the Loop App mobile application has not experienced significant downloads. We have seen some a heightened number of
downloads in Mexico, where we launched the Loop App with an Asian-based communications distribution partner.

OTT /MVPDs

For non-music video content, our licenses generally provide that we can develop the content for linear channels operated by multichannel video programming
distributors (“MVPDs”). MVPD operators appear less interested in non-music video content in linear channel format than with music video content, but we will continue to
explore the distribution of non-music video content as we seek to develop and provide additional expertly curated and broader content offerings. We do not currently have any
significant non-music video content distribution on linear channels.

We are exploring the distribution of our music-video content through linear channels on MVPD platforms and have entered into distribution transactions with several
such platforms for the distribution of certain of our music video Channels. In order to provide a fully engaging music video Service offering on the linear channels of OTT
platforms, we will need to secure additional licensing rights from the Music Labels. We are in discussions with certain of the Music Labels to try and secure additional or
expanded licenses, but there is no assurance these licenses will be obtained.

Linear channels operate on the MVPD platforms as a standalone linear channel presented by the MVPD operator without the need to access our Loop App. The
MVPDs who distribute Channels for us share in our revenue from subscriptions and advertising, as well as other revenue derived from our Channels on their OTT platforms.

Our Business Model

We offer both Premium and Ad-Supported Services. Our Premium and Ad-Supported Services are separate offerings to end users but work together to help support our
business. Our free to the end user Ad-Supported Service serves as a way to acquire users of our Premium Service for our D2C Mobile App users. We prefer customers who
obtain our services in our OOH and OTT businesses to remain with our Ad-Supported Services, as we expect to be able to earn more gross revenue with our Ad Supported
Service model in these businesses than we do with a Premium Service for the foreseeable future. We believe our Ad-Supported Service will be a strong and viable stand-alone
product with good long-term opportunity for growth in Ad-Supported users and revenue; however, we face intense competition in growing both our Ad-Supported users and
Premium users, as well as in keeping our users highly engaged. If user engagement declines or if we fail to continue to grow our Ad-Supported user base or Premium subscriber
base, our revenue growth will be negatively impacted. See “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business—If our efforts to attract prospective users and to retain existing users
are not successful, our growth prospects and revenue will be adversely affected.”

We are currently primarily focused on the United States with our OOH and D2C businesses but have sought to expand our D2C businesses in Canada and Mexico,
with other South American countries to potentially follow along, possibly with parts of Europe and Asia. Expanding our OOH business outside the United States is also being
considered but may require more of a physical presence by us on the ground in certain jurisdictions in order to grow that business in any meaningful way.




We are targeting OOH businesses that are looking to provide premium curated video content to their customers and consumers who are looking to access premium
music video content in their homes and on their mobile devices.

Our primary business is the provision of content to our OOH business customers, giving them music video and other video content that will provide their customers
with access to our vast video library through Playlists and Channels. Our service to OOH businesses is both Premium and Ad-Supported.

Our business plan also includes a second revenue stream from users who download our Loop App, giving them access to our vast video library through Playlists,
Channels, Loops, and on demand searches. Our Loop App can be accessed as a Premium or Ad-Supported Service.

Our business plan further contemplates a third future potential revenue stream which would come from OTT customers, giving them music video and other video
content that would provide subscribers to the relevant third-party OTT services with access to our vast video library through Channels. We expect that our service to OTT
platform providers will primarily be Ad-Supported as many of the providers run a free advertising supported television, or FAST, business model for Channels on their services.

Our Growth Strategies

We are in the early stages of our business model to monetize our music video content library obtained from ScreenPlay and all other video content licensed from third-
party content providers. For the year ended December 31, 2020, substantially all our revenues were derived from the historical business of ScreenPlay, which relies on a
Subscription service-based model using older and more expensive A/V technology. Our revenues for 2020 did not contain any significant contribution from any Ad-Supported
Services or the provision of the Loop Player to OOH venues or our Loop App to retail consumer end users.

Our growth strategies are focused on monetizing and growing our content library by (i) increased marketing to OOH venues to increase the number of OOH venues are
Service is in; (ii) cross promotional marketing to consumer end users of our Services to grow the number of users our Services reach; (ii) acquiring, licensing and developing
our non-music video content library to enhance margins and broaden our reach; (iii) attracting more users in current and new markets in order to collect more behavioral data,
which we use to offer our customers, users and advertisers an even better experience; (iv) invest in our advertising partners; and (v) expand operations internationally.

The key elements of our growth strategy are:

o [Increase marketing efforts targeting OOH venues. We have found online digital advertising to be a successful customer acquisition strategy and a direct correlation
between funds spent for online advertising and businesses signing up for our Loop Player. The more we spend on advertising, the more businesses sign up for our Loop
Player. The Loop Player can be shipped direct to an OOH venue after an online sign up by the venue operator. The Loop Player is easily installed by the venue operator,
without the need for a Loop employee or representative to be physically located at the venue location. In addition to digital advertising to individual businesses, we are
also looking to increase our direct marketing efforts by our internal sales team in order to target large, national or regional, franchisee or corporate owned, businesses, to
promote our Loop Player and Services to them. See “Marketing and Sales.”

o  Increasing the visibility and use of our Loop App. The presence of our Service in OOH venues provides us with great access to our consumer target market. We run
cross promotional advertisements through our Loop Player on our OOH Service that seeks to encourage consumers to download and experience our Loop App on their
mobile devices or in their homes on CTVs. We believe the expansion of our OOH business will give greater exposure to our D2C Services and help grow the use of our
Loop App.

o  Expand our non-music video content. Our music video content library is the foundation of our business, but has significant costs associated with it as it requires us to
make significant payments to the Music Labels and other rights holders. In addition, certain OOH venues are looking for a broader or more targeted content offering than
pure music videos. Since the acquisition of ScreenPlay’s music video library, we have sought to expand our non-music video content by adding and curating additional
non-music content, which in most instances provides better economics to us than music video content. We hope to expand our offering over time to include additional
non-music content, such as entertainment, lifestyle, and information and we are actively engaged with potential content partners to achieve this goal.

o  Diversify our customer base. We believe the introduction of our Loop Player and the switch to an Ad-Supported business model for our OOH business has contributed in
recent months to the growth of our OOH clients and the expansion of our client base beyond our typical hospitality-based clients to smaller venues, franchisees, and
venues that service non-hospitality industries, like pet stores, doctors’ offices, and other non-traditional venues. This expansion has given us greater insight into the
viewing habits of a diverse customer base and an outlet and demand for some of our non-music video content (e.g., animal related video content for pet stores or
children’s focused videos for pediatricians’ offices). We will continue to expand the types of OOH customers we target.
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o  Expand internationally. We primarily operate in the United States. We believe the non-U.S. market is underserved in the provision of video content to OOH venues and
D2C end users and are exploring the expansion of our business to service these markets. We may initially look to expand to certain countries in South America and Asia
if we believe a presence in those countries will enhance revenues and profitability over the long term. In 2020 we launched our Loop App in Mexico and took a non-
controlling interest in EON Media, Inc. (“EON Media”) in Asia. Eon Media has a weekly syndicated radio program targeted across Asia and we believe this will be a
good platform for us to expand our operations to the region. If opportunities present themselves in other countries and regions outside the United States, we may pursue
them as well.

License Agreements

In order to stream video content to our users, we generally secure intellectual property rights to such content by obtaining licenses from, and paying royalties or other
consideration to, rights holders or their agents. Below is a summary of certain provisions of our license agreements relating to music videos and the musical compositions
embodied therein), as well as other non-music video content.

Music video and A/V recordings license agreements with major and independent record labels

We have license agreements with the recorded music affiliates of the three largest music companies: Universal Music Group, Sony Music Entertainment, and Warner
Music Group. These agreements require us to pay royalties and make minimum guaranteed advanced payments, and they include marketing commitments, advertising
inventory, and financial and data reporting obligations. Rights to A/V recordings granted pursuant to these agreements is expected to account for the vast majority of our music
video use for the foreseeable future. Generally, these license agreements have a short duration and are not automatically renewable. The license agreements also allow for the
licensor to terminate the agreement in certain circumstances, including, for example, our failure to timely pay sums due within a certain period, our breach of material terms,
and in some situations that could constitute a “change of control” of Loop. These agreements generally provide that the licensors have the right to audit us for compliance with
the terms of these agreements. Further, they contain “most favored nations” provisions, which require that certain material contract terms be at least as favorable as the terms
we have agreed to with any other similarly situated licensor. Our license agreements with the largest music companies for our OOH business were entered into years ago and
those music companies have requested a review and update of those licenses. The updating of those licenses (or entering into new licenses to cover our OOH business) is
expected to increase our license costs associated with such rights, including our minimum guarantee payment obligations. See “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business—
Minimum guarantees required under certain of our license agreements may limit our operating flexibility and may adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial
condition.”

Musical composition license agr ts

With respect to the underlying musical compositions embodied in the music video recordings we stream, we generally secure both reproduction and public
performance rights from the owners, publishers, or administrators of the compositions (or their agents). We have obtained direct licenses for reproduction rights with the three
largest music publishers for our consumer business and are in the process of obtaining such licenses for our OOH business. If our business does not perform as expected or if the
rates are modified to be higher than the proposed rates, our music video content acquisition costs could increase, which could negatively harm our business, operating results,
and financial condition, hinder our ability to provide interactive features in our services, or cause one or more of our services not to be economically viable due to an increase in
content acquisition costs.

In the United States, public performance rights are generally obtained through intermediaries known as performance rights organizations (“PROs), which negotiate
blanket licenses with copyright users for the public performance of compositions in their repertory, collect royalties under such licenses, and distribute those royalties to music
publishers and songwriters. We have obtained public performance licenses from, and pay license fees to, the PROs in the United States: the American Society of Composers,
Authors and Publishers (“ASCAP”), Broadcast Music, Inc. (“BMI”), the SESAC Performing Rights, LLC (“SESAC”), and Global Music Rights, LLC (“GMR”). These
agreements impose music usage reporting obligations on Loop and grant audit rights in favor of the PROs. In addition, these agreements typically have one-to-two-year terms,
and some have continuous renewal provisions, with either party able to terminate for convenience with one to two months’ prior written notice and are limited to the territory of
the United States and its territories and possessions.

License agreements with non-music video content

With respect to non-music video content for which we obtain distribution rights directly from rights holders, we either negotiate licenses directly with individuals or
entities. These license agreements require us to share associated revenues.




License agreement extensions, renewals, and expansions

From time to time, our license agreements with certain rights holders and/or their agents expire while we negotiate their renewals. Per industry custom and practice, we
may enter into brief (for example, month-, week-, or even days-long) extensions of those agreements or provisional licenses and/or continue to operate on an at will basis as if
the license agreement had been extended, including by our continuing to make content available. It is also possible that such agreements will never be renewed at all. License
agreements are generally restrictive as to how the licensed content is accessed, displayed, and manipulated, as licensors seek to protect the use of their content. In order to
provide the highest level of Services and best experience for our customers and end users, we may from time to time seek expansion of our licenses to provide us with greater
functionality of our Services as it relates to the relevant content. The inability to expand our licenses, or the lack of renewal, or termination, of one or more of our license
agreements, or the renewal of a license agreement on less favorable terms, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
See “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business—We depend upon third-party licenses for substantially all of the content we stream and an adverse change to, loss of, or
claim that we do not hold any necessary licenses may materially adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.”

Competition
Our competitive market is made up of a variety of small to large companies, depending upon the area that we are competing within.

In the OOH market, we compete with several small, fragmented companies. Our direct competitors include Atmosphere, Stingray, and Rockbot. We believe that the
major competitive factors in our OOH marketplace are price, technology, quality music video content, and other entertainment content.

In the OTT market, we compete with a significant number of large and small companies as we compete to secure our service on OTT devices and, once on the service,
we compete for individual viewers of our product. Our competitors include Vevo, Jukin Media, and Stingray. We believe that the major competitive factors in our OTT
marketplace are quality content and revenue share splits.

In the consumer application market, we compete with a large number of audio-only companies for music but very few for music videos. Our direct competitors include
Xcite and YouTube Music. We believe that the major competitive factors in our OOH marketplace are stickiness/social aspects of the relevant mobile application, curation, and
price.

Marketing and Sales

Our sales and marketing efforts are primarily focused on reaching our OOH customers. Historically, our sales cycle from first contact with a potential customer to
adoption of our Services was relatively long and met with varying degrees of success, as the A/V equipment required to run our Service was often considered expensive by
many of the venues looking to acquire it. Our sales and marketing efforts depended almost entirely on direct marketing by our internal sales representatives, including multiple
contacts, onsite demonstrations of our services, and potentially on-site installation and technical support, when needed. The introduction of our Loop Player for OOH venues has
enabled us to adopt a digital marketing strategy, in addition to our direct marketing.

Upon introduction of our proprietary Loop Player, our sales and marketing strategy for OOH customers has consisted of a bottom-up and top-down approaches. Our
bottom-up approach markets our Loop Player and our OOH business through digital marketing to potential business customers for use at their individual venues. The marketing
reaches these businesses through the Internet, mobile devices, social media, search engines, and other digital channels. Our digital marketing campaign targets businesses in
certain industries that are more likely to take up our Services and become a customer, as determined by our past experience and by analyzing and identifying leads sourced from
our online marketing channels. We are able to mail a physical Loop Player to individual businesses that sign up for our services online and are verified by us and then utilize
our team of customer service personnel, digital prompts, including text messages, and promotional rewards to ensure activation of the Loop Player after receipt by the potential
customer. For Subscription Services, a sales representative will call the potential business customer to better communicate the various subscription services pricing and
availability.

Our top-down approach for OOH marketing and sales relies on our internal sales team targeting large, national or regional, franchisee or corporate-owned, businesses,
to promote our Loop Player and Services in multiple venues controlled by them. We often will obtain a lead into these businesses from individual venues in such business’
network of venue operators and owners. The top-down approach has a longer sales cycle, but often results in a greater reach and distribution of our Loop Player and Services to
multiple venues at a single time, once adopted.

Our sales and marketing efforts on our D2C consumer business is more limited and relies on our internal direct marketing and sales team to approach various Smart
TV and CTV operators, distributors, and manufacturers. We seek to meet their needs by providing compelling content for their networks and platforms through our Loop App
or otherwise.

We also seek to cross-promote our OOH and D2C businesses on each respective platform and believe greater penetration of our OOH business will help drive exposure
to the public consumers of our D2C products.




Intellectual Property

We have developed our own software, computer code and related items to provide our service and do not materially rely on any third-party providers for the same. Our
Loop Player is a proprietary device, designed by us and is subject to patents.

Our intellectual property rights are important to our business. We believe we will come to rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark, service mark, trade
secret, and other rights in the United States and other jurisdictions, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our proprietary technology,
processes, and other intellectual property. We will protect our intellectual property rights in a number of ways including entering into confidentiality and other written
agreements with our employees, customers, consultants, and partners in an attempt to control access to and distribution of our documentation and other proprietary technology
and other information. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, third parties may, in an unauthorized manner, attempt to use, copy, or otherwise obtain and market or
distribute our intellectual property rights or technology.

U.S. patent filings are intended to provide the holder with a right to exclude others from making, using, selling, or importing in the United States the inventions covered
by the claims of granted patents. Our patents, including our pending patents, if granted, may be contested, circumvented, or invalidated. Moreover, the rights that may be
granted in those issued and pending patents may not provide us with proprietary protection or competitive advantages, and we may not be able to prevent third parties from
infringing those patents. Therefore, the exact benefits of our issued patents and our pending patents, if issued, and the other steps that we have taken to protect our intellectual
property cannot be predicted with certainty. See “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business—Failure to protect our intellectual property could substantially harm our
business, operating results, and financial condition.”
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below together with all of the other information included in
this Annual Report before making an investment decision with regard to our securities. The statements contained herein or incorporated herein that are not historical facts are
forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those set forth in or implied by forward-looking
statements. If any of the following risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition, or results of operations could be harmed. In that case, you may lose all or part of
your investment. In addition to the other information provided in this Annual Report, you should carefully consider the following risk factors in evaluating our business before
purchasing any of our common stock. Although it is not possible to identify or predict all of the risks and uncertainties we face, we believe the discussion below includes all of
the risks that are material to our business.

Summary Risk Factors

Risks Related to our Financial Condition

We have required debt and equity financing to maintain operations.

We have generated minimal revenues under our current business model, which makes it difficult for us to evaluate our future business prospects.

We have incurred significant operating losses in the past, and we may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to be profitable, or to generate positive cash flow on a
sustained basis.

There is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.

We will require additional capital to support business growth and objectives, and this capital might not be available on acceptable terms, if at all.

We may not be able to utilize all, or any, of our net operating loss carry-forwards.

Risks Related to Our Business

If our efforts to attract prospective OOH customers and D2C users and to retain existing customers and users of our Service are not successful, our growth prospects and
revenue will be adversely affected.

We face and will continue to face competition for Ad-Supported Users, Premium Subscribers, and user listening time.

We depend upon third-party licenses for substantially all of the content we stream and an adverse change to, loss of, or claim that we do not hold any necessary licenses
may materially adversely affect us.

The concentration of control of content by our major providers means that even one entity, or a small number of entities working together, may unilaterally affect our
access to music video and other content.

We are a party to many license agreements that are complex and impose numerous obligations upon us that may make it difficult to operate our business and provide all
of the functionality we would like for our Services.

Our royalty payment scheme is complex, and it is difficult to estimate the amount payable under our license agreements.

Minimum guarantees required under certain of our license agreements may limit our operating flexibility.

Difficulties in identifying the compositions embodied in music video sound recordings on our Service and the ownership thereof may impact our ability to perform our
obligations under our licenses, the size of our catalog, and our content acquisition costs, and may lead to copyright infringement claims.

We face many risks associated with our international expansion, including difficulties obtaining rights to stream content on favorable terms.

If we fail to effectively manage our growth, our business, operating results, and financial condition may suffer.

Our business emphasizes rapid innovation and prioritizes long-term user engagement over short-term financial condition or results of operations, which may yield results
that do not align with the market’s expectations.




If we fail to accurately predict, recommend, curate, and play content that our customers and users enjoy, we may fail to retain existing customers and users and attract
new customers and users.

If we are unable to obtain revenue from our Service on CTVs and mobile and connected devices, our results of operations may be materially adversely affected.
Expansion of our operations to deliver content beyond music video, subjects us to increased business, legal, financial, reputational, and competitive risks.

Changes in our Service or the operating systems, hardware, networks, regulations, or standards we work with, and our limitations on our ability to access or control those
platforms, operating systems, hardware, or networks may seriously harm our business.

A breach of our security systems could subject us to civil liability and/or statutory fines, and/or enforcement action causing us to change our practices, and public
perception of our security measures could be diminished.

Our Service and software are highly technical and may contain undetected software bugs or vulnerabilities, which could manifest in ways that could seriously harm our
reputation and our business.

Interruptions, delays, or discontinuations in service arising from our own systems or from third parties could impair the delivery of our Service and harm our business.
Assertions by third parties of infringement or other violation by us of their intellectual property rights could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.
Failure to protect our intellectual property could substantially harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Real or perceived inaccuracies in user metrics or other estimates may seriously harm and negatively affect our reputation and our business.

Failure to effectively manage and remediate artificial manipulation of stream counts could have an adverse impact on our business, operating results, and financial
condition.

Manipulation or exploitation of our software for the purpose of gaining or providing unauthorized access to certain features of our Service could have an adverse impact
on our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Various regulations as well as self-regulation related to privacy and data security concerns pose the threat of lawsuits, regulatory fines and other liability, require us to
expend significant resources, and may harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.

If we fail to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, our ability to accurately and timely report our financial results could be adversely
affected.

Any failure to convince advertisers of the benefits of advertising on our Service in the future could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.

If we are unable to attract, retain, and motivate qualified personnel, our ability to develop and successfully grow our business could be harmed.

We may fail to acquire or invest in companies whose market power or technology could be important to the future success of our business, and any acquisitions or
investments we do make could divert management’s attention and otherwise disrupt our operations and harm our operating results.

Our operating results may fluctuate, which makes our results difficult to predict.

Risks Related to Owning Our Common Stock

The trading price of our common stock has been and will likely continue to be volatile.
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o Our founders and other large investors have significant ownership of our common stock, and their interests may differ from our interests or those of our other
stockholders.

e Ifsecurities or industry analysts publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business or cease publishing research about our business, our share price and
trading volume could decline.

e  The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources and divert management’s attention.

e  We do not expect to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition
We have required debt and equity financing to maintain operations.

We have in the past failed and expect to for the foreseeable future to continue to fail to create cashflows from revenues sufficient to cover basic costs. As a result, we
have relied heavily on convertible debt and equity financing. These financings have created a dilutive effect on our common stock and may continue to do so. For the
foreseeable future, we will continue to rely upon debt and equity financing to maintain operation of the Company.

We have generated minimal revenues under our current business model, which makes it difficult for us to evaluate our future business prospects and make decisions
based on those estimates of our future performance.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, substantially all our revenues were derived from the historical business of ScreenPlay, which relies on a Subscription service-
based model using older and more expensive A/V technology. Our revenues for 2020 did not contain any significant contribution from any Ad-Supported Services or the
provision of the Loop Player to OOH venues or our Loop App to retail consumer end users. As a consequence, it is difficult, if not impossible, to forecast our future results
based upon our historical data. Our projections are based upon our best estimates on future growth and the development of our business plan. Because of the related
uncertainties, we may be hindered in our ability to anticipate and timely adapt to increases or decreases in sales, revenues, or expenses. If we make poor budgetary decisions as a
result of unreliable data, we may never become profitable and may continue to incur losses, which may result in a decline in our stock price.

We have incurred significant operating losses in the past, and we may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to be profitable, or to generate positive cash flow on
a sustained basis. In addition, our revenue growth rate may decline.

We have incurred significant operating losses in the past and, as of December 31, 2020, had an accumulated deficit. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
our operating losses were $15.4 million and $11.5 million, respectively. We have incurred significant costs to license content and continue to pay royalties or minimum
guarantees to record labels, publishers, and other copyright owners for such content. We cannot guarantee that we will generate sufficient revenue from our efforts to monetize
the Service via the sale of our Premium Service and generating advertising revenue, including on our Ad-Supported Service, to offset the cost of our content and these royalty
expenses. If we cannot successfully earn revenue at a rate that exceeds the operational costs, including royalty expenses and guarantee payments to the Music Labels, associated
with our Service, we will not be able to achieve or sustain profitability or generate positive cash flow on a sustained basis.

Additionally, we also expect our costs to increase in future periods, which could negatively affect our future operating results and ability to achieve profitability. We
expect to continue to expend substantial financial and other resources on:

° securing top quality video content from leading record labels, distributors, and aggregators, as well as the publishing right to any underlying musical compositions;
° creating new forms of original content;

° our technology infrastructure, including website architecture, development tools, scalability, availability, performance, security, and disaster recovery measures;

° research and development, including investments in our research and development team and the development of new features;

° sales and marketing, including a significant expansion of our field sales organization;

. international expansion to increase our member base, engagement, and sales;

° capital expenditures, including costs related to our technology development; and

° general administration, including legal and accounting expenses.




These investments may not result in increased revenue or growth in our business. If we fail to continue to grow our revenue and overall business, our business,
operating results, and financial condition would be harmed.

There is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern and if we are unable to generate significant revenue or secure additional financing, we
may be unable to implement our business plan and grow our business.

We are a small and emerging media company that is in the process of rolling out a new business plan as our products and services have only recently been fully
operational and ready for delivery to our customers. Consequently, we have not generated sufficient revenues to operate our business. We have an accumulated deficit and have
incurred operating losses for years and expect losses to continue during the remainder of fiscal 2021 and beyond. Our independent registered public accounting firm has
indicated in their report that these conditions raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern for a period of 12 months from the issuance date of this
report. The continuation of our business as a going concern is dependent upon the continued financial support from our current and potential stockholders. The Company’s
primary source of operating funds since inception has been cash proceeds from debt and equity financing transactions. The ability of the Company to continue as a going
concern is dependent upon its ability to generate sufficient revenue and its ability to raise additional funds by way of its debt and equity financing efforts. There can be no
assurance that adequate financing will be available in a timely manner, on acceptable terms, or at all.

There is uncertainty regarding our ability to grow our business to a greater extent than we can with our existing financial resources without additional financing. We have
no agreements, commitments, or understandings to secure additional financing at this time. Our long-term future growth and success is dependent upon our ability to continue
selling our services, generate cash from operating activities and obtain additional financing. We may be unable to continue selling our products and services, generate sufficient
cash from operations, sell additional shares of common stock, or borrow additional funds. Our inability to obtain additional cash could have a material adverse effect on our
ability to grow our business to a greater extent than we can with our existing financial resources.
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We will require I capital to support business growth and objectives, and this capital might not be available on acceptable terms, if at all.

We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and will require additional funds to respond to business challenges, including the need to
develop new features or enhance our existing Service, expand into additional markets around the world, improve our infrastructure, or acquire complementary businesses and
technologies. Accordingly, we have in the past engaged, and may in the future engage, in equity and debt financings to secure additional funds. If we raise additional funds
through future issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could have
rights, preferences, and privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock. Any debt financing, we secure in the future could also contain restrictive covenants relating
to our capital-raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and pursue business
opportunities, including potential acquisitions. We may not be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us, if at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing
or financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business growth, acquire or retain users, and to respond to business challenges
could be significantly impaired, and our business may be harmed.

We may not be able to utilize all, or any, of our net operating loss carryforwards.

We have significant net operating loss carryforwards. As of December 31, 2020, we had net operating loss carryforwards of $18 million in the United States relating to
federal taxes and $17.9 million in the United States relating to state taxes. In certain jurisdictions, if we are unable to earn sufficient income or profits to utilize such
carryforwards before they expire, they will no longer be available to offset future income or profits.

Risks Related to Our Business

If our efforts to attract prospective OOH customers and D2C users and to retain existing customers and users of our Service are not successful, our growth prospects
and revenue will be adversely affected.

Our ability to grow our OOH business and generate revenue depends on retaining, expanding, and effectively monetizing our OOH customer base, including by
increasing the number of venues that have adopted our Service and increasing advertising revenue on our OOH Ad-Supported Service delivered through our Loop Player and
monetizing content across the OOH Service. We must convince prospective OOH customers of the benefits of our Service and our existing users of the continuing value of our
Service. Our ability to attract new customers, retain existing customers, and convert users of our OOH Premium subscription service to our OOH Ad-Supported Service depends
in large part on our ability to continue to offer compelling curated content, leading technologies and products like the Loop Player, superior functionality, and an engaging
customer experience.

Our ability to grow our D2C business and generate revenue depends on retaining, expanding, and effectively monetizing our total user base, including by increasing
advertising revenue on our D2C Ad-Supported Service, increasing the number of subscribers to our Premium Service, and finding ways to monetize content across the Service.
We must convince prospective users of the benefits of our Service and our existing users of the continuing value of our Service. Our ability to attract new users, retain existing
users, and convert users of our Ad-Supported Service to subscribers to our Premium Service depends in large part on our ability to continue to offer leading technologies and
products, compelling highly curated content, superior functionality, and an engaging user experience. As consumer tastes and preferences change on the Internet and with
mobile devices and other internet-connected products, we will need to enhance and improve our existing Service, introduce new services and features, and maintain our
competitive position with additional technological advances and an adaptable platform. If we fail to keep pace with technological advances or fail to offer compelling product
offerings and state-of-the-art delivery platforms to meet consumer demands, our ability to grow or sustain the reach of our Service, attract and retain users, and increase our
Premium Subscribers to our Loop App may be adversely affected.
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In addition, in order to increase our advertising revenue, we also seek to increase the listening time that our Ad-Supported OOH customers and D2C users spend on our
Ad-Supported Service and find new opportunities to deliver advertising to users on the Service. The more content users stream on the Ad-Supported Service, the more
advertising inventory we generally have to sell. Further, growth in our Ad-Supported user base increases the size and scope of user pools targeted by advertisers, which
improves our ability to deliver relevant advertising to those users in a manner that maximizes our advertising customers’ return on investment and that ultimately allows us to
better demonstrate the effectiveness of our advertising solutions and justifies a pricing structure that is advantageous for us. If we fail to grow our Ad-Supported OOH
customers and user base, the amount of content streamed, and the listening time spent by our Ad-Supported OOH customers and users, we may be unable to grow Ad-Supported
revenue.

In order to increase our Ad-Supported OOH customers and users and our Premium Subscribers, we will need to address a number of challenges, including:

° improving our Ad-Supported Service;

° providing users with a consistently high-quality and user-friendly experience;

° continuing to curate a catalog of content that consumers want to engage with on our Service;

° continuing to innovate and keep pace with changes in technology and our competitors; and

° maintaining and building our relationships with the makers of consumer products such as mobile devices and CTVs.

Failure to overcome any one of these challenges could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition.
Moreover, the provisions of certain of our license agreements may require consent to implement improvements to, or otherwise change, our Service. We may not be able

to obtain consent from our rights holders to add additional features and functionality to our Service or our rights holders may be delayed in providing such consent, which may
hinder our ability to be responsive to our users’ tastes and preferences and may make us less competitive with other services.
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We face and will continue to face competition for Ad-Supported Users, Premium Subscribers, and user listening time.

We compete for the time and attention of our D2C users with other content providers based on a number of factors, including quality of experience, relevance, diversity
of content, ease of use, price, accessibility, perception of advertising load, brand awareness, and reputation.

We compete with providers of music videos and other short form unscripted video content, which is purchased or available for free and playable on mobile or other
connected devices, including CTVs. These forms of media may be downloaded or accessed by content streams from other online services, including YouTube and Vevo. Many
of our current or future competitors are already entrenched or may have significant brand recognition, existing user bases, and/or ability to bundle with other goods and/or
services, both globally and regionally, and/or markets which we seek to penetrate.

We also compete with providers of non-music content that offer an on-demand catalog of differing content that is similar to certain of our content. We face increasing
competition from a growing variety of content providers that seek to differentiate their service by content offering and product features, and they may be more successful than
us in predicting user preferences, providing popular content, and innovating new features.

We believe that companies with a combination of technical expertise, brand recognition, financial resources, and digital media experience also pose a significant threat
of developing competing music video and other video distribution technologies. If known incumbents in the digital media or entertainment space choose to offer competing
services, they may devote greater resources than we have available, have a more accelerated time frame for deployment, and leverage their existing user base and proprietary
technologies to provide services that our users and advertisers may view as superior. Our current and future competitors may have higher brand recognition, more established
relationships with content licensors and mobile device manufacturers, greater financial, technical, and other resources, more sophisticated technologies, and/or more experience
in the markets in which we compete. Our current and future competitors may also engage in mergers or acquisitions with each other to combine and leverage their customers and
audiences. Our current and future competitors may innovate new features or introduce new ways of consuming or engaging with content that cause our users to use or switch to
another product, which would negatively affect our user retention, growth, and engagement.

We compete for a share of advertisers’ overall marketing budgets with other content providers on a variety of factors, including perceived return on investment,
effectiveness and relevance of our advertising products, pricing structure, and ability to deliver large volumes or precise types of advertisements to targeted user demographic
pools. We also compete for advertisers with a range of internet companies, including major internet portals, search engine companies, social media sites, and mobile
applications, as well as traditional advertising channels such as terrestrial radio and television.

Large internet companies with strong brand recognition, such as Facebook, Google, Amazon, and Twitter, have significant numbers of sales personnel, substantial
advertising inventory, proprietary advertising technology solutions, and traffic across web, mobile, and connected devices that provide a significant competitive advantage and
have a significant impact on pricing for reaching these user bases. Failure to compete successfully against our current or future competitors could result in the loss of current or
potential advertisers, a reduced share of our advertisers’ overall marketing budget, the loss of existing or potential users, or diminished brand strength, which could adversely
affect our pricing and margins, lower our revenue, increase our research and development and marketing expenses, and prevent us from achieving or maintaining profitability.

We depend upon third-party licenses for substantially all of the content we stream and an adverse change to, loss of, or claim that we do not hold any necessary
licenses may materially adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.

To secure the rights to stream content, we enter into license agreements to obtain licenses from rights holders such as record labels, recording artists, music publishers,
performance rights organizations, collecting societies, and other copyright owners or their agents, and pay royalties or other consideration to such parties or their agents. We
cannot guarantee that our efforts to obtain all necessary licenses to stream content will be successful, nor that the licenses available to us now will continue to be available in the
future at rates and on terms that are favorable or commercially reasonable or at all. The terms of these licenses, including the royalty rates that we are required to pay pursuant to
them, may change as a result of changes in our bargaining power, the industry, laws and regulations, or for other reasons. Increases in royalty rates or changes to other terms of
these licenses may materially impact our business, operating results, and financial condition. Our license agreements with the largest music companies for our OOH companies
for our OOH business were entered into years ago and those music companies have requested a review and update of those licenses. The updating of those licenses (or entering
into new licenses to cover our OOH business) is expected to increase our license costs associated with such rights, including our minimum guarantee payment obligations.

We enter into license agreements to obtain rights to stream music videos, including from the major record labels who hold the rights to stream a significant number of
sound recordings—Universal Music Group, Sony Music Entertainment, and Warner Music Group. If we fail to maintain and renew these licenses our business, operating
results, and financial condition could be materially harmed.




We generally obtain licenses for two types of rights with respect to musical compositions: reproduction and public performance rights. We negotiate directly for these
rights. We have obtained direct licenses for public performance rights with the three largest publishers for our consumer business and are in the process of obtaining such
licenses for our OOH business.

In the United States, public performance rights are generally obtained through intermediaries known as PROs, which negotiate blanket licenses with copyright users for
the public performance of compositions in their repertory, collect royalties under such licenses, and distribute those royalties to music publishers and songwriters. The royalty
rates available to us today may not be available to us in the future. Licenses provided by two of these PROs, ASCAP and BMI, cover much of the music we stream and ASCAP
and BMI are governed by consent decrees relating to decades-old litigations. An increase in the number of compositions that must be licensed from PROs that are not subject to
the consent decrees could likewise impede our ability to license public performance rights on favorable terms.

In other parts of the world, including Latin America, we obtain reproduction and performance licenses for musical compositions either through local collecting societies
representing publishers or from publishers directly, or a combination thereof. We cannot guarantee that our licenses with collecting societies and our direct licenses with
publishers provide full coverage for all of the musical compositions we make available to our users in such countries. In markets that lack collecting society infrastructure, such
as in the Middle East and parts of Africa and Asia Pacific, it is extremely difficult to identify who owns the publishing rights in the content we stream. This practical obstacle
creates additional risk exposure as there inevitably will be licensing gaps in the content we stream, and these risks may increase as we look to expand into new developing
markets with uncertain publishing licensing landscapes.

With respect to non-music content, we obtain distribution rights directly from rights holders. We either negotiate licenses directly with individuals or entities. We are
dependent on those who provide content on our Service complying with the terms and conditions of our license agreements. However, we cannot guarantee that rights holders
or content providers will comply with their obligations, and such failure to do so may materially impact our business, operating results, and financial condition.

There is also no guarantee that we have all of the licenses we need to stream content, as the process of obtaining such licenses involves many rights holders, some of
whom are unknown, and myriad complex legal issues across many jurisdictions, including open questions of law as to when and whether particular licenses are needed.
Additionally, there is a risk that rights holders, creators, performers, writers and their agents, or societies, unions, guilds, or legislative or regulatory bodies will create or attempt
to create new rights or regulations that could require us to enter into license agreements with, and pay royalties to, newly defined groups of rights holders, some of which may
be difficult or impossible to identify.

Even when we are able to enter into license agreements with rights holders, we cannot guarantee that such agreements will continue to be renewed indefinitely. For
example, from time to time, our license agreements with certain rights holders and/or their agents expire while we negotiate their renewals and, per industry custom and
practice, we may enter into brief (for example, month-, week-, or even days-long) extensions of those agreements or provisional licenses and/or continue to operate on an at will
basis as if the license agreement had been extended, including by our continuing to make content available. During these periods, we may not have assurance of long-term
access to such rights holders’ content, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and could lead to potential copyright infringement claims. It is also possible
that such agreements will never be renewed at all. License agreements are generally restrictive as to how the licensed content is accessed, displayed, and manipulated, as
licensors seek to protect the use of their content. In order to provide the highest level of Services and best experience for our customers and end users, we may from time to time
seek expansion of our licenses to provide us with greater functionality of our Services as it relates to the relevant content. The inability to expand our licenses, or the lack of
renewal, or termination, of one or more of our license agreements, or the renewal of a license agreement on less favorable terms, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, operating results, and financial condition.

We have no control over third-party providers of our content. The concentration of control of content by our major providers means that even one entity, or a small
number of entities working together, may unilaterally affect our access to music video and other content.

We rely on various rights holders, over whom we have no control, for the content we make available on our Service. We cannot guarantee that these parties will always
choose to license to us or license to us on terms that are acceptable to us.

The music industry has a high level of concentration, which means that one or a small number of entities may, on their own, take actions that adversely affect our
business. For example, with respect to music video content, the A/V recordings licensed to us under our agreements with Universal Music Group, Sony Music Entertainment,
and Warner Music Group makes up the vast majority of the music currently consumed on our Service. Our business may be adversely affected if our access to music is limited
or delayed because of deterioration in our relationships with one or more of these rights holders or if they choose not to license to us for any other reason. Rights holders also
may attempt to take advantage of their market power (including by leveraging their publishing affiliate) to seek onerous financial or other terms from us or otherwise impose
restrictions that hinder our ability to further innovate our Services and content offerings. This may be of particular concern in markets where local content is important and such
local content is held by local major labels or even individual artists, making it difficult to obtain such local content at all or on economically favorable terms. In addition,
publishers’ fractional ownership of shares of musical works enhances their market power. As a result, the loss of rights to a major publisher catalogue would force us to take
down a significant portion of popular repertoire in the applicable territory or territories, which would significantly disadvantage us in such territory or territories. The lack of
complete metadata with respect to publisher ownership may also present challenges in taking down all the tracks of a given publisher. Even if we can secure rights to music
video content from record labels and other copyright owners, recording artists may object and may exert public or private pressure on those record labels or copyright owners or
other third parties to discontinue licensing rights to us, hold back content from us, or increase royalty rates. As a result, our ability to continue to license rights to music video
content is subject to convincing a broad range of stakeholders of the value and quality of our Service. To the extent that we are unable to license a large amount of content or the
content of certain popular artists, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be materially harmed.
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We are a party to many license agreements that are complex and impose numerous obligations upon us that may make it difficult to operate our business and
provide all the functionality we would like for our Services, and a breach of such agreements could adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial
condition.

Many of our license agreements are complex and impose numerous obligations on us, including obligations to, among other things:

° calculate and make payments based on complex royalty structures, which requires tracking usage of content on our Service that may have inaccurate or incomplete
metadata necessary for such calculation;

. provide periodic reports on the exploitation of the content;

. represent that we will obtain all necessary publishing licenses and consents and pay all associated fees, royalties, and other amounts due for the licensing of musical
compositions;

° provide advertising inventory at discounted rates or on other favorable terms;
° comply with certain service offering restrictions;

° comply with certain marketing and advertising restrictions; and

° comply with certain security and technical specifications.

Many of our license agreements grant the licensor the right to audit our compliance with the terms and conditions of such agreements. Some of our license agreements
also include steering, non-discrimination, and so-called “most favored nations” provisions, which require that certain material terms of such agreements are no less favorable
than those provided in our agreements with any other similarly situated licensor. If triggered, these provisions could cause our payments or other obligations under those
agreements to escalate substantially. Additionally, some of our license agreements require consent to undertake certain business initiatives and, without such consent, our ability
to undertake or continue operating new business initiatives may be limited. This could hurt our competitive position.

If we materially breach any of these obligations or any other obligations set forth in any of our license agreements, or if we use content in ways that are found to exceed
the scope of such agreements, we could be subject to monetary penalties, and/or rights holders could impede our business by withholding content, discounts, and bundle
approvals and the rights to launch new service offerings, and could ultimately terminate our rights under such license agreements, any of which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Our royalty payment scheme is complex, and it is difficult to estimate the amount payable under our license agreements.

Under our license agreements and relevant statutes, we must pay all required royalties to record labels, music publishers, and other copyright owners in order to stream
content. The determination of the amount and timing of such payments is complex and subject to a number of variables, including the type of content streamed, the country in
which it is streamed, the service tier such content is streamed on, the amount of revenue generated by the streaming of the content, the identity of the license holder to whom
royalties are owed, the current size of our user base, our current ratio of Ad-Supported users to Premium Subscribers in each of our OOH and D2C businesses, the applicability
of any most favored nations provisions, and any applicable advertising fees and discounts, among other variables. Additionally, we have certain arrangements whereby royalty
costs are paid in advance or are subject to minimum guaranteed amounts. An accrual is estimated when actual royalty costs to be incurred during a contractual period are
expected to fall short of the minimum guaranteed amount. Additionally, we also have license agreements that include so-called “most favored nations” provisions that require
that the material terms of such agreements are the most favorable material terms provided to any music licensor, which, if triggered, could cause our royalty payments under
those agreements to escalate substantially. As we have only recently begun to grow our D2C Service and have yet recognize substantial revenue from such services and may not
do so during the initial term of our licenses, we expect that any minimum guaranteed payments on licenses required for that service will be the maximum we will need to pay
out under those licenses for the relevant time period.

We cannot assure you that the internal controls and systems we use to determine royalties payable will always be effective. We have in the past identified a material
weakness in our internal controls and may identify additional material weaknesses in the future. If we fail to implement and maintain effective controls relating to rights holder
liabilities, we may underpay/under-accrue or overpay/over-accrue the royalty amounts payable to record labels, music publishers, and other copyright owners. Underpayment
could result in (i) litigation or other disputes with record labels, music publishers, and other copyright owners; (ii) the unexpected payment of additional royalties in material
amounts; and (iii) damage to our business relationships with record labels, music publishers, other copyright owners, and artists and/or artist groups. If we overpay royalties, we
may be unable to reclaim such overpayments, and our profits will suffer. Failure to accurately pay our royalties may adversely affect our business, operating results, and
financial condition.
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Minimum guarantees and advances required under certain of our license agreements may limit our operating flexibility and may adversely affect our business,
operating results, and financial condition.

Certain of our license agreements contain significant minimum guarantee or advanced payments. Such minimum guarantees related to our content acquisition costs are
not always tied to our revenue and/or user growth forecasts (e.g., number of users, active users, Premium subscribers), or the number of video music sound recordings and
musical compositions used on our Service. Accordingly, our ability to achieve and sustain profitability and operating leverage on our Service in part depends on our ability to
increase our revenue through increased sales of our Service and advertising sales on terms that maintain an adequate gross margin. The duration of our license agreements for
sound recordings and musical compositions that contain minimum guarantees is frequently two years, but we do not currently have enough customers and do not anticipate
acquiring enough customers whose revenue could cover such minimum guarantees and any existing customers may cancel their Service at any time. Our forecasts of customer
acquisition or retention and advertising sales during the term of our license agreements do not meet the number of customers required to cover our minimum guarantee
payments. To the extent our Service revenue growth or advertising sales do not materially increase during the term of our license agreements, our business, operating results,
and financial condition will be adversely affected as a result of such minimum guarantees. In addition, the fixed cost nature of these minimum guarantees may limit our
flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the market segments in which we operate.

We rely on estimates of the market share of streaming content owned by each content provider, as well as our own user growth and forecasted advertising revenue, to
forecast whether such minimum guarantees could be recouped against our actual content acquisition costs incurred over the duration of the license agreement. As we are in the
early stages of developing our D2C business we expect the minimum guarantees not to be recouped for the foreseeable future.

Difficulties in obtaining accurate and comprehensive information necessary to identify the compositions embodied in music video sound recordings on our Service
and the ownership thereof may impact our ability to perform our obligations under our licenses, affect the size of our catalog that can be offered to customers and end
users, impact our ability to control content acquisition costs, and lead to potential copyright infringement claims.

Comprehensive and accurate ownership information for the musical compositions embodied in music videos is often unavailable to us or difficult or, in some cases,
impossible for us to obtain, sometimes because it is withheld by the owners or administrators of such rights. We currently rely on the assistance of third parties to determine
certain of this information. If the information provided to us or obtained by such third parties does not comprehensively or accurately identify the ownership of musical
compositions, or if we are unable to determine which musical compositions correspond to specific sound recordings, it may be difficult or impossible to identify the appropriate
rights holders from whom to obtain licenses or to whom to pay royalties. This may make it difficult to comply with the obligations of any agreements with those rights holders.
This may also make it difficult to identify content for removal from the Service if we lose the rights to such musical compositions.

These challenges, and others concerning the licensing of musical compositions embodied in sound recordings and music videos on our Service, may subject us to
significant liability for copyright infringement, breach of contract, or other claims.

We face many risks associated with our international expansion, including difficulties obtaining rights to stream content on favorable terms.

We are considering the further expansion of our operations into additional international markets. However, offering our Service in a new geographical area involves
numerous risks and challenges. For example, the licensing terms offered by rights organizations and individual copyright owners in countries around the world are currently
relatively expensive. Addressing licensing structure and royalty rate issues in any new geographic market requires us to make very substantial investments of time, capital, and
other resources, and our business could fail if such investments do not succeed. There can be no assurance that we will succeed or achieve any return on these investments.

In addition to the above, expansion around the world exposes us to other risks such as:

. lack of well-functioning copyright collective management organizations that are able to grant us music video licenses, process
reports, and distribute royalties in markets;
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. fragmentation of rights ownership in various markets causing lack of transparency of rights coverage and overpayment or
underpayment to record labels, music publishers, artists, performance rights organizations, and other copyright owners;

. difficulties in obtaining license rights to local content;

. increased risk of disputes with and/or lawsuits filed by rights holders in connection with our expansion into new markets;

. difficulties in achieving market acceptance of our Service in different geographic markets with different tastes and interests;

. difficulties in achieving viral marketing growth in certain other countries where we commit fewer sales and marketing
resources;

° difficulties in managing operations due to language barriers, distance, staffing, user behavior and spending capability, cultural

differences, business infrastructure constraints, and laws regulating corporations that operate internationally;

. application of different laws and regulations of other jurisdictions, including privacy, censorship, and liability standards and
regulations, as well as intellectual property laws;

° potential adverse tax consequences associated with foreign operations and revenue;
° complex foreign exchange fluctuation and associated issues;
° increased competition from local websites and audio content providers, some with financial power and resources to undercut the

market or enter into exclusive deals with local content providers to decrease competition;

. credit risk and higher levels of payment fraud,;

. political and economic instability in some countries;

. restrictions on international monetary flows; and

. reduced or ineffective protection of our intellectual property rights in some countries.

As a result of these obstacles, we may find it impossible or prohibitively expensive to enter additional markets, or entry into foreign markets could be delayed, which
could hinder our ability to grow our business.

If we fail to effectively manage our growth, our business, operating results, and financial condition may suffer.

Our rapid growth in recent months has placed, and will continue to place, significant demands on our management and our operational and financial infrastructure. In
order to attain and maintain profitability, we will need to recruit, integrate, and retain skilled and experienced personnel who can demonstrate our value proposition to users,
advertisers, and business partners and who can increase the monetization of the content streamed on our Service, particularly in OOH venues and on CTVs and mobile devices.
Continued growth could also strain our ability to maintain reliable service levels for our users, effectively monetize the video content streamed, develop and improve our
operational and financial controls, and recruit, train, and retain highly skilled personnel. As our operations grow in size, scope, and complexity, we will need to improve and
upgrade our systems and infrastructure, which will require significant expenditures and allocation of valuable technical and management resources. If we fail to maintain
efficiency and allocate limited resources effectively in our organization as it grows, our business, operating results, and financial condition may suffer.

Our business emphasizes rapid innovation and prioritizes long-term customer and user engagement over short-term financial condition or results of operations.
That strategy may yield results that sometimes do not align with the market’s expectations. If that happens, our stock price may be negatively affected.

Our business is expected to grow and become more complex, and our success depends on our ability to quickly develop and launch new and innovative products. Our
approach to the development of our business could result in unintended outcomes or decisions that are poorly received by our users, advertisers, or partners. We have made, and
expect to continue to make, significant investments to develop and launch new products, services, and initiatives, which may involve significant risks and uncertainties,
including the fact that such offerings may not be commercially viable for an indefinite period or at all, or may not result in adequate return of capital on our investments. No
assurance can be given that such new offerings will be successful and will not adversely affect our reputation, operating results, and financial condition. In certain instances, we
prioritize our long-term customer and user engagement over short-term financial condition or results of operations. We may make decisions that reduce our short-term revenue
or profitability if we believe that the decisions benefit the aggregate customer and user experience and will thereby improve our financial performance over the long-term.
These decisions may not produce the long-term benefits that we expect, in which case our user growth and engagement, our relationships with advertisers and partners, as well
as our business, operating results, and financial condition could be seriously harmed.
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If we fail to accurately predict, recommend, curate and play content that our customers and users enjoy, we may fail to retain existing customers and users and
attract new customers and users in sufficient numbers to meet investor expectations for growth or to operate our business profitably.

We believe that a key differentiating factor between Loop Media and other streaming content providers in the OOH and D2C markets is our ability to curate content and
deliver that content to customers and users for them to enjoy. We have invested, and will continue to invest, significant resources in our content curation and technologies that
help predict what customers and users will enjoy; however, such investments may not yield an attractive return and such refinements may not be effective. The effectiveness of
our ability to predict user preferences and curate content tailored to our customers and users’ individual tastes depends in part on our ability to gather and effectively analyze
large amounts of customer and user data. While we have a large catalog of music videos and other content available to stream, we must continuously identify, analyze, and
curate additional content that our customers request and that our users will enjoy and we may not effectively do so. Failure to do so could materially adversely affect our ability
to adequately attract and retain users, increase content hours consumed, and sell advertising to meet investor expectations for growth or to operate the business profitably.

If ' we are unable to obtain revenue from our Service on CTVs and mobile and connected devices, our results of operations may be materially adversely affected.

Our business model with respect to monetization of our Service on CTVs and mobile and connected devices is still evolving. As we expand into providing content direct
to consumers, there is increasing pressure to monetize mobile and other connected devices, including CTVs and other in-home devices. We offer our Service through our Loop
App on CTVs and mobile and connected devices, from which we seek to generate advertising revenue; however, to date, we primarily rely on our OOH Service to generate
revenue. If we are unable to effectively monetize our D2C Service on CTVs and mobile and connected devices, our business, operating results, and financial condition may
suffer.

Expansion of our operations to deliver content beyond music video, subjects us to increased business, legal, financial, reputational, and competitive risks.

Expansion of our operations to deliver content beyond music videos involves numerous risks and challenges, including increased capital requirements, new competitors,
and the need to develop new strategic relationships. Growth in these areas may require additional changes to our existing business model and cost structure, modifications to our
infrastructure, and exposure to new regulatory, legal, and reputational risks, including infringement liability, any of which may require additional expertise that we currently do
not have. We may not be able to generate sufficient revenue from non-music video content to offset the costs of creating or acquiring this content. Further, we have initially
established a reputation as a music video streaming service and our ability to gain acceptance and listenership for other non-music video content, and thus our ability to attract
users and advertisers to this content, is not certain. Failure to successfully monetize and generate revenues from such content, including failure to obtain or retain rights to non-
music video content on acceptable terms, or at all, or to effectively manage the numerous risks and challenges associated with such expansion could adversely affect our
business, operating results, and financial condition.

Streaming depends on effectively working with operating systems, online platforms, hardware, networks, regulations, and standards we do not control. Changes in
our Service or those operating systems, hardware, networks, regulations, or standards, and our limitations on our ability to access those platforms, operating systems,
hardware, or networks may seriously harm our business.

We rely on a variety of operating systems, online platforms, hardware, and networks to reach our users. These platforms range from desktop and mobile operating
systems and application stores, to wearables and OTT distribution platforms and services. The owners or operators of these platforms and services may not share our interests
and may restrict our access to them or place conditions on access that would materially affect our ability to access those platforms and services. In particular, where the owner of
a platform is also our direct competitor, the platform may attempt to use this position to affect our access to users and ability to compete. For example, an online platform might
arbitrarily remove our Service from its platform, deprive us of access to business-critical data, or engage in other harmful practices. Online platforms also may unilaterally
impose certain requirements that negatively affect our ability to convert users of our Loop App to the Premium Service, such as conditions that limit our freedom to
communicate promotions and offers to our users. Similarly, online platforms may force us to use the platform’s payment processing systems that may be inferior to, and more
costly than, other payment processing services available in the market. Online platforms frequently change the rules and requirements for services like ours to access the
platform, and such changes may adversely affect the success or desirability of our Service. To maintain certain elements of the Service on a platform, we may need to make
additional concessions to the platform operator that may adversely affect other aspects of the business or require us to invest significant expenses. Online platforms may limit
our access to information about users, limiting our ability to convert and retain them. Online platforms also may deny access to application programming interfaces or
documentation, limiting functionality of our Service on the platform.

Furthermore, because devices providing access to our Service are not manufactured and sold by us, these devices may not perform reliably, and any faulty connection
between these devices and our Service may result in consumer dissatisfaction toward us, which could damage our brand. We may not be able to comply with the requirements
of various operating systems, online platforms, hardware, networks, regulations, and standards on which our Service depends, and failure to do so could result in serious harm to
our business.
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If our security systems are breached, we may face civil liability and/or 'y fines, and/or enforcement action causing us to change our practices, and public
perception of our security measures could be diminished, either of which would negatively affect our ability to attract and retain OOH Customers, Premium Subscribers,
Ad-Supported Users, advertisers, content providers, and other business partners.

Techniques used to gain unauthorized access to data and software are constantly evolving, and we may be unable to anticipate or prevent unauthorized access to data
pertaining to our users, including credit card and debit card information and other personal data about our users, business partners, and employees. Like all internet services, our
Service, which is supported by our own systems and those of third parties that we work with, is vulnerable to software bugs, computer viruses, internet worms, break-ins,
phishing attacks, attempts to overload servers with denial-of-service, or other attacks and similar disruptions from unauthorized use of our and third-party computer systems,
any of which could lead to system interruptions, delays, or shutdowns, causing loss of critical data or unauthorized access to personal data. Computer malware, viruses, and
computer hacking, and phishing attacks have become more prevalent in our industry, have occurred on our systems in the past, and may occur on our systems in the future.
Though it is difficult to determine what, if any, harm may directly result from any specific interruption or attack, any failure to maintain performance, reliability, security, and
availability of our products and technical infrastructure to the satisfaction of our users may harm our reputation and our ability to retain existing users and attract new users. The
systems and processes that we have designed to protect our data and our users’ data, to prevent data loss, to disable undesirable accounts and activities on our platform, and to
prevent or detect security breaches, may not prevent security breaches, and we may incur significant costs in protecting against or remediating cyber-attacks.

In addition, if an actual or perceived breach of security occurs to our systems or a third party’s systems, we may face regulatory or civil liability and public perception of
our security measures could be diminished, either of which would negatively affect our ability to attract and retain users, which in turn would harm our efforts to attract and
retain advertisers, content providers, and other business partners. We also would be required to expend significant resources to mitigate the breach of security and to address
matters related to any such breach.

Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to maintain the security of data relating to our users, to comply with our posted privacy policy, laws and regulations, rules of self-
regulatory organizations, industry standards, and contractual provisions to which we may be bound, could result in the loss of confidence in us, or result in actions against us by
governmental entities, data protection authorities, or others, all of which could result in litigation and financial losses, and could potentially cause us to lose users, advertisers,
and revenues. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition and could cause our stock price to drop
significantly.

Our Service and software are highly technical and may contain undetected software bugs or vulnerabilities, which could manifest in ways that could seriously harm
our reputation and our business.

Many of the products we offer are technical and complex. Our Services and products like the Loop Player or any other product we may introduce in the future, may
contain undetected software bugs, hardware errors, and other vulnerabilities. These bugs and errors can manifest in any number of ways in our products, including through
diminished performance, security vulnerabilities, malfunctions, or even permanently disabled products. We plant to update our products from time to time, and as a result some
errors in our products may be discovered only after a product has been used by users and may in some cases be detected only under certain circumstances or after extended use.
Additionally, many of our products are available on multiple operating systems and/or multiple devices offered by different manufacturers, and changes or updates to such
operating systems or devices may cause errors or functionality problems in our products, including rendering our products inoperable by some users. Any errors, bugs, or other
vulnerabilities discovered in our code or backend after release could damage our reputation, drive away users, allow third parties to manipulate or exploit our software
(including, for example, providing mobile device users a means to suppress advertisements without payment and gain access to features only available to the Ad-Supported
Service on tablets and desktop computers), lower revenue, and expose us to claims for damages, any of which could seriously harm our business. Additionally, errors, bugs, or
other vulnerabilities may—either directly or if exploited by third parties—affect our ability to make accurate royalty payments.

We could also face claims for product liability, tort, or breach of warranty. Defending a lawsuit, regardless of its merit, is costly and may divert management’s attention
and seriously harm our reputation and our business. In addition, if our liability insurance coverage proves inadequate or future coverage is unavailable on acceptable terms or at
all, our business could be seriously harmed.

Interruptions, delays, or discontinuations in service arising from our own systems or from third parties could impair the delivery of our Service and harm our
business.

We rely on systems housed in our own facilities and upon third parties, including bandwidth providers and third-party “cloud” data storage services, to enable our users
to receive our content in a dependable, timely, and efficient manner. We have experienced, and may in the future experience, periodic service interruptions and delays involving
our own systems and those of third parties that we work with. Both our own facilities and those of third parties are vulnerable to damage or interruption from earthquakes,
floods, fires, power loss, telecommunications failures, and similar events. They are also subject to break-ins, sabotage, intentional acts of vandalism, the failure of physical,
administrative, technical, and cyber security measures, terrorist acts, natural disasters, human error, the financial insolvency of third parties that we work with, and other
unanticipated problems or events. The occurrence of any of these events could result in interruptions in our Service and unauthorized access to, or alteration of, the content and
data contained on our systems that these third parties store and deliver on our behalf.
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Any disruption in the services provided by these third parties could materially adversely impact our business reputation, customer relations, and operating results. Upon
expiration or termination of any of our agreements with third parties, we may not be able to replace the services provided to us in a timely manner or on terms and conditions,
including service levels and cost, that are favorable to us, and a transition from one third party to another could subject us to operational delays and inefficiencies until the
transition is complete.

Assertions by third parties of infringement or other violation by us of their intellectual property rights could harm our business, operating results, and financial
condition.

Third parties may in the future assert, that we have infringed, misappropriated, or otherwise violated their copyrights, patents, trademarks, and other intellectual property
rights, and as we face increasing competition, the possibility of intellectual property rights claims against us grows. Our ability to provide our Service is dependent upon our
ability to license intellectual property rights to audio content, including video music recordings, any musical compositions embodied therein, as well as other visual content and
any other media assets that content providers, artists, and/or labels can add or provide. Various laws and regulations govern the copyright and other intellectual property rights
associated with audio and visual content, including video music and sound recordings and musical compositions. Existing laws and regulations are evolving and subject to
different interpretations, and various legislative or regulatory bodies may expand current or enact new laws or regulations. Although we seek to comply with the statutory,
regulatory, and judicial frameworks by, for example, entering into license agreements, we may unknowingly be infringing or violating any third-party intellectual property
rights, or may do so in the future. Moreover, while we may often be able to seek indemnities from our licensors with respect to infringement claims that may relate to the
content, they provide to us, such indemnities may not be sufficient to cover the associated liability if the licensor at issue does not have adequate financial resources.

In addition, music, internet, technology, and media companies are frequently subject to litigation based on allegations of infringement, misappropriation, or other
violations of intellectual property rights. Many companies in these industries have substantially larger patent and intellectual property portfolios than we do, which could make
us a target for litigation. We may not be able to assert counterclaims against parties that sue us for patent, or other intellectual property infringement. In addition, various “non-
practicing entities” that own patents and other intellectual property rights often attempt to aggressively assert claims in order to extract value from technology companies.
Further, from time to time we may introduce new products and services, including in territories where we currently do not have an offering, which could increase our exposure
to patent and other intellectual property claims from competitors and non-practicing entities. It is difficult to predict whether assertions of third-party intellectual property rights
or any infringement or misappropriation claims arising from such assertions will substantially harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. If we are forced to
defend against any infringement or misappropriation claims, whether they are with or without merit, are settled out of court, or are determined in our favor, we may be required
to expend significant time and financial resources on the defense of such claims, and such claims also would divert management time and attention from our business
operations. Furthermore, an adverse outcome of a dispute may require us to pay significant damages, which may be even greater if we are found to have willfully infringed
upon a party’s intellectual property; cease exploiting copyrighted content that we have previously had the ability to exploit; cease using solutions that are alleged to infringe or
misappropriate the intellectual property of others; expend additional development resources to redesign our solutions; enter into potentially unfavorable royalty or license
agreements in order to obtain the right to use necessary technologies, content, or materials; indemnify our partners and other third parties; and/or take other actions that may
have material effects on our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Failure to protect our intellectual property could substantially harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.

The success of our business depends on our ability to protect and enforce our patents, trade secrets, trademarks, copyrights, and all of our other intellectual property
rights, including our intellectual property rights underlying our Service. We attempt to protect our intellectual property under patent, trade secret, trademark, and copyright law
through a combination of intellectual property registration, employee, third-party assignment and nondisclosure agreements, other contractual restrictions, technological
measures, and other methods. These afford only limited protection, and we are still continuing to develop our processes for securing our intellectual property rights. Despite our
efforts to protect our intellectual property rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our product and brand features or obtain and use our trade secrets and
other confidential information. Moreover, policing our intellectual property rights is difficult and time-consuming. We cannot assure you that we would have adequate
resources to protect and police our intellectual property rights, and we cannot assure you that the steps we take to do so will always be effective.

We have filed, and may in the future file, patent applications on certain of our innovations. It is possible, however, that these innovations may not be patentable. In
addition, given the cost, effort, risks, and downside of obtaining patent protection, including the requirement to ultimately disclose the invention to the public, we may choose
not to seek patent protection for some innovations. Furthermore, our patent applications may not issue as granted patents, the scope of the protection gained may be insufficient,
or an issued patent may be deemed invalid or unenforceable. Any of our present or future patents or other intellectual property rights may lapse or be invalidated, circumvented,
challenged, or abandoned. Our intellectual property rights also may not provide competitive advantages to us. Our ability to assert our intellectual property rights against
potential competitors or to settle current or future disputes could be limited by our relationships with third parties, and any of our pending or future patent applications may not
have the scope of coverage originally sought. Our intellectual property rights may not be enforced in jurisdictions where competition may be intense or where legal protection
may be weak. We could lose both the ability to assert our intellectual property rights against, or to license our technology to, others and the ability to collect royalties or other
payments.
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We currently own the www.loop.tv internet domain name and various other related domain names. Internet regulatory bodies generally regulate domain names. If we
lose the ability to use a domain name in a particular country, we may be forced either to incur significant additional expenses to market our Service within that country or, in
extreme cases, to elect not to offer our Service in that country. Either result could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. The regulation of domain names
in the United States and in foreign countries is subject to change. Regulatory bodies could establish additional top-level domains, appoint additional domain name registrars, or
modify the requirements for holding domain names. As a result, we may not be able to acquire or maintain the domain names that utilize our brand names in the United States
or other countries in which we may conduct business in the future.

Litigation or proceedings before governmental authorities and administrative bodies may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights, to protect
our patent rights, trademarks, trade secrets, and domain names and to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. Our efforts to enforce or protect our
proprietary rights may be ineffective and could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and management time, each of which could substantially harm our
operating results. Additionally, changes in law may be implemented, or changes in interpretation of such laws may occur, that may affect our ability to protect and enforce our
patents and other intellectual property.

User metrics and other estimates could be subj
and negatively affect our reputation and our business.

t to inherent challenges in measurement, and real or perceived inaccuracies in those metrics may seriously harm

As our business grows, we expect to develop and regularly review key metrics related to the operation of our business, including metrics related to our active users,
premium revenue per user, subscriber numbers, OOH venue locations, and other metrics to evaluate growth trends, measure our performance, and make strategic decisions.
These metrics will be calculated using internal company data and will not be validated by an independent third party. While these numbers are expected to be based on
reasonable estimates of our user base for the applicable period of measurement, there are inherent challenges in measuring how our Service is used across large populations of
users and customers. The calculations of our active users may not reflect the actual number of people using our Service (if one user has more than one account or if one account
is used by multiple users). Errors or inaccuracies in our metrics or data could result in incorrect business decisions and inefficiencies, including expending resources to
implement unnecessary business measures or failing to take required actions to attract enough users to satisfy our growth strategies.

In addition, advertisers generally rely on third-party measurement services to calculate metrics related to our advertising business, and these third-party measurement
services may not reflect our true audience. Some of our demographic data also may be incomplete or inaccurate because users self-report their names and dates of birth or
because we receive them from other third parties. Consequently, the personal data we have may differ from our users’ actual names and ages. If advertisers, partners, or
investors do not perceive our user, geographic, or other demographic metrics to be accurate representations of our user base, or if we discover material inaccuracies in our user,
geographic, or other demographic metrics, our reputation may be materially harmed.

We are at risk of artificial manipulation of stream counts and failure to effectively ge and remediate such fraudulent streams could have an adverse impact on
our business, operating results, and financial condition. Fraudulent streams and potentially associated fraudulent user accounts or artists may cause us to overstate key
performance indicators, which once discovered, corrected, and disclosed, could undermine investor confidence in the integrity of our key performance indicators and could
cause our stock price to drop significantly.

27




As we further develop our D2C Service, we may in the future be impacted by attempts by third parties to artificially manipulate stream counts. Such attempts may, for
example, be designed to generate revenue for rights holders or to influence placement of content on Loop Media generated Playlists or industry music video charts. These
potentially fraudulent streams may involve creating non-bona fide user accounts or artists or using compromised passwords to access legitimate user accounts. We seek to detect
fraudulent streams and aim to remove fake user accounts created for the above purposes and filter them out from our metrics on an ongoing basis, as well as to require users to
reset passwords that we suspect have been compromised; however, we may not be successful in detecting, removing, and addressing all fraudulent streams and any related user
accounts. If in the future we fail to successfully detect, remove, and address fraudulent streams and associated user accounts, it may result in the manipulation of our data,
including the key performance indicators, which underlie, among other things, our contractual obligations with rights holders and advertisers (which could expose us to the risk
of litigation), as well as harm our relationships with rights holders and advertisers. In addition, once we detect, correct, and disclose fraudulent streams and associated user
accounts, this may result in the removal of certain user accounts and/or a reduction in account activity, which may affect key performance indicators and undermine investor
confidence in the integrity of our key performance indicators. These could have a material adverse impact on our business, operating results, and financial condition.

We are at risk of attempts to manipulate or exploit our software for the purpose of gaining or providing unauthorized access to certain features of our Service, and
failure to effectively prevent and remediate such attempts could have an adverse impact on our business, operating results, and financial condition.

As our business develops, we may be impacted by attempts by third parties to manipulate or exploit our software for the purpose of gaining or providing unauthorized
access to certain features of our Service. Third parties may seek to provide mobile device users a means to suppress advertisements without payment and gain access to features
only available to the Ad-Supported Service on tablets and desktop computers. If we fail to successfully detect and address such issues, it may have artificial effects on our key
performance indicators, which underlie, among other things, our contractual obligations with rights holders and advertisers (which could expose us to the risk of litigation), as
well as harm our relationship with rights holders and advertisers. The discovery or development of any new method to gain unauthorized access to certain features of our
Service, such as through the exploitation of software vulnerabilities, and the sharing of any such method among third parties, may increase the level of unauthorized access (and
the attendant negative financial impact described above). We cannot assure you we will be successful in finding ways to effectively address unauthorized access achieved
through any such method. Additionally, compared to our Ad-Supported Users, individuals using unauthorized versions of our application may be less likely to convert to
Premium Subscribers. Moreover, once we detect and disable such unauthorized access, this may result in the removal of certain user accounts and/or a reduction in account
activity, which may affect our key performance indicators and could undermine investor confidence in the integrity of our key performance indicators. These could have a
material adverse impact on our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Various regulations as well as self-regulation related to privacy and data security concerns pose the threat of lawsuits, regulatory fines and other liability, require us
to expend significant resources, and may harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.

As we collect and utilize personal data about our customers and users as they interact with our Service, we are subject to new and existing laws and regulations that
govern our use of user data. We are likely to be required to expend significant capital to ensure ongoing compliance with these laws and regulations. Claims or allegations that
we have violated laws and regulations relating to privacy and data security could result in negative publicity and a loss of confidence in us by our users and our partners. We
may be required to make significant expenditure to resolve these issues and we could be subject to civil liability and/or fines or other penalties, including by government and
data protection authorities.

Existing privacy-related laws and regulations in the United States, and in other countries are evolving and are subject to potentially differing interpretations, and various
U.S. federal and state or other international legislative and regulatory bodies may expand or enact laws regarding privacy and data security-related matters. Laws coming into
effect in various states, adoption of a comprehensive federal data privacy law, and new legislation in international jurisdictions may continue to change the data protection
landscape globally and could result in us expending considerable resources to meet these requirements.

We may find it necessary or desirable to join self-regulatory bodies or other privacy-related organizations that require compliance with their rules pertaining to privacy
and data security. We also may be bound by contractual obligations that limit our ability to collect, use, disclose, share, and leverage user data and to derive economic value
from it. New laws, amendments to, or reinterpretations of existing laws, rules of self-regulatory bodies, industry standards, and contractual obligations, as well as changes in our
users’ expectations and demands regarding privacy and data security, may limit our ability to collect, use, and disclose, and to leverage and derive economic value from user
data. Restrictions on our ability to collect, access and harness user data, or to use or disclose user data, may require us to expend significant resources to adapt to these changes,
and would in turn limit our ability to stream personalized content to our users and offer advertising and promotional opportunities to users on the Service.

We have incurred, and will continue to incur, expenses to comply with privacy and security standards and protocols imposed by law, regulation, self-regulatory bodies,
industry standards, and contractual obligations. Any failure to comply with privacy laws could result in litigation, regulatory or governmental investigations, enforcement action
requiring us to change the way we use personal data, restrictions on how we use personal data, or significant regulatory fines. In addition to statutory enforcement, a data breach
could lead to compensation claims by affected individuals (including consumer advocacy groups), negative publicity, and a potential loss of business as a result of customers
losing trust in us. Such failures could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and operations.
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If we fail to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, our ability to accurately and timely report our financial results could be
adversely affected.

We are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material weaknesses in those controls. We previously identified material
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting that related to, among other things, accounting for rights holder liabilities. During 2020, we took a number of actions
designed to remediate certain of these material weaknesses, including the hiring of additional accounting and finance team members and the implementation of new controls,
processes, and technologies. Based on the testing of operating effectiveness of these controls completed to date, as of December 31, 2020, we have remediated some of our
identified material weaknesses, but other previously identified material weaknesses remain.

If we continue to have material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting or fail to meet our obligations as a public company, including the
requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), we may be unable to accurately report our financial results, or report them within the timeframes
required by law or stock exchange regulations, and we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which would cause the price of
our common stock to decline. Under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we are required to evaluate and determine the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting and provide a management report as to internal control over financial reporting. Failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting also could
potentially subject us to sanctions or investigations by the SEC, or other regulatory authorities, or stockholder lawsuits, which could require additional financial and
management resources. We may be unable to fully remediate previously identified material weaknesses, or we may identify additional material weaknesses in the future, which
could materially adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.

We rely on advertising revenue to monetize our Service, and any failure to convince advertisers of the benefits of advertising on our Service in the future could harm
our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Our ability to attract and retain advertisers, and ultimately to generate advertising revenue, depends on several factors, including:

e increasing the number of hours our Ad-Supported customers and users spend playing or watching our video content or otherwise engaging with
content on our Ad-Supported Service;

increasing the number of Ad-Supported customers and users;

keeping pace with changes in technology and our competitors;

competing effectively for advertising dollars with other online and mobile marketing and media companies;

maintaining and growing our relationships with marketers, agencies, and other demand sources who purchase advertising inventory from us;
implementing and maintaining an effective infrastructure for order management; and

continuing to develop and diversify our advertising platform and offerings, which currently include delivery of advertising products through
multiple delivery channels, including traditional computers, mobile, and other connected devices, and multiple content types.

We may not succeed in capturing a greater share of our advertisers’ core marketing budgets, particularly if we are unable to achieve the scale, reach, products, and
market penetration necessary to demonstrate the effectiveness of our advertising solutions, or if our advertising model proves ineffective or not competitive when compared to
other alternatives and platforms through which advertisers choose to invest their budgets.
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Failure to grow the Ad-Supported customer and user base and to effectively demonstrate the value of our Ad-Supported Service and other similar offerings on the Service
to advertisers could result in loss of, or reduced spending by, existing or potential future advertisers, which would materially harm our business, operating results, and financial
condition.

Selling advertisements requires that we demonstrate to advertisers that our offerings on the Service are effective. For example, we need to show that our Ad-Supported
Service has substantial reach and engagement by relevant demographic audiences. Some of our demographic data may be incomplete or inaccurate. For example, because Ad-
Supported users self-report their personal data, which may include their genders and dates of birth, the personal data we have may differ from our Ad-Supported users’ actual
genders and ages. If our Ad-Supported users provide us with incorrect or incomplete information regarding their personal data, such as genders, age, or other attributes we use
to target advertisements to users, or the data are otherwise not available to us, then we may fail to target the correct demographic with our advertising. Advertisers often rely on
third parties to quantify the reach and effectiveness of our ad products. These third-party measurement services may not reflect our true audience or the performance of our ad
products, and their underlying methodologies are subject to change at any time. In addition, the methodologies we apply to measure the key performance indicators that we use
to monitor and manage our business may differ from the methodologies used by third-party measurement service providers, who may not integrate effectively with our Ad-
Supported Service. Measurement technologies for mobile devices may be even less reliable in quantifying the reach and usage of our Ad-Supported Service, and it is not clear
whether such technologies will integrate with our systems or uniformly and comprehensively reflect the reach, usage, or overall audience composition of our Ad-Supported
Service. If such third-party measurement providers report lower metrics than we do, there is wide variance among reported metrics, or we cannot adequately integrate with such
services that advertisers require, our ability to convince advertisers of the benefits of our Ad-Supported Service could be adversely affected.

We depend on highly skilled key personnel to operate our business, and if we are unable to attract, retain, and motivate qualified personnel, our ability to develop
and successfully grow our business could be harmed.

We believe that our future success is highly dependent on the talents and contributions of our senior management, including Jon Niermann, our Chief Executive Officer,
members of our executive team, and other key employees, such as the key technology, product, content, engineering, finance, research and development, marketing, and sales
personnel. Many of our employees have unique skills required for and/or historical knowledge of our business. Our future success depends on our continuing ability to attract,
develop, motivate, and retain highly qualified and skilled employees. All of our employees, including our senior management, are free to terminate their employment
relationship with us at any time, and their knowledge of our business and industry may be difficult to replace. Qualified individuals are in high demand, particularly in the
digital media industry, and we may incur significant costs to attract and retain them. We use equity awards to attract talented employees. If the value or liquidity of our common
stock declines significantly and remains depressed, that may prevent us from recruiting and retaining qualified employees. If we are unable to attract and retain our senior
management and key employees, we may not be able to achieve our strategic objectives, and our business could be harmed. In addition, we believe that our key executives have
developed highly successful and effective working relationships. We cannot assure you that we will be able to retain the services of any members of our senior management or
other key employees. If one or more of these individuals leave, we may not be able to fully integrate new executives or replicate the current dynamic, and working relationships
that have developed among our senior management and other key personnel, and our operations could suffer.

We have acquired and invested in, and may continue to acquire or invest in, other companies or technologies, which could divert gement’s tion and
otherwise disrupt our operations and harm our operating results. We may fail to acquire or invest in companies whose market power or technology could be important to
the future success of our business.

We have recently acquired assets from Spkr, Inc. (“Spkr”) and invested in EON Media and may in the future seek to acquire or invest in, other companies or
technologies, including additional investments in EON Media, that we believe could complement or expand our Service or enhance our capabilities or content offerings, or
otherwise offer growth opportunities. Pursuit of future potential acquisitions or investments may divert the attention of management and cause us to incur various expenses in
identifying, investigating, and pursuing suitable opportunities, whether or not they are consummated. In addition, we have limited experience acquiring and integrating other
businesses. We may be unsuccessful in integrating our recently acquired businesses or any additional business we may acquire in the future, and we may fail to acquire
companies whose market power or technology could be important to the future success of our business.

We also may not achieve the anticipated benefits from any acquisition or investment due to a number of factors, including:

. unanticipated costs or liabilities associated with the acquisition or investment, including costs or liabilities arising from the acquired companies’ failure to comply
with intellectual property laws and licensing obligations they are subject to;

. incurrence of acquisition- or investment-related costs;

° diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns;

. regulatory uncertainties;
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harm to our existing business relationships with business partners and advertisers as a result of the acquisition or investment;
harm to our brand and reputation;

the potential loss of key employees;

use of resources that are needed in other parts of our business; and

use of substantial portions of our available cash to consummate the acquisition or investment.

If we acquire or invest in other companies, these acquisitions or investments may reduce our operating margins for the foreseeable future. In addition, a significant
portion of the purchase price of companies we acquire may be allocated to acquired goodwill, which must be assessed for impairment at least annually. In the future, if our
acquisitions or investments do not yield expected returns, we may be required to take charges to our operating results based on this impairment assessment process. Acquisitions
or investments could also result in dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of debt, which could adversely affect our operating results. In addition, if a business
we acquire or invest in fails to meet our expectations, our business, operating results, and financial condition may suffer.

Our operating results may fluctuate, which makes our results difficult to predict.

As our business further develops, our revenue and operating results could vary significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year because of a variety of factors, many
of which are outside our control. As a result, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. Factors that may contribute to the variability
of our quarterly and annual results include:

our ability to grow our OOH business beyond historic levels through our recently introduced Loop Player, the expansion into more OOH Venues and the further
development of our Ad-Supported business model;

our ability to retain our current user base, increase our number of Ad-Supported D2C users and Premium Subscribers, and increase users’ time spent streaming
content on our Service;

our ability to monetize our Service more effectively, particularly as the number of OOH customers and our users on CTVs, mobile and other connected devices
grow;

our ability to effectively manage our growth;

our ability to attract user and/or customer adoption of and generate significant revenue from new products, services, and initiatives;

our ability to attract and retain existing advertisers and prove that our advertising products are effective enough to justify a pricing structure that is profitable for us;
the effects of increased competition in our business;

our ability to keep pace with changes in technology and our competitors;

lack of accurate and timely reports and invoices from our rights holders and partners;

interruptions in service, whether or not we are responsible for such interruptions, and any related impact on our reputation;

our ability to pursue and appropriately time our entry into new geographic or content markets and, if pursued, our management of this expansion;

costs associated with defending any litigation, including intellectual property infringement litigation;

the impact of general economic conditions on our revenue and expenses; and

changes in regulations affecting our business.

Risks Related to Owning Qur Common Stock

The trading price of our common stock has been and will likely continue to be volatile.

The trading price of our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be volatile. In 2020, the trading price of our common stock ranged from $0.495 to $3.45.
The market price of our common stock may fluctuate or decline significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including:

the number of shares of our common stock publicly owned and available for trading;
quarterly variations in our results of operations or those of our competitors;
the accuracy of our financial guidance or projections;
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our actual or anticipated operating performance and the operating performance of similar companies in the music video, OOH entertainment, or digital media spaces;
our announcements or our competitors’ announcements regarding new services, enhancements, significant contracts, acquisitions, or strategic investments;

general economic conditions and their impact on advertising spending;

the overall performance of the equity markets;

threatened or actual litigation;

changes in laws or regulations relating to our Service;

sales or expected sales of our common stock by us, and our officers, directors, and stockholders.

In addition, the stock market in general, particularly the OTC Pink Open Market operated by OTC Markets Group, Inc. (the “Pink Open Market”) and the market for
small media companies, have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that often have been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those
companies. Securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the overall market and in the market price of a
company’s securities. Such litigation, if instituted against us, could result in very substantial costs, divert our management’s attention and resources and harm our business,
operating results, and financial condition.

Because of their significant ownership of our common stock, our founders and other large investors have substantial control over our business, and their interests
may differ from our interests or those of our other stockholders. Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public markets by our founders or other
stockholders, or the perception that such sales might occur, could reduce the price that our common stock might otherwise attain and may dilute your voting power and
your ownership interest in us.

As of December 31, 2020, our founders and largest investor, beneficially owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, common stock representing 40% of the combined
voting power of all our outstanding voting securities. As a result of this ownership or control of our voting securities, if our founders and/or significant stockholders act
together, they will have control over the outcome of substantially all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election of directors. This may delay or
prevent an acquisition or cause the trading price of our common stock to decline. Our founders may have interests different from yours. Therefore, the concentration of voting
power among our founders may have an adverse effect on the price of our common stock.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market by our founders, affiliates, or non-affiliates, or the perception that such sales could occur, could
adversely affect the trading price of our common stock, and may make it more difficult for you to sell your common stock at a time and price that you deem appropriate.

If securities or industry analysts publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business or cease publishing research about our business, our share price
and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about our Company, if any do so in
the future. If one or more of the analysts who may cover us in the future downgrade our common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our Company, our
common stock price would likely decline. Further, if one or more of these analysts, once they cover us, cease coverage of our Company or fail to publish reports on us regularly,
demand for our common stock could decrease, which might cause our common stock price and trading volume to decline.

M o 7 ic 0 7 ) o " a, e
The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources and divert manag t’s

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and other applicable securities rules and regulations. Compliance with these
rules and regulations incurs substantial legal and financial compliance costs, makes some activities more difficult, time-consuming, or costly, and places increased demand on
our systems and resources. The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual and current reports with respect to our business and operating results. The
Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. To maintain
disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting that meet this standard, significant resources and management oversight are required. As a
result, management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could harm our business and operating results.

We do not expect to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our share capital. We currently intend to retain any future earnings for working capital and general corporate
purposes and do not expect to pay dividends or other distributions on our common stock in the foreseeable future. As a result, you may only receive a return on your investment

in our common stock if you sell some or all of your common stock after the trading price of our common stock increases. You may not receive a gain on your investment when
you sell your common stock, and you may lose the entire amount of the investment.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the information under this item.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive offices are located at 700 N. Central Avenue, Suite 430, Glendale, CA, and our telephone number is (213) 436-2100. We currently lease
approximately 1,976 square feet of office space at this location. The lease term is 43 months from November 14, 2019 to May 31, 2023.

We also have an office located at 150 Nickerson Street, Suite 305, Seattle, WA 98109. We currently lease approximately 3,776 square feet of office space at this
location. The lease term is 60 months from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2022.

We believe that our leased facilities are adequate to meet our needs at this time. We do not currently own any real property.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are currently not involved in any litigation that we believe could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. There is no
action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, or investigation before or by any court, public board, government agency, self-regulatory organization or body pending or, to the knowledge of
the executive officers of our Company, threatened against or affecting our Company, or our common stock, in which we believe an adverse decision could have a material

adverse effect.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is quoted under the symbol “LPTV” on the Pink Open Market operated by OTC Markets Group, Inc.

The following table sets forth the range of high and low bid quotations for our common stock for each of the periods indicated as reported by the Pink Open Market.
These quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and may not necessarily represent actual transactions. Our common stock is very
thinly traded and, thus, pricing of our common stock on the Pink Open Market does not necessarily represent its fair market value. The information in the table below has been

adjusted to give retroactive effect to the Reverse Split that we effected on June 8, 2020.

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2020

Quarter Ended High $ Low $
March 31, 2020 0.78 0.54
June 30, 2020 2.55 2.25
September 30, 2020 2.05 2.00
December 31, 2020 3.21 3.21

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2019

Quarter Ended High $ Low $
March 31, 2019 0.15 0.0795
June 30,2019 0.018 0.0097
September 30, 2019 0.0135 0.0135
December 31, 2019 0.0109 0.0109

On April 14, 2021, the closing price of our common stock as quoted on Pink Open Market was $2.95.
Holders

As of April 14, 2021, we had 120,933,177 shares of common stock outstanding held by approximately 212 stockholders of record.
Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings, if any, to fund the development
and expansion of our business and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination related to dividend policy will be made at
the discretion of our board of directors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Information regarding our equity compensation plans is contained in Item 12 under “Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans”
and Note 17 — Stock Options and Warrants to the Financial Statements.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Beginning on October 1, 2020, and through December 31, 2020, we sold and issued an aggregate of 704,000 shares of our common stock to a total of three accredited
investors at a price of $1.25 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $780,000. We also received proceeds of $350,000 for additional sales of our common stock under the
same offering to four more accredited investors but the stock was not issued until 2021. The offers, sales and issuances of such common stock were deemed to be exempt from
registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act as transactions by an issuer not involving a public offering.

On December 1, 2020, the Company offered in a private placement, the aggregate offering amount of up to $3,000,000 of Senior Secured Promissory Debentures, with
a minimum subscription amount of $250,000 and common stock warrants with an aggregate exercise price of $750,000 and aggregate exercisable warrant shares of 272,727
shares. The only Senior Secured Promissory Note entered under this offering in 2020 was to a related party in the amount of $750,000. This note accrues cash interest at 4% per
annum and payment in kind interest at 6% payable in the Company’s common stock, determined on a 360-day basis. Cash interest is payable in advance on the issue date to
November 30, 2021, then six months in arrears on June 1, 2022, then six months in arrears on December 1, 2022.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the information under this item.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
STATEMENT ON FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This Annual Report contains certain forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of historical fact are “forward-looking statements” for purposes
of these provisions, including any projections of earnings, revenues, or other financial items; any statements of the plans, strategies, and objectives of management for future
operations, any statements concerning proposed new products, services, or developments, any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance, statements of
belief; and any statement of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. Such forward-looking statements are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties, and actual results
could differ materially from those anticipated by the forward-looking statements.

These forward-looking statements involve significant risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the following: competition, promotional costs, and risk of
declining revenues. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements as a result of a number of factors. These forward-
looking statements are made as of the date of this filing, and we assume no obligation to update such forward-looking statements. The following discusses our financial
condition and results of operations based upon our financial statements which have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. It should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere herein.

The following discussion and analysis provides information which our management believes to be relevant to an assessment and understanding of our results of
operations and financial condition. The discussion should be read together with our financial statements and the notes to the financial statements, which are included in this
report.

Overview

Loop Media, Inc. (f/k/a Interlink Plus, Inc.) (the “Company”) is a Nevada corporation. The Company was incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada on May
11, 2015. On February 5, 2020, the Company and the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Loop Media Acquisition, Inc. (“Merger Sub”), a Delaware corporation, closed the
Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Loop Media, Inc. (“Loop”), a Delaware corporation. Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub merged
with and into Loop with Loop as surviving entity and becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Merger”).

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of Loop in exchange for 152,823,970 shares (pre-stock split; the post stock
split number would be 101,882,647 shares) of the Company’s common stock at an exchange ratio of 1:1. Loop was incorporated on May 18, 2016, under the laws of the State of
Delaware. As a result of such acquisition, the Company’s operations now are focused on premium short-form video for businesses and consumers.

In connection with the Merger, on February 6, 2020, the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”) with Zixiao Chen (“Buyer”)
for the purchase of assets relating to the Company’s two major business segments: travel agency assistance services and convention services (together, the “Business”). In
consideration for the assets of the Business, Buyer transferred to the Company 2,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock and agreed to assume and discharge any and
all liabilities relating to the Business accruing up to the effective time of the Asset Purchase Agreement. The shares will be retired and restored to the status of authorized and
unissued shares.

For accounting purposes, Loop was the surviving entity. The transaction was accounted for as a recapitalization of Loop pursuant to which Loop was treated as the
accounting acquirer, surviving and continuing entity although the Company is the legal acquirer. The Company did not recognize goodwill or any intangible assets in
connection with the Merger. Accordingly, the Company’s historical financial statements are those of Loop and its wholly-owned subsidiary, ScreenPlay, immediately following
the consummation of this reverse merger transaction.

On June 8, 2020, a 1 for 1.5 reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock became effective. All share and per share information in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements and footnotes has been retroactively adjusted for the effects of the reverse split for all periods presented.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, substantially all our revenues were derived from the historical business of ScreenPlay, which relies on a Subscription service-

based model using older and more expensive A/V technology. Our revenues for 2020 did not contain any significant contribution from any Ad-Supported Services or the
provision of the Loop Player to OOH venues or our Loop App to retail consumer end users.

36




Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.
Recent Developments

Impact of COVID-19

The spread of COVID-19 around the world is continuing to affect the United States and global economies and may affect our operations and those of third parties on
which we rely, including by causing disruptions in staffing, order fulfillment, and demand for product. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic may affect our revenue
significantly in 2021, as it had in 2020. Additionally, while the potential ongoing negative economic impact brought by, and the duration of, the COVID-19 pandemic is still
difficult to assess or predict, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global financial markets may reduce our ability to access capital, which could negatively impact our
short-term and long-term liquidity. The ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2021 is highly uncertain and subject to change.

The Company has been and continues to be significantly impacted by COVID-19 which was directly related to business closures of key customers. If our business
continues to be impacted, we may reintroduce the salary reductions that we had in place from March 2020 through October 2020, or introduce other cost cutting activities.

As COVID-19 continues to evolve, the extent to which COVID-19 continues to impact operations will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and
cannot be predicted with confidence, including the duration and changes in the severity of the outbreak, and the actions that may be required to try and contain COVID-19 or
treat its impact. The Company continues to monitor the ongoing pandemic and, the extent to which the continued spread of the virus adversely affects our customer base and
therefore revenue. As the COVID-19 pandemic is complex and rapidly evolving, the Company’s plans as described above may change. At this point, the Company cannot
reasonably estimate the duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2021, which could have a material adverse impact on the business, results of operations, financial
position and cash flows.

Share purchase agreement

The Company entered into a share purchase agreement dated August 1, 2020, for the private offer to a limited number of accredited investors of up to $6,500,000
worth of restricted shares of common stock of the Company at an issue price of $1.25 per share (“Share Purchase Agreement”). The shares are subject to restriction on resales
until that date that is 365 days following the relevant closing date for any individual investor. As of April 14, 2021, the Company had raised an aggregate of $5,530,000 and
issued 4,424,000 shares under the Share Purchase Agreement.

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

Use of estimates and assump

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates include assumptions used in the revenue recognition of
performance obligations, fair value of stock-based compensation awards, fair value measurements, right-of-use assets (“ROU”), lease liabilities, and allowance for doubtful
accounts.

Revenue recognition

ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“Topic 606”), became effective for the Company on January 1, 2018. The Company’s revenue
recognition disclosure reflects its updated accounting policies that are affected by this new standard. The Company applied the “modified retrospective” transition method for
open contracts for the implementation of Topic 606. As sales are and have been primarily from delivery of streaming services, delivery of subscription content services in
customized formats, and delivery of hardware and ongoing content delivery through software and the Company has no significant post-delivery obligations, this new standard
did not result in a material recognition of revenue on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the cumulative impact of applying this new standard. Therefore, there
was no cumulative effect adjustment required.
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The Company recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control over a product to a customer. Revenue is measured based on the
consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those products. In instances where final acceptance of the product is specified by the customer, revenue is
deferred until all acceptance criteria have been met. Revenues are recognized under Topic 606 in a manner that reasonably reflects the delivery of the Company’s products and
services to customers in return for expected consideration and includes the following elements:

executed contracts with the Company’s customers that it believes are legally enforceable;
identification of performance obligations in the respective contract;

determination of the transaction price for each performance obligation in the respective contract;
allocation the transaction price to each performance obligation; and

recognition of revenue only when the Company satisfies each performance obligation.

Performance obligations and significant judgments
The Company’s revenue streams can be categorized into the following performance obligations and recognition patterns:

e delivery of streaming services including content encoding and hosting; the Company recognizes revenue over the term of the service based on bandwidth
usage;

e delivery of subscription content services in customized formats; the Company recognizes revenue over the term of the service; and

e delivery of hardware for ongoing subscription content delivery through software; the Company recognizes revenue at the point of hardware delivery.

Transaction prices for performance obligations are explicitly outlined in relevant contractual agreements; therefore, the Company does not believe that significant
judgments are required with respect to the determination of the transaction price, including any variable consideration identified.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue represents the cost of delivered hardware and bundled software and is recognized at the time of sale. For ongoing licensing and hosting fees, cost of
sales is recognized over time based on usage patterns.

Stock-based compensation

Share-based compensation awarded to employees is measured at the award date, based on the fair value of the award, and is recognized as an expense over the requisite
vesting period. The Company measures the fair value of the share-based compensation issued to non-employees using the stock price observed in the trading market (for stock
transactions) or the fair value of the award (for non-stock transactions), which were more reliably determinable measures of fair value than the value of the services being
rendered. The measurement date is the earlier of (1) the date at which commitment for performance by the counterparty to earn the equity instruments is reached, or (2) the date
at which the counterparty’s performance is complete.

Fair value measurements

The Company determines the fair value of its assets and liabilities using a hierarchy established by the accounting guidance that prioritizes the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to valuations based upon unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to valuations based upon unobservable inputs that are significant to the valuation (Level 3 measurements). The three
levels of valuation hierarchy are defined as follows:

e Level 1 inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets;

o Level 2 inputs to the valuation methodology included quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets in
inactive markets, and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument; and

e Level 3 inputs to the valuation methodology is one or more unobservable inputs which are significant to the fair value measurement.

The carrying amount of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash, accounts receivable, deposits, short-term portion of notes receivable and notes payable,
and current liabilities approximate fair value due to their short-term nature. The Company does not have financial assets or liabilities that are required under the U.S. GAAP to
be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The Company has not elected to use fair value measurement option for any assets or liabilities for which fair value measurement
is not presently required.

The Company records assets and liabilities at fair value on nonrecurring basis as required by the U.S. GAAP. Assets recognized or disclosed at fair value in the

consolidated financial statements on a nonrecurring basis include items such as property and equipment, operating lease assets, goodwill, and other intangible assets, which are
measured at fair value if determined to be impaired.
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Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and the
lease obligations are recorded as liabilities and represent an obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the lease
commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As most of the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit interest rate, the Company
uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the commencement date to determine the present value of the lease payments.

The ROU asset arrangement also consists of any prepaid lease payments and deferred rent liabilities. The lease terms used to calculate the ROU asset and related lease
liability include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. Lease expense for operating leases is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term as an operating expense. The Company has lease agreements which require payments for both lease and non-lease
components and has elected to account for these as a single lease component.

License Content Asset

On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted the guidance in ASU 2019-02, Entertainment—Films—Other Assets—Film Costs (Subtopic 926-20) and Entertainment—
Broadcasters—Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Subtopic 920-350): Improvements to Accounting for Costs of Films and License Agreements for Program Materials, on a
prospective basis. The Company capitalizes the fixed content fees and its corresponding liability when the license period begins, the cost of the content is known, and the
content is accepted and available for streaming. If the licensing fee is not determinable or reasonably estimable, no asset or liability is recorded, and licensing costs are expenses
as incurred. The Company amortizes licensed content assets into cost of revenue, using the straight-line method over the contractual period of availability. The liability is paid
in accordance with the contractual terms of the arrangement.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The Company assesses the collectability of receivables on an ongoing basis. A provision for the impairment of receivables involves significant management judgement
and includes the review of individual receivables based on individual customers, current economic trends, and analysis of historical bad debts.
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Consolidated Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented. The period-to-period comparison of financial results is not necessarily indicative of
future results:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, %
2020 2019 $ variance variance
Content and streaming services $ 1,402,018 $ 1,693,921 (291,903) -17%
Content subscription services 1,225,005 1,498,663 (273,658) -18%
Hardware for ongoing subscription content 167,058 188,537 (21,479) -11%
Total revenue 2,794,081 3,381,121 (587,040) -17%
Cost of revenue 1,109,379 913,843 195,536 21%
Gross profit 1,684,702 2,467,278 (782,576) -32%
Total operating expenses 12,091,793 12,462,338 (370,545) -3%
Loss from operations (10,407,091) (9,995,060) (412,031) 4%
Other income (expense):
Interest income 6,552 5,235 1,317 25%
Interest expense (1,135,603) (964,081) (171,522) 18%
Bad debt recovery — 3,225 (3,225) -100%
Gain/(Loss) on settlement of obligations (1,100) (301,044) 299,944 -100%
Loss on extinguishment of debt — (258,417) 258,417 -100%
Other income 10,000 — 10,000 0%
Inducement expense (3,793,406) — (3,793,406) 0%
Total other income (expense) (4,913,557) (1,515,082) (3,398,475) 224%
Provision for income taxes (98,244) (1,600) (96,644) 6040%
Net loss $ (15,418,892) $ (11,511,742) $ (3,907,150) 34%

Revenues

The Company’s revenue declined for the year ended December 31, 2020 from 2019 by $587,040 or 17%. Content and streaming services decreased $291,903 year over
year as customers were impacted by the pandemic. A customer accounting for nearly all production services revenue terminated its relationship with the Company in February
2020, accounting for $127,165 decrease. An online video streaming customer’s subscription charges ended in August 2019, causing a year over year decrease of $124,258. A
box office ticket reseller cancelled subscription charges in June 2020, resulting in a $33,747 decrease year over year. A media entertainment customer with multiple sites is
charging contract minimums and are not charging for normal additional usage due to the pandemic in 2020, resulting in a $37,526 decrease year over year.

Content subscription revenues decreased $273,658 year over year 2020 is due to customers impacted by the pandemic. A customer’s multilocation gymnasium chain
was provided with COVID-19 credits which decreased revenues year over year $105,411. A customer in the travel industry’s subscription revenues were credited due to non-
operations and decreased $47,653 from 2019. A multilocation bar and restaurant chain owner’s locations were negatively impacted by the pandemic and COVID-19 credits
resulted in a year over year subscription revenue decrease of $45,850.
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Cost of revenue

The $195,536 increase in cost of revenues year over year is due to $380,890 amortization of contract assets in 2020 offset by usage decreases due to the pandemic.
Hosting expenses decreased $72,788 as automated usage collection vendors track usage and charges the Company a percentage of usage measurement. Direct cost
subcontractors decreased $41,292 primarily due to a consultant no longer providing editing/production services beginning in April 2020. Also, inventory cost of sales true up
expense increased $27,007 year over year.
Total operating expenses

Operating expenses decreased $370,545, 2020 versus 2019 primarily due to personnel-related costs and impairment. Payroll increased $828,473 year over year due to
headcount growth. Stock compensation to executives and employees increased $653,531 year over year. Consulting and staffing costs increased $816,726 year over year which
includes $492,000 in warrants paid to an outside consultant with the remaining portion due to computer development and temporary staffing $837,716 increased operating
expenses year over year due to accounting expenses due to financial statement review, audit and SEC reporting. There was an increase in amortization of intangibles of
$289,079 due to the Spkr asset acquisition.

Decrease of $3,959,201 impairment expense was due to impairment of software intangible of 6,350,000 in the fourth quarter of 2019, offset by ScreenPlay brand
impairment $130,000 and license contract asset impairment of $2,260,799 in the fourth quarter of 2020.

Other income and expenses

The gain/loss on settlement of obligations decreased $299,944 in 2019 there was a loss on settlement of obligations of $493,601 due to issuance of warrants to satisfy a
liability, offset by a gain on settlement of obligations due to the relief of $192,557 of accrued interest.

Loss on extinguishment of debt decreased $258,417 year over year as there were no debt extinguishment gains or losses recognized in 2020 versus the $258,417
recognized in 2019.

In the first quarter of 2020 there was an inducement expense of $3,793,406 for the purchase of series B convertible preferred stock.
Provision for income taxes

Income tax expense increased $96,644 due to tax true up to prepaid tax from 2019. The tax prepaid balance will be adjusted as needed in 2021.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had cash of approximately $838,161. The following table provides a summary of the Company’s net cash flows from
operating, investing, and financing activities.

Year ended December 31,

2020 2019
Net cash used in operating activities $ (5,933,667) $ (2,196,511)
Net cash used in investing activities (752,027) (20,178)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities 6,512,410 (610,527)
Change in cash (173,284) (2,827,216)
Cash, beginning of period 1,011,445 3,838,661
Cash, end of period $ 838,161 $ 1,011,445

The Company has historically sought and continues to seek financing from private sources to implement its business plans. To satisfy its financial commitments, the
Company has historically relied on private party financing, but that has inherent risks in terms of availability and adequacy of funding.

For the next twelve months, the Company anticipates that it will need to supplement its cash from revenues with additional cash raised from equity investment or debt
transactions to ensure that the Company will have adequate cash to support its minimum operating cash requirements and thus to continue as a going concern.

There can be no guarantee or assurance that the Company can raise adequate capital from outside sources. If the Company is unable to raise funds when required or on
acceptable terms, it may have to significantly reduce, or discontinue its operations.

Net cash flow from operating activities

There was approximately $3,737,156 more cash used in operations in the year ended December 31, 2020, than in 2019. Net income decreased $3,907,150 year over
year. Non-cash add backs decreased $1,071,659 year over year.

Net cash flow from investing activities

Investing activities year over year increase is primarily due to an equity investment in the fourth quarter of 2020. In 2020, the Company invested $750,000 in an equity
investment in an unconsolidated entity and $7,847 for the purchase of equipment as compared to $25,773 in 2019.

Net cash flow from financing activities

There was net cash increase from financing activities of $7,122,937 year over year, December 31, 2020 and 2019. In the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company
raised $5,310,000 in new capital to continue strengthening its operations and building its organization, less $80,134 to pay for additional legal fees and other costs associated
with the merger into a public company. The Company also received loan proceeds from the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) loan program in the amount of $573,500. The
Company issued convertible debt of $750,000.

In 2019, the Company paid $2,149,875 in the ScreenPlay acquisition offset by $1,000,000 in loan proceeds.

Going Concern

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had cash of $838,161 and an accumulated deficit of $41,544,144. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company
used net cash in operating activities of $5,933,667. The Company has incurred net losses since inception. These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern within one year from the issuance date of these consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s primary source of operating funds since inception has been cash proceeds from debt and equity financing transactions. The ability of the Company to

continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to generate sufficient revenue and its ability to raise additional funds by way of its debt and equity financing efforts.
There can be no assurance that adequate financing will be available in a timely manner, on acceptable terms, or at all.

42




The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of
liabilities in the normal course of business. These consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recovery of the recorded assets or
classification of the liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern
is dependent on management’s further implementation of the Company’s on-going and strategic plans, which include continuing to raise funds through equity and/or debt
raises. Should the Company be unable to raise adequate funds, certain aspects of the on-going and strategic plans may require modification. Management is in the process of
identifying sources of capital via strategic partnerships, debt refinancing and equity investments through one or more private placements soon.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See the Company’s discussion under Note 2 — Significant Accounting Policies in its financial statements included in Item 15 of this Annual Report.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the information under this item.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The financial statements and supplementary data required by this Item 8 are listed in Item 15 — “Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules” of this Annual Report.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIALS DISCLOSURES
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15(c) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of
December 31, 2020. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in the reports we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosures, and is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

Based on this evaluation, and because of the material weaknesses described below, our CEO and CFO have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
not effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2020. Notwithstanding the material weaknesses that were identified as of December 31, 2019, and continued
to exist at December 31, 2020, management believes that the financial statements included in this report present fairly in all material respects our financial position, results of
operations and cash flows for the period presented.

Material weaknesses and management’s remediation plan

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, within the meaning of Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (“PCAOB”) Auditing
Standard AS 2201, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim
financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The following material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting were identified in the normal course as
of December 31, 2020:

The Company failed to maintain an effective control environment due to the following:

* the Company’s management and the governance had insufficient oversight of the design and operating effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and internal
controls over financial reporting;

« the Company failed to maintain effective controls over the period-end financial reporting process, including controls with respect to preparation and disclosure of
provision for income taxes, valuation and presentation of asset acquisition, content assets and liabilities, and investments; and

* the Company failed to maintain effective controls over journal entries, both recurring and nonrecurring, and account reconciliations and did not maintain proper
segregation of duties. Journal entries were not always accompanied by sufficient supporting documentation and were not adequately reviewed and approved for validity,
completeness and accuracy. In most instances, persons responsible for reviewing journal entries and account reconciliations for validity, completeness and accuracy were
also responsible for preparation.

Management’s Remediation Initiatives

We have concluded that these material weaknesses arose because, as previously a private company, we did not have the necessary business processes, systems,
personnel, and related internal controls. During the year ended December 31, 2020, we began to undertake measures to address material weaknesses in our internal controls. We
will continue to take steps to remediate these material weaknesses, including:

e weintend to implement a procedure that ensures timely review of the financial statements, notes to our financial statements, and our Annual and Quarterly Reports
on Forms 10-K and 10-Q by our chief executive officer, chief financial officer, and our board of directors, prior to filing with the SEC;

e weintend to design and implement a formalized financial reporting process that includes balance sheet reconciliations, properly prepared, supported, and reviewed
journal entries, properly segregated duties, and properly completed and approved close checklist and calendar;
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«  we will utilize outside professionals to assist with our specialized reporting requirements to ensure timely filing of our required reports with the SEC; and
* weintend to initiate efforts to ensure our employees understand the continued importance of internal controls and compliance with corporate policies and
procedures.
Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There was a change in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f)) that occurred during our most recent
quarter that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

The Company hired additional experienced individuals to prepare and approve the consolidated financial statements and footnoted disclosures in accordance with US
GAAP. We believe this change remediates the material weakness raised in previous quarters that the Company’s financial reporting team did not possess the requisite skill sets,
knowledge, education, or experience to prepare the financial statements and notes to the financial statements in accordance with US GAAP, or to review the financial statements
and notes to the financial statements prepared by the external consultants and professionals to ensure accuracy and completeness.

Management intends to implement certain remediation steps to address the material weaknesses described under Management’s Remediation Initiatives. However,
management has not yet implemented those remediation steps and expects remediation efforts to continue through the remainder of fiscal year 2021.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Directors and Executive Officers

The following table sets forth the names, ages, and positions of our senior management and directors as of the date of this report:

Name Age Position
Jon M. Niermann 55 Chief Executive Officer, Chairman & Director
James J. Cerna, Jr. 52 Chief Financial Officer
Liam McCallum 40 Chief Product and Technical Officer
Andy Schuon 56 Head of Loop Media Studios
Bruce A. Cassidy 71 Director

The business address of each of Mr. Cassidy, Mr. Niermann, Mr. Cerna, Mr. McCallum and Mr. Schuon is 700 N. Central Avenue, Suite 430, Glendale, California
91203. The following is a brief biography of each of our senior managers and directors:

Jon M. Niermann is our Co-Founder and Chief Executive Officer. As our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, he is responsible for guiding the vision and strategy
of the Company and leading the management team. Prior to founding Loop Media in 2016, Mr. Niermann founded FarWest Entertainment, a global platform bridging the Asia-
Pacific region and the west through multimedia entertainment and strategic partnerships, and served as its Chief Executive Officer and Executive Producer from 2010 to 2015.
From 2008 to 2011, Mr. Niermann was a Late Night Talk Show Host for the Fox International Channel’s “Asia Uncut.” He served as President of Electronic Arts Asia from
2003 to 2010, where he helped move the company’s game portfolio into online gaming, and spent fifteen years, from 1988-2003, with The Walt Disney Company, including as
Managing Director and President, Asia Pacific, of Walt Disney International from 2001 to 2003. Mr. Niermann holds a Bachelor of Science and Arts in Finance and Marketing
from the University of Denver, and an MBA from UCLA’s Anderson School of Management. We believe that Mr. Niermann should serve as a member of our board of
directors due to the extensive experience in the entertainment industry, as well as the perspective he brings as our co-founder and CEO and as our largest and controlling
stockholder.

James J. Cerna, Jr. is our Chief Financial Officer. He is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial affairs. Prior to joining Loop in 2020, Mr. Cerna was the
Chief Executive Officer of FogChain Inc., a publicly traded software company, from 2017 to 2020. From 2014 to 2017, he was the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief
Financial Officer of SauceLabs Inc., a software testing company. Mr. Cerna was Chief Executive Officer of Armada Oil, Inc. from 2011 to 2013, and its President from 2013 to
2014; the Founder and Chief Executive Officer of Lucas Energy Inc. from 2003-2008; Chief Financial Officer of Spinaway Technologies from 2000-2003; and Founder and
Chief Executive Officer of NetCurrents, Inc. from 1997-2000. Mr. Cerna holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration, Finance, from California State University,
Chico.

Liam McCallum is our Co-Founder and Chief Product and Technical Officer. He oversees our product strategy, design, and development across mobile, TV and out-of-
home, along with our technical operations. Mr. McCallum founded Encoder Farm, a video encoding Software-as-a-Service platform for developers, in 2017, and served as its
Chief Executive Officer from 2017-2020. He served as an advisor to Motorola Outdoor from 2015-2016; he was the Founder and Chief Technology Officer of cloud media
company Hive Cloud Ltd from 2014 to 2015 and was a Senior Advisor to FarWest Entertainment from 2010 to 2015. Prior to this, Mr. McCallum was the Founder and Chief
Executive Officer of QVIVO, a global enterprise cloud media platform backed by SingTel Innov8 from 2010 to 2014, and from 2000 to 2010, was at Electronic Arts, eventually
becoming Asia Pacific’s Head of Online Technology.

Andy Schuon is the Head of Loop Media Studios. He is responsible for all video and audio content, programming creation and acquisitions at Loop for both the B2B and
consumer platforms. Prior to joining Loop in 2020, in 2018, Mr. Schuon co-founded Spkr. (acquired by Loop in 2020) and served as its Chief Executive Officer, where he
conceived and launched a platform to solve discovery and time-related issues with podcasting. Before forming Spkr, in 2011, Mr. Schuon co-founded and was the Founding
President of Revolt Media & TV, a music-focused television network. From 2011 to 2015, Mr. Schuon was Chief Digital Officer and President, Artist Services for LiveNation.
He founded the International Music Feed Network for Universal Music Group in 2007 and served as its President and Chief Executive Officer. From 2002 to 2004, Mr. Schuon
was President of Programming and Marketing for CBS Radio. Prior to that, in 2001, he founded and served as the Chief Executive Officer of the Sony Music Group/Universal
Music Group joint venture PressPlay, the first music subscription service which was subsequently acquired and renamed Napster. Mr. Schuon was Executive Vice President
and General Manager for Warner Bros Records from 1988 to 2000, and from 1992 to 1998, the Executive Vice President of Programming and Production for MTV, the music
television cable channel, in the early days of its success. He is currently a member of the boards of directors for Teach for America and CoFoundersLab.
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Bruce A. Cassidy is a member of our board of directors. He has been a member of our board of directors since 2020. In addition to his role on our board of directors,
Mr. Cassidy currently serves on the boards for various companies, including as Chairman of the Board of each of Ultimate Gamer, Banyan Pediatric Care Centers, and Segmint.
He serves as Chairman of the Sarasota Green Group, the Executive Chairman of each of CelebYou LLC and CelebYou Productions, and is on the board of directors of Selinsky
Force LLC. He was also the founding investor and served on the board of directors of Ohio Legacy Corp. Previously, Mr. Cassidy was the founder and CEO of Excel Mining
Systems from 1991 until its sale in 2007 to Orica Mining Services, and from 2008 to 2009, served as the President and CEO of one of its subsidiaries, Minora North & South
Americas. He currently owns and operates The Concession Golf Club in Sarasota, Florida. We believe that Mr. Cassidy should serve as a member of our board of directors due
to his extensive leadership and business experience in the entertainment and media industry and as a CEO of a large company, as well as his service on other boards of directors.

Term of Office

Our directors are appointed to hold office until resignation or removal from office by the affirmative vote of a majority of stockholders, in accordance with our bylaws.
Our directors do not serve for a finite term. Our officers are appointed by our board of directors and hold office until removed by the board, subject to any employment
agreements then in place.

Family Relationships
There are no family relationships among our directors or executive officers.
Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports

Information with respect to delinquent Section 16(a) reports is incorporated by reference to our information statement for the 2021 Annual Stockholders Meeting to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, as amended, requires our executive officers and directors and persons who beneficially own more than ten percent of a registered
class of our equity securities to file with the SEC initial statements of beneficial ownership, reports of changes in ownership and annual reports concerning their ownership of
our Common Stock and other equity securities, on Forms 3, 4, and 5 respectively. Executive officers, directors, and greater than 10% stockholders are required by the SEC
regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they filed. Based solely on a review of the copies of such forms furnished to the Company by its officers and
directors, or the Company’s actual knowledge of transactions involving such officers and directors, the Company believes that all our officers, directors, and owners of ten
percent or more of our common stock have not filed their required Forms 3,4, and 5. The Company intends to ensure to the best of its ability that all Section 16(a) filing
requirements applicable to its officers, directors and greater than ten percent beneficial owners are complied with in a timely fashion.

Code of Ethics

We do not have a code of ethics at the present time, but we intend to adopt one as soon as we add more executive staff, and we have resources available.
No Commiittees of the Board of Directors; No Audit Committee Financial Expert

Our Company currently does not have nominating, compensation, or audit committees or committees performing similar functions. Nor do we have an audit committee
financial expert. Our directors believe that it is not necessary to have such committees at this time because the functions of such committees can be adequately performed by the
board of directors due to the small size and current financial condition of the Company.

Our Company does not have any defined policy or procedural requirements for stockholders to submit recommendations or nominations for directors. The board of
directors believes that, given the stage of our development, a specific nominating policy would be premature and of little assistance until our business operations develop to a
more advanced level. Our Company does not currently have any specific or minimum criteria for the election of nominees to the board of directors and we do not have any
specific process or procedure for evaluating such nominees. The board of directors will assess all candidates, whether submitted by management or stockholders, and make

recommendations for election or appointment.

A stockholder who wishes to communicate with our board of directors may do so by directing a written request addressed to our CEO and director, Jon Niermann, at
the address appearing on the first page of this Annual Report.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Except as set out below, the information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our information statement for the 2021 Annual Stockholders Meeting to
be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.

As of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, we had no plans in place and had never maintained any plans that provided for the payment of retirement benefits or
benefits that will be paid primarily following retirement including, but not limited to, tax qualified deferred benefit plans, supplemental executive retirement plans, tax-qualified
deferred contribution plans and nonqualified deferred contribution plans.

Employment Agreements
Jon Niermann — Employment Agreement

The Company entered into an employment agreement with Jon Niermann, the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO Employment Agreement”), effective as of March 1,
2021. Pursuant to the CEO Employment Agreement, the term of employment is three (3) years, renewable every three (3) years, unless terminated. Mr. Niermann is entitled to
receive an annual base salary of $350,000 as well as discretionary bonuses as may be awarded from time to time by our board of directors, and he is entitled to an up-list bonus
of $350,000 upon the listing of the Company’s common stock on a national securities exchange. Mr. Niermann is eligible to participate in all benefit plans that the Company
offers to its executive officers, including any incentive compensation plans that the Company may offer.

The CEO Employment Agreement terminates upon death or disability and may be terminated by the Company with or without cause, and by Mr. Niermann with or
without good reason (all as defined in the CEO Employment Agreement). If the CEO Employment Agreement is terminated upon the death or disability or Mr. Niermann, he
will receive unpaid and accrued base salary through date of termination, unpaid and accrued bonus, and payment of pro rata portion of yearly bonus (if any). In addition, upon
termination for disability, Mr. Niermann will receive 18 months’ severance.

If the Company terminates Mr. Niermann for cause or Mr. Niermann resigns without good reason, Mr. Niermann will receive only unpaid and accrued base salary
through the date of termination and any unpaid and accrued bonus. Should Mr. Niermann be terminated without cause or resign with good reason, Mr. Niermann is entitled to
receive unpaid and accrued base salary and unpaid and accrued bonus through termination of the CEO Employment Agreement, payment of pro rata portion of yearly bonus of
at least one year’s base salary, a lump sum payment of 24 months’ salary, payment of his base salary for remaining term of the CEO Employment Agreement or a period of 12
months, whichever is longer, and full vesting of all stock grants.

If at any time during the term of the CEO Employment Agreement Mr. Niermann’s employment is terminated after a “Change of Control” (as defined in the CEO
Employment Agreement), compensation is similar to that in a termination without cause or resignation for good reason. In addition, a lump sum payment of 10 times his base
salary will be payable.

Mr. Niermann’s right to receive any severance benefit under the CEO Employment Agreement is subject to the execution and delivery to the Company of a general
release of claims in substantially the form attached to the CEO Employment Agreement.

The CEO Employment Agreement contains customary non-compete, non-solicitation, and other restrictive covenants to which Mr. Niermann is subject during the term
of his employment and for a 12-month period following termination for cause or resignation without good reason.

Liam McCallum — Employment Agreement

The Company entered into an employment agreement with Liam McCallum, the Chief Product and Technical Officer (the “CPTO Employment Agreement”), which is
effective as of April 1, 2021. Pursuant to the CPTO Employment Agreement, the term of employment is three (3) years, renewable every three (3) years, unless terminated. Mr.
McCallum is entitled to receive an annual base salary of $275,000 as well as discretionary bonuses as may be awarded from time to time by our board of directors, and he is
entitled to an up-list bonus of $250,000 upon the listing of the Company’s common stock on a national securities exchange. Mr. McCallum is eligible to participate in all benefit
plans that the Company offers to its executive officers, including any incentive compensation plans that the Company may offer.

The CPTO Employment Agreement terminates upon death or disability and may be terminated by the Company with or without cause, and by Mr. McCallum with or
without good reason (all as defined in the CPTO Employment Agreement). If the CPTO Employment Agreement is terminated upon the death or disability or Mr. McCallum, he
will receive unpaid and accrued base salary through date of termination, unpaid and accrued bonus, and payment of pro rata portion of yearly bonus (if any). In addition, upon
termination for disability, Mr. McCallum will receive 6 months’ severance.
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If the Company terminates Mr. McCallum for cause or Mr. McCallum resigns without good reason, Mr. McCallum will receive only unpaid and accrued base salary
through the date of termination and any unpaid and accrued bonus. Should Mr. McCallum be terminated without cause or resign with good reason, Mr. McCallum is entitled to
receive unpaid and accrued base salary and unpaid and accrued bonus through termination of the CPTO Employment Agreement, payment of pro rata portion of yearly bonus, a
lump sum payment of 6 months’ salary, and full vesting of all stock grants.

In addition, if at any time during the term of the CPTO Employment Agreement Mr. McCallum’s employment is terminated subsequent to after a “Change of Control”
(as defined in the Employment Agreement), compensation is similar to that in a termination without cause or resignation for good reason. In addition, a lump sum payment of
two (2) times his base salary will be payable.

Mr. McCallum’s right to receive any severance benefit under the CPTO Employment Agreement is subject to the execution and delivery to the Company of a general
release of claims in substantially the form attached to the CPTO Employment Agreement.

The CPTO Employment Agreement contains customary non-compete, non-solicitation, and other restrictive covenants to which Mr. McCallum is subject during the
term of his employment and for a 12-month period following termination for cause or resignation without good reason.

Director Compensation

At the time of this filing, directors receive no remuneration for their services as directors of the Company, nor does the Company reimburse directors for expenses
incurred in their service to the board of directors of the Company.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
The following table sets forth, as of April 14, 2021 the beneficial ownership of shares of common stock of our Company that is beneficially owned by:

- each person, or group of affiliated persons, known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of any class of our voting securities;
- each of our named executive officers;

- each of our directors; and

- all of our directors and executive officers as a group.

Information relating to beneficial ownership of the common stock by our principal stockholders and management is based upon each person’s information using
“beneficial ownership” concepts under the Securities and Exchange Commission rules. Under these rules, a person is deemed to be a beneficial owner of a security if that
person has or shares voting power, which includes the power to vote or direct the voting of the security, or investment power, which includes the power to vote or direct the
voting of the security. For purposes of computing the number and percentage of shares beneficially owned by a security holder, any shares which such person has the right to
acquire within 60 days of April 14, 2021, are deemed to be outstanding, but those shares are not deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage
ownership of any other security holder.

Under the Securities and Exchange Commission rules, more than one person may be deemed to be a beneficial owner of the same securities, and a person may be
deemed to be a beneficial owner of securities as to which he or she may not have any pecuniary beneficial interest. Except as noted below, ownership consists of sole ownership,
voting and investment rights, and the address for each stockholder listed is ¢/o Loop Media, Inc., 700 N. Central Ave., Suite 430, Glendale, CA 91203.

A t of Beneficial O hi fAmount of Beneficial Ownership of] 3 mounltlf) f Bfeél ef?cla]ls
mount of Beneficial Ownership o Series A Convertible wnership of Series
Common Stock Convertible
Preferred Stock (1) Preferred Stock (2)
Number of
Name and Address of Beneficial Holder Number of Percent of Class Number of Shares Percent of Class | Shares Percent of
Shares Owned Owned Owned Class
5% Stockholders
IDreamcatcher, LLC (3)
1879 Hazelton Drive 15,182,569 12.2% — —
Germantown, TN 38138
IRunning Wind, LLC (4)
1879 Hazelton Drive 15,182,569 12.2% — —
Germantown, TN 38138
Lighthouse Interactive, LLC
Pieper Holding GMBH, Hertastr, 6 o o o o o
Berlin 14169 9,703,656 8.0%
Germany
Mark Vrieling 6,078,794 5.0% — —
Shawn Driscoll (5) 6,356,409 5.2% — —
Jeffery Bahnsen (6) — — 20,00 65.2%) —
Randall Oser (7) — — 5,334 17.4%) —
Roger A. Tichenor (8) — — 5,333 17.4%) —
Named Executive Officers and Directors
Jo.n Niermann, Chief Executive Officer, Chairman & 21,562,50 17.6% | 0.0% ] o
IDirector (9)
%118;11 McCallum, Chief Product and Technical Officer 6,631,752 549, | 0.0% | .
James J. Cerna, Jr., Chief Financial Officer (11) 1,533,334 1.3% —] 0.0% — —
Bruce A. Cassidy, Director (12) 3,694,849 3.0% — _ 200’000 100.0%)
Officers and Directors as a Group (5 persons) 34,359,935 26.5%) — — 200,000 100.0%)|

(1) Holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to 100 non-cumulative votes per share on all matters submitted to a vote by shareholders of our
common stock, including the election of directors, and all other matters as required by law, and each share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock may be
converted into 100 shares of common stock. As a result, on a vote per share basis, 30,667 shares of outstanding Series A Convertible Preferred Stock represent a
1.7% voting percentage on a fully diluted basis.

(2) Holders of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to 100 non-cumulative votes per share on all matters submitted to a vote by shareholders of our
common stock, including the election of directors, and all other matters as required by law, and each share of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock may be
converted into 100 shares of our Common stock. As a result, on a vote per share basis, 200,000 shares of outstanding Series B Convertible Preferred Stock
represent a 10.9% voting percentage on a fully diluted basis.
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Dreamcatcher, LLC’s beneficial ownership includes (i) 10,768,695 shares of common stock, (ii) 1,775,354 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of
warrants and (iii) 2,638,519 shares of common stock underlying a promissory note convertible into shares of common stock.

Running Wind, LLC’s beneficial ownership includes (i) 10,768,695 shares of common stock, (ii) 1,775,355 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of
warrants and (iii) 2,638,519 shares of common stock underlying a promissory note convertible into shares of common stock.

Mr. Driscoll’s beneficial ownership includes (i) 5,887,659 shares of common stock and (ii) 468,750 shares of common stock underlying options exercisable
within 60 days of April 14, 2021.

Mr. Bahnsen’s beneficial ownership is comprised of 2,000,000 shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of 20,000 shares of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock, which would represent a 1.1% voting percentage on a fully diluted basis.

Mr. Oser’s beneficial ownership is comprised of 533,400 shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of 5,334 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock, which would represent a 0.3% voting percentage on a fully diluted basis.

Mr. Tichenor’s beneficial ownership is comprised of 533,000 shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of 5,333 shares of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock, which would represent a 0.3% voting percentage on a fully diluted basis.

Mr. Niermann’s beneficial ownership includes (i) 20,000,000 shares of common stock held by Pioneer Productions, 420 8th Street, Huntington Beach, CA
92648, of which Mr. Niermann is the Director, and (ii) 1,562,500 shares of common stock underlying options exercisable within 60 days of April 14, 2021.

(10) Mr. McCallum’s beneficial ownership includes (i) 4,000,000 shares of common stock held by 500 Limited, 13D Tak Lee Commercial Bldg., 113-117 Wanchai

Road, Wanchai, HongKong, of which Mr. McCallum is the Owner and Chief Executive Officer, and (ii) 2,631,752 shares of common stock underlying options
exercisable within 60 days of April 14, 2021.

(11) Mr. Cerna’s beneficial ownership includes (i) 533,334 shares of common stock and (ii) 1,000,000 shares of common stock underlying options exercisable within

60 days of April 14, 2021.

(12) Mr. Cassidy’s beneficial ownership includes (i) 960,000 shares of common stock, (ii) 68,182 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants, (iii)

20,000,000 shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of 200,000 shares of Series B Convertible Stock, all held by The Bruce A. Cassidy 2013
Irrevocable Trust dated June 18, 2013, an Ohio Legacy Trust, and (iv) 2,666,667 shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants, which are held by
Eagle Holdings Group, LLC of which Mr. Cassidy is the Senior Manager, together which would represent a 12.9% voting percentage on a fully diluted basis.
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Change in Control
There are no existing arrangements that may result in a change in control of the Company.
Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The table below provides information relating to our equity compensation plans under which our common stock is authorized for issuance as of December 31, 2020, as
adjusted for stock splits:

Number of securities remaining
Number of securities to be issued Weighted-average exercise price  available for future issuance
upon exercise of outstanding  of outstanding options, warrants under equity compensation plans

options, warrants and rights and rights (excluding securities reflected in
Plan Category (a) (b) column (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 16,897,865 $ 0.72 24,041,928
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — —
Total 16,897,865 § 072 24,041,928

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Related Party Transactions

Securities Exchange Commission rules require us to disclose any transaction since the beginning of our last fiscal year, or any currently proposed transaction, in which
we are a participant and in which any related person has or will have a direct or indirect material interest involving the lesser of $120,000 or one percent (1%) of the average of
our total assets as of the end of last two completed fiscal years. A related person is any executive officer, director, nominee for director, or holder of 5% or more of the
Company’s common stock, or an immediate family member of any of those persons.

The Company has borrowed funds for business operations from certain stockholders through convertible debt agreements and has remaining balances, including
accrued interest amounting to $3,988,693 and $3,050,137 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Company incurred interest expense for these convertible
debentures in the amounts of $416,845 and $221,918 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. See the Company’s discussion under Note 13 —
Convertible Debentures Payable in its financial statements included in Item 15 of this Annual Report.

As part of the reverse merger with Interlink Plus, Inc. on February 5, 2020, the Company assumed a $180,000 debt to Interlink’s controlling stockholder to whom the
Company was also indebted in the amount of $1,000,000. The $180,000 debt plus accrued interest of $5,563 was retired as a part of the issuance of 2,666,667 warrants to
purchase the Company’s common stock. The warrants were recorded at their fair value. See the Company’s discussion under Note 17 — Stock Options and Warrants in its
financial statements included in Item 15 of this Annual Report. Because the transaction was a related party, any gain or loss is recorded and reported as a change to additional
paid in capital (the effects of the transaction do not affect the Consolidated Statements of Operations). The Company incurred interest expense for these debentures in the
amounts of $6,721 and $1,597 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Related Person Transaction Approval Policy
While we have no written policy regarding approval of transactions between us and a related person, our board of directors, as matter of appropriate corporate
governance, reviews and approves all such transactions to the extent required by applicable rules and regulations. Generally, management would present any related person

transactions proposed to be entered into by us to the board of directors for approval. Our board of directors may approve the transaction if it is deemed to be in the best interests
of our stockholders and the Company.
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Director Independence

We are not currently subject to listing requirements of any national securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system that has requirements that a majority of our
board of directors be “independent” and, as a result, we are not at this time required to have our board of directors comprised of a majority of “Independent Directors.” Our
board of directors currently has two (2) members, Jon Niermann and Bruce Cassidy. Mr. Niermann serves as our Chairman. Mr. Niermann is not “independent” within the
definition of independence provided in the Marketplace Rules of The Nasdaq Stock Market and the independence requirements contemplated by Rule 10A-3 under the
Exchange Act. We have not yet assessed whether Mr. Cassidy qualifies as independent.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Audit Fees

The aggregate fees billed to us by our principal accountants, Marcum LLP, for professional services rendered during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, are
set forth in the table below:

Fee Category 2020 2019

Audit fees (1) $ 609,527 $ 143,450
Audit-related fees (2) 0 0
Tax fees (3) 0 0
All other fees (4) 0 0

(1)  Audit fees consist of fees incurred for professional services rendered for the audit of financial statements, for reviews of our interim consolidated financial statements
included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and for services that are normally provided in connection with statutory or regulatory filings or engagements.

(2)  Audit-related fees consist of fees billed for professional services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial statements but are not
reported under “Audit fees.”

(3)  Tax fees consist of fees billed for professional services relating to tax compliance, tax planning, and tax advice.

(4)  All other fees consist of fees billed for services not associated with audit or tax.

Pre-Approval Practices and Procedures
Given the small size of our board of directors, our board of directors acts as our audit committee. Our board pre-approves all audit and permissible non-audit services,

generally for up to one year. These services may include audit services, audit-related services, tax services, and other services. Our board may also approve particular services on
a case-by-case basis.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Exhibits

Exhibit

No. Exhibit Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger with Interlink Plus, Inc., Loop Media Acquisition, Inc. and Loop Media. Inc. dated January 3. 2020 (previously filed on
January 6, 2020 as Exhibit 2.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K)

2.2 Purchase Agreement by and between Interlink Plus, Inc. and Zixiao Chen, dated February 6, 2020 (previously filed on February 7, 2020 as Exhibit 2.2 of the
Current Report on Form 8-K)

23 Plan of Merger between Interlink Plus, Inc. and Loop Media. Inc. dated May 22, 2020 (previously filed on June 11, 2020 as Exhibit 2.1 of the Current
Report on Form 8-K)

24 Certificate of Ownership and Merger filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on June 8, 2020 (previously filed on June 11, 2020 as Exhibit 2.2 of the
Current Report on Form 8-K)

2.5 Articles of Merger filed with the Nevada Secretary of State on June 9. 2020 (previously filed on June 11, 2020 as Exhibit 3.2 of the Current Report on Form
8-K

2.6 Asset Acquisition Agreement by and between Loop Media, Inc.. SPKR Inc. and PTK Investments, LLC (dba PTK Capital). in its capacity as the Seller
Representative dated October 13, 2020 (previously filed on October 19, 2020 as Exhibit 2.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K)

2.7 Share Purchase Agreement by and between Loop Media, Inc., Ithaca EMG Holdco LLC. and Ithaca Holdings, LLC, dated December 1. 2020 (previously
filed on December 7. 2020 as Exhibit 2.1 of the Current Report on Form §8-K)

3.1 Articles of Incorporation, as amended to date (in the name of Interlink Plus, Inc.. our name prior to our name change to Loop Media, Inc.)

32 Bylaws (previously filed on July 31, 2015 as Exhibit 3.3 of the Form S-1 Registration Statement)

33 Certificate of Designation of Interlink Plus, Inc. for Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (previously filed on February 7, 2020 as Exhibit 3.1 of the Current
Report on Form §-K)

4.1 Form of Warrant (previously filed on February 7. 2020 as Exhibit 4.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K

4.2 Form of First Amended and Restated Convertible Promissory Note (previously filed on February 7. 2020 as Exhibit 4.2 of the Current Report on Form 8-K

43 Description of Securities Registered Under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

44 Form of Senior Secured Promissory Note

10.1 Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement by and between Interlink Plus. Inc. and Bruce A Cassidy 2013 Irrevocable Trust, dated February 5. 2020 (previously
filed on February 7, 2020 as Exhibit 10.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K)

10.2 Promissory Note made by Interlink Plus. Inc. in favor of Bruce Cassidy 2013 Irrevocable Trust, dated November 20, 2019 (previously filed on November 25

2019 as Exhibit 99.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K)
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1l\l()i Loop Media, Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan

104 Employment Agreement by and between Jon Niermann and Loop Media, Inc., effective March 1, 2021
10.5 Employment Agreement by and between Liam McCallum and Loop Media, Inc., effective April 1, 2021
10.6 Employment Agreement by and between Andy Schuon and Loop Media, Inc., effective April 1, 2021
311 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
312 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

322 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

See accompanying Exhibit Index included after the signature page of this Report for a list of the exhibits filed or furnished with or incorporated by reference in this Report.
Financial Statements
The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K, as set forth on the Index to Financial Statements found on page F-1.

*  Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (Marcum LLP)

¢ Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019

*  Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

*  Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

*  Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

*  Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Loop Media, Inc., a Nevada corporation
(Registrant)

By: /s/ Jon Niermann

Jon Niermann
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ James Cerna

James Cerna
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Jon Niermann
Jon Niermann Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and Director April 15,2021

/s/ Bruce Cassidy
Bruce Cassidy Director

April 15,2021
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of
Loop Media, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Loop Media, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements
of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial
statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Explanatory Paragraph — Going Concern

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As more fully described in Note 1, the Company has
a working capital deficiency, has incurred recurring losses and needs to raise additional funds to meet its obligations and sustain its operations. These conditions raise
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 1. The financial
statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Marcum llp

Marcum llp

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.

Houston, Texas
April 15,2021
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Current assets
Cash
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $62,154 and $0
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Prepaid income tax
License content assets - current
Operating lease right-of-use assets - current
Note receivable - current

Total current assets

Non-current assets
Deposits
License content assets - non current
Equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Intangible assets, net
Note receivable
Equity method investments
Goodwill

Total non-current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Payable on acquisition
License content liabilities - current
Loans payable
Note payable - current
Deferred Income

Convertible debt related party - current, net of unamortized discount of $601,979 and $0 as of December 31, 2020 and

2019, respectively

Convertible debt - current, net of unamortized discount of $6,196 and $0 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively

Lease liability - current
Total current liabilities

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

LOOP MEDIA, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

F-2

As of As of

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
838,161 1,011,445
669,679 673,971
90,300 28,395
64,765 13,697
21,689 118,283
1,723,569 —
148,536 155,868
10,215 10,215
3,566,914 2,011,874
15,649 19,831
371,041 —
24,146 28,027
198,539 347,076
3,169,266 1,128,555
96,498 102,318
1,613,479 —
583,086 583,086
6,071,704 2,208,893
9,638,618 4,220,767
964,276 1,044,795
250,125 250,125
1,251,500 —
— 1,000,000
314,829 —
128,622 116,440
279,705 —
393,943 —
145,271 147,458
3,728,271 2,558,818




LOOP MEDIA, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONT.)

Non-current liabilities
Convertible debt - related party, net of unamortized discount of $1,876,783 and $2,360,898 as of December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, respectively
Convertible debt, net of unamortized discount of $11,883 and $24,291 as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
respectively
Note payable - non-current
License content liabilities - non current
Lease liability
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Series B Convertible Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 3,333,334 shares authorized, 200,000 and 0 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. Liquidation preference of $1.00 per share
before any payment to Series A Preferred or Common stock
Series A Convertible Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 666,667 shares authorized, 30,667 and 0 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. Liquidation preference of $0.10 per share.
Common Stock, $0.0001 par value, 316,666,667 and 126,666,667 shares authorized, 118,128,008 and 101,882,647 shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively

Common stock subscribed and not yet issued

Additional paid in capital

Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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As of As of
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

1,223,768  $ 639,102
160,165 588,852
258,671 —
385,000 —
208,625 360,369

2,236,229 $ 1,588,323

5,964,500 $ 4,147,141

20 —

3 —

11,813 10,188
485,144 150,144
44,721,282 26,038,546
(41,544,144) (26,125.252)
3,674,118 73,626
9,638,618 $ 4,220,767




Revenue
Cost of revenue

Gross Profit

Operating expenses

Selling, general and administrative
Impairment of intangibles

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Other income (expense)

Interest income

Interest expense

Gain on settlement of obligation
Loss on settlement of obligation

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Inducement expense

Other income

Total other income (expense)

Income tax expense
Net loss
Deemed dividend

Net loss attributable to common stockholders

Basic and diluted net loss per common share

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding

LOOP MEDIA, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Years ended December 31,

2020 2019
$ 2,794,081 3,381,121
1,109,379 913,843

1,684,702 2,467,278

9,700,994 6,112,338

2,390,799 6,350,000
12,091,793 12,462,338
(10,407,091) (9,995,060)

6,552 5,235
(1,135,603) (964,081)

13,900 192,557
(15,000) (493,601)
— (258,417)

(3,793,406) —

10,000 3,225
(4,913,557) (1,515,082)

98,244 1,600
$ (15,418,892) (11,511,742)
(3,800,000) —
$ (19,218.892) (11,511,742)
$ (0.17) (0.11)
112,699,040 106,009,013




LOOP MEDIA, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED December 31, 2020 and 2019
1 for 1.5 share reverse stock split reflected for all years presented

Common Stock - Common Stock - Preferred Stock -
Common Stock at $0.0001 Class A at Class B at Series A at Preferred Stock - Additional
par $0.0001 par $0.0001 par $0.0001 par Class B at $0.0001par Stock Payable Paid in Accumulated
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Class A Class B Capital Deficit Total

Balance, December

31,2018 — _ § — 50,907,418 5,091 9,755,304 976 —
Shares issued for

cash — — 1,377,333 137 45,127 4 —
Shares to be issued — — — — — — —
Issuance of common

stock subscribed — — 138,387 14 — — —
Shares issued for

consulting fees — — — — 2,800,000 280 —
Shares issued for

settlement with

former employees — — — — 1,866,667 187 —
Shares issued for

debt settlement — — — — 37,605 4 —
Warrants excercised — — — — 18,021,472 1,802 —
Shares issued for

asset purchases — — 15,333,333 1,533 1,600,000 160 —
Beneficial

conversion feature

of convertible debt — — — — — — —
Stock-based

compensation — — — — — — —
Warrants issued to

consultant — — — — — -
Class A and B
common shares
merged into one
class 101,882,647 10,188 (67,756,472) (6.775)  (34,126,175) (3.413) —
Net loss — — — — —

Balance, December

31, 2019 101,882,647 10,188 — — — — — — — — 150,144 — 26,038,546 (26,125,252) 73,626
Shares issued for

cash 3,933,333 393 — — — — —
Cash received for

common stock

subscribed — — — — — — —
Issuance of common

stock subscribed 40,000 4 — — — — —
Shares issued for

consulting fees 4,000,000 400 — — — — —
Shares issued in

conjunction with

reverse merger 5,168,931 517 — — — — 30,667 3 — — — — (264,497) — (263,977)
Shares issued for

cash — — — — — — —
Shares issued in

conjunction with

debt settlement — — — — — — —
Warrants issued for

settlement of debt to

related party — — — — — — —
Deemed Dividend — — — — — — —
Shares issued for

asset purchase 1,369,863 137 — — — — —
Beneficial

conversion feature

of convertible debt — — — — — — —
Stock-based

compensation — — — — — — —
Warrants issued to

consultant — — — — — — —
Shares issued for

debt settlement 97,891 10 — — — — —
Shares issued for

license content

assets 1,180,880 118 — — — — —
Shares issued for
equity investment in
unconsolidated
entity 454,463 46 — — — — —
Net loss —

Balance, December

31,2020 118,128,008 11,813 — — — — 30,667 3 200,000 $ 20 $ 485,144 —  $44721,282 $ (41,544,144 $ 3,674,118

—  $ — $ 92,000 $ 1,890,000 $ 15,191,173 $ (14,613,510) $ 2,565,730

— — — — 546,349 — 546,491
— — 150,144 — — — 150,144

— — (92,000) — 91,986 — —

— — — (1,890,000) 1,889,720 — —

— — — — 1,240,773 — 1,240,960

— — — — 24,996 — 25,000
— — — — 25,231 — 27,033

— — — — 6,348,307 — 6,350,000

— — — — 140,248 — 140,248
= = — — 55,796 = 55,796

— — — — 483,967 — 483,967

. - — — — (11,511,742) (11,511,742)

— — — — 3,959,607 — 3,960,000

= — 350,000 — — = 350,000
— — (15,000) — 14,996 — —

— — — — 1,499,600 — 1,500,000

100,000 10 — — 4,799,990 — 4,800,000

100,000 10 — — 4,799,990 — 4,800,000

— = — — 185,563 = 185,563
— — — — (3,800,000) — (3,800,000

— — — — 2,671,096 — 2,671,233

— — — — 750,000 — 750,000
— — — — 450,286 — 450,286
— — — — 492,000 — 492,000

— — — — 194,793 — 194,803

— — — — 2,065,878 — 2,065,996

_ _ _ — 863,434 — 863,480
_ _ _ — — (15,418,892) (15,418,892)

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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LOOP MEDIA, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31,

2020 2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss $ (15,418,892) $ (11,511,742)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense 893,139 221,214
Amortization of debt discount 638,349 629,315
Amortization of right-of-use assets 135,044 227,871
Bad debt expense 62,154 —
Gain on settlement of obligations (13,900) (192,557)
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 258,417
Loss on settlement of obligations 15,000 493,601
Stock-based compensation 2,442,286 1,296,756
Loss on impairment 2,390,799 6,350,000
Inducement expense 3,793,406 —
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (57,861) (54,863)
Prepaid income tax 96,594 (118,283)
Inventory (61,905) (15,823)
Prepaid expenses (46,886) 109,332
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 158,930 372,567
Income tax payable — (800)
License contract asset (839,000) —
Operating lease liabilities (133,107) (222,988)
Deferred income 12,183 (38,528)
CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (5,933,667) (2,196,511)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of equipment (7,847) (25,773)
Cash paid on equity investment (750,000) —
Repayment of note receivable 5.820 5.595
CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (752,027) (20,178)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of Class A Shares — 516,491
Cash paid on acquisition — (2,149,875)
Proceeds from issuance of Class B Shares — 30,000
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 3,960,000 —
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock 1,000,000 —
Proceeds from loans 573,500 1,000,000
Proceeds from stock payable 350,000 15,000
Proceeds from issuance of convertible debt 750,000 326,143
Repayment of stockholder loans (40,956) (348,286)
Share issuance costs (80,134) —
CASH PROVIDED FOR (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 6,512,410 (610,527)
Change in cash and cash equivalents (173,284) (2,827,216)
Cash, beginning of the year 1,011,445 3,838,661
Cash, end of the year $ 838,161 $ 1,011,445

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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LOOP MEDIA, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONT.)

Supplemental Disclosures
Cash paid for taxes
Cash paid for interest

Non-Cash Transactions
Common stock issued to acquire intangible assets
Right-of-use assets upon adoption of ASC 842
Addition of new leases accounted for under ASC 842
Assumption of office lease by related party
Beneficial conversion feature as debt discount
Stock payable for settlement of obligations
Shares issued for debt settlement
Warrants exercised for settlement of obligations
Common stock issued for license content assets
Common stock issued for shares subscribed
Assumption of debt with related party as part of reverse merger
Warrants issued to extinguish debt with related party
Common shares issued in connection with reverse merger
Preferred stock issued in connection with reverse merger
Deemed dividend
Preferred shares issued for debt settlement
Accrued interest rolled into convertible note
Common stock issued for equity investment in unconsolidated entity

See the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Years ended December 31,

2020 2019
— 120,679
287,035 50,000
2,671,233 6,350,000
— 444,112
— 286,703
20,825 -
750,000 29,967
— 135,144
— 25,000
— 27,032
2,260,799 —
15,000 1,982,000
183,842 —
185,563
517
3
3,800,000 —
1,006,594 —
232,235 —
863,480 —




LOOP MEDIA, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 and 2019

NOTE 1 - BUSINESS

Loop Media Inc. (the “Company”; formerly Interlink Plus, Inc.) is a Nevada corporation. The Company was incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada on May
11, 2015. On February 5, 2020, the Company and the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Loop Media Acquisition, Inc. (“Merger Sub”), a Delaware corporation, closed the
Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Loop Media, Inc. (“Loop”), a Delaware corporation. Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub merged
with and into Loop with Loop as surviving entity and becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Merger”).

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding shares of Loop in exchange for 152,823,970 shares of the Company’s common
stock at an exchange ratio of 1:1. Loop was incorporated on May 18, 2016 under the laws of the State of Delaware.As a result of such acquisition, the Company’s operations
now are focused on premium short-form video for businesses and consumers.

In connection with the Merger, on February 6, 2020, the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”) with Zixiao Chen (“Buyer”)
for the purchase of assets relating to the Company’s two major business segments: travel agency assistance services and convention services (together, the “Business”). In
consideration for the assets of the Business, Buyer transferred to the Company 2,000,000 shares of its common stock and agreed to assume and discharge any and all liabilities
relating to the Business accruing up to the effective time of the Asset Purchase Agreement. The shares were retired and restored to the status of authorized and unissued shares.

In 2019 Loop owned 100% of the capital stock of two companies that make up ScreenPlay. ScreenPlay was a combination of ScreenPlay, Inc. (“SPI”), a state of
Washington corporation incorporated in 1991, and SPE, Inc. (“SPE”), a state of Washington corporation incorporated in 2008. ScreenPlay provided customized audiovisual
environments that supported integrated brand strategies for clients in the retail, hospitality, and business services markets, and for online content providers.

On January 24, 2020 the Company merged SPE with and into the Company. The certificate of merger was issued by the State of Washington on January 24, 2020 and
the certificate of ownership and merger was issued by the State of Delaware on January 24, 2020. For accounting purposes, Loop was the surviving entity. The transaction was
accounted for as a recapitalization of Loop pursuant to which Loop was treated as the accounting acquirer, surviving and continuing entity although the Company is the legal
acquirer. The Company did not recognize goodwill or any intangible assets in connection with the Merger. Accordingly, the Company’s historical financial statements are those
of Loop and its wholly-owned subsidiary, ScreenPlay, immediately following the consummation of this reverse merger transaction.

On June 8, 2020, a 1 for 1.5 reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock became effective. All share and per share information in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements and footnotes has been retroactively adjusted for the effects of the reverse split for all periods presented.

Going concern and management’s plans

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had cash of $838,161 and an accumulated deficit of $41,544,144. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company
used net cash in operating activities of $5,933,667. The Company has incurred net losses since inception. These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern within one year from the issuance date of these consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s primary source of operating funds since inception has been cash proceeds from debt and equity financing transactions. The ability of the Company to
continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to generate sufficient revenue and its ability to raise additional funds by way of its debt and equity financing efforts.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of
liabilities in the normal course of business. These consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recovery of the recorded assets or
classification of the liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern
is dependent on management’s further implementation of the Company’s on-going and strategic plans, which include continuing to raise funds through equity and/or debt
raises. Should the Company be unable to raise adequate funds, certain aspects of the on-going and strategic plans may require modification. Management is in the process of
identifying sources of capital via strategic partnerships, debt refinancing and equity investments through one or more private placements.
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COVID-19

The continuing spread of COVID-19 around the world is affecting the United States and global economies and has affected our operations and those of third parties on
which we rely, including disruptions in staffing, order fulfillment and demand for product. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic has and may continue to affect our revenue
significantly. Additionally, while the potential economic impact brought by, and the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic is difficult to assess or predict, the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on the global financial markets may reduce our ability to access capital, which could negatively impact our short-term and long-term liquidity. The
continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is highly uncertain and subject to change.

The Company experienced a 17% decline in revenues for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, which was
related to business closures of key customers. During fiscal 2020, we implemented certain mitigation measures such as temporary salary reductions, staff reductions and other
cost cutting activities.

As COVID-19 continues to evolve, the extent to which the coronavirus impacts operations will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot
be predicted with confidence, including the duration and severity of the outbreak, and the actions that may be required to contain the coronavirus or treat its impact. The
Company continues to monitor the pandemic and, the extent to which the continued spread of the virus adversely affects our customer base and therefore revenue. As the
COVID-19 pandemic is complex and rapidly evolving, the Company’s plans as described above may change. At this point, the Company cannot reasonably estimate the
duration and severity of this pandemic, which could have a material adverse impact on the business, results of operations, financial position, and cash flows.

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary Screenplay. These consolidated financial statements are
prepared using the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). All inter-company transactions and
balances have been eliminated on consolidation.

Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Significant estimates include assumptions used in the fair value of stock-based compensation, the fair value of other equity and debt instruments, fair value of
intangible assets, recoverability of license content assets, and useful lives of assets.

Business combinations

The Company accounts for business acquisitions under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805, Business Combinations. The total purchase consideration for
an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date. Costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition are expenses as incurred. Identifiable assets (including intangible assets), liabilities assumed (including contingent liabilities) and noncontrolling interests in an
acquisition are measured initially at their fair values on the acquisition date. The Company recognizes goodwill if the fair value of the total purchase consideration and any
noncontrolling interest is in excess of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and the liabilities assumed. The results of operations of the acquired business are included in the
consolidated financial statements beginning on the acquisition date.

Cash

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid monetary instruments with original maturities of three months or less when purchased. These investments are
carried at cost, which approximates fair value. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash deposits. The
Company maintains its cash in institutions insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”). At times, the Company’s cash and cash equivalent balances may be
uninsured or in amounts that exceed the FDIC insurance limits. The Company has not experienced any loses on such accounts. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company
had no cash equivalents.
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As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, approximately $490,775 and $489,774 of cash exceeded the FDIC insurance limits, respectively.
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable represent amounts due from customers. The Company assesses the collectability of receivables on an ongoing basis. A provision for the
impairment of receivables involves significant management judgement and includes the review of individual receivables based on individual customers, current economic
trends and analysis of historical bad debts. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts of $62,154 and $0, respectively.

Concentration of credit risk

The Company grants credit in the normal course of business to its customers. Periodically, the Company reviews past due accounts and makes decisions about future
credit on a customer by customer basis. Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.

The Company’s concentration of credit risk was not significant as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Inventory

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The Company purchases inventory from a vendor and all inventory purchased is deemed finished
goods. Cost is determined using the first-in-first-out basis for finished goods. Net realizable value is determined on the basis of anticipated sales proceeds less the estimated
selling expenses. Management compares the cost of inventories with the net realizable value and an allowance is made to write down inventories to net realizable value, if
lower. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company has recorded no valuation allowance.

Prepaid expenses

Expenditures paid in one accounting period which will not be consumed until a future period such as insurance premiums and annual subscription fees are accounted
for on the balance sheet as a prepaid expense. When the asset is eventually consumed, it is charged to expense.

License Content Asset

On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted the guidance in ASU 2019-02, Entertainment—Films—Other Assets—Film Costs (Subtopic 926-20) and Entertainment—
Broadcasters—Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Subtopic 920-350): Improvements to Accounting for Costs of Films and License Agreements for Program Materials, on a
prospective basis. The Company capitalizes the fixed content fees and its corresponding liability when the license period begins, the cost of the content is known, and the
content is accepted and available for streaming. If the licensing fee is not determinable or reasonably estimable, no asset or liability is recorded, and licensing costs are expenses
as incurred. The Company amortizes licensed content assets into cost of revenue, using the straight-line method over the contractual period of availability. The liability is paid
in accordance with the contractual terms of the arrangement.

Equity method investments

The Company accounts for investments in unconsolidated entities under the equity method of accounting if it could exercise significant influence over the operating
and financial policies of an entity but does not have a controlling financial interest. Judgment regarding the level of influence over each equity method investment includes
considering key factors such as ownership interest, representation on the board of directors, participation in policy-making decisions and material intercompany transactions.
The Company’s proportionate share of the net income (loss) resulting from these investments are reported under the line-item captioned equity method investment income in
our Consolidated Statements of Operations. The carrying value of our equity method investments is reported in equity method investments in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The Company’s equity method investments are reported at cost and adjusted each period for the Company’s share of the investee’s income or loss and dividend paid, if any. The
Company assesses investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an investment may not be recoverable.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

Variable interest entities (“VIE”)

Variable interests are contractual, ownership or other monetary interests in an entity that change with fluctuations in the fair value of the entity’s net assets exclusive of
variable interests. A VIE can arise from items such as lease agreements, loan arrangements, guarantees or service contracts. An entity is a VIE if (a) the entity lacks sufficient
equity or (b) the entity’s equity holders lack power or the obligation and right as equity holders to absorb the entity’s expected losses or to receive its expected residual returns.

If an entity is determined to be a VIE, the entity must be consolidated by the primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the holder of the variable interests that
has the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance and has the obligation to absorb losses of or the right to receive
benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. Therefore, the Company must identify which activities most significantly impact the VIE’s economic
performance and determine whether it, or another party, has the power to direct those activities. As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, the Company had no investments that
qualify as VIE.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business combination.
Goodwill and other intangible assets determined to have an indefinite useful life are not amortized but are subject to impairment tests. The Company conducts its annual
impairment tests as of December 31 of each year or whenever events and changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

When evaluating goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment, the Company may first perform an assessment of qualitative factors to determine if the
fair value of the reporting unit or the intangible asset is more-likely-than-not greater than the carrying amount. Significant factors considered in this assessment include, but are
not limited to, macro-economic conditions, market and industry conditions, cost considerations, the competitive environment, overall financial performance, and results of past
impairment tests. If, based on a review of the qualitative factors, the Company determines it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value is greater than the carrying value, the
Company may bypass a quantitative test for impairment.

In performing the quantitative test for impairment of goodwill, the Company compares the fair value of each reporting unit with it carrying amount, including goodwill,
in order to identify a potential impairment. Measurement of the fair value of a reporting unit is based on a fair value measure using the sum of the discounted estimated future
cash flows. Estimates of forecasted cash flows involve measurement uncertainty, and it is therefore possible that reductions in the carrying value of goodwill may be required in
the future because of changes in management’s future cash flow estimates. When the fair value of a reporting unit is less than it carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit
is considered to be impaired. Effective January 1, 2020, the Company adopted the guidance in Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2017-04, Simplifying the Test for
Goodwill Impairment, which measures impairment amount as the excess of a reporting unit’s carrying amount over its fair value as determined by the quantitative test. The
Company’s analysis indicated that no impairment occurred in the carrying amount of the goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

The Company measures impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets, which consist of brand name, based on projected discounted cash flows. The Company also
re-evaluates the useful life of the brand name to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life. For the year ended December 31,
2020, the Company recorded an impairment of $130,000 on brand name. There was no impairment in the carrying amount of the indefinite-lived intangibles assets for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the asset’s estimated useful
life. The capitalization policy for the company is to capitalize property and equipment purchases greater than $3,000. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed as
incurred. When retired or otherwise disposed, the related carrying value and accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective accounts and the net difference less any
amount realized from disposition is reflected in earnings. See below for estimated useful lives:

Equipment 5 years
Software 3 years




NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

Operating leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating lease right-of-use assets (“ROU assets”) and short-term and long-term lease liabilities are
included on the face of the consolidated balance sheet.

ROU assets represent the right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising
from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As most of
the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses an incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in
determining the present value of lease payments. The Company’s lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the
Company will exercise that option. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company has lease agreements with lease
and non-lease components, which are accounted for as a single lease component. For lease agreements with terms less than 12 months, the Company has elected the short-term
lease measurement and recognition exemption, and it recognizes such lease payments on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Long-lived assets

The Company evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets, other than goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Conditions that would necessitate an impairment assessment include a significant decline in
the observable market value of an asset, a significant change in the extent or manner that an asset is used, or a significant adverse change that would indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset or group of assets is not recoverable. For long-lived assets to be held and used, the Company recognizes an impairment loss only if their carrying amount is
not recoverable through the undiscounted cash flows. The impairment loss is based on the difference between the carrying amount and estimated fair value as determined by
discounted future cash flows. The Company’s finite long-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which range from two to
nine years. There was $2,390,799 impairment recorded (see Note 6 and see Note 8) for the year ended December 31, 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the
Company recorded an impairment of $6,350,000 for the intellectual property it acquired in 2019.

Fair value measurement

The company determines the fair value of its assets and liabilities using a hierarchy established by the accounting guidance that prioritizes the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to valuations based upon unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to valuations based upon unobservable inputs that are significant to the valuation (Level 3 measurements). The three
levels of valuation hierarchy are defined as follows:

e Level 1 inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

e Level 2 inputs to the valuation methodology included quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets in
inactive markets, and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument.

e Level 3 inputs to the valuation methodology is one or more unobservable inputs which are significant to the fair value measurement.

The carrying amount of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash, accounts receivable, deposits, short-term portion of notes receivable and notes payable,
and current liabilities approximate fair value due to their short-term nature. The Company does not have financial assets or liabilities that are required under the U.S. GAAP to
be measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The Company has not elected to use fair value measurement option for any assets or liabilities for which fair value measurement
is not presently required.

The Company records assets and liabilities at fair value on nonrecurring basis as required by the U.S. GAAP. Assets recognized or disclosed at fair value in the
consolidated financial statements on a nonrecurring basis include items such as property and equipment, operating lease assets, goodwill, and other intangible assets, which are
measured at fair value if determined to be impaired.




NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

Convertible debt and beneficial conversion features

The Company evaluates embedded conversion features within convertible debt under ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, to determine whether
the embedded conversion feature(s) should be bifurcated from the host instrument and accounted for as a derivative at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in earnings.
If the conversion feature does not require derivative treatment under ASC 815, the instrument is evaluated under ASC 470-20, Debt with Conversion and Other Options, for
consideration of any beneficial conversion features.

Advertising costs

The Company expenses all advertising costs as incurred. Advertising and marketing costs for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $379,487 and $44,977,
respectively.

Revenue recognition

ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“Topic 606”), became effective for the Company on January 1, 2018. The Company’s revenue
recognition disclosure reflects its updated accounting policies that are affected by this new standard. The Company applied the “modified retrospective” transition method for
open contracts for the implementation of Topic 606. As sales are and have been primarily from delivery of streaming services, delivery of subscription content services in
customized formats, and delivery of hardware and ongoing content delivery through software and the Company has no significant post-delivery obligations, this new standard
did not result in a material recognition of revenue on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the cumulative impact of applying this new standard, therefore there
was no cumulative effect adjustment required.

The Company recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control over a product to a customer. Revenue is measured based on the
consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for those products. In instances where final acceptance of the product is specified by the customer, revenue is
deferred until all acceptance criteria have been met. Revenues are recognized under Topic 606 in a manner that reasonably reflects the delivery of the Company’s products and
services to customers in return for expected consideration and includes the following elements:

executed contracts with the Company’s customers that it believes are legally enforceable;
identification of performance obligations in the respective contract;

determination of the transaction price for each performance obligation in the respective contract;
allocation of the transaction price to each performance obligation; and

recognition of revenue only when the Company satisfies each performance obligation.

Performance obligations and significant judgments

The Company’s revenue streams can be categorized into the following performance obligations and recognition patterns:
Delivery of streaming services including content encoding and hosting. The Company recognizes revenue over the term of the service based on bandwidth
usage.
Delivery of subscription content services in customized formats. The Company recognizes revenue over the term of the service.

Delivery of hardware for ongoing subscription content delivery through software: The Company recognizes revenue at the point of hardware delivery.

Transaction prices for performance obligations are explicitly outlined in relevant agreements; therefore, the Company does not believe that significant judgments are
required with respect to the determination of the transaction price, including any variable consideration identified.

Disaggregation of revenue
The Company’s revenues are disaggregated into the following revenue streams. The content and streaming services revenue including content encoding and hosting are

recognized over the term of the service based on bandwidth usage. The content subscription services revenue in customized formats is recognized over the term of the service.
The hardware for ongoing subscription content delivery is recognized at the point of the hardware delivery.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

The following table represents revenue by category for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Content and streaming services $ 1,402,018 $ 1,693,921
Content subscription services 1,225,005 1,498,663
Hardware for ongoing subscription content 167,058 188,537
Total revenue $ 2,794,081 § 3,381,121

Customer acquisition costs

The Company records commission expense associated with subscription revenue. Commissions are included in operating expenses. The Company has elected the
practical expedient that allows the Company to recognize the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred if the amortization period of the asset that
the Company otherwise would have recognized is one year or less.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue represents the cost of the delivered hardware and related bundled software and is recognized at the time of sale. For ongoing licensing and hosting
fees, cost of sales is recognized over time based on usage patterns.

Deferred income

The Company bills subscription services in advance of when the service period is performed. The deferred income recorded at December 31, 2020 and 2019,
represents the Company’s accounting for the timing difference between when the subscription fees are received and when the performance obligation is satisfied.

Net loss per share
The Company accounts for net loss per share in accordance with ASC subtopic 260-10,Earnings Per Share (“ASC 260-10"), which requires presentation of basic and
diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) on the face of the statement of operations for all entities with complex capital structures and requires a reconciliation of the numerator and

denominator of the basic EPS computation to the numerator and denominator of the diluted EPS.

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding
during each period. It excludes the dilutive effects of any potentially issuable common shares.

Diluted net loss per share is calculated by including any potentially dilutive share issuances in the denominator.

The following securities are excluded from the calculation of weighted average diluted shares at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, because their inclusion
would have been anti-dilutive.

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Options to purchase common stock 8,312,306 5,812,307
Warrants to purchase common stock 8,585,558 5,550,709
Series A preferred stock 3,066,700 —
Series B preferred stock 20,000,000 —
Convertible debentures 7,079,622 6,513,444
Total common stock equivalent 47,044,186 17,876,460
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue represents the cost of delivered hardware and bundled software and is recognized at the time of sale. For ongoing licensing and hosting fees, cost of
sales is recognized over time based on usage patterns.

Shipping and handling costs

A shipping and handling fee is charged to customers and recorded as revenue at the time of sale. The associated cost of shipping and handling is recorded as a cost of
revenue at the time of service.

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC Topic 740,/ncome Taxes. ASC 740 requires a company to use the asset and liability method of
accounting for income taxes, whereby deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences, and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary
differences. Temporary differences are the differences between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation
allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion, or all of, the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are adjusted for the effect of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment.

Under ASC 740, a tax position is recognized as a benefit only if it is “more likely than not” that the tax position would be sustained in a tax examination, with a tax
examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination. For tax
positions not meeting the “more likely than not” test, no tax benefit is recorded. The Company has no material uncertain tax positions for any of the reporting periods presented.

Stock-based compensation

Share-based compensation issued to employees is measured at the grant date, based on the fair value of the award, and is recognized as an expense over the requisite
service period. The Company measures the fair value of the share-based compensation issued to non-employees using the stock price observed in the trading market (for stock
transactions) or the fair value of the award (for non-stock transactions), which were more reliably determinable measures of fair value than the value of the services being
rendered. The measurement date is the earlier of (1) the date at which commitment for performance by the counterparty to earn the equity instruments is reached, or (2) the date
at which the counterparty’s performance is complete.

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which requires lessees to recognize a right-of-use
(“ROU assets”) asset and a lease liability for all leases with terms greater than 12 months and requires disclosures by lessees and lessors about the amount, timing and
uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. After the issuance of Topic 842, the FASB clarified the guidance through several ASUs; hereinafter the collection of lease
guidance is referred to as “ASC 842”. On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASC 842 using the modified retrospective method for all lease arrangements at the beginning
of the period of adoption. Results for reporting periods beginning January 1, 2019 are presented under ASC 842, while prior period amounts were not adjusted and continue to
be reported in accordance with the Company’s historic accounting under ASC 840, Leases. The standard had a material impact on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet
but did not have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated net income and cash flows. The most significant impact was the recognition of ROU assets and lease
liabilities for operating leases. For leases that commenced before the effective date of ASC 842, the Company elected the permitted practical expedients to not reassess the
following: (i) whether any expired or existing contracts contain leases; (ii) the lease classification for any expired or existing leases; and (iii) initial direct costs for any existing
leases. The Company also elected to exclude leases with a term of 12 months or less in the recognized ROU assets and lease liabilities, when the likelihood of renewal is not
probable.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment, which removes Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. ASU 2017-
04 is effective for annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The guidance should be
applied prospectively. The Company adopted the standard effective January 1, 2020. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Income Statement-Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220) Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, to address a specific consequence of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act by allowing a reclassification from accumulated other
comprehensive income to retained earnings for stranded tax effects resulting from the Act’s reduction of the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate. The Company adopted this
ASU on January 1, 2019 on a prospective basis.

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting. ASU 2018-07 simplifies the accounting for share-
based payments to nonemployees by aligning it with the accounting for share-based payments to employees, with certain exceptions. The Company adopted ASU 2018-07
prospectively as January 1, 2019. The adoption of ASU 2018-07 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820), which modifies the disclosures on fair value measurements by removing the
requirement to disclose the amount and reasons for transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and the policy for timing of such transfers. The ASU
expands the disclosure requirements for Level 3 fair value measurements, primarily focused on changes in unrealized gains and losses included in other comprehensive income
(loss). The ASU is effective for public entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company has not historically had any transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2 or assets or liabilities measured at fair value under Level 3. The Company adopted the standard effective January 1, 2020 with no material effect on its financial
statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangements that is a Service
Contract. The ASU aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for
capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal-use software license). The ASU is
effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019. The adoption of ASU 2018-15 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

In March 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-02, Entertainment—Films—Other Assets—Film Costs (Subtopic 926-20) and Entertainment— Broadcasters—Intangibles
—Goodwill and Other (Subtopic 920-350): Improvements to Accounting for Costs of Films and License Agreements for Program Materials, in order to align the accounting for
production costs of an episodic television series with the accounting for production costs of films by removing the content distinction for capitalization. ASU 2019-02 also
requires that an entity reassess estimates of the use of a film in a film group and account for any changes prospectively. In addition, ASU 2019-02 requires that an entity test
films and license agreements for program material for impairment at a film group level when the film or license agreements are predominantly monetized with other films and
license agreements. The ASU is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company deemed the license agreement guidance applicable
for broadcasters, and so adopted the guidance in ASU 2019-02 prospectively on January 1, 2020. Content assets are predominantly monetized as a group and therefore are
reviewed in aggregate at a group level when an event or change in circumstances indicates a change in the expected usefulness of the content or that the fair value may be less
than unamortized cost. The Company reviews various qualitative factors and indicators to assess whether the group asset is impaired.

Accounting standards issued but not yet effective

In September 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. This
guidance requires the measurement of all expected credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions and reasonable
and supportable forecasts. This guidance also requires enhanced disclosures regarding significant estimates and judgments used in estimating credit losses. The new guidance is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. While the Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of this guidance will have on its
consolidated financial statements, it does not expect the adoption to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes which is intended to simplify various
aspects related to accounting for income taxes. ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and also clarifies and amends existing guidance
to improve consistent application. This guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020, with early
adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

F-16




In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in
Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40). This ASU reduces the number of accounting models for convertible debt instruments and convertible preferred stock. As well as amend
the guidance for the derivatives scope exception for contracts in an entity’s own equity to reduce form-over-substance-based accounting conclusions. In addition, this ASU
improves and amends the related EPS guidance. The ASU is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted for
periods beginning after December 15, 2020. Adoption of the ASU can either be on a modified retrospective or full retrospective basis. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

NOTE 3. ACQUISITIONS AND EQUITY INVESTMENTS
Asset purchase from Spkr Inc.

On October 13, 2020, the Company acquired from Spkr Inc., a Delaware corporation, assets that included technology (Spkr.com website, internet domain name and a
mobile application available in the Apple Inc. IOS Store as Spkr: Curated Podcast Radio), trade names and customers. The Spkr Inc. provides short-form feeds of podcasts and
other curated audio, providing content organized into different channels, personalized audio feed built from a listener’s chosen content as well as an always-on, continuously
updating, living playlist.

The purchase price for the acquired assets consisted of consideration of 1,369,863 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, valued at
$2,671,233. The cost of the single asset acquisition is $2,671,233 (see Note 8).

Equity investment in EON Media Group

On December 1, 2020, the Company acquired from Ithaca EMG Holdco LLC (Ithaca) 1,350 ordinary shares and 1,084 preference shares issued by EON Media Group
Pte. Ltd (EON Media Group). The transaction resulted in Company acquiring a 20% equity interest in EON Media Group, a privately held company incorporated in Republic of
Singapore. As a result of transaction, Ithaca became a stockholder of the Company and its executives will serve as advisors providing input on strategic focus and growth
initiatives. EON Media Group is an entertainment company focused on producing syndicated content and providing specialist entertainment advisory and agency services for
music festival, brands, and artists. The purchase price consideration for the acquired shares consisted of $750,000 in cash and 454,463 shares of the Company’s common stock,
par value $0.0001 per share, valued at $863,480. The carrying value of the investment as of December 31, 2020 was $1,613,479; and was $1,649,643 higher than its interest in
the investee’s underlying net assets. This basis difference of $1,649,643 relates to goodwill recognized upon acquisition of the Company’s interest in Eon Media Group. This
goodwill is not amortized. No dividends or material income were recorded for one month ended December 31, 2020.

Company did not have any acquisitions or investments during the year ended December 31, 2019.
NOTE 4 - INVENTORY

The Company’s inventory consisted of the following on December 31, 2020 and 2019:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Computers $ 6,195 $ 8,623
Hasp keys 0 2,240
Loop player 84,105 17,532
Total inventory $ 90,300 $ 28,395

Finished goods are $90,300 and $28,395 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Inventories were valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is
determined using the first-in-first-out basis for finished goods. Differences between lower of cost or net realizable value were not significant. The Company recorded $0 for
inventory obsolescence as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.




NOTE 5 - NOTE RECEIVABLE

On December 23, 2014, SPI entered a promissory note receivable whereby it advanced $137,860 to Lodestar Entertainment, LLC. This note bears interest at 4% per
annum and is collected in monthly installments of $851, including both interest and principal and has a maturity date of July 1, 2034. Interest earned for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $4,805 and $4,802, respectively.

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Current portion $ 10,215 $ 10,215
Long-term portion 96,498 102,318
Total note receivable $ 106,713 § 112,533

NOTE 6 — LICENSE CONTENT ASSETS
License Content Assets

To stream video content to the users, the Company generally secures intellectual property rights to such content by obtaining licenses from, and paying royalties or
other consideration to, rights holders or their agents. The licensing arrangements can be for a fixed fee, variable fee, or combination of both. The licensing arrangements specify
the period when the content is available for streaming. The license content assets are two years in duration and include prepayments to distributors for customer subscription
revenues, per play usage fees, and ad supported fees.

As of December 31, 2020, license content assets were $1,723,569 recorded as License content asset, net — current and $371,041 recorded as License content asset, net
— noncurrent. Payments for content, including additions to content assets and the changes in related liabilities of $839,000, were classified within Net cash provided by operating
activities on the consolidated statements of cash flows. As of December 31, 2020, the corresponding liability was included in License content liabilities — current for $1,251,500
and License content liabilities — noncurrent for $385,000. The Company issued common shares capitalized as License content asset and the Company subsequently deemed the
equity portion of the consideration paid was not recoverable and not recoupable and therefore impaired the License content asset for the value of the capitalized shares for
$2,260,799 as of December 31, 2020.

The Company recorded amortization expense of $380,890 and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, in cost of revenue, in the
consolidated statements of operations, related to capitalized license content assets. The Company recorded licensed content asset of $2,094,610, net of $2,260,799 impairment
expense, and net of $380,890 amortization expense. The amortization expense for the next two years for capitalized license content assets as of December 31, 2020 is
$1,237,750 in 2021, and $856,860 in 2022.

License Content Liabilities
At December 31, 2020, the Company had $1,636,500 of obligations comprised of $1,251,500 in License content liability — current and $385,000 in License content

liability — noncurrent on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The expected timing of payments for these content obligations is $1,251,500 payable in 2021 and $385,000 payable
in 2022. Certain contracts provide for recoupment of payments on minimum obligations during the term of the contracts.
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NOTE 7 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The Company’s property and equipment consisted of the following as of December 31, 2020 and 2019

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Equipment $ 464,456 $ 456,610
Software 53,450 53,450
517,906 510,060
Less: accumulated depreciation (493,760) (482,033)
Total, equipment net $ 24,146 $ 28,027

Depreciation expense charged to operations amounted to $11,727 and $9,769 respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
NOTE 8. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, the balance of goodwill was $583,086 and $583,086, respectively.

The Company’s other intangible assets, each definite lived assets, consisted of the following as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:

December 31, December 31,
Useful life 2020 2019

Software acquired as intellectual property not applicable $ $ — § 6,350,000
Screenplay brand not applicable 130,000 130,000
Customer relationships nine years 1,012,000 1,012,000
Content library two years 198,000 198,000
Technology two years 2,671,233 —
Total intangible assets, gross 4,011,233 7,690,000
Less: Impairment of intangible assets (130,000) (6,350,000)
Less: accumulated amortization (711,967) (211,445)
Total intangible accumulated amortization (841,967) (6,561,445)

Total intangble assets, net $ 3,169,266 $ 1,128,555

In October 2020, the Company acquired from Spkr Inc. assets that consisted of single asset acquisition of $2,671,233 in technology (see Note 3) with a useful life of 2
years.

During 2019, the Company acquired intellectual property valued at $6,350,000 in exchange for issuance of Class B common shares. As of December 31, 2019, the
Company fully impaired the intellectual property and recognized a loss on impairment of $6,350,000.

Amortization expense charged to operations amounted to $500,523 and $211,444, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. Screenplay brand
name was impaired $130,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Annual amortization expense for the next five years is estimated to be $1,448,061, $1,158,982, $112,444, $112,444, and $112,444, respectively. The weighted average
life of the intangible assets subject to amortization was 3.1 and 7.3 years on December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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NOTE 9 - LEASES

Operating leases

The Company has operating leases for office space and office equipment. Many leases include one or more options to renew, some of which include options to extend
the leases for a long-term period, and some leases include options to terminate the leases within 30 days. In certain of the Company’s lease agreements, the rental payments are

adjusted periodically to reflect actual charges incurred for capital area maintenance, utilities, inflation and/or changes in other indexes.

Lease liability is summarized below:

As of As of
Decembe 31, Decembe 31,
2020 2019
Short term portion $ 145271 $ 147,458
Long term portion 208,625 360,369
Total lease liability $ 353,896 $ 507,827
Maturity analysis under these lease agreements are as follows:
2021 $ 180,419
2022 185,834
2023 37,584
Total undiscounted cash flows 403,837
Less: 10% Present value discount (49,941)
Lease liability $ 353,896
Lease expense for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was comprised of the following:
December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Operating lease expense $ 178,294 § 237,206
Short-term lease expense 6,108 17,656
Total lease liability $ 184,402 $ 254,862

Operating lease expense is included in selling, general and administration expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, cash payments against lease liabilities totaled $175,792, accretion on lease liability of $43,250 and non-cash transactions
totaled $20,825 to recognize assumption of lease by a related party.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, cash payments against lease liabilities totaled $263,694, accretion on lease liability of $40,706 and non-cash transactions of
$444,112 to bring on leases as part of the adoption of ASC 842 and an added lease during the period valued at $75,274.

Weighted-average remaining lease term and discount rate for operating leases are as follows:

Weighted-average remaining lease term 2.18 years
Weighted-average discount rate 10%

F-20




NOTE 10 - ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:

December 31, December 31,
2020 2019
Accounts payable $ 683,846 $ 357,982
Interest payable 59,818 94,069
Accrued liabilities 193,500 566,696
Payroll liabilities 27,113 26,048
Total accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 964,277 $ 1,044,795

NOTE 11 - LOANS PAYABLE

On December 18, 2019, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a related party for $1,000,000. The loan provided an interest rate of 5% compounded
annually and calculated on a 360-day basis. The principal and accrued unpaid interest were due on June 30, 2020. The loan was secured by a secondary interest in all assets of
both Loop and ScreenPlay.

On February 5, 2020, the Company issued 200,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock for (i) $1,000,000 in cash (Note 13) and (ii) the exchange of the
$1,000,000 loan mentioned above to the Company plus accrued interest of $6,597. The fair value of the common stock into which the Series B convertible preferred stock is
convertible was $9,600,000 on the date of issuance. The Company applied the guidance in ASC 470-20. The Company recognized an inducement expense equal to the excess of
the allocated fair value of the Series B Convertible preferred stock and the carrying value of the loan payable as of the date the inducement offers were accepted. The excess of
the fair value of the Series B Convertible preferred stock over the carrying value of the loan payable was $3,793,406 which amount was included as an inducement expense in
the statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020.

NOTE 12 - NOTE PAYABLE
Payroll protection program and economic injury disaster loan grant

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) was signed into law on March 27, 2020 and provided for, among other things, the Payroll
Protection Program (“PPP”). The CARES Act temporarily added the PPP Loan program to the U.S. Small Business Administration’s (“SBA”) 7(a) Loan Program and provides
for the forgiveness of up to the full amount of qualifying loan plus accrued interest guaranteed under the program. Loop applied for and received on April 27, 2020, through a
bank, $573,500 under this program. The loan agreement was effective on April 24, 2020. The loan provides for an annual interest rate of 1% and a term of two years from the
effective date of April 24, 2020. Payments of principal and interest are deferred for the period up to the earlier of determination of the forgiveness amount by the SBA or ten
months after the end of its 24-week cover period which would require payments to begin August 24, 2021. The Company the current portion of this loan is $314,829, assuming
payments will begin on August 24, 2021. Principal payments due are $314,829 and $258,671 in 2021 and 2022, respectively.

The program further provides that the payment of certain qualified expenses from the proceeds received can be eligible for loan forgiveness. The qualified payments
must consist of at least 60% for payroll costs and the remaining amount up to a maximum of 40% can be used for certain non-payroll related costs such as mortgage interest,
rent and utilities. The bank that issued the loan will determine how much of the loan will be forgiven based upon the information provided by the Company along with evidence
of such costs. The $573,500 has been accounted for as a liability on Loop’s balance sheet as of December 31, 2020. Any amount that is forgiven will reduce the loan amount
and will be recognized as a gain from extinguishment of debt. Any amount that is not forgiven will remain on the balance sheet along with the applicable amount of accrued
interest as a liability. The remaining balance will be repaid with interest over the remaining term of the loan. The Company has applied for forgiveness of all the loan proceeds
but has not yet received a determination.

The CARES Act also if businesses affected by the pandemic would be eligible to apply for a loan under the Economic Injury Disaster Loan (“EIDL”) Program of the
SBA. However, a business can only apply for a loan under PPP or EIDL, but not both. Loop applied for an EIDL loan as well but accepted the PPP Loan and therefore was no
longer eligible to borrow under the EIDL Program. However, as part of the EIDL loan application process, Loop was able to request a $10,000 grant from the EIDL Program.
The grant does not have to be repaid because of not getting the EIDL. However, the $10,000 grant will be reduced against the amount of the PPP loan qualifying to be forgiven.
The $10,000 EIDL grant has been recognized as other income in the accompanying financial statements.
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NOTE 13 - CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES PAYABLE

Convertible debentures payable are presented in two sections, debentures to related parties and debentures to non-related parties. The conversion prices mentioned below have
been adjusted for the reverse stock split. A description of the debentures to related parties follows:

As of December 31,
Convertible debentures to related parties 2020 2019

Unsecured convertible debentures issued to related parties, amended October 23, 2020, interest at 10% per annum, unpaid
interest accrued at 18% per annum through October 23, 2020 amounting to $179,803 was paid by making a cash payment of
$97,979 and increasing the principal amount of the convertible debenture by $81,824 on the date of this agreement,
beginning November 1, 2020, monthly payments of unpaid interest accrued at 12.5% per annum will be paid in arrears
through March 31, 2021, beginning April 1, 2021, the Company will pay equal monthly installments of principal and interest
at 10% per annum through December 1, 2023, the above mentioned loan amendment has been accounted for as a loan
modification and associated transactions will be accounted for prospectively. $ 3,000,000 $ 3,000,000

Accrued interest rolled into the related party debenture above 232,235 —

Convertible debenture issued to related party, as part of a private placement offering to participate in a convertible debenture
and warranty purchase agreement for up to $3,000,000 dated December 1, 2020, due December 1, 2022, cash interest at 4%
per annum and payment in kind (PIK) interest at 6% payable in the Company’s common stock, all interest is determined on a
360 day basis, cash interest is payable in arrears twelve months from the issue date on November 30, 2021, then six months
in arrears on June 1, 2022, then six months in arrears is payable in shares of common stock as determined below on June 1,
2021, December 1, 2021, June 1, 2022 and December 1, 2022, secured by the existing and future assets of the Company,
subordinate to the secured debenture below 750,000 —

Total convertible debentures payable to related parties 3,982,235 3,000,000
Debt discount associated with convertible debentures to related parties (2,478,762) (2,360,898)
Total convertible debentures payable to related parties, net 1,503,473 639,102
Less current portion of convertible debentures payable to related parties, net (279,705) —
Long-term portion of convertible debentures payable to related parties, net $ 1,223,768 § 639,102

Convertible debentures — related party $3,000,000, December 12, 2018

Prior terms

On December 12, 2018, the Company issued $3,000,000 in convertible debentures, which have a maturity date of December 1, 2023 (the “Maturity Date”). The
debentures accrue interest monthly at a rate of 10% per annum, simple interest. Accrued unpaid interest became payable monthly beginning February 1, 2019 through May 1,
2020. Any accrued unpaid interest outstanding on May 1, 2020 could be converted into shares or added to the face amount of the loan. Beginning June 1, 2020 through January
1, 2021 the Company will make monthly installments of interest only payments. Beginning January 1, 2021, the Company will make monthly installments of principal and
interest through December 1, 2023. At the option of the holders, the debentures are convertible at any time prior to the Maturity Date in whole or in parts into common shares of
the Company at a price of $0.60 per common share.

The convertible debentures also provide that should the Company receive not less than $6,000,000 from the sale of its securities, it must either, at the discretion of the
holders, make a $750,000 principal payment plus the balance of any accrued unpaid interest or convert that amount into the Company’s common stock. If the Company receives
not less than $12,000,000 from the sale of its securities, the entire outstanding principal balance plus any accrued and unpaid interest must be either paid or converted in
common stock.
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NOTE 13 - CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES PAYABLE (Cont.)

The Company was not able to make the payments required under the terms of the convertible debentures and the holders filed suit on July 11, 2019. The convertible
note holders and the Company entered into a settlement agreement on October 31, 2019, and the lawsuit was dismissed as of October 31, 2019.

Pursuant to the settlement agreement the payment terms for the convertible debentures were amended to provide that the Company would be released from any
liability for accrued unpaid interest and other convertible debentures costs from the date of the convertible debentures to the date of the settlement agreement. The Company
was relieved of $192,557 of accrued interest as of October 31, 2019 and recorded a gain on settlement of obligations during the year ended December 31, 2019.

In addition, the settlement agreement further provided for interest to be accrued from November 1, 2019 through April 2020 and at the sole discretion of the note
holder to be paid either by common stock of the Company or added to the balance of the loan. The note holders elected to add the accrued interest to the balance of the loan. It
further provided that beginning June 1, 2020, monthly payments of unpaid accrued interest will be made through December 2020 and beginning January 1, 2021, the Company
will pay equal monthly installments of principal and interest through December 1, 2023 and any unpaid principal and interest outstanding will be immediately due and payable
on December 1, 2023.

Also, as part of the settlement agreement, the Company (i) issued 45,127 shares of Class B common stock to the convertible note holders for $30,000 cash; and (ii)
issued 37,605 shares of Class B common stock valued at $25,000 to the convertible note holders for the forgiveness of $5,221 in liabilities owed by the Company, which
resulted in a loss on settlement of obligations of $19,779 during the year ended December 31, 2019.

Additionally, the settlement agreement provided that the Company would merge the Class A common stock and Class B common stock into one class of common
stock. On December 5, 2019, the Company merged Class A and Class B common stock.

On October 31, 2019, as part of the above-mentioned settlement agreement, the Company issued 18,021,472 shares of Class B common stock upon the exercise of
warrants, with an exercise price of $0.001 per share, for a total value of $27,032. The exercise price was applied against the balance of accrued interest on the convertible
debentures.

The allocation of the $3,000,000 in gross proceeds from issuance of convertible debentures based on the relative fair values resulted in an allocation of $2,387,687 to
the warrants and $612,313 to the convertible debentures. The relative fair value of the warrants above was determined on the date of grant using the Black Scholes option-
pricing model with the following parameters: (1) risk free interest rate of 2.08%; (2) expected life in years of 10.0; (3) expected stock volatility of 45.49%; and (4) expected
dividend yield of 0%. In addition, because the effective conversion rate based on the $612,313 allocated to the convertible debentures was $0.08 per share which was less than
the fair value of the Company’s stock price on the date of issuance, a beneficial conversion feature was present at the issuance date.

The beneficial conversion feature totaled $612,313 and was recorded as a debt discount. The Company also recorded the allocated fair value of the warrants
$2,387,687 as additional debt discount. The total initial unamortized debt discount was $3,000,000 and is amortized to interest expense using effective interest method over the
life of the convertible debentures.

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the amortized debt discount recorded as interest expense was $601,314 and $599,671, respectively.
Second Amendment of terms

During 2020, the Company did not make all of the payments due under the convertible loan agreement with the related party and entered into a second amendment of
this convertible loan on October 23, 2020. The second amendment provides for payment to be made for the unpaid interest accrued at 18% per annum (default rate) through
October 22, 2020 amounting to $179,803 by making a cash payment of $97,979 and increasing the principal amount of the convertible note by $81,824.

The second amendment further provides that beginning November 1, 2020, monthly payments of unpaid interest accrued at 12.5% per annum will be paid in arrears
through March 31, 2021, beginning April 1, 2021, the Company will pay equal monthly installments of principal and interest computed at 10% per annum through December 1,
2023. The Company accounted for this amendment to the note under ASC 470-50-40-10 as a debt modification due to the present value of the cash flows under the new
amendment terms is less than 10% different from the present value of the remaining cash flows of the current terms and recognized no gain or loss on modification on
December 31, 2020.
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NOTE 13 - CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES PAYABLE (Cont.)

Convertible debentures, related party - $750,000, December 1, 2020

On December 1, 2020, the Company offered, in a private placement, the aggregate offering amount of up to $3,000,000 of Senior Secured Promissory Debentures,
with a minimum subscription amount of $250,000 and common stock warrants with an aggregate exercise price of $750,000 and aggregate exercisable warrant shares of
272,727 shares. The only Senior Secured Promissory Note entered under this offering in 2020 was to a related party in the amount of $750,000. The note accrues cash interest at
4% per annum and payment in kind (PIK) interest at 6% payable in the Company’s common stock, determined on a 360-day basis. The note, as amended, provided that the cash
interest for the period from the issue date to November 30, 2021 is payable on November 30, 2021 instead of being paid in advance. Cash interest is payable six months in
arrears on June 1, 2022, then six months in arrears on December 1, 2022. The lender is allowing the Company to defer payment of the advanced interest to a future date not
exceeding November 30, 2021. The accrued PIK interest is payable in shares of common stock in an amount equal to the amount of PIK Interest accrued as of such date,
divided by the VWAP of common stock during each trading day during the ten-trading day period ending one trading day prior to the PIK Interest Payment due dates of June 1,
2021, December 1, 2021, June 1, 2022, and December 1, 2022. The Senior Secured Promissory Debentures define VWAP as the average of the daily dollar volume-weighted
average sale price for the Company’s common stock on the Pink Open Market or other market operated by OTC Markets Group, Inc. on any trading day, as reported by
Bloomberg Financial Markets.

At the option of the Senior Secured Promissory Note holders, the debentures are convertible at the earlier of a change of control event, a Qualified IPO, both of which
are defined in the Promissory Note Agreement or the maturity date of December 1, 2022. If the conversion takes place at the maturity date, the note will be converted in whole
or in parts (which cannot be less than 50% of the amount due under the note) into an number of shares equal to the amount due divided by the average of the VWAP of common
stock during each trading day during the thirty trading day period ending one trading day prior to the maturity date. If the conversion takes place at the change of control date,
the note will be converted into an number of shares equal to the amount due divided by the average of the VWAP of common stock during each trading day during the ten
trading day period ending one trading day prior to the change of control effective date. In the event of a Qualified IPO, but subject to the closing of such Qualified IPO, the
amount due shall convert in full on the closing date of such Qualified IPO into several shares equal to the amount due on such closing date divided by the applicable IPO
conversion price, as defined in the Promissory Note Agreement.

The allocation of the $750,000 in gross proceeds from issuance of Senior Secured Promissory Debentures based on the relative fair values resulted in an allocation of
$36,949 to the warrants and $713,051 to the Promissory Debenture. The relative fair value of the warrants above was determined on the date of grant using the Black Scholes
option-pricing model with the following parameters: (1) risk free interest rate of 0.22%; (2) expected life in years of 3.0; (3) expected stock volatility of 61.43%; and (4)
expected dividend yield of 0%. In addition, because the effective conversion rate was indeterminate as of the date of the Promissory Note issuance,
a beneficial conversion feature was present at the issuance date.

The beneficial conversion feature totaled $713,051 and was recorded as a debt discount. The Company also recorded the allocated fair value of the warrants $36,949 as
additional debt discount. The total initial unamortized debt discount was $750,000 and is amortized to interest expense using effective interest method over the life of the

convertible debentures.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the amortized debt discount recorded as interest expenses was $30,822.
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NOTE 13 - CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES PAYABLE (Cont.)

As of December 31,
Convertible debentures to non-related parties 2020 2019
Convertible debenture issued to a founder and former officer of the Company in conjunction with redemption of 20,000,000
shares of common stock, interest at 10% per annum, amended terms as of October 22, 2020 provide that the unpaid interest
accrued through May 31, 2020 of $43,011 plus principal of $29,324 and interest of $11,490 that were due under the original
agreement (described below) beginning June 1, 2020 to October 1, 2020 was paid on October 22, 2020.
The November 1, 2020 payment was deferred until December 1, 2020. Since the convertible debenture was not converted
into the Company’s common stock by November 30, 2020, the terms of the original debenture resumed on December 1,
2020. This $287,000 convertible debenture is secured by 5,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock which are
owned by the Company’s President $ 246,044 $ 287,000
Secured (1) convertible debenture, interest at 11% per annum,, accrued monthly and the outstanding principal and unpaid
accrued interest was due January 8, 2021 convertible debentures payable 326,143 326,143
Total convertible debentures payable to non-related parties 572,187 613,143
Debt discount associated with convertible debentures to non-related parties (18,079) (24,291)
Total convertible debentures payable to non-related parties, net 554,108 588,852
Less current portion of convertible debentures payable to related parties, net (393,943) —
Long-term portion of convertible debentures payable to related parties, net $ 160,165 § 588,852

(1) Secured by primary interest in all assets of the Company

Convertible debentures, non related party - $287,000, December 1, 2018
Original terms

On December 1, 2018, the Company entered into a redemption agreement with one of its former officers to repurchase 20,000,000 shares of Class A common stock.
The terms of this agreement required that the Company issue a convertible debenture to this stockholder in the amount of $287,000 and pay the amount of accrued expenses
owed to him of $134,000 in four quarterly payments beginning October 1, 2019. The first two quarterly payments totaled $67,000 were paid in January 2020 but the remaining
$67,000 has not been paid. The convertible debenture originally provided for interest at 10% per annum, interest to accrue through September 1, 2019, beginning October 1,
2019 monthly payments of unpaid accrued interest will be made through May 1, 2020, beginning June 1, 2020, the Company will pay equal monthly installments of principal
and interest through December 1, 2023.

At the option of the debenture holder, the debenture is convertible at any time prior to December 1, 2023 in whole or in parts into common stock of the Company at a
price of $0.60 per common share. As the effective conversion rate based on the principal $287,000 was $0.60 per share which was less than the Company’s stock price on the

date of issuance, a beneficial conversion feature was present at the issuance date. The beneficial conversion feature totaled $30,996 and was recorded as a debt discount.

The discount is amortized to interest expense using effective interest method over the life of the convertible debentures. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, the amortized debt discount recorded as interest expenses was $6,213 and $6,196, respectively.
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NOTE 13 - CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES PAYABLE (Cont.)
First Amendment of terms

The Company did not make all the payments due under the convertible loan agreement entered with a founder and former officer of the Company and entered into a
second agreement to modify the payment terms on October 22, 2020. At the date of this amendment, the Company owed unpaid accrued interest through May 31, 2020
amounting to $43,011 and unpaid principal and interest payments from June 1, 2020 to October 1, 2020 in the amount of $40,814 for a total of $83,825. To remove the default,
the Company amended the terms of the convertible note on October 22, 2020 to provide for the unpaid interest accrued through May 31, 2020 plus the unpaid principal and
interest payments from June 1, 2020 to October 1, 2020 amounting to $83,825 to be paid on the date of this agreement.

In addition, the amendment required that the Company pay on October 22, 2020, $28,587 of the outstanding balance of accrued expenses due to the founder and
former officer for a total payment of $112,412. The amendment further provides that the remaining balance of the $67,000 owed amounted to $38,412 will be paid on March
31, 2021. Additionally, the amendment provided that the November 1, 2020 payment was deferred to December 1, 2020. Since the convertible note was not converted into the
Company’s common stock, the terms of the original note resumed on December 1, 2020. The Company accounted for this amendment to the note under ASC 470-50-40-10 as a
debt modification due to the present value of the cash flows under the new amendment terms is as least 10% different from the present value of the remaining cash flows of the
current terms and recognized no gain or loss on modification on December 31, 2020.

Convertible debentures, non related party - $326,143, July 12, 2019
Original terms

On July 12, 2019, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a lender for a loan amount up to $200,000. The loan provided an interest rate of 11% accrued
monthly with principal and accrued unpaid interest due on January 8, 2021. The loan required the Company to pay a loan fee of 2% ($4,000) upon execution. The loan provides
for a prepayment penalty of 4% of the amount prepaid plus all interest accrued to the date of the prepayment. The loan was secured by a primary interest in all assets of both
Loop and ScreenPlay.

Amendment 1

By August 20, 2019, the amount borrowed under the $200,000 loan agreement amounted to $252,473 and the loan agreement was amended to provide for an increase
in the maximum loan amount to $400,000.

In addition, the loan was restructured as a convertible debenture. At the option of the debenture holder, the debenture is convertible at any time prior to the maturity
date in whole or in parts into Class A common shares of the Company. The conversion price was deemed to be the lesser of $0.60 per common share or the offering price paid
by unaffiliated investors for one share of the common stock, no par value, of a company that at that time was a merger target of the Company, under a planned private offering
of such securities by the then-current merger target in connection with the then-proposed merger transaction with the Company. The proposed merger with that merger target
failed to close so the conversion price was deemed to be $0.60 per common share.

The Company evaluated the embedded conversion feature in accordance with ASC Topic No. 815 — 40, Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Own
Stock and determined that the underlying common stock is indexed to the Company’s common stock. The Company determined that the embedded conversion feature did not
meet the definition of a liability and therefore did not account for it as a separate derivative liability. The embedded conversion feature was fair valued at $146,678 using the
Black Scholes Method and recorded as loss on extinguishment of debt and offset to additional paid-in capital. The Company also charged the additional loan fees of $6,473 to
loss on extinguishment of debt.

The Company evaluated the embedded conversion feature as the effective conversion rate based on the principal $252,473 was $0.60 per share which was less than the

fair value of the Company’s stock price on the date of issuance and determined that a beneficial conversion feature was present at the issuance date.
The beneficial conversion feature totaled $29,967 and was recorded as a debt discount and offset to additional paid-in capital.
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NOTE 13 - CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES PAYABLE (Cont.)

The amendment also provided that at the lender’s request, the Company will issue one share of its Class A common stock for every dollar loaned. The total amount
borrowed under this loan as of December 31, 2019 is $326,143, the Company recorded the obligation to issue 326,143 Class A common shares with a value of $135,144 as
Class A common stock subscribed but not yet issued and debt discount. After considering the 1 to 1.5 shares reverse stock split, the number of shares to be issued would be
217,429.

Amendment 2 — November 26, 2019

The Company subsequently identified Interlink Plus, Inc. (Interlink) as a new merger target. On November 26, 2019, the $400,000 convertible loan agreement was

amended again to change the conversion price to the lesser of $0.375 per common share or the offering price paid by unaffiliated investors for one share of Interlink common
stock.

As of November 26, 2019, the amortized debt discount recorded as interest expense was $23,448, and upon execution of Amendment 2, the Company wrote off the
remaining unamortized debt discount of $141,663 as loss on extinguishment of debt.

Upon execution of Amendment 2, a new embedded conversion feature was re-calculated as $110,281 which was charged to additional-paid-in-capital. The difference
between the embedded conversion feature calculated in Amendment 1 of $146,678 and the recalculated amount of $110,281 or $36,397 was offset against loss on
extinguishment of debt.

Effective January 8, 2021, the lender elected to convert the outstanding loan amount of $326,143 plus accrued interest of $50,213 for a total of $376,356 into shares of
the Company’s common stock. Amendment 2 of the Loan Agreement provided that the conversion share price would be $0.25 per share. After considering the effect of the
reverse stock split in 2020, the conversion share price was adjusted to $0.375 per share. The lender will receive 1,003,617 shares in 2021 from this conversion.

As noted above, Amendment 1 also provided at the lender’s request, the Company will issue one share of its common stock for every dollar loaned. On January 8,
2021, the lender also requested that the shares represented by the loan amount of $326,143 be issued in the amount of 217,429 shares which will also result in the reduction of
common stock subscribed but not yet issued in the amount of $135,144.

Maturity analysis under total convertible
debentures, net are as follows:

2021 $ 1,281,822
2022 2,002,096
2023 1,270,504

Convertible debentures payable, related
and non related party 4,554,422

Less: Debt discount on convertible
debentures payable (2,496,841)

Total convertible debentures payable,
related and non related party, net $ 2,057,581

NOTE 14 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company may be involved in legal proceedings, claims and assessments arising in the ordinary course of business. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties,
and outcomes are not predictable with assurance. There are no such loss contingencies that are included in the financial statements as of December 31, 2020.
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NOTE 15 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are natural persons or other entities that have the ability, directly or indirectly, to control another party or exercise significant influence over the party
making financial and operating decisions. Related parties include other parties that are subject to common control or that are subject to common significant influences.

The Company has borrowed funds for business operations from certain stockholders through convertible debt agreements and has remaining balances, including
accrued interest amounting to $3,988,693 and $3,050,137 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Company incurred interest expense for these convertible
debentures in the amounts of $416,845 and $297,534 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. See Note 13 for related party debentures discussion.

As part of the reverse merger with Interlink Plus, Inc. on February 5, 2020, the Company assumed a $180,000 debt to Interlink’s controlling stockholder to whom the
Company was also indebted in the amount of $1,000,000. The $180,000 debt plus accrued interest of $5,563 was retired as a part of the issuance of 2,666,667 warrants to
purchase the Company’s common stock. The warrants were recorded at their fair value (see Note 17). Because the transaction was a related party, any gain or loss is recorded
and reported as a change to additional paid in capital (the effects of the transaction do not affect the Consolidated Statements of Operations). The Company incurred interest
expense for these debentures in the amounts of $6,721 and $1,597 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

NOTE 16 -STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Convertible Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 666,667 shares of its $0.0001 par value preferred stock. As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, the Company had 30,667 and 0
shares of Series A convertible preferred stock issued and outstanding, respectively. As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, the Company had 200,000 and 0 shares of Series B
convertible preferred stock issued and outstanding, respectively.

The Series A convertible preferred stock has a liquidation preference of $0.10 per share, has super voting rights of 100 votes per share, and each share of Series A
may be converted into 100 shares of common stock.

On January 31, 2020, the Company filed a certificate of designation with the Nevada Secretary of State and designated 3,333,334 shares of Series B Convertible
Preferred Stock. The terms of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock are substantially similar to those of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, except that in the event of
the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock then
outstanding shall be entitled to receive, out of the assets of the Company available for distribution to its stockholders, an amount equal to $1.00 per share of Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock before any payment shall be made or any assets distributed to the holders of common stock or Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

The Series B Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible at any time at the discretion of the holder thereof into shares of common stock at a conversion rate of one
hundred (100) shares of common stock for every- one (1) share of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock. Furthermore, the holders of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock have
the right to cast one hundred (100) votes for each one (1) share of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock held of record on all matters submitted to a vote of holders of the
common stock, including the election of directors, and all other matters as required by law.

The Company evaluated the features of the Convertible Preferred Stock under ASC 480, and classified them as permanent equity because the Convertible Preferred

stock is not mandatorily or contingently redeemable at the stockholder’s option and the liquidation preference that exists does not fall within the guidance of SEC Accounting
Series Release No. 268 — Presentation in Financial Statements of “Redeemable Preferred Stocks”(“ASR 268”).

Change in Number of Authorized and Outstanding Shares

On June 8, 2020, a 1 for 1.5 reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock became effective. All share and per share information in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements and footnotes has been retroactively adjusted for the effects of the reverse split for all periods presented.
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NOTE 16 -STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) (Cont.)
Common stock

The Company is authorized to issue 316,666,667 shares of its $0.0001 par value common stock.As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, there were 118,128,008 and
101,882,647, respectively, shares of common stock issued and outstanding.

Year ended December 31, 2019

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued an aggregate of 2,800,000 shares of Class B common stock with a value of $1,890,000 which was
reserved for issuance as a common stock subscribed at December 31, 2018. These were awarded for consulting services received during the year ended December 31, 2018.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued an aggregate of 37,605 shares of Class A common stock in satisfaction of common stock subscribed
of $25,000.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued 1,866,667 shares of Class B common stock with a value of $1,240,960 in connection with a settlement
with former employees upon the termination of their employment contracts.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company as part of settlement agreement (see Note 13) issued 37,605 shares of Class B common stock valued at
$25,000 to the debenture holders for the forgiveness of $5,221 in liabilities owed by the Company, which resulted in a loss on settlement of obligations of $19,779.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued an aggregate of 340,782 shares of Class A common stock in satisfaction of $67,000 of common stock
subscribed and additional proceeds of $89,990.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued an aggregate of 1,377,333 shares of Class A common shares and as part of a settlement agreement
(see Note 13), issued 45,127 shares of Class B common shares to investors for proceeds of $546,490.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company had Class A common stock subscribed with a value of $150,144.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued 15,333,333 shares of Class A common stock and shares of 1,600,000 Class B common stock with a
value of $6,350,000 for the purchase of certain intangible assets.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued 18,021,472 shares of Class B common stock upon the exercise of warrants, with an exercise price of
$0.001 per share, for a total value of $27,032. In lieu of cash, the exercise price of these warrants were satisfied by the forgiveness of certain liabilities owed by the Company to
the investor.

Year ended December 31, 2020

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued an aggregate of 3,933,333 shares of its common stock for proceeds of $3,960,000.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 40,000 shares of its common stock in satisfaction of a common stock subscription of $15,000.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 4,000,000 shares of its common stock for consulting services valued at $1,500,000 to a related party.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 5,168,931 shares of its common stock and 30,667 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock as

part of the merger with Interlink. The Company also assumed debt to a related party of $180,000 and accrued interest of $3,842 and charged $80,134 of legal expenses related to
reverse merger charged to additional paid in capital.
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NOTE 16 -STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) (Cont.)

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 100,000 shares of its Series B convertible preferred stock at a fair value of $4,800,000 at date of
issuance in exchange for loan and accrued interest forgiveness of $1,006,594 and the balance was recorded as inducement expense of 3,793,406. The Company applied the
guidance in ASC 470-20.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 100,000 shares of its Series B convertible preferred stock at a fair value of $4,800,000 at date of
issuance, in exchange for $1,000,000 cash and the balance was recorded as a deemed dividend of $3,800,000. The Company applied the guidance in ASC 470-20.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 1,369,863 shares of its common stock with a value of $2,671,096 for the purchase certain intangible
assets.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 454,463 shares of its common stock with a value of $863,480 for the purchase of 20% ownership in
another company.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company had common stock subscribed with proceeds received of $350,000.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 1,278,771 shares of its common stock, valued at $2,260,799 capitalized as license content assets.
Subsequently the Company recognized impairment expense of $2,260,799 for non-recoverable license content assets.
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NOTE 17 - STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

Options

The Company’s Equity Incentive Compensation Plan (the plan), adopted January 29, 2020 by the board of directors, allows a maximum of 26,500,000 shares to be
reserved for issuance under the plan and 6,666,667 shares reserved under the Company’s former plan. As of December 31, 2020 the plan was not effective as the Company had
not obtained shareholder approval. Stock options cannot be exercised until shareholder approval is obtained. Options granted under the plan may be designated as incentive
stock options or non-qualified stock options. The plan also provides the options may not have a term lasting more than ten years and the exercise price may not be less than the
fair market value of the common stock subject to the option on the grant date. In addition, to the extent that the aggregate fair market value (determined at the time of grant) of
common stock with respect to which incentive stock options are exercisable for the first time by any option holder during any calendar year exceeds $100,000, the options or
portions thereof which exceed such limit shall be treated as non-qualified stock options.

Option valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions. The fair value of stock-based payment awards was estimated using the Black-Scholes
option model with a volatility figure derived from using the Company’s historical stock prices. The Company accounts for the expected life of options based on the contractual
life of options for non-employees. For employees, the Company accounts for the expected life of options in accordance with the “simplified” method, which is used for “plain-
vanilla” options, as defined in the accounting standards codification. The risk-free interest rate was determined from the implied yields of U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bonds with
a remaining life consistent with the expected term of the options.

The following table summarizes the stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Weighted

Weighted Average

Average Remaining Aggregate

Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

Options Price Term Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2018 6,173,418 $ 0.71 931 $ —
Grants — — — —
Exercised — — — —
Expired (361,111) — — —
Forfeited — — — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 5,812,307 $ 0.70 841 $ —
Grants 2,500,000 $ 0.89 946 $ 5,800,000
Exercised — — — —
Expired — — — —
Forfeited — — — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 8,312,307 § 0.76 8.03 § 20,397,450
Exercisable at December 31, 2020 6,564,307 § 0.72 764 § 16,342,090




NOTE 17 - STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (Cont.)

The aggregate intrinsic value in the preceding tables represents the total pretax intrinsic value, based on options with an exercise price less than the Company’s stock
price of $3.21 as of December 31, 2020 and $0.38 as of December 31, 2019, which would have been received by the option holders had those option holders exercised their
options as of that date.

The following table presents information related to stock options on December 31, 2020:

Options outstanding

Weighted Options
average exercisable
Exercise Number of remaining life number of
price options in years options
0.86 1,148,372 5.66 1,148,372
0.66 4,663,935 7.84 4,663,935
0.89 2,500,000 9.46 752,000
Total 8,312,307 8.03 6,564,307

Stock-based compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense for all stock options granted using the fair value-based method of accounting. During the year ended December 31,
2020, the Company issued 2,500,000 options valued at $0.3645 per option. No options were granted during 2019.

The Company calculated the fair value of options issued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, with the following assumptions:

As of December 31,

2020
Weighted average fair value of options granted $0.36
Expected life 5.15—5.75 years
Risk-free interest rate 0.33 - 0.44%
Expected volatility 44.69 — 45.32%
Expected dividends yield 0%
Forfeiture rate 0%

The stock-based compensation expense related to option grants was $450,286 and $55,796, for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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NOTE 17 - STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (Cont.)

Warrants

The following table summarizes the changes in warrants outstanding and the related prices for the shares of the Company’s common stock:

Warrants outstanding

Warrants exercisable

Weighted Weighted
average average
remaining Weighted remaining
contractual average contractual
Exercise Number life exercise Number life
prices outstanding (years) price exercisable (years)

$ 0.86 3,850,709 695 $ 0.86 3,850,709 6.95
0.38 2,000,000 5.93 0.38 2,000,000 5.93
0.75 2,666,667 9.2 0.75 2,666,667 9.2
2.75 68,182 2.92 2.75 68,182 2.92

The following table summarizes the warrant activity for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
Weighted
average
exercise
Number of price per
shares share

Outstanding at December 31, 2018 21,572,181 § 0.15
Issued 2,000,000 0.38
Exercised (18,021,472) —
Expired — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 5,550,709 $ 0.68
Issued 3,034,849 0.81
Exercised = =
Expired — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 8,585,558 § 0.73

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company issued 2,000,000 warrants with a relative fair value of $483,967 to settle $46,000 of liabilities owed to a

consultant. This resulted in a loss on settlement of obligations of $437,

The Company recognizes compensation expense for all for warrants granted using the fair value-based method of accounting. During the year ended December 31,
2020, the Company assumed a related party note of $180,000 and associated accrued interest of $3,842 as part of the reverse merger with Interlink. After the assumption of the
debt and accrued interest during 2020, the Company issued 2,666,667 warrants valued at $702,219 to retire the $180,000 debt and $5,563 of accrued liabilities. During the year
ended 2020, the Company issued 300,000 warrants to a company for consulting services performed and recorded $492,000 in consulting expense and 68,182 warrants to a
related party in conjunction with a senior secured convertible note in the amount of $750,000 and recorded the allocated fair value of the warrants of $36,949 as additional debt

discount.
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NOTE 17 - STOCK OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (Cont.)

The Company calculated the fair value of warrants issued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, with the following assumptions:

As of

December 31, 2020
Weighted average fair value of warrants granted $0.4057
Expected life 3 - 10 years
Risk-free interest rate 0.22% - 0.82%
Expected volatility 48.46% - 61.43%
Expected dividends yield 0%
Forfeiture rate 0%

NOTE 18 - INCOME TAX

Income tax expense (benefit) consist of the following for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 consist of the following:

U.S. federal 2020 2019
Current $ 98372 $ —
Deferred (2,015,381) (2,063,921)
State and local
Current (128) 1,600
Deferred (670,220) (746,995)
Total (2,587,356) (2,809,316)
Change in valuation allowance 2,685,600 2,810,916
Income tax provision $ 98244 §$ 1,600

The reconciliation between the U.S. statutory federal income tax rate and the Company’s effective rate for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

2020 2019
U.S. federal statutory rate 21.00% 21.00%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 6.19% 6.98%
Other permanent items -8.16% -2.36%
Change in valuation allowance -17.53% -24.42%
Other -2.14% -0.62%
Effective rate -0.64% 0.58%




NOTE 18 - INCOME TAX (Cont.)

As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, the Company’s deferred tax assets (liabilities) consisted of the effects of temporary differences attributable to the following:

Deferred tax assets: 2020 2019
Net Operating Loss Carryover $ 3,893,134 §$ 2,448,321
State Net Operating Loss 1,292,097 813,492
Allowance for doubtful accounts 17,393 —
Stock-based compensation — 877,478
Fixed assets book/ tax basis difference 105,980 (1,576)
Impairment 1,776,959 1,776,959
Operating right-of-use assets 1,909 —
Accrued expenses 20,752 (138,719)
Amortization of debt discount 357,290 (660,900)
Research credit 7,799 4,259
Intangible book/tax basis difference 445,870 861,776
Total deferred tax asset, net 7,919,183 5,981,090
Less: reserve for allowance (7,919,183) (5,981,090)
Total Deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowance $ — 3 —

Deferred tax liabilities:
Total deferred tax liabilities, net —
Less: reserve for allowance — —
Total Deferred tax liability, net of valuation allowance $ — 3 —

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal and various state jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, the Company has federal net operating
loss carryforwards of $18.5 million and $11.6 million, respectively. As a result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 and the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security
Act, the Company’s NOLs arising in 2020 can generally be carried back five years, carried forward indefinitely and can offset 100% of future taxable income for tax years
before January 1, 2021 and up to 80% of future taxable income for tax years after December 31, 2020. Loop began operations in 2016 and has had losses since inception. Thus
there is no carryback benefit as relates to the five year carryback claims.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company has state net operating loss carryforwards of $18.5 million and $11.6 million. The state NOLs begin to expire in
2037. The Company’s ability to use its NOL carryforwards may be limited if it experiences an “ownership change” as defined in Section 382 (“Section 382”) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. An ownership change generally occurs if certain stockholders increase their aggregate percentage ownership of a corporation’s stock by
more than 50 percentage points over their lowest percentage ownership at any time during the testing period, which is generally the three-year period preceding any potential
ownership change. The Company has not completed an analysis to determine whether any such limitations have been triggered as of December 31, 2020.

As of December 31, 2020, the federal and state tax returns for the years from 2015 through 2020 remain open to examination by the Internal Revenue Service and
various state authorities. ASC 740, “Income Taxes” requires that a valuation allowance is established when it is “more likely than not” that all, or a portion of, deferred tax
assets will not be recognized. A review of all available positive and negative evidence needs to be considered, including the Section 382 limitation, the scheduled reversal of
deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies. After consideration of all the information available, management believes that uncertainty
exists with respect to the future realization of its deferred tax assets and has, therefore, established a full valuation allowance as of December 31, 2020, and 2019.

As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, the Company has evaluated and concluded that there were no material uncertain tax positions requiring recognition in the

Company’s financial statements. The Company’s policy is to classify assessments, if any, for tax-related interest as income tax expenses. No interest or penalties were recorded
during the years ended December 31, 2020, and 2019. The Company does not expect its unrecognized tax benefit position to change during the next twelve months.
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NOTE 19 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Senior secured convertible promissory debentures

Per Note 13 on December 1, 2020, the Company offered, in a private placement, the aggregate offering amount of up to $3,000,000 of Senior Secured Promissory
Debentures, with a minimum subscription amount of $250,000 and common stock warrants with an aggregate exercise price of $750,000 and aggregate exercisable warrant
shares of 272,727 shares. The Company entered into a senior secured promissory debenture agreement with a trust under this offering on January 12, 2021 in the amount of
$350,000. The trust received 87,500 warrants to purchase the Company’s common stock in conjunction with the promissory debenture. The warrants were valued with a relative
fair value of $49,875 and have an exercise price of $2.75 per share.

Convertible debentures, non related party

On January 8, 2021 (the maturity date), the loan agreement as amended provided the conversion share price of $0.375 per share. Lender elected to convert the
outstanding loan amount of $326,143 plus accrued interest of $50,213 for a total of $376,356 into shares of the Company’s common stock. The loan agreement as amended
provides the conversion share price of $0.375 per share. The conversion took place at maturity and the carrying value of the convertible debentures will be recorded as common
stock and additional paid in capital. The Company will recognize no gain or loss on conversion. The lender will receive 1,003,617 shares with a value of $3,111,213 from this
conversion.

Per Note 13, Amendment 1 also provided at the lender’s request, the Company will issue one share of its common stock for every dollar loaned. On January 8, 2021,
the lender also requested that the shares represented by the loan amount of $326,143 be issued in the amount of 217,429 post-split shares which will also result in the reduction
of common stock subscribed but not yet issued in the amount of $135,144.

Share purchase agreement

The Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement dated August 1, 2020 for the private offer to a limited number of accredited investors of up to $6,500,000
worth of restricted shares of common stock of the Company at an issue price of $1.25 per share. The Shares are subject to restriction on resales until that date that is 365 days
following the relevant closing date for any individual investor. As of April 14, 2021, the Company had raised an aggregate of $5,530,000 and issued 4,424,000 shares under the
Share Purchase Agreement.

Equity incentive compensation plan

In March 2021, the Company awarded 16,045,216 options under its 2020 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan to certain employeesand non-employees hired before
March 5, 2021 (the offering). The Plan is subject to shareholder approval which has not been received. Stock options cannot be exercised until shareholder approval is obtained.
The Company’s board of directors finalized and approved most of the terms of the offering on November 10, 2020, the effective date of the offering and an exercise price of
$1.10 per share. However, the Company had not communicated the allocation of options to each employee or the terms and other plan details of the offering until March 1 and
March 5, 2021. Certain employees were terminated on March 1, 2021 and were offered the options as part of their severance. On March 5, 2021, the Company communicated to
all other employees and non-employees awarded options, the number of options each employee would be receiving, and the terms and other plan details included in the
offering. Per ASC 718 Compensation — Stock Compensation, an entity would not recognize compensation expense for an employee award until five conditions required for
establishing an accounting grant date were met. The Company determined that March 1 and March 5, 2021 are the grant dates and fair value is $477,929 and $33,305,242,
respectively. The options awarded in March 2021 exceed the maximum reserved common shares for the plan by 6,545,216 common shares.

Compensation expense recognition is the service inception date which begins in the service period. Per ASC 718, the service inception date cannot occur prior to the

grant date unless certain conditions are met, the Company determined that none of the option awards meet these provisions so the service inception date is March 1, 2021 for
terminated employee awarded options and March 5, 2021 for all other employee and non-employee awarded options.
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ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
OF

INTERLINK PLUS, INC.

ARTICLE ]
NAME

The name of the corporation shall be Interlink Plus, Inc. (hereinafier, the “Corporation™).

ARTICLE IT
REGISTERED OFFICE

The initial office of the Corporation shall be 4950 S. Rainbow Blvd, Suite 150, Las Vegas, NV
89118. The initial registered agent of the Corporation shall be Doney Ventures, Inc., 4955 S. Durango Rd.
Ste. 165, Las Vegas, NV 89113. The Corporation may, from time to time, in the manner provided by law,
change the resident agent and the registered office within the State of Nevada. The Corporation may also
maintain an office or offices for the conduct of its business, either within or without the State of Nevada.

ARTICLE ITI
CAPITAL STOCK

Section 1. Authorized Shares. The aggregate number of shares which the Corporation shall
have authority to issue is five hundred million (500,000,000) shares, consisting of two classes to be
designated, respectively, "Common Stock” and "Preferred Stock," with all of such shares having a par
value of $.0001 per share. The total number of shares of Common Stock that the Corporation shall have
authority to issue is four hundred and seventy five million (475,000,000) shares. The total number of shares
of Preferred Stock that the Corporation shall have authority to issue is twenty five million (25,000,000)
shares. The Preferred Stock may be issued in one or more series, each series to be appropriately designated
by a distinguishing letier or title, prior to the issuance of any shares thereof. The voting powers,
designations, preferences, limitations, restrictions, and relative, participating, optional and other rights, and
the qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof, of the Preferred Stock shall hereinafier be prescribed
by resolution of the board of directors pursuant to Section 3 of this Article ITI, except for the Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock, which is set forth herein.

Section2. Common Stock.

(a) Dividend Rate. Subject to the rights of holders of any Preferred Stock having
preference as to dividends and except as otherwise provided by these Articles of Incorporation, as
amended from time to time (hercinafier, the "Articles™) or the Nevada Revised Statues
(hereinafier, the “*NRS”), the holders of Common Stock shall be entitled to receive dividends
when, as and if declared by the board of directors out of assets legally available therefor.

(b) Voting Rights. Except as otherwise provided by the NRS, the holders of the issued
and outstanding shares of Common Stock shall be entitled to one vote for each share of Common
Stock. No holder of shares of Common Stock shall have the right to cumulate votes.

(¢) Liguidation Rights. In the event of liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the
affairs of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, subject to the prior rights of holders
of Preferred Stock to share ratably in the Corporation's assets, the Common Stock and any shares




of Preferred Stock which are not entitled to any preference in liquidation shall share equally and
ratably in the Corporation's assets available for distribution after giving effect to any liquidation
preference of any shares of Preferred Stock. A merger, conversion, exchange or consolidation of
the Corporation with or into any other person or sale or iransfer of all or any part of the assets of
the Corporation (which shall not in fact result in the liquidation of the Corporation and the
distribution of assets to stockholders) shall not be deemed to be a voluntary or involuntary
liguidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation.

(d) No Conversion, Redempiion, or Preemptive Righis. The holders of Common
Stock shall not have any conversion, redemption, or preemptive rights.

(e) Consideration for Shares. The Common Stock authorized by this Article shall be
issued for such consideration as shall be fixed, from time to time, by the board of directors.

Section 3. Preferred Stock.

(a) Designation. The board of directors is hereby vested with the authority from time
to time to provide by resolution for the issuance of shares of Preferred Stock in one or more series
not exceeding the aggregate number of shares of Preferred Stock authorized by these Articles, and
to prescribe with respect to each such series the voting powers, if any, designations, preferences,
and relative, participating, optional, or other special rights, and the qualifications, limitations, or
restrictions relating thereto, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing: the voting
rights relating to the shares of Preferred Stock of any series (which voting rights, if any, may be
full or limited, may vary over time, and may be applicable generally or only upon any stated fact
or event); the rate of dividends (which may be cumulative or noncumulative), the condition or
time for payment of dividends and the preference or relation of such dividends to dividends
payable on any other class or series of capital stock; the rights of holders of Preferred Stock of any
series in the event of liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation; the
rights, if any, of holders of Preferred Stock of any series to convert or exchange such shares of
Preferred Stock of such series for shares of any other class or series of capital stock or for any
other securities, property, or assets of the Corporation or any subsidiary (including the
determination of the price or prices or the rate or rates applicable to such rights to convert or
exchange and the adjustment thereof, the time or times during which the right to convert or
exchange shall be applicable, and the time or times during which a particular price or rate shall be
applicable); whether the shares of any series of Preferred Stock shall be subject to redemption by
the Corporation and if subject to redemption, the times, prices, rates, adjustments and other terms
and conditions of such redemption. The powers, designations, preferences, limitations, restrictions
and relative rights may be made dependent upon any fact or event which may be ascertained
outside the Articles or the resolution if the manner in which the fact or event may operate on such
series is stated in the Articles or resolution. As used in this section "fact or event" includes,
without limitation, the existence of a fact or occurrence of an event, including, without limitation,
a determination or action by a person, government, govemmental agency or political subdivision
of a government. The board of directors is further authorized to increase or decrease (but not
below the number of such shares of such series then outstanding) the number of shares of any
series subsequent to the issuance of shares of that series. Unless the board of directors provides to
the contrary in the resolution which fixes the characteristics of a series of Preferred Stock, neither
the consent by series, or otherwise, of the holders of any outstanding Preferred Stock nor the
consent of the holders of any outstanding Common Stock shall be required for the issuance of any
new series of Preferred Stock regardless of whether the rights and preferences of the new series of
Preferred Stock are senior or superior, in any way, to the outstanding series of Preferred Stock or
the Common Stock.

(b) Certificate. Before the Corporation shall issue any shares of Preferred Stock of
any series, a certificate of designation setting forth a copy of the resolution or resolutions of the
board of directors, and establishing the voting powers, designations, preferences, the relative,




participating, optional, or other rights, if any, and the qualifications, limitations, and restrictions, if
any, relating to the shares of Preferred Stock of such series, and the number of shares of Preferred
Stock of such series authorized by the board of directors to be issued shall be made and signed by
an officer of the corporation and filed in the manner prescribed by the NRS.

Section 4. Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. There shall be created, out of the twenty five
million (25,000,000) shares of Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of the Corporation, a series of
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, consisting of one million (1,000,000) shares, which series shall have
the following powers, designations, preferences and relative participating, optional and other special rights,
and the following qualifications, limitations and restrictions;

(a) Designation; Rank. This series of Preferred Stock shall be designated and known as
“Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.” The number of shares constituting the Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock shall be one million (1,000,000) shares. Except as otherwise provided
herein, the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock shall, with respect to rights on liquidation,
winding up and dissolution, rank pari passu to the Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share.

(b) Dividends. The holders of shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock have no
dividend rights except as may be declared by the Board in its sole and absolute discretion, out of
funds legally available for that purpose.

(c) Liguidation Preference.

(i) In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the
Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary (each, a “Liquidation”), the holders of
shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Siock then outstanding shall be entitled to
receive, out of the assets of the Corporation available for distribution to its stockholders,
an amount equal to $0.10 per share of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock before
any payment shall be made or any assets distributed to the holders of the Common Stock.
If the assets of the Corporation are not sufficient to pay in full the amount payable to the
holders of outstanding shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock as to rights on
Liquidation with the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, then all of said assets will be
distributed among the holders of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and the other
classes of stock ranking pari passu with the Series A Preferred Stock, if any, ratably in
accordance with the respective amounts that would be payable on such shares if all
amounts payable thereon were paid in full.

(ii) A sale of all or substantially all of the Corporation’s assets or an acquisition
of the Corporation by another entity by means of any transaction or series of related
transactions (including, without limitation, a reorganization, consolidated or merger) that
results in the transfer of fifty percent (50%) or more of the outstanding voting power of
the Corporation, shall not be deemed to be a Liquidation.

(¢) Voting. The holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock shall have the right to
cast one hundred (100) votes for each share held of record on all matters submitted to a vote of
holders of the Corporation’s common stock, including the election of directors, and all other
matiers as required by law. There is no right to cumulative voting in the election of directors. The
holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall vote together with all other classes and series of common
stock of the Corporation as a single class on all actions to be taken by the common stock holders
of the Corporation except to the extent that voting as a separate class or series is required by law,

(f) Optional Conversion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. The Holders of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock shall have conversion rights as follows:
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(i) Conversion Right. Each share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock shall
be convertible at the option of the Holder thereof and without the payment of additional
consideration by the Holder thereof, at any time, into shares of Common Stock on the
Optional Conversion Date (as hereinafier defined) at a conversion rate of one hundred
(100) shares of Common Stock (the “Conversion Rate”) for every one (1) share of Series
A Convertible Preferred Stock.

(ii) Mechanics of Optional Conversion. To effect the optional conversion of
shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, any Holder of record shall make a written
demand for such conversion (for purposes of this Designation, a “Conversion Demand”)
upon the Corporation at its principal executive offices setting forth therein (i) the
certificate or certificates representing such shares, and (ii) the proposed date of such
conversion, which shall be a business day not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty
(30) days after the date of such Conversion Demand (for purposes of this Designation,
the “Optional Conversion Date™). Within five days of receipt of the Conversion Demand,
the Corporation shall give written notice (for purposes of this Designation, a “Conversion
Notice”) to the Holder setting forth therein (i) the address of the place or places at which
the certificate or certificates representing any shares not yet tendered are to be converted
are to be surrendered; and (ii) whether the certificate or certificates to be surrendered are
required to be endorsed for transfer or accompanied by a duly executed stock power or
other appropriate instrument of assignment and, if so, the form of such endorsement or
power or other instrument of assignment. The Conversion Notice shall be sent by first
class mail, postage prepaid, to such Holder at such Holder’s address as may be set forth
in the Conversion Demand or, if not set forth therein, as it appears on the records of the
stock transfer agent for the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, if any, or, if none, of
the Corporation. On or before the Optional Conversion Daie, each Holder of the Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock so to be converted shall surrender the certificate or
certificates representing such shares, duly endorsed for transfer or accompanied by a duly
executed stock power or other instrument of assignment, if the Conversion Notice so
provides, to the Corporation at any place set forth in such notice or, if no such place is so
set forth, at the principal executive offices of the Corporation. As soon as practicable
after the Optional Conversion Date and the surrender of the certificate or certificates
representing such shares, the Corporation shall issue and deliver to such Holder, or its
nominee, at such Holder’s address as it appears on the records of the stock transfer agent
for the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, if any, or, if none, of the Corporation, a
certificate or certificates for the number of whole shares of Common Stock issuable upon
such conversion in accordance with the provisions hereof.

(iii) No Fractional Shares. No fractional shares of Common Stock or scrip shall
be issued upon conversion of shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. In lieu of
any fractional share to which the Holder would be entitled based on the number of shares
of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock held by such Holder, the Corporation shall issue
a number of shares to such Holder rounded up to the nearest whole number of shares of
Common Stock. No cash shall be paid to any Holder of Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock by the Corporation upon conversion of Series A Preferred Convertible Stock by
such Holder.

(iv) Reservation of Stock. The Corporation shall at all times when any shares of
Series A Preferred Convertible Stock shall be outstanding, reserve and keep available out
of its authorized but unissued Common Stock, such number of shares of Common Stock
as shall from time to time be sufficient to effect the conversion of all outstanding shares
of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. If at any time the number of authorized but
unissued shares of Common Stock shall not be sufficient to effect the conversion of all
outstanding shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, the Corporation will take
such corporate action as may, in the opinion of its counsel, be necessary to increase its
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authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock to such number of shares as shall be
sufficient for such purpose.

(v) Issue Taxes. The converting Holder shall pay any and all issue and other
non-income taxes that may be payable in respect of any issue or delivery of shares of
Common Stock on conversion of shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

Section 5. Non-Assessment of Stock. The capital stock of the Corporation, after the amount of
the subscription price has been fully paid, shall not be assessable for any purpose, and no stock issued as
fully paid shall ever be assessable or assessed, and the Articles shall not be amended in this particular. No
stockholder of the Corporation is individually liable for the debts or liabilities of the Corporation.

ARTICLE IV
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

Section 1. Number of Directors. The members of the governing board of the Corporation are
styled as directors. The board of directors of the Corporation shall be elected in such manner as shall be
provided in the bylaws of the Corporation. The board of directors shall consist of at least one (1) individual
and not more than thirteen (13) individuals. The number of directors may be changed from time to time in
such manner as shall be provided in the bylaws of the Corporation.

Section2. [Initial Directors. The name and post office box or street address of the director(s)
constituting the initial board of directors is:

Name Address

Zixiao Chen 4950 8. Rainbow Blvd, Suite 150, Las Vegas, NV 89118

Section 3. Limitation of Liability. The liability of directors and officers of the Corporation
shall be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by the NRS. If the NRS is amended to further
eliminate or limit or authorize corporate action to further eliminate or limit the liability of directors or
officers, the liability of directors and officers of the Corporation shall be eliminated or limited to the fullest
extent permitied by the NRS, as so amended from time to time.

Section4. Payment of Expenses. Tn addition to any other rights of indemnification permitted
by the laws of the State of Nevada or as may be provided for by the Corporation in its bylaws or by
agreement, the expenses of officers and direciors incurred in defending any threatened, pending, or
completed action, suit or proceeding (including without limitation, an action, suit or proceeding by or in the
right of the Corporation), whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, involving alleged acts or
omissions of such officer or director in his or her capacity as an officer or director of the Corporation or
member, manager, or managing member of a predecessor limited liability company or affiliate of such
limited liability company or while serving in any capacity at the request of the Corporation as a director,
officer, employee, agent, member, manager, managing member, partner, or fiduciary of, or in any other
capacity for, another corporation or any parinership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, shall be paid by
the Corporation or through insurance purchased and maintained by the Corporation or through other
financial arrangements made by the Corporation, as they are incurred and in advance of the final
disposition of the action, suit or proceeding, upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the officer or
director to repay the amount if it is ultimately determined by a court of competent jurisdiction that he or she
is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation. To the extent that an officer or director is successful on
the merits in defense of any such action, suit or proceeding, or in the defense of any claim, issue or matter
therein, the Corporation shall indemnify him or her against expenses, including attorneys' fees, actually and
reasonably incurred by him or her in connection with the defense. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained herein or in the bylaws, no director or officer may be indemmified for expenses incurred in
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defending any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit or proceeding (including without limitation,
an action, suit or proceeding by or in the right of the Corporation), whether civil, criminal, administrative or
investigative, that such director or officer incurred in his or her capacity as a stockholder, including, but not
limited to, in connection with such person being deemed an Unsuitable Person (as defined in Article VII
hereof).

Section 5. Repeal And Conflicts. Any repeal or modification of Sections 3 or 4 above approved
by the stockholders of the Corporation shall be prospective only, and shall not adversely affect any
limitation on the liability of a director or officer of the Corporation existing as of the time of such repeal or
modification, In the event of any conflict between Sections 3 or 4 above and any other Article of the
Auticles, the terms and provisions of Sections 3 or 4 above shall conirol.

ARTICLE V
COMBINATIONS WITH INTERESTED STOCKHOLDERS

At such time, if any, as the Corporation becomes a "resident domestic corporation”, as that term is
defined in NRS 78.427, the Corporation shall not be subject to, or governed by, any of the provisions in
NRS 78.411 to 78.444, inclusive, as may be amended from time to time, or any successor statute.

ARTICLE VI

BYLAWS

The board of directors is expressly granted the exclusive power to make, amend, alter, or repeal
the bylaws of the Corporation pursuant to NRS 78.120.

IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, the Corporation has caused these articles of incorporation to be
executed in its name by its Incorporator on May 11, 2015,
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DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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The following summary describes the common stock, $0.001 par value per share, of Loop Media, Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” “our.
only securities of the Company registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

us,” and “our”), which are the

The following description is a summary and does not purport to be complete. It is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to (i) our Articles of
Incorporation, as amended (as so amended, the “Articles of Incorporation”), and (ii) our Bylaws (the “Bylaws”), each of which are incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this Exhibit 4.3 is a part. We encourage you to read our Articles of Incorporation, our Bylaws and the applicable provisions of Chapter
78 of the Nevada Revised Statutes for additional information.

Authorized and Outstanding Capital Stock

Our authorized capital stock consists of 316,666,667 shares of common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, and 16,666,667 shares of preferred stock, $0.0001 par
value per share. As of December 31, 2020, there were 118,128,008 shares of our common stock issued and outstanding. In addition, as of such date, we had authorized the
issuance of up to (i) 666,667 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred”) and (ii) 3,333,334 shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (the
“Series B Preferred”). As of December 31, 2020, there were (i) 30,667 shares of Series A Preferred issued and outstanding, and (ii) 200,000 shares of Series B Preferred issued
and outstanding. Each share of Series A Preferred has a liquidation preference of $0.10 per share, is entitled to 100 votes per share, and is convertible at any time at the
discretion of the holder thereof into 100 shares of common stock. Each share of Series B Preferred has a liquidation preference of $1.00 per share, is entitled to 100 votes per
share and is convertible at any time at the discretion of the holder thereof into 100 shares of common stock.

Common Stock

Voting Rights. Holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted upon by stockholders. In addition, holders of our Series A
Preferred are entitled to 100 non-cumulative votes per share on all matters submitted to a vote by stockholders of our common stock, including the election of directors, and all
other matters as required by law, and holders of our Series B Preferred are entitled to 100 non-cumulative votes per share on all matters submitted to a vote by stockholders of
our common stock, including the election of directors, and all other matters as required by law. In accordance with Nevada law and the Bylaws, the affirmative vote of a
majority of the shares cast at a duly held meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the stockholders. The presence at the meeting, by person or by proxy, of the
holders of record of not less than fifty percent (50%) of the outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote shall constitute a quorum for transacting business. Our stockholders do
not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors.

Liquidation Rights. In the event of a voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Company, our creditors (including the holders
of our convertible debt) and any holders of our preferred stock with preferential liquidation rights will be paid before any distribution to holders of common stock. Our Series A
Preferred has a liquidation preference of $0.10 per share and our Series B Preferred has a liquidation preference of $1.00 per share. A merger, conversion, exchange or
consolidation of the Company with or into another person or a sale or transfer of all or any part of the assets of the Company shall not be deemed to be a liquidation, dissolution
or winding up of the Company.

In addition, the liquidation rights, preferences and privileges of holders of common stock are subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of
shares of any series of preferred stock which we may designate and issue in the future.

Dividend Rights. The holders of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends when and as declared by our board of directors out of funds legally available for
dividends, subject to the prior rights or preferences applicable to any preferred stock as may then be outstanding. The Series A Preferred and Series B Preferred have no right to
receive dividends except as declared by the Board of Directors in its sole and absolute discretion, out of funds legally available for that purpose.

The Company has not declared or paid any cash dividends on its common stock and the Company does not presently intend to pay any cash dividends in the
foreseeable future.

Other Rights and Preferences. Shares of our common stock have no preemptive rights, no conversion rights, no redemption or sinking fund provisions, and are not
liable for further call or assessment.

Listing. Our common stock currently trades on the OTC Pink under the symbol “LPTV.”
Anti-Takeover Provisions

Acquisitions of Controlling Interest. Nevada Revised Statutes sections 78.378 to 78.379 provide state regulation over the acquisition of a controlling interest in certain
Nevada corporations unless the articles of incorporation or bylaws of the corporation provide that the provisions of these sections do not apply. Our Articles of Incorporation
and Bylaws do not state that these provisions do not apply. The statute creates a number of restrictions on the ability of a person or entity to acquire control of a Nevada
company by setting down certain rules of conduct and voting restrictions in any acquisition attempt, among other things. The statute is limited to corporations that are organized
in the state of Nevada and that have 200 or more stockholders, at least 100 of whom are stockholders of record and residents of the State of Nevada; and does business in the
State of Nevada directly or through an affiliated corporation. Interested Stockholder Transactions. Nevada Revised Statutes sections 78.411 through 78.444 provide that a
Nevada corporation with 200 or more stockholders of record generally may not engage in certain business combinations and transactions with an “interested stockholder” (in
general, the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the corporation’s voting power) or the interested stockholder’s affiliates or associates during the two-year period after the
stockholder first became an interested stockholder unless the combination meets all of the requirements of the corporation’s articles of incorporation and either:

The business combination or transaction by which the person first became an interested stockholder is approved by the board of directors before the stockholder
became an interested stockholder; or

During the two-year period, the transaction is approved by the board of directors and by at least 60% of the disinterested stockholders at an annual or special
meeting.

After that initial two-year period, corporations subject to these statutes may not engage in specified business combinations and transactions unless the combination
meets all of the requirements of the articles of incorporation and either:



The business combination or transaction by which the person first became an interested stockholder is approved by the board of directors before the stockholder
became an interested stockholder;

The business combination is approved by a majority of the outstanding voting power of the resident domestic corporation not beneficially owned by the interested
stockholder or any of the interested stockholder’s affiliates or associates; or

The combination meets specified statutory requirements.

A corporation may opt out of these provisions by expressly opting out in its original articles of incorporation or in an amendment of the articles approved by the
majority vote of disinterested stockholders. Our Articles of Incorporation specifically opt out of these provisions.

Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws. In addition, some provisions of our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws may be deemed to have an anti-takeover effect and
may delay or prevent a tender offer or takeover attempt that a stockholder might consider in its best interest, including those attempts that might result in a premium over the
market price for the shares held by stockholders.

Cumulative Voting. Our Articles of Incorporation do not permit stockholders the right to cumulative voting in the election of directors.

Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations. Our Bylaws provide that stockholders seeking to bring business before an annual
meeting of stockholders, or to nominate candidates for election as directors at an annual meeting of stockholders, must provide timely notice in writing. To be timely, a
stockholder’s notice must be delivered to or mailed and received at our principal executive offices not more than 90 days or less than 60 days prior to the anniversary date of
the immediately preceding annual meeting of stockholders. However, in the event that the annual meeting is called for a date that is not within 30 days before or after such
anniversary date, notice by the stockholder in order to be timely must be received not more than 90 days or less than 60 days prior to the meeting date. Our Bylaws also specify
requirements as to the form and content of a stockholder’s notice. These provisions may preclude stockholders from bringing matters before an annual meeting of stockholders
or from nominating directors at an annual meeting of stockholders.

Authorized But Unissued Shares. Our authorized but unissued shares of common stock and preferred stock are available for future issuance without stockholder
approval. These additional shares may be utilized for a variety of corporate purposes, including future public offerings to raise additional capital, corporate acquisitions and
employee benefit plans. The existence of authorized but unissued shares of common stock and preferred stock could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain
control of the Company by means of a proxy contest, tender offer, merger or otherwise.

Amendments to Bylaws. Our Articles of Incorporation provide that the board of directors has the exclusive right to amend our Bylaws.
Limitation of Liability and Indemnification

The Nevada Revised Statutes provide that a corporation may indemnify its officers and directors against expenses actually and reasonably incurred in the event an
officer or director is made a party or threatened to be made a party to an action (other than an action brought by or in the right of the corporation as discussed below) by reason
of his or her official position with the corporation provided the director or officer (1) is not liable for the breach of any fiduciary duties as a director or officer involving
intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of the law or (2) acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the
corporation and, with respect to any criminal actions, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful. A corporation may indemnify its officers and
directors against expenses, including amounts paid in settlement, actually and reasonably incurred in the event an officer or director is made a party or threatened to be made a
party to an action by or in the right of the corporation by reason of his or her official position with the corporation, provided the director or officer (1) is not liable for the breach
of any fiduciary duties as a director or officer involving intentional misconduct, fraud or a knowing violation of the laws or (2) acted in good faith and in a manner he or she
reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the corporation. The Nevada Revised Statutes further provide that a corporation generally may not indemnify an officer or
director if it is determined by a court that such officer or director is liable to the corporation or responsible for any amounts paid to the corporation in settlement, unless a court
also determines that the officer or director is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnification in light of all of the relevant facts and circumstances. The Nevada Revised Statutes
require a corporation to indemnify an officer or director to the extent he or she is successful on the merits or otherwise successfully defends the action.

3

Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws provide liability of our directors and officers shall be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent not prohibited by Chapter 78
of the Nevada Revised Statutes, and that the Company also may indemnify its employees and agents as permitted by Chapter 78 of the Nevada Revised Statutes. Our Bylaws
expressly authorize the Company to enter into individual indemnification agreements with any or all of its directors, officers, employees or agents, and to obtain insurance on
behalf of any of the foregoing persons. The Company intends to maintain director and officer liability insurance, if available on reasonable terms. We have not entered into
indemnification agreements with our directors, officers, employees or agents
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THIS INSTRUMENT AND THE SECURITIES ISSUABLE UPON THE CONVERSION HEREOF HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF
1933, AS AMENDED (THE “ACT”). THEY MAY NOT BE SOLD, OFFERED FOR SALE, PLEDGED, HYPOTHECATED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT
PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE ACT OR UPON RECEIPT BY THE COMPANY OF AN OPINION OF COUNSEL
SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY THAT REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED UNDER THE ACT.
SENIOR SECURED PROMISSORY NOTE

Date of Issuance

US$§ December 1, 2020
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, Loop Media, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the “‘Company”), hereby promises to pay to and their permitted assigns
(each individually, a “Helder” and collectively, the “Holders”), the principal sum of US $ .00 (the “Principal Amount’). The Issuer further promises to pay interest

on the outstanding Principal Amount from time to time, in the manner and at the rates specified in Section 2 hereof. In no event shall this Note be construed to require payment
of interest in an amount in excess of the maximum allowed by law, and if such payment is made by the Company, then such excess sum shall be credited by the Holders as a
payment of principal. This Note evidences a commercial loan made for business purposes.

This Senior Secured Promissory Note (including all Senior Secured Promissory Notes issued in exchange, transfer or replacement hereof) (this Note” and, together
with all other Senior Secured Promissory Notes issued by the Company pursuant to a Note Purchase and Security Agreement in the aggregate principal amount of up to
$3,000,000.00 (the “Financing”), collectively, the “Notes™), is issued pursuant to that certain Note Purchase and Security Agreement dated as of the date of issuance set forth
above (the “Issue Date”) by and between the Company and the Holder (the ‘Purchase Agreement”). Certain capitalized terms used herein are defined in Section 4.2.
Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Purchase Agreement.

1 Payment of Principal. Unless converted into Common Stock (“Conversion Shares”), the entire principal amount of this Note, plus accrued and unpaid
Interest, w111 be due and payable by the Company on December 1, 2022 (the “Maturity Date”). The Company shall have the privilege and option, in its sole and absolute
discretion, without penalty or forfeiture, to pay the entire principal amount of this Note or any part thereof, together with accrued and unpaid Interest, at any time prior to the
Maturity Date. All payments of principal and Cash Interest will be made in cash in lawful money of the United States of America paid and delivered, in immediately available
funds, at the principal office of such Holder, or at such other place as such Holder may from time to time designate in writing to the Company.

2. Interest; Interest Rates. During the term of this Note: (a) interest of four percent (4%) per annum shall accrue on the outstanding Principal Amount from
and including the Issue Date and be payable in cash (“Cash Interest”); and (b) interest of six percent (6%) per annum shall accrue on the outstanding Principal Amount from
and including the Issue Date and be payable in shares of Common Stock (“Shares”) in arrears (“PIK Interest,” and together with Cash Interest, “Interest”). All Interest will be
computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve (12) 30-day months. Interest hereunder will be paid to the Holder or its permitted assignee in whose name this Note is
registered on the records of the Company.

2.1 Cash Interest Payments. Cash Interest for the period from the Issue Date to November 30, 2021 is payable in advance at the Issue Date. Six (6) months
of Cash Interest is payable in arrears on June 1, 2022. Six (6) months of Cash Interest is payable in arrears on the Maturity Date.




2.2 PIK Interest Payments. PIK Interest is payable on June 1, 2021, December 1, 2021, June 1, 2022 and the Maturity Date (each, a PIK Interest
Payment Due Date”). The number of Shares to be issued on a PIK Interest Payment Due Date is equal to: (a) the amount of PIK Interest accrued as of such date, divided
by the average of the VWAP of Common Stock during each Trading Day during the ten (10) Trading Day period ending one (1) Trading Day prior to the PIK Interest
Payment Due Date. For purposes of this Note, “VWAP” shall mean the daily dollar volume-weighted average sale price for Common Stock on the Pink Open Market or
other market operated by OTC Markets Group, Inc. on any particular Trading Day (during the period beginning at such time as such market publicly announces is the
official open of trading, and ending at such time as such market publicly announces is the official close of trading), as reported by Bloomberg Financial Markets (or if
the Company is unable to gain access to Bloomberg Financial Markets information or if such market is not reported by Bloomberg Financial Markets, as reasonably
determined by the Company, using share price information and volume reported on the OTC Markets website, taking the average price of the high, low and closing
prices per share for a given day and multiplying by the daily trading volume for such day, for each day during the VWAP period and dividing the sum of all VWAP
calculations for each day by the total trading volume for the entire VWAP period). All such determinations of VWAP shall be appropriately and equitably adjusted in
accordance with the provisions set forth herein.

3. Security. Payment and performance of this Note and the other Notes, and all other obligations of the Company hereunder are secured by a security interest
granted under the Purchase Agreement from the Company in favor of the Holders (the “Security Interest”), and the Holders shall be entitled to all of the berefits of the
Security Interest.

4. Certain Events.
4.1 PIK Interest Penalty. If Shares are not listed on a national securities exchange prior to the Maturity Date, the Company shall issue the Holder an

amount of Shares equal to fifteen percent (15%) of the Holder’s then outstanding Principal Amount divided by the average of the VWAP of Common Stock during each
Trading Day during the thirty (30) Trading Day period ending one (1) Trading Day prior to the Maturity Date.

4.2 Definitions.

(a) “Amount Due” means, at any date of determination, the sum of the outstanding Principal Amount plus all accrued and unpaid Interest
thereon.

(b) “Change of Control” means any of the following events or series of related events: (i) the sale, lease, exchange, license or other transfer

of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets (determined on a consolidated basis) to any Person or group (as such term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the
Exchange Act); (ii) the transfer, directly or indirectly, to any Person or group (as such term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) of beneficial

ownership (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) of more than 50% of the aggregate voting power of the fully diluted equity interests in the
Company (but excluding for the purposes of the calculation of the fully diluted equity interests in the Company, any Conversion Shares that would be issued on
conversion of the Notes); or (iii) any merger, or other similar transaction to which the Company is a party as a result of which the shareholders of the Company
immediately prior to such transaction beneficially own less than 50% of the aggregate voting power of the fully diluted equity interests in the surviving Person
(or, if the Common Stock is exchanged for or otherwise converted into common equity of another Person in such transaction, the successor company) (but
excluding for the purposes of the calculation of the fully diluted equity interests in the Company, any Conversion Shares that would be issued on conversion of
the then outstanding Principal Amount of issued Notes and any accrued and unpaid Interest thereon). Notwithstanding the foregoing, a bona fide equity
financing transaction in which the Company is the surviving corporation and the proceeds of such transaction are not be used to repurchase or redeem capital
stock of the Company shall not be deemed to be a Change of Control.




(c) “Change of Control Effective Date” means the date on which a Change of Control occurs.

(d) “Change of Control Notice” means a notice from the Company to the Holder stating: (i) that a Change of Control is anticipated to occur
and that describes the material financial terms of such Change of Control; and (ii) the anticipated Change of Control Effective Date with respect to such Change
of Control.

(e “IPO Conversion Price” means, with respect to a Qualified IPO: (i) the public offering price per share of the Common Stock in the
Qualified IPO multiplied by (ii) one (1) minus twenty percent (20%).

(f) “Qualified TPO” means a bona fide underwritten public offering of Common Stock: (i) in which such stock is listed on the Nasdaq Stock
Market or New York Stock Exchange; and (ii) for gross proceeds at least equal to the initial principal amount of the Notes.

4.3 Maturity Date Conversion Option. On the Maturity Date, the Holder by notice to the Company in accordance with Section 4.6(a) shall have the option
to convert all or part of the Amount Due, and if less than all, then not less than one half of the Amount Due (the “Conversion Amount”), into an amount of Shares equal
to the Conversion Amount divided by the average of the VWAP of Common Stock during each Trading Day during the thirty (30) Trading Day period ending one (1)
Trading Day prior to the Maturity Date.

4.4 Change of Control Conversion Option. Upon a Change of Control, the Holder shall have the option to convert the Conversion Amount into Shares.
The Company shall deliver to the Holder a Change of Control Notice no less than thirty (30) days prior to any anticipated Change of Control Effective Date. The Holder
will be required to make any applicable election (a “Change of Control Election”) with respect to the Note in writing by notice to the Company no later than the tenth
(10th) day after delivery of the applicable Change of Control Notice (the “Change of Control Election Deadline”). Following delivery of such Change of Control
Notice, the Company shall provide the Holder with such information regarding the terms of such Change of Control as they may reasonably request, subject to any
restrictions on the Company pursuant to any applicable confidentiality agreement. Any such election to convert the Note in connection with a Change of Control shall be
irrevocable once delivered to the Company. If the Holder timely delivers a Change of Control Election, the Conversion Amount shall automatically convert immediately
prior to the Change of Control Effective Date into an amount of Shares equal to the Conversion Amount divided by the average of the VWAP of Common Stock during
each Trading Day during the ten (10) Trading Day period ending one (1) Trading Day prior to the Change of Control Effective Date.

4.5 Mandatory Conversion. In the event of a Qualified IPO, but subject to the closing of such Qualified IPO, the Amount Due shall convert in full on the
closing date of such Qualified IPO into a number of Shares equal to (a) the Amount Due on such closing date divided by (b) the applicable IPO Conversion Price.




4.6 Mechanics of Conversion.

(a) Maturity Date Notice. To exercise their Maturity Date conversion right set forth in Section 4.3 above: (i) the Holder shall transmit by
electronic mail (or otherwise deliver), for receipt on or prior to 5:00 p.m. PST, on or prior to thirty (30) days prior to the Maturity Date (the “Notice Date”), a
copy of an executed notice of conversion setting forth the amount of the Amount Due that the Holder desires to convert (the “Conversion Notice”) to the
Company; and (ii) the Holder shall surrender this Note to a reputable common carrier for delivery to the Company (or shall provide an indemnification
undertaking with respect to this Note in the case of its loss, theft or destruction) on or prior to the Notice Date.

(b) No Fractional Shares. No fractional shares of the Company’s capital stock will be issued upon conversion of this Note. In lieu of any
fractional share to which a Holder would otherwise be entitled, the Company will pay to such Holder in cash the amount of the unconverted principal and
interest balance of this Note that would otherwise be converted into such fractional share.

(¢) Release of Company. Upon full or partial conversion of this Note, the Company will be forever released from all of its obligations and
liabilities under this Note with regard to the Amount Due being converted including, without limitation, the obligation to pay such portion of the Amount Due.

(d) Delivery of Shares. As promptly as practicable after the conversion of this Note and the issuance of the Conversion Shares, the
Company (at its expense) will instruct its transfer agent to deliver the Conversion Shares to the Holder. The Company will not be required to instruct the transfer agent to deliver
the Conversion Shares until the Holder has surrendered this Note to the Company (or provided an instrument of cancellation or affidavit of loss).

4.7 Impairment. The Company will not, by amendment of its articles of incorporation or through any reorganization, transfer of assets, consolidation,
conversion, merger, dissolution, issue or sale of securities or any other voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performance of any of the terms to be
observed or performed hereunder by the Company, but will at all times in good faith assist in the carrying out of all the provisions of this Section 4 and this Note in the
taking of all such action as may be necessary or appropriate in order to protect the conversion right against impairment.

5. Voting Rights. The Holder shall have no shareholder voting rights as the holder of this Note.
6. Default. If there shall be any Event of Default hereunder, at the option and upon the declaration of the Holder and upon written notice to the Company, this

Note shall accelerate and all principal and Interest accrued hereon shall become due and payable. The occurrence of any one or more of the following shall constitute an Event
of Default:

6.1 The Company fails to pay timely any of the principal or accrued Interest due under this Note on the date the same becomes due and payable,
subject to a five (5) business day cure period for the payment of any Interest;




6.2 The Company shall default in its performance of any covenant or agreement under the Purchase Agreement or this Note and such default continues
for a period of twenty (20) days after written notice or the Company becoming aware thereof;

6.3 The Company’s Board of Directors or shareholders adopt a resolution for the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company;

6.4 The Company files any petition or action for relief under any bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or moratorium law or any other law for the
relief of, or relating to, debtors, now or hereafter in effect, or makes any assignment for the benefit of creditors or takes any corporate action in furtherance of any of the
foregoing; or

6.5 A decree or an order for relief is entered by a court having jurisdiction against or with respect to the Company in an involuntary case under the
federal bankruptcy laws or any state insolvency or similar laws ordering: (a) the liquidation of the Company; (b) a reorganization of the Company or the Company’s business
and affairs; or (c) the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee, or similar official for the Company or any of the Company’s property; and, in any such
event, the failure to have such decree, order or appointment discharged or dismissed within sixty (60) days from the date of entry.

7. Miscellaneous.
7.1 Transfers: Successors and Assigns. Except as provided in Section 6(i)(i) of the Purchase Agreement, this Note may not be offered, encumbered, sold,

assigned or transferred by the Holder without the prior written consent of the Company. Any offer, sale, assignment or other transfer of this Note is also subject to the
restrictive legends on this Note. The terms and conditions of this Note will inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the respective successors and permitted assigns of
the parties; provided, however, that the Company may not assign its obligations under this Note without the written consent of the Holders of more than 50% of the
aggregate Principal Amount then outstanding..

7.2 Governing Law. This Note will be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Nevada without giving effect to
any choice or conflict of law provision or rule.

7.3 Counterparts. This Note may be executed in counterparts each of which will be deemed an original, but all of which together will be deemed to be
one and the same agreement. Counterparts may be delivered via facsimile, electronic mail (including PDF or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN
Act 0f 2000, e.g., www.docusign.com) or other transmission method, and any counterpart so delivered will be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and
effective for all purposes.

7.4 Titles and Subtitles. The titles and subtitles used in this Note are included for convenience only and are not to be considered in construing or
interpreting this Note.

7.5 Notices. All notices and other communications given or made pursuant hereto must be in accordance with Section 6(e) of the Purchase Agreement.
7.6 Entire Agreement; Amendments and Waivers. This Note, together with the Purchase Agreement, constitute the full and entire understanding and

agreement between the parties with regard to the subject hereof. Any term of this Note may be amended and the observance of any term may be waived (either generally or in a
particular instance and either retroactively or prospectively) with the written consent of the Company and the Holders of more than 50% of the aggregate Principal Amount then
outstanding. Any waiver or amendment effected in accordance with this Section 7.6 will be binding upon the Company, the Holders, and each future holder of the Note.




7.7 Severability. If one or more provisions of this Note are held to be unenforceable under applicable law, such provisions will be excluded from this
Note and the balance of this Note will be interpreted as if such provisions were so excluded and this Note will be enforceable in accordance with its terms.

7.8 Repayment Parity Among Holders. In the event that the Company is obligated to repay the Note and does not have sufficient funds to repay the
Note in full, payment shall be made to the Holders of the Notes on apro rata basis. The preceding sentence shall not, however, relieve the Company of its obligations to the
Holders hereunder.

7.12 Further Assurances. From time to time, the parties will execute and deliver such additional documents and will provide such additional information
as may reasonably be required to carry out the terms of this Note and any agreements executed in connection herewith.

7.13 Officers and Directors not Liable. In no event will any officer or director of the Company be liable for any amounts due and payable pursuant to this
Note.

7.14 Loss of Note. Upon receipt by the Company of evidence satisfactory to it of the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of this Note or any Note
exchanged for it, and indemnity satisfactory to the Company (in case of loss, theft or destruction) or surrender and cancellation of such Note (in the case of mutilation), the
Company will make and deliver in lieu of such Note a new Note of like tenor.

7.15 Certain Waivers. The Company hereby expressly and irrevocably waives presentment, demand, protest, notice of protest and all other notices in
connection with this Note.

7.16 Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH PARTY HEREBY WAIVES ITS RIGHTS TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION BASED
UPON OR ARISING OUT OF THIS NOTE, THE CONVERSION SHARES, THE PURCHASE AGREEMENT OR THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF OR
THEREOF. THE SCOPE OF THIS WAIVER IS INTENDED TO BE ALL-ENCOMPASSING OF ANY AND ALL DISPUTES THAT MAY BE FILED IN ANY
COURT AND THAT RELATE TO THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THIS TRANSACTION, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, CONTRACT CLAIMS, TORT
CLAIMS (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), BREACH OF DUTY CLAIMS, AND ALL OTHER COMMON LAW AND STATUTORY CLAIMS. THIS SECTION
HAS BEEN FULLY DISCUSSED BY EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO, AND THESE PROVISIONS WILL NOT BE SUBJECT TO ANY EXCEPTIONS. EACH
PARTY HERETO HEREBY FURTHER REPRESENTS AND WARRANTS THAT SUCH PARTY HAS REVIEWED THIS WAIVER WITH ITS LEGAL
COUNSEL AND THAT SUCH PARTY KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVES ITS JURY TRIAL RIGHTS FOLLOWING CONSULTATION WITH
LEGAL COUNSEL.

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]




In witness whereof, the undersigned has executed this Senior Secured Promissory Note as of the date first written above.

LOOP MEDIA, INC.

By:

Address for Notice:

700 N. Central Avenue, Suite 430
Glendale, CA 91203
Email: jon@loop.tv

Name: Jon Niermann

Title: CEO and Co-Founder
With a copy to:
Patrick J. Sheil
34 S Erie Avenue, Suite 4
Montauk, New York 11954
Email: patrick@loop.tv
HOLDER

By:

Name:
Title:
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Exhibit 10.4

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the date set forth on the signature page hereto, by and between Loop
Media, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the “Company”), and Jon Niermann (hereinafter, the “Executive”).

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, the Executive is currently employed as the Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company; and
WHEREAS, the Executive possesses intimate knowledge of the business and affairs of the Company, its policies, methods and personnel; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) recognizes that the Executive has contributed to the growth and success of the Company, and
desires to assure the Company of the Executive’s continued employment and to compensate him therefor; and

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that this Agreement will reinforce and encourage the Executive’s continued attention and dedication to the Company; and
WHEREAS, the Executive is willing to make his services available to the Company on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.

NOW, THEREFORE, for the reasons set forth hereinabove, and in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein and other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby covenant and agree as follows:

1. Employment.

1.1 Employment and Term. The Company hereby agrees to employ the Executive and the Executive hereby agrees to serve the Company on the terms
and conditions set forth herein.

1.2 Duties of Executive. During the Term of Employment under this Agreement, the Executive shall serve as the Chief Executive Officer and
President of the Company, shall faithfully and diligently perform all services as may be assigned to him by the Board (provided that, such services shall not materially differ
from the services currently provided by the Executive), and shall exercise such power and authority as may from time to time be delegated to him by the Board. The Executive
shall devote his full time and attention to the business and affairs of the Company, render such services to the best of his ability, and use his reasonable best efforts to promote
the interests of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of this Agreement, it shall not be a breach or violation of this Agreement for the Executive
to: (a) serve on corporate, civic or charitable boards or committees; (b) deliver lectures, fulfill speaking engagements or teach at educational institutions; or (c) manage personal
investments, so long as such activities do not significantly interfere with or significantly detract from the performance of the Executive’s responsibilities to the Company in
accordance with this Agreement.

2. Term.
2.1 Initial Term. The initial Term of Employment (as defined below) under this Agreement, and the employment of the Executive hereunder, shall

commence on the date hereof (the “Commencement Date”) and shall expire on the date that is three years from the date hereof unless sooner terminated in accordance with
Article 5 hereof (the “Initial Term”).




2.2 Renewal Terms. At the end of the Initial Term, the Term of Employment automatically shall renew for successive three (3) year terms (subject to
earlier termination as provided in Article 5 hereof), unless the Company or the Executive delivers written notice to the other at least three months prior to the Expiration Date of
its or his election not to renew the Term of Employment.

2.3 Term of Employment and Expiration Date. The period during which the Executive shall be employed by the Company pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement is sometimes referred to in this Agreement as the “Term of Employment”, and the date on which the Term of Employment shall expire (including the date on
which any renewal term shall expire), is sometimes referred to in this Agreement as the “Expiration Date.”

3. Compensation.

3.1 Base Salary. The Executive shall receive a base salary at the annual rate of $350,000 (the ‘Base Salary”) during the Term of Employment, with such
Base Salary payable in installments consistent with the Company’s normal payroll schedule, subject to applicable withholding and other taxes. The Base Salary shall be adjusted
for annual merit increases of a minimum of 5% and may, by action and in the discretion of the Board, be increased at any time or from time to time, but may not be decreased.

32 Bonuses.

(a) During the Term of Employment, the Executive shall participate in the Company’s annual cash incentive plan, program and/or
arrangements applicable to senior-level executives as established and modified from time to time by the Compensation Committee of the Board, if one exists, otherwise by the
Board in its sole and absolute discretion. During the Term of Employment, the Executive shall have a threshold bonus opportunity under such plan or program equal to 60
percent of his current Base Salary, a target bonus opportunity under such plan or program equal to 100 percent of his current Base Salary, and a maximum bonus under such
plan or program equal to 150 percent of his current Base Salary, in each case based on satisfaction of performance criteria to be established by the Compensation Committee of
the Board, if one exists, otherwise by the Board within three (3) months of the entry into this Agreement and within the first three months of each fiscal year that begins
thereafter during the Term of Employment. Payment of cash incentive awards shall be made in the same manner and at the same time that other senior-level executives receive
their annual cash incentive awards.

(b) The Company agrees that during the Executive’s Term of Employment, should shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001
per share (“Common Stock”) be listed on an exchange registered as a national securities exchange under Section 6 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the ‘Uplisting”), the
Company shall pay the Executive a one-time bonus of $350,000. Any bonus payable in connection with the Uplisting pursuant to this Article 3 shall be paid within thirty (30)
days of the Uplisting. Any such payment will be considered an advance against earned Incentive Compensation.

(c) For the Bonus Period in which the Executive’s employment with the Company terminates for any reason other than by the Company for
Cause under Section 5.1 hereof, the Company shall pay the Executive a pro rata portion (based upon the period ending on the date on which the Executive’s employment with
the Company terminates) of the bonus otherwise payable under Section 3.2(a) hereof for the Bonus Period in which such termination of employment occurs; provided, however,
that: (i) the Bonus Period shall be deemed to end on the last day of the fiscal quarter of the Company in which the Executive’s employment so terminates; and (ii) the business
criteria used to determine the bonus for this short Bonus Period shall be annualized and shall be determined based upon unaudited financial information prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, applied consistently with prior periods, and reviewed and approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board, if one exists,
otherwise by the Board. The compensation for this Bonus Period is sometimes hereinafter referred to as the “Termination Year Bonus.”




(d) The Executive shall receive such additional bonuses, if any, as the Compensation Committee of the Board, if one exists, otherwise as the
Board may in its sole and absolute discretion determine.

(e) Any bonuses payable pursuant to this Section 3.2 are sometimes hereinafter referred to as ‘Incentive Compensation.” Each period for
which Incentive Compensation is payable is sometimes hereinafter referred to as a “Bonus Period.”

® Any Incentive Compensation payable pursuant to this Section 3.2 shall be paid by the Company to the Executive within 75 days after the
end of the Bonus Period for which it is payable.

3.3 Review of Agreement. Base Salary and Incentive Compensation. The Company agrees that this Agreement and the Executive’s Base Salary shall be
reviewed in coordination with any Uplisting or a significant financing in an amount of at least $10,000,000. Further, the Company agrees that the Executive’s Incentive
Compensation shall be reviewed upon the final pricing of any Uplisting, or if an Uplisting does not occur, the Executive’s Incentive Compensation shall be reviewed within
twelve (12) months of the Commencement Date.

4, Expense Reimbursement and Other Benefits.

4 .1 Reimbursement of Expenses. Upon the submission of proper substantiation by the Executive, and subject to such rules and guidelines as the
Company may from time to time adopt with respect to the reimbursement of expenses of executive personnel, the Company shall reimburse the Executive for all reasonable
expenses actually paid or incurred by the Executive during the Term of Employment in the course of and pursuant to the business of the Company. The Executive shall account
to the Company in writing for all expenses for which reimbursement is sought and shall supply to the Company copies of all relevant invoices, receipts or other evidence
reasonably requested by the Company.

4 . 2 Compensation/Benefit Programs. During the Term of Employment, the Executive shall be entitled to participate in all medical, dental,
hospitalization, accidental death and dismemberment, disability, travel and life insurance plans, and any and all other plans as are presently and hereinafter offered by the
Company to its executive personnel, including savings, pension, profit-sharing and deferred compensation plans, subject to the general eligibility and participation provisions set
forth in such plans. In addition, the Company will fund an incremental personal life insurance policy for the Executive at an annual premium cost of no more than $10,000.
Upon termination of this Agreement other than pursuant to Sections 5.1, 5.3, 5.5(b) and 5.6 hereof, the Company agrees to pay off any future annual premiums throughout the
term of the policy.

4.3 Working Facilities. During the Term of Employment, the Company shall furnish the Executive with an office, administrative assistance and such
other facilities and services suitable to his position and adequate for the performance of his duties hereunder. During any period of time where the Company supports or requires
remote working, including during the COVID-19 pandemic of 2020/2021, the Company shall pay reasonable fees and expenses for the cost of a mobile phone, home/laptop
computer, software, office furniture, internet connection and other items that are reasonably required and appropriate for the performance of his duties hereunder.




4.4 Equity Awards. During the Term of Employment, the Executive shall be eligible to be granted equity awards under (and therefore subject to all
terms and conditions of) the Company’s equity incentive plan or such other plans or programs as the Company may from time to time adopt, and subject to all rules of
regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission applicable thereto. The number and type of equity awards, and the terms and conditions thereof, shall be determined by
the Compensation Committee of the Board, if one exists, otherwise by the Board in its discretion and pursuant to the equity incentive plan. These include annual grants of
Common Stock, restricted stock units and stock options.

4.5 Other Benefits. The Executive shall receive such additional benefits, if any, as the Board shall from time to time determine.

4.6 Withholding. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, all payments required to be made by the Company hereunder to the
Executive or his estate or beneficiaries shall be subject to the withholding of such amounts relating to taxes as the Company may reasonably determine it should withhold
pursuant to any applicable law or regulation. In lieu of withholding such amounts, in whole or in part, the Company may, in its sole discretion, accept other provisions for
payment of taxes and withholding as required by law, provided it is satisfied that all requirements of law affecting its responsibilities to withhold have been satisfied.

5. Termination.

5.1 Termination for Cause. The Company shall at all times have the right, upon written notice to the Executive, to terminate the Term of Employment,
for Cause as defined below. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Cause” shall mean:

(a) an action or omission of the Executive which constitutes a willful and material breach of, or willful and material failure or refusal (other
than by reason of his disability or incapacity) to perform his duties under this Agreement which is not cured within 60 days after receipt by the Executive of written notice of
same;

(b) fraud, embezzlement, misappropriation of funds or breach of trust in connection with his services hereunder;
(c) a conviction of, or entry of a plea of guilty ornolo contendere to, a felony (other than a traffic violation); or
(d) gross negligence in connection with the performance of the Executive’s duties hereunder, which is not cured within 60 days after receipt by

the Executive of written notice of same.

Any termination for Cause shall be made by notice in writing to the Executive, which notice shall set forth in reasonable detail all acts or omissions upon
which the Company is relying for such termination, and providing the Executive with an opportunity to cure (if curable) within a reasonable period of time. No termination of
the Executive’s employment for Cause shall be permitted unless the date of termination occurs during the 120-day period immediately following the date that the events or
actions constituting Cause first become known to the Board. Upon any termination pursuant to this Section 5.1, the Company shall:




1) pay to the Executive any unpaid and accrued Base Salary through the date of termination; and

(ii) pay to the Executive his accrued but unpaid Incentive Compensation, if any, for any Bonus Period ending on or before the date of the
termination of Executive’s employment with the Company.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.1, the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).

5.2 Disability. In the event the Executive shall be unable, or fail, to perform the essential functions of his position, with or without reasonable
accommodation, for any period of six months or more in any 12-month period, the Company shall have the option, in accordance with applicable law, to terminate this
Agreement upon written notice to the Executive. Upon termination pursuant to this Section 5.2, the Company shall:

(a) pay to the Executive any unpaid and accrued Base Salary through the effective date of termination specified in such notice;

(b) pay to the Executive his accrued but unpaid Incentive Compensation, if any, for any Bonus Period ending on or before the date of
termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company at the time provided in Section 3.2(f) hereof;

(c) pay to the Executive a severance payment equal to 12 months of the Executive’s Base Salary at the time of the termination of the
Executive’s employment with the Company; and

(d) pay to the Executive his Termination Year Bonus, if any, at the time provided in Section 3.2(f) hereof.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.2, the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof.

5.3 Death. Upon the death of the Executive during the Term of Employment, the Company shall:
(a) pay to the estate of the deceased Executive any unpaid and accrued Base Salary through the Executive’s date of death;

(b) pay to the estate of the deceased Executive his accrued but unpaid Incentive Compensation, if any, for any Bonus Period ending on or
before the Executive’s date of death; and

(c) pay to the estate of the deceased Executive, the Executive’s Termination Year Bonus, if any, at the time provided in Section 3.2(f) hereof.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.3, the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of the Executive’s death, subject, however to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).




5.4 Termination Without Cause. The Company shall have the right to terminate the Term of Employment at any time by written notice to the Executive
not less than 60 days prior to the effective date of such termination. Upon any termination pursuant to this Section 5.4 (that is not a termination under any of Sections 5.1, 5.2,
5.3, 5.5 or 5.6 hereof), the Company shall:

(a) pay to the Executive any unpaid and accrued Base Salary through the termination of this Agreement;

(b) pay to the Executive the accrued but unpaid Incentive Compensation, if any, for any Bonus Period ending on or before the termination of
this Agreement;

(c) pay to the Executive his Termination Year Bonus, of at least one year’s annual salary, at the time provided in Section 3.2(f) hereof;

(d) pay to the Executive as a single lump sum payment, within 30 days of the date of the Termination of the Term of Employment equal to 24

months of the Executive’s Base Salary then in effect;

(e) continue to pay the Executive’s Base Salary for the remaining term of this Agreement or a period of 12 months, whichever is longer,
following the termination of the Term of Employment, in the manner and at such times as the Base Salary otherwise would have been payable to the Executive.

® ensure that any stock awards still vesting would become fully vested; and

(2 pay off the Executives outstanding future life insurance payments referred to in Section 4.2 hereof through the term of any outstanding
policies in one lump sum.

Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the Executive’s right to receive any severance benefits pursuant to this Section 5.4 shall be subject to his
execution and delivery to the Company of a general release of claims in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (with such changes as may be reasonably required to
such form to help ensure its enforceability in light of any changes in applicable law) not more than twenty-one (21) days (forty-five (45) days if required under applicable law)
after the date the Company provides the final form of release to the Executive (and the Executive’s not revoking such release within any revocation period provided under
applicable law). The Company shall provide the final form of release agreement to the Executive not later than seven (7) days following the date of the termination date.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.4, the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).

5.5 Termination by Executive.

(a) The Executive shall at all times have the right, by written notice not less than 60 days prior to the termination date, to terminate the Term of
Employment.

(b) Upon termination of the Term of Employment pursuant to this Section 5.5 (that is not a termination under Section 5.6 hereof) by the
Executive without Good Reason (as defined below), the Company shall:




1) pay to the Executive any unpaid and accrued Base Salary through the effective date of termination of the Term of Employment
specified in such notice; and

(ii) pay to the Executive his accrued but unpaid Incentive Compensation, if any, for any Bonus Period ending on or before the date on
which the Term of Employment terminates.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.5(b), the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).

(c) Upon termination of the Term of Employment pursuant to this Section 5.5 (that is not a termination under Section 5.6 hereof) by the
Executive for Good Reason, the Company shall pay to the Executive the same amounts, and shall continue to provide or compensate for all benefits in the same amounts, that
would have been payable or provided by the Company to the Executive under Section 5.4 of this Agreement if the Term of Employment had been terminated by the Company
without Cause.

Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the Executive’s right to receive any severance benefits pursuant to this Section 5.5(c) shall be subject to his
execution and delivery to the Company of a general release of claims in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (with such changes as may be reasonably required to
such form to help ensure its enforceability in light of any changes in applicable law) not more than twenty-one (21) days (forty-five (45) days if required under applicable law)
after the date the Company provides the final form of release to the Executive (and the Executive’s not revoking such release within any revocation period provided under
applicable law). The Company shall provide the final form of release agreement to the Executive not later than seven (7) days following the date of the termination date.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.5(c), the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).

(d) For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean:

@) the assignment to the Executive of any duties inconsistent in any material respect with the Executive’s position (including status,
offices, titles and reporting requirements), authority, duties or responsibilities as contemplated by Section 1.2 of this Agreement, or any other action by the Company which
results in a diminution in such position, authority, duties or responsibilities, excluding for this purpose an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and
which is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice thereof given by the Executive;

(ii) any material failure by the Company to comply with any of the provisions of Article 3 of this Agreement, other than an isolated,
insubstantial and inadvertent failure not occurring in bad faith and which is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of written notice thereof given by the Executive;

(iii) the Company’s requiring the Executive to be based at any office or location more than 30 miles from the location of the
Company’s office on the Commencement Date, except for travel reasonably required in the performance of the Executive’s responsibilities; and




(iv) any purported termination by the Company of the Executive’s employment otherwise than for Cause pursuant to Section 5.1
hereof, or by reason of the Executive’s disability pursuant to Section 5.2 of this Agreement, prior to the Expiration Date.

5.6 Change in Control of the Company.

(a) In the event that: (i) a Change in Control (as defined in paragraph (b) of this Section 5.6) in the Company shall occur during the Term of
Employment; and (ii) either: (A) prior to the earlier of the Expiration Date and one year after the date of the Change in Control, either: (1) the Term of Employment is
terminated by the Company without Cause, pursuant to Section 5.4 hereof or (2) the Executive terminates the Term of Employment for Good Reason as defined in Section 5.5(d)
hereof, or (B) the Executive terminates the Term of Employment for any reason within 30 days after the Change in Control occurs, the Company shall:

1) pay to the Executive any unpaid Base Salary through the effective date of termination;

(i1) pay to the Executive the Incentive Compensation, if any, not yet paid to the Executive for any year prior to such termination, at such time
as the Incentive Compensation otherwise would have been payable to the Executive;

(iii) pay to the Executive his Termination Year Bonus, if any, at the time provided in Section 3.2 hereof; and

@iv) pay to the Executive as a single lump sum payment, within 30 days of the termination of the Term of Employment, equal to the sum of (x)
ten (10) times the sum of the Executive’s annual Base Salary, Incentive Compensation, and the value of the annual fringe benefits (based upon their cost to the Company)
required to be provided to the Executive under Sections 4.2 and 4.4 hereof, for the fiscal year immediately preceding the year in which the Term of Employment terminates, plus
(y) the value of the portion of his benefits under any savings, pension, profit sharing or deferred compensation plans that are forfeited under those plans by reason of the
termination of his employment hereunder.

Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the Executive’s right to receive any severance benefits pursuant to this Section 5.6 shall be subject to
his execution and delivery to the Company of a general release of claims in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (with such changes as may be reasonably
required to such form to help ensure its enforceability in light of any changes in applicable law) not more than twenty-one (21) days (forty-five (45) days if required under
applicable law) after the date the Company provides the final form of release to the Executive (and the Executive’s not revoking such release within any revocation period
provided under applicable law). The Company shall provide the final form of release agreement to the Executive not later than seven (7) days following the date of the
termination date.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.6(a), the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Change in Control” shall mean:




1) The acquisition by any Person of Beneficial Ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934) of more than 50 percent of either (A) the then outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company (the “Outstanding Company Capital Stock”); or (B)
the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors (the “Outstanding Company Voting
Securities”) (the foregoing Beneficial Ownership hereinafter being referred to as a ‘Controlling Interest”); provided, however, that for purposes of this Section 5.6(b), the
following acquisitions shall not constitute or result in a Change in Control: (1) any acquisition directly from the Company; (2) any acquisition by the Company; (3) any
acquisition by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any subsidiary of the Company; or (4) any acquisition by any
corporation pursuant to a transaction which complies with clauses (A), (B) and (C) of subsection (iii) below; or

(ii) During any period of two consecutive years (not including any period prior to the Commencement Date) individuals who
constitute the Board on the Commencement Date (the “Incumbent Board”) cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board;provided, however, that any
individual becoming a director subsequent to the Commencement Date whose election, or nomination for election by the Company’s shareholders, was approved by a vote of at
least a majority of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board shall be considered as though such individual were a member of the Incumbent Board, but excluding, for
this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of
directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other than the Board; or

(iii) Consummation of a reorganization, merger, statutory share exchange or consolidation or similar corporate transaction involving
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, or the acquisition of assets or stock of another entity by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries (each a “Business Combination”), in each case, unless, following such Business Combination: (A) all or substantially all of the
individuals and entities who were the Beneficial Owners, respectively, of the Outstanding Company Capital Stock and Outstanding Company Voting Securities immediately
prior to such Business Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 50 percent of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock and the combined voting
power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, as the case may be, of the corporation resulting from such Business
Combination (including, without limitation, a corporation which as a result of such transaction owns the Company or all or substantially all of the Company’s assets either
directly or through one or more subsidiaries) in substantially the same proportions as their ownership, immediately prior to such Business Combination of the Outstanding
Company Capital Stock and Outstanding Company Voting Securities, as the case may be; (B) any Person that as of the Commencement Date owns Beneficial Ownership of a
Controlling Interest beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, more than 50 percent of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock of the corporation resulting from such
Business Combination or the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of such corporation except to the extent that such ownership existed prior to the
Business Combination; and (C) at least a majority of the members of the Board of Directors of the corporation resulting from such Business Combination were members of the
Incumbent Board at the time of the execution of this initial Agreement, or of the action of the Board, providing for such Business Combination; or

@iv) approval by the shareholders of the Company of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

(c) For purposes of Section 5.6(b) hereof, the term ‘Person” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, and shall include a “group” as defined in Section 13(d) thereof.




5.7 Resignation. Upon any termination of employment pursuant to this Article 5, the Executive shall be deemed to have resigned as an officer of the
Company and its subsidiaries, and if he was then serving as a director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, be deemed to resign as a director of the Company and its
subsidiaries, and if required by the Board, the Executive shall upon such termination execute a resignation letter to the applicable board of directors.

5.8 Survival. The provisions of this Article 5 shall survive the termination of the Term of Employment or expiration of the term of this Agreement.
6. Restrictive Covenants.
6.1 Confidential Information.
(a) Executive hereby understands and acknowledges that because of Executive’s experience with and relationship to the Company, in the

course of his Term of Employment he will acquire knowledge and will have access to and learn about confidential, secret and proprietary documents, materials, data, and other
information, in tangible and intangible form, of and relating to the Company and its businesses (“Confidential Information”). Executive further understands and acknowledges
that this Confidential Information and the Company’s ability to reserve it for the exclusive knowledge and use of the Company is of great competitive importance and
commercial value to the Company, and that improper use or disclosure of the Confidential Information by the Executive might cause the Company to incur financial costs, loss
of business advantage, liability under confidentiality agreements with third parties, civil damages and criminal penalties.

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, Confidential Information includes, but is not limited to, all information not generally known to the public,
in spoken, printed, electronic or any other form or medium, relating directly or indirectly to: business processes, practices, methods, policies, plans, publications, documents,
research, operations, services, strategies, techniques, agreements, contracts, terms of agreements, transactions, potential transactions, negotiations, pending negotiations, know-
how, trade secrets, computer programs, computer software, source codes, object codes, applications, operating systems, software design, web design, databases, device
configurations, embedded data, compilations, metadata, technologies, manuals, records, articles, systems, content, sources of content, vendor information, financial information,
results, accounting information, accounting records, legal information, marketing information, advertising information, pricing information, credit information, payroll
information, personnel information, employee lists, content provider lists, vendor lists, developments, reports, internal controls, security procedures, graphics, drawings,
sketches, market studies, sales information, revenue, costs, notes, communications, algorithms, product plans, service plans, ideas, audiovisual programs, inventions,
unpublished patent applications, original works of authorship, discoveries, experimental processes, experimental results, specifications, distributor lists, customer information,
customer lists, client information and client lists of the Company or its businesses or any existing or prospective customer, content provider, investor or other associated third
party, or of any other person or entity that has entrusted information to the Company in confidence.

(c) The Executive understands and acknowledges that the above list is not exhaustive, and that Confidential Information also includes other
information that is marked or otherwise identified as confidential or proprietary, or that would otherwise appear to a reasonable person to be confidential or proprietary in the
context and circumstances in which the information is known or used.

(d) The Executive understands and acknowledges that Confidential Information developed by him in the course of his employment by the
Company shall be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement as if the Company furnished the same Confidential Information to the Executive in the first instance.
Confidential Information shall not include information that is generally available to and known by the public at the time of disclosure to the Executive, provided that such
disclosure is through no direct or indirect fault of the Executive or person(s) acting on the Executive’s behalf.
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(e) For purposes of this Agreement, all information regarding specific prospective and existing customers and clients of the Company and
other individuals and businesses with whom the Company does business is collectively referred to as “Customer/Client Information” and includes, but is not limited to,
names, phone numbers, addresses, email addresses, order history, order preferences, chain of command, pricing information, and other information identifying facts and
circumstances specific to the customer/client and relevant to sales/services. All books, records, accounts and information relating in any manner to the Customer/Client
Information, whether prepared by the Executive or otherwise coming into the Executive’s possession, shall be the exclusive property of the Company and shall be returned
immediately to the Company on termination of the Executive’s employment hereunder or on the Company’s request at any time.

6.2 Disclosure and Use Restrictions.
(a) Executive covenants and agrees to treat all Confidential Information as strictly confidential, and:
(ii) not to directly or indirectly disclose, publish, communicate, or make available Confidential Information, or allow it to be

disclosed, published, communicated or made available, in whole or part, to any entity or person whatsoever (including other employees of the Company) not having a need to
know and authority to know and to use the Confidential Information in connection with the business of the Company and, in any event, not to anyone outside of the direct
employ of the Company except as required in the performance of any of the Executive’s authorized employment duties to the Company; and

(iii) not to access or use any Confidential Information, and not to copy any documents, records, files, media, or other resources
containing any Confidential Information, or remove any such documents, records, files, media, or other resources from the premises or control of the Company, except as
required in the performance of any of the Executive’s authorized employment duties to the Company. The Executive understands and acknowledges that the Executive’s
obligations under this Agreement regarding any particular Confidential Information begin immediately and shall continue during and after the Executive’s employment by the
Company until the Confidential Information has become public knowledge other than as a result of the Executive’s breach of this Agreement or a breach by those acting in
concert with the Executive or on the Executive’s behalf.

(b) Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to prevent disclosure of Confidential Information as may be required by applicable law or
regulation, or pursuant to the valid order of a court of competent jurisdiction or an authorized government agency, provided that the disclosure does not exceed the extent of
disclosure required by such law, regulation, or order. The Executive shall promptly provide written notice of any such order to an authorized officer of the Company.

(c) Nothing in this Agreement prohibits or restricts the Executive (or the Executive’s attorney) from initiating communications directly with,

responding to an inquiry from, or providing testimony before the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA), any other
self-regulatory organization, or any other federal or state regulatory authority regarding a possible securities law violation.
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6.3 Duration of Confidentiality Obligations. The Executive understands and acknowledges that his obligations under this Agreement with regard to any
particular Confidential Information shall commence immediately upon the Executive first having access to such Confidential Information (whether before or after he begins
employment by the Company) and shall continue during and after his employment by the Company until such time as such Confidential Information has become public
knowledge other than as a result of the Executive’s breach of this Agreement or breach by those acting in concert with the Executive or on the Executive’s behalf.

6.4 Non-solicitation of Customers/Clients and Employees. Executive specifically understands and acknowledges that he will have access to Confidential
Information, including, specifically, without limitation, Customer/Client Information and trade secrets. Executive covenants and agrees that during the Restricted Period, except
as otherwise approved in writing by the Company, Executive shall not, either directly or indirectly, for himself, or through, on behalf of, or in conjunction with any person,
persons, partnership, association, corporation, or entity:

(a) Use any Confidential Information, including, specifically, any Customer/Client Information and/or trade secrets to directly or indirectly
solicit the customers/clients of the Company, or use to disrupt, disturb, or interfere with the relationships of the Company with its customers/clients; or

(b) Disrupt, disturb or interfere with the business of the Company by directly or indirectly soliciting, recruiting, attempting to recruit, or
raiding the employees of the Company, or otherwise inducing the termination of employment of any employee of the Company. Executive also agrees and covenants not to use
any Confidential Information to directly or indirectly solicit the employees of the Company.

6.5 Definition of Company. Solely for purposes of this Article 6, the term “Company” also shall include any existing or future subsidiaries of the
Company that are operating during the time periods described herein and any other entities that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, control, are controlled
by or are under common control with the Company during the periods described herein.

6.6 Acknowledgment by Executive. The Executive acknowledges and confirms that the restrictive covenants contained in this Article 6 (including
without limitation the length of the term of the Restricted Period) are reasonably necessary to protect the legitimate business interests of the Company, and are not overbroad,
overlong, or unfair and are not the result of overreaching, duress or coercion of any kind. The Executive further acknowledges and confirms that the compensation payable to the
Executive under this Agreement is in consideration for the duties and obligations of the Executive hereunder, including the restrictive covenants contained in this Article 6, and
that such compensation is sufficient, fair and reasonable. The Executive further acknowledges and confirms that his full, uninhibited and faithful observance of each of the
covenants contained in this Article 6 will not cause him any undue hardship, financial or otherwise, and that enforcement of each of the covenants contained herein will not
impair his ability to obtain employment commensurate with his abilities and on terms fully acceptable to him or otherwise to obtain income required for the comfortable support
of him and his family and the satisfaction of the needs of his creditors. The Executive acknowledges and confirms that the Confidential Information is such as would cause the
Company serious injury or loss if he were to use such Confidential Information to the benefit of a competitor or were to compete with the Company in violation of the terms of
this Article 6. The Executive further acknowledges that the restrictive covenants contained in this Article 6 are intended to be, and shall be, for the benefit of and shall be
enforceable by, the Company’s successors and assigns. The Executive expressly agrees that upon any breach or violation of the provisions of this Article 6, the Company shall
be entitled, as a matter of right, in addition to any other rights or remedies it may have, to: (a) temporary and/or permanent injunctive relief in any court of competent jurisdiction
as described in Section 6.9 hereof; and (b) such damages as are provided at law or in equity. The existence of any claim or cause of action against the Company or its affiliates,
whether predicated upon this Agreement or otherwise, shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement of the restrictions contained in this Article 6.
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6.7 Restricted Period. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Restricted Period” shall mean, and be the same length as, the Term of Employment;
provided, however, if the Term of Employment is terminated by: (i) the Company for Cause (as defined in Section 5.1 hereof); or (ii) the Executive for other than Good Reason
(as defined in Section 5.5(d) hereof), then the Restricted Period shall also include the 12-month period immediately following the termination of the Term of Employment.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Restricted Period shall end in the event that the Company fails to make any payments or provide any benefits required by Article 5 hereof
with 15 days of written notice from the Executive of such failure.

6.8 Reformation by Court. In the event that a court of competent jurisdiction shall determine that any provision of this Article 6 is invalid or more
restrictive than permitted under the governing law of such jurisdiction, then only as to enforcement of this Article 6 within the jurisdiction of such court, such provision shall be
interpreted or reformed and enforced as if it provided for the maximum restriction permitted under such governing law.

6.9 Extension of Time. If the Executive shall be in violation of any provision of this Article 6, then each time limitation set forth in this Article 6 shall
be extended for a period of time equal to the period of time during which such violation or violations occur. If the Company seeks injunctive relief from such violation in any
court, then the covenants set forth in this Article 6 shall be extended for a period of time equal to the pendency of such proceeding including all appeals by the Executive.

6.10 Injunction. It is recognized and hereby acknowledged by the parties hereto that a breach by the Executive of any of the covenants contained in
Article 6 of this Agreement will cause irreparable harm and damage to the Company, the monetary amount of which may be virtually impossible to ascertain. As a result, the
Executive recognizes and hereby acknowledges that the Company shall be entitled to an injunction from any court of competent jurisdiction enjoining and restraining any
violation of any or all of the covenants contained in Article 6 of this Agreement by the Executive or any of his affiliates, associates, partners or agents, either directly or
indirectly, and that such right to injunction shall be cumulative and in addition to whatever other remedies the Company may possess.

6.11 Noncompetition. Except as may otherwise be approved by the Board, duringthe Restricted Period, the Executive shall not have any ownership
interest (of record or beneficial) in, or have any interest as an executive, salesman, consultant, officer or director in, or otherwise aid or assist in any manner, any firm,
corporation, partnership, proprietorship or other business that engages in any county, city or part thereof in the United States and/or any foreign country in a business which
competes directly or indirectly (as determined by the Board) with the business of the Company in such county, city or part thereof, so long as the Company or any successors in
interest to the business and goodwill of the Company, remains engaged in such business in such county, city or part thereof or continues to solicit customers or potential
customers therein; provided, however, that Executive may own, directly or indirectly, solely as an investment, securities of any entity if Executive (x) is not a controlling person
of, or a member of a group which controls, such entity; or (y) does not, directly or indirectly, own five percent (5%) or more of any class of securities of any such entity.

6.12 Survival. The provisions of this Article 6 shall survive termination of this Agreement and the Term of Employment in accordance with the terms
herein.
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Section 409A of the Code.

(@

(b)

©

(d

(©

The provisions of this Agreement are intended to comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and any final
regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder (“Section 409A”) and shall be construed in a manner consistent with the requirements for avoiding taxes
or penalties under Section 409A. The Company and Executive agree to work together in good faith to consider amendments to this Agreement and to take
such reasonable actions which are necessary, appropriate or desirable to avoid imposition of any additional tax or income recognition prior to actual
payment to Executive under Section 409A.

To the extent that Executive will be reimbursed for costs and expenses or in-kind benefits, except as otherwise permitted by Section 409A, (a) the right to
reimbursement or in-kind benefits is not subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit, (b) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-
kind benefits, provided during any taxable year shall not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided, in any other
taxable year; provided that the foregoing clause (b) shall not be violated with regard to expenses reimbursed under any arrangement covered by
Section 105(b) of the Code solely because such expenses are subject to a limit related to the period the arrangement is in effect and (c) such payments shall
be made on or before the last day of the taxable year following the taxable year in which the expense was incurred.

A termination of employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of any provision of this Agreement providing for the payment of any
amounts or benefits upon or following a termination of employment unless such termination constitutes a “separation from service” within the meaning of
Section 409A and, for purposes of any such provision of this Agreement references to a “termination,” “termination of employment” or like terms shall
have such meaning.

Each installment payable hereunder shall constitute a separate payment for purposes of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b), including Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b)(2)(iii). Each payment that is made within the terms of the “short-term deferral” rule set forth in Treasury Regulation
Section 1.409A-1(b)(4) is intended to meet the “short-term deferral” rule. Each other payment is intended to be a payment upon an involuntary termination
from service and payable pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii), et. seq., to the maximum extent permitted by that regulation, with
any amount that is not exempt from Code Section 409A being subject to Code Section 409A.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if the Executive is a “specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409A at the time of
Executive’s termination, then only that portion of the severance and benefits payable to Executive pursuant to this Agreement, if any, and any other
severance payments or separation benefits which may be considered “deferred compensation” under Section 409A (together, the “Deferred Compensation
Separation Benefits”), which (when considered together) do not exceed the Section 409A Limit (as defined herein) may be made within the first six (6)
months following Executive’s termination of employment in accordance with the payment schedule applicable to each payment or benefit. Any portion of
the Deferred Compensation Separation Benefits in excess of the Section 409A Limit otherwise due to Executive on or within the six (6) month period
following Executive’s termination will accrue during such six (6) month period and will become payable in one lump sum cash payment on the date six (6)
months and one (1) day following the date of Executive’s termination of employment. All subsequent Deferred Compensation Separation Benefits, if any,
will be payable in accordance with the payment schedule applicable to each payment or benefit. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if
Executive dies following termination but prior to the six (6) month anniversary of Executive’s termination date, then any payments delayed in accordance
with this paragraph will be payable in a lump sum as soon as administratively practicable after the date of Executive’s death and all other Deferred
Compensation Separation Benefits will be payable in accordance with the payment schedule applicable to each payment or benefit.
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For purposes of this Agreement, “Section 409A Limit” will mean a sum equal (x) to the amounts payable prior to March 15 following the year in which
Executive is terminated plus (y) the lesser of two (2) times: (i) Executive’s annualized compensation based upon the annual rate of pay paid to Executive
during the Company’s taxable year preceding the Company’s taxable year of Executive’s termination of employment as determined under Section 409A
and any IRS guidance issued with respect thereto; or (ii) the maximum amount that may be taken into account under a qualified plan pursuant to
Section 401(a)(17) of the Code for the year in which Executive’s employment is terminated.

If any payment provided to Executive pursuant to this Agreement is subject to adverse tax consequences under Code Section 409A, then Company shall
make such additional payments to Executive (“409A Gross Up Payments”) as are necessary to provide Executive with enough funds to pay the additional
taxes, interest, and penalties imposed by Code Section 409A (collectively, the “409A Tax”), as well as any additional taxes, including but not limited to
additional 409A Tax, attributable to or resulting from the payment of the 409A Gross Up Payments, with the end result that Executive shall be in the same
position with respect to his tax liability as he would have been in if no 409A Tax had ever been imposed; provided, however, that the Company’s
obligation to make payments under this Section 7 shall be limited to an amount equal to three times the 409A Tax (not including for this purpose 409A Tax
attributable to the payment of any portion of the 409A Gross Up Payment). The Company shall make any payments required by this paragraph no later than
the last day of Executive’s taxable year next following the Executive’s taxable year in which the 409A Tax is remitted to the taxing authority.

Section 280G of the Code: Limitation on Payments.

@

The provisions of this Agreement are intended to comply with Section 280G of the Code and any final regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder
(“Section 280G”) and shall be construed in a manner consistent with the requirements for avoiding taxes or penalties under Section 280G. The Company
and Executive agree to work together in good faith to consider amendments to this Agreement and to take such reasonable actions which are necessary,
appropriate or desirable to comply with Section 280G.




(b)

©

(d

©

If any payment or benefit Executive will or may receive from the Company or otherwise (a “280G Payment”) would (i) constitute a “parachute payment”
within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, and (ii) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the
“Excise Tax”), then any such 280G Payment pursuant to this Agreement (a “Payment”) shall be equal to the Reduced Amount. The “Reduced Amount”
shall be either (x) the largest portion of the Payment that would result in no portion of the Payment (after reduction) being subject to the Excise Tax, or
(y) the largest portion, up to and including the total, of the Payment, whichever amount (i.e., the amount determined by clause (x) or by clause (y)), after
taking into account all applicable federal, state and local employment taxes, income taxes, and the Excise Tax (all computed at the highest applicable
marginal rate), results in Executive’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, of the greater economic benefit notwithstanding that all or some portion of the Payment
may be subject to the Excise Tax. If a reduction in a Payment is required pursuant to the preceding sentence and the Reduced Amount is determined
pursuant to clause (x) of the preceding sentence, the reduction shall occur in the manner (the “Reduction Method”) that results in the greatest economic
benefit for Executive. If more than one method of reduction will result in the same economic benefit, the items so reduced will be reduced pro rata (the
“Pro Rata Reduction Method”).

Notwithstanding any provision of paragraph (a) to the contrary, if the Reduction Method or the Pro Rata Reduction Method would result in any portion of
the Payment being subject to taxes pursuant to Section 409A of the Code that would not otherwise be subject to taxes pursuant to Section 409A of the
Code, then the Reduction Method and/or the Pro Rata Reduction Method, as the case may be, shall be modified so as to avoid the imposition of taxes
pursuant to Section 409A of the Code as follows: (A) as a first priority, the modification shall preserve to the greatest extent possible, the greatest
economic benefit for Executive as determined on an after-tax basis; (B) as a second priority, Payments that are contingent on future events (e.g., being
terminated without cause), shall be reduced (or eliminated) before Payments that are not contingent on future events; and (C) as a third priority, Payments
that are “deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code shall be reduced (or eliminated) before Payments that are not deferred
compensation within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code.

Unless Executive and the Company agree on an alternative accounting firm or law firm, the accounting firm engaged by the Company for general tax
compliance purposes as of the day prior to the effective date of the Change in Control shall perform the foregoing calculations. If the accounting firm so
engaged by the Company is serving as accountant or auditor for the individual, entity or group effecting the Change in Control, the Company shall appoint
a nationally recognized accounting or law firm to make the determinations required hereunder. The Company shall bear all expenses with respect to the
determinations by such accounting or law firm required to be made hereunder. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the
accounting or law firm engaged to make the determinations hereunder to provide its calculations, together with detailed supporting documentation, to
Executive and the Company within fifteen (15) calendar days after the date on which Executive’s right to a 280G Payment becomes reasonably likely to
occur (if requested at that time by Executive or the Company) or such other time as requested by Executive or the Company.

If Executive receives a Payment for which the Reduced Amount was determined pursuant to clause (x) of Section 8(b) and the Internal Revenue Service
determines thereafter that some portion of the Payment is subject to the Excise Tax, Executive shall promptly return to the Company a sufficient amount of
the Payment (after reduction pursuant to clause (x) of Section 8(b)) so that no portion of the remaining Payment is subject to the Excise Tax. For the
avoidance of doubt, if the Reduced Amount was determined pursuant to clause (y) Section 8(b), Executive shall have no obligation to return any portion of
the Payment pursuant to the preceding sentence.




9. Assignment. The Company shall have the right to assign this Agreement and its rights and obligations hereunder in whole, but not in part, to any corporation
or other entity with or into which the Company may hereafter merge or consolidate or to which the Company may transfer all or substantially all of its assets, if in any such case
said corporation or other entity shall by operation of law or expressly in writing assume all obligations of the Company hereunder as fully as if it had been originally made a
party hereto, but may not otherwise assign this Agreement or its rights and obligations hereunder. The Executive may not assign or transfer this Agreement or any rights or
obligations hereunder.

10. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the State of California, without
regard to principles of conflict of laws.

1. Jurisdiction and Venue. The parties acknowledge that a substantial portion of the negotiations, anticipated performance and execution of this Agreement
occurred or shall occur in Los Angeles County, California, and that, therefore, without limiting the jurisdiction or venue of any other federal or state courts, each of the parties
irrevocably and unconditionally: (a) agrees that any suit, action or legal proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement which is expressly permitted by the terms of this
Agreement to be brought in a court of law, shall be brought in the courts of record of the State of California in Los Angeles County or the court of the United States, Central
District of California; (b) consents to the jurisdiction of each such court in any such suit, action or proceeding; (c) waives any objection which it or he may have to the laying of
venue of any such suit, action or proceeding in any of such courts; and (d) agrees that service of any court papers may be effected on such party by mail, as provided in this
Agreement, or in such other manner as may be provided under applicable laws or court rules in such courts.

12. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and, upon its
effectiveness, shall supersede all prior agreements, understandings and arrangements, both oral and written, between the Executive and the Company (or any of its affiliates)
with respect to such subject matter. This Agreement may not be modified in any way unless by a written instrument signed by both the Company and the Executive.

13. Notices. All notices required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered by courier, sent by registered or
certified mail, return receipt requested or sent by confirmed electronic transmission addressed as set forth herein. Notices personally delivered, sent by facsimile or e-mail or
sent by overnight courier shall be deemed given on the date of delivery and notices mailed in accordance with the foregoing shall be deemed given upon the earlier of receipt by
the addressee, as evidenced by the return receipt thereof, or three days after deposit in the U.S. mail. Notice shall be sent: (a) if to the Company, addressed to 700 N. Central
Ave., Suite 430, Glendale, California 91203, Attention: Chairman of the Board and Chief Legal Officer; and (b) if to the Executive, to his address as reflected on the payroll
records of the Company, or to such other address as either party shall request by notice to the other in accordance with this provision.

14. Benefits; Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be for the benefit of and binding upon the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives,
legal representatives, successors and, where permitted and applicable, assigns, including, without limitation, any successor to the Company, whether by merger, consolidation,
sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise.




15. Right to Consult with Counsel; No Drafting Party. The Executive acknowledges having read and considered all of the provisions of this Agreement
carefully, and having had the opportunity to consult with counsel of his own choosing, and, given this, the Executive agrees that the obligations created hereby are not
unreasonable. The Executive acknowledges that he has had an opportunity to negotiate any and all of these provisions and no rule of construction shall be used that would
interpret any provision in favor of or against a party on the basis of who drafted the Agreement.

16. Severability. The invalidity of any one or more of the words, phrases, sentences, clauses, provisions, sections or articles contained in this Agreement shall
not affect the enforceability of the remaining portions of this Agreement or any part thereof, all of which are inserted conditionally on their being valid in law, and, in the event
that any one or more of the words, phrases, sentences, clauses, provisions, sections or articles contained in this Agreement shall be declared invalid, this Agreement shall be
construed as if such invalid word or words, phrase or phrases, sentence or sentences, clause or clauses, provisions or provisions, section or sections or article or articles had not
been inserted. If such invalidity is caused by length of time or size of area, or both, the otherwise invalid provision will be considered to be reduced to a period or area which
would cure such invalidity.

17. Waivers. The waiver by either party hereto of a breach or violation of any term or provision of this Agreement shall not operate nor be construed as a waiver
of any subsequent breach or violation.

18. Damages: Attorneys Fees. Nothing contained herein shall be construed to prevent the Company or the Executive from seeking and recovering from the
other damages sustained by either or both of them as a result of its or his breach of any term or provision of this Agreement. In the event that either party hereto seeks to collect
any damages resulting from, or the injunction of any action constituting, a breach of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement, then the party found to be at fault shall
pay all reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees of the other.

19. Section Headings. The section and paragraph headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the
meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

20. Rules of Interpretation. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, the following rules shall apply to this Agreement: (a) words in the
singular include the plural and words in the plural include the singular; (b) words importing the use of any gender shall include all genders where the context or the party
referred to so requires, and the rest of the sentence shall be construed as if the necessary grammatical and terminological changes had been made; (c) the word “or” is not
exclusive and “include” and “including” are not limiting; (d) a reference to any agreement or other contract includes any permitted supplements and amendments; (e) a
reference to a section or paragraph in this Agreement shall, unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary, refer to all sub-parts or sub-components of any said section or
paragraph; and (f) words such as “hereunder”, “hereto”, “hereof”, and “herein”, and other words of like import shall, unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary, refer to
the whole of this Agreement and not to any particular clause hereof

21. No Third Party Beneficiary. Nothing expressed or implied in this Agreement is intended, or shall be construed, to confer upon or give any person other

than the Company, the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, legal representatives, successors and permitted assigns, any rights or remedies under or
by reason of this Agreement.
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22 . No Set-off or Mitigation. The Company’s obligation to make the payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its obligations
hereunder shall not be affected by any compensation earned by the Executive as a result of his employment by another employer or otherwise, or any set-off, counterclaim,
recoupment, defense or other claim, right or action which the Company may have against the Executive or others. In no event shall the Executive be obligated to seek other
employment or take any other action by way of mitigation of the amounts payable to the Executive under any of the provisions of this Agreement.

23. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which taken together shall
constitute one and the same instrument. A signed copy of this Agreement (including any digital or electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000,
e.g., www.docusign.com) delivered by electronic mail or other means of electronic transmission of a .pdf or similar file shall be deemed to have the same legal effect as
delivery of an original signed copy of this Agreement.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Employment Agreement as of the date first above written.
COMPANY:
Loop Media, Inc.

By: /s/ Bruce Cassidy

Name: Bruce A. Cassidy, Sr.
Title: Member, Board of Directors
Date: 3/9/2021

EXECUTIVE:

/s/ Jon Niermann

Jon Niermann
Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT A
FORM OF AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE

THIS AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE (the “Agreement and General Release”) is entered into on [*], 20[¢], by and between Loop Media, Inc. (the
“Company”) and Jon Niermann (the “Executive”).

WHEREAS, Executive has been employed by the Company and the parties wish to resolve all outstanding claims and disputes between them relating to such
employment;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement and General Release, the sufficiency of which the
parties acknowledge, it is agreed as follows:

1. General Release of Claims. In consideration for the Executive’s promises, covenants and agreements in this Agreement and General Release, the Company agrees to
make the payments provided under Section 5 of the employment agreement entered into by the Company and the Executive on [DATE], 2021 (the “Employment Agreement”),
in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions of such Employment Agreement.

In exchange for the payments described in Section 5 of the Employment Agreement, to which the Executive would not otherwise be entitled, the Executive (for himself and his
heirs, executors, administrators, beneficiaries, personal representatives and assigns) hereby completely, forever, irrevocably and unconditionally release and discharge, to the
maximum extent permitted by law, the Company, the Company’s past, present and future parent organizations, subsidiaries and other affiliated entities, related companies and
divisions and each of their respective past, present and future officers, directors, employees, shareholders, trustees, members, partners, attorneys and agents (in each case,
individually and in their official capacities) and each of their respective employee benefit plans (and such plans’ fiduciaries, agents, administrators and insurers, individually
and in their official capacities), as well as any predecessors, future successors or assigns or estates of any of the foregoing (the “Released Parties”) from any and all claims,
actions, charges, controversies, causes of action, suits, rights, demands, liabilities, obligations, damages, costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, damages and obligations of any kind or
character whatsoever, that the Executive ever had, now has or may in the future claims to have by reason of any act, conduct, omission, transaction, agreement, occurrence or
any other matter whatsoever occurring up to and including the date that the Executive signs this Agreement. This general release of claims includes, without limitation, any and
all claims:

e  of discrimination, harassment, retaliation, or wrongful termination;

e forbreach of contract, whether oral, written, express or implied; breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing, both express and implied; promissory estoppel;
negligent or intentional infliction of emotional distress; fraud; negligent or intentional misrepresentation; negligent or intentional interference with contract or prospective
economic advantage; unfair business practices; defamation; libel or slander; negligence; assault; battery; invasion of privacy; personal injury; compensatory or punitive
damages, or any other claim for damages or injury of any kind whatsoever;

e forviolation or alleged violation of any federal, state or municipal statute, rule, regulation or ordinance, including, but not limited to, the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act of 1967, the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act of 1990, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Acts of 1991, the Americans with
Disabilities Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Equal Pay Act, the Lilly Ledbetter Fair Pay Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining
Notification Act, the Family & Medical Leave Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the federal False Claims Act, the Family First Coronavirus Response Act, the New
York State Human Rights Law, the New York City Human Rights Law, the New York Civil Rights Law, the New York Labor Law, New York paid family leave law, the
New York False Claims Act, any New York wage and hour laws, the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, the Unruh Civil Rights Act, the California False
Claims Act, the California Family Rights Act, the California New Parent Leave Act, the California Labor Code, any California Industrial Welfare Commission Wage
Order, any California wage and hour law, in each case, as such laws have been or may be amended,

21




e for employee benefits, including, without limitation, any and all claims under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (excluding COBRA);

to any non-vested ownership interest in the Company, contractual or otherwise, including, but not limited to, claims to stock or stock options or incentive units;

e arising out of or relating to any promise, agreement, offer letter, contract (whether oral, written, express or implied), understanding, personnel policy or practice, or
employee handbook;

e relating to or arising from the Executive’s employment with the Company, the terms and conditions of that employment, and the termination of that employment,
including, without limitation any and all claims for discrimination, harassment, retaliation or wrongful discharge under any common law theory, public policy or any
federal state or local statute or ordinance not expressly listed above; and

e any and all claims for monetary recovery, including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees, experts’ fees, costs and disbursements.

The Executive expressly acknowledges that this general release of claims includes any and all claims arising up to and including the date the Executive signs and returns this
Agreement and General Release which the Executive has or may have against the Released Parties, whether such claims are known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected,
asserted or un-asserted, disclosed or undisclosed. By signing this Agreement and General Release, the Executive expressly waives any right to assert that any such claim,
demand, obligation or cause of action has, through ignorance or oversight, been omitted from the scope of this release and further waives any rights under statute or common
law principles that otherwise prohibit the release of unknown claims. The Executive expressly acknowledges that the Executive does not as of the date of execution of this
Agreement and General Release have any known or suspected claim(s) against any of the Released Parties the factual foundation for which involve(s) unlawful
discrimination or harassment.

Further Release By the Executive Of the Released Parties The Executive expressly acknowledges that, in further consideration of the severance payment and opportunity to
receive such payment set forth in the Employment Contract, the Executive waives all rights afforded by Section 1542 of the Civil Code of the State of California (“Section
1542”), or any other law or statute of similar effect in any jurisdiction with respect to the released Claims, with respect to the Released Parties. Section 1542 states: “A
GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS THAT THE CREDITOR OR RELEASING PARTY DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR
HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, THAT IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER WOULD HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER
SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR.” Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 1542 and for the purpose of implementing a full and complete release of all Claims, the
Executive expressly acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement and General Release releases all Claims existing or arising prior to the Executive’s execution of this
Agreement and General Release which the Executive has or suspects he may have against the Released Parties whether such claims are known or unknown and suspected or
unsuspected by him and the Executive forever waives all inquiries and investigations into any and all such claims. The Executive understands and acknowledges that the
significance and consequence of this waiver of Civil Code §1542, is that even if the Executive should suffer additional injuries or damages arising out of the released Claims,
the Executive will not be permitted to make any claim for those injuries or damages.
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This general release of claims does not apply to. waive or affect any rights or claims that may arise after the date the Executive signs and returns this Agreement and General
Release; any claim for workers” compensation benefits (but it does apply to, waive and affect claims of discrimination and/or retaliation on the basis of having made a workers’
compensation claim); claims for unemployment benefits or any other claims or rights that by law cannot be waived in a private agreement between an employer and employee;
or the Executive’s rights to any vested benefits to which the Executive is entitled under the terms of the applicable employee benefit plan (the “Excluded Claims”). This general
release of claims also does not apply to, waive, affect, limit or interfere with the Executive’s preserved rights described in section 9 below.

2. Waiver of Claims under ADEA: Time to Consider/Revoke. The Executive acknowledges, understands and agrees that the general release of claims insection 1 above
includes, but is not limited to, a waiver and release of all claims that the Executive may have under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended
(the “ADEA”) arising up to and including the date that the Executive signs and returns this Agreement and General Release. As required by the Older Workers Benefit
Protection Act of 1990, the Executive is hereby advised that:

e the Executive is not waiving any rights or claims under the ADEA that may arise after the date the Executive signs this Agreement and General Release; and nothing in this
Agreement and General Release prevents or precludes the Executive from challenging (or seeking a determination of) the validity of the waiver under the ADEA.

The Executive acknowledges that (i) he has been given at least twenty-one (21) calendar days (forty-five (45) days if required under applicable law) to consider this Agreement
and General Release and that modifications hereof which are mutually agreed upon by the parties hereto, whether material or immaterial, do not restart the twenty-one day
period; (ii) he has seven (7) calendar days from the date he executes this Agreement and General Release in which to revoke it; and (iii) this Agreement and General Release
will not be effective or enforceable nor the amounts set forth in Section 1 paid unless the seven-day revocation period ends without revocation by the Executive. Revocation can
be made by delivery and receipt of a written notice of revocation to [INSERT NAME/TITLE AND ADDRESS], by midnight on or before the seventh calendar day after the
Executive signs the Agreement and General Release.

The Executive acknowledges that he has been advised to consult with an attorney of his choice with regard to this Agreement and General Release. The Executive hereby
acknowledges that he understands the significance of this Agreement and General Release, and represents that the terms of this Agreement and General Release are fully
understood and voluntarily accepted by him.

3. No Pending Claims. The Executive represents and warrants that he has no charges, lawsuits, or actions pending in his name against any of the Released Parties relating
to any claim that has been released in this Agreement and General Release. The Executive also represents and warrants that he has not assigned or transferred to any third party
any right or claim against any of the Released Parties that he has released in this Agreement and General Release.

4. Covenant not to Sue. Except as provided in section 9 below, the Executive covenants and agrees that he will not report, institute or file a charge, lawsuit or action (or

encourage, solicit, or voluntarily assist or participate in, the reporting, instituting, filing or prosecution of a charge, lawsuit or action by a third party) against any of the Released
Parties with respect to any claim that has been released in this Agreement and General Release.

23




5. Cooperation with Investigations/Litigation. The Executive agrees, at the Company’s request, to reasonably cooperate, by providing truthful information, documents
and testimony, in any Company investigation, litigation, arbitration, or regulatory proceeding regarding events that occurred during his employment with the Company. The
Executive’s requested cooperation may include, for example, making himself reasonably available to consult with the Company’s counsel, providing truthful information and
documents, and to appear to give truthful testimony. The Company will, to the extent permitted by applicable law and court rules, reimburse the Executive for reasonable out-
of-pocket expenses that he incurs in providing any requested cooperation, so long as he provides advance written notice to the Company of such request for reimbursement and

provide satisfactory documentation of the expenses. Nothing in this section is intended to. and shall not. preclude or limit the Executive’s preserved rights described in section 9
below.

6 . Confidentiality of this Agreement and General Release; Non-Disparagement. The Executive agrees that he will not disclose to others the existence or terms of this
Agreement and General Release, except to his immediate family, attorneys and bona fide financial advisors and then only after securing the agreement of such individual(s) to
maintain the confidentiality of this Agreement and General Release. The Executive also agrees that he will not at any time make any disparaging or derogatory statements
concerning the Company or its business, products and services. However, nothing in this section is intended to, and shall not, restrict or limit the Executive from exercising his
preserved rights described in section 9 or restrict or limit him from providing truthful information in response to a subpoena, other legal process or valid governmental inquiry.
To the extent required by law, nothing in this section is intended to, and shall not, restrict or limit the Executive from testifying in an administrative, legislative, or judicial
proceeding concerning alleged criminal conduct or alleged sexual harassment on the part of the Company, or on the part of the agents or employees of the Company, when the
Executive has been required or requested to attend the proceeding pursuant to a court order, subpoena, or written request from an administrative agency or the legislature.

7 . Non-Disclosure/Affirmation of Continuing Obligations. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that the confidentiality, intellectual property assignment, non-
competition, non-solicitation and other restrictive covenants contained in the Employment Agreement (the “Restrictive Covenants™) shall remain in full force and effect in
accordance with their terms, and Executive hereby reaffirms Executive’s agreement to comply with such Restrictive Covenants.

8 . Return of Company Documents and Other Property. The Executive confirms that he has returned to the Company any and all Company documents, materials and
information (whether in hardcopy, on electronic media or otherwise) related to Company business and/or containing any non-public information concerning the Company or its
clients, as well as all equipment, keys, access cards, credit cards, computers, computer hardware and software, electronic devices and any other Company property in his
possession, custody or control. The Executive also represents and warrants that he has not retained copies of any Company documents, materials or information (whether in
hardcopy, on electronic media or otherwise). The Executive also agrees that he will disclose to the Company all passwords necessary or desirable to enable the Company to
access all information which he has password-protected on any of its computer equipment or on its computer network or system.

9. Preserved Rights: This Agreement and General Release is not intended to, and shall not, in any way prohibit, limit or otherwise interfere with

(a) the Executive’s protected rights under federal, state or local employment discrimination laws (including, without limitation, the ADEA and Title VII) to
communicate or file a charge with, initiate, testify, assist, comply with a subpoena from, or participate in any manner in an investigation or proceeding conducted by, the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) or similar federal, state or local government body or agency charged with enforcing employment discrimination laws;
provided, however, the Executive shall not be entitled to any relief or recovery (whether monetary or otherwise), and the Executive hereby waives any and all rights to relief or
recovery, under, or by virtue of, any such filing of a charge with, or investigation, hearing or proceeding conducted by, the EEOC or any other similar federal, state or local
government agency relating to any claim that has been released in this Agreement and General Release; or
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(b) the Executive’s protected right to test in any court, under the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, or like statute or regulation, the validity of the waiver of
rights under ADEA in this Agreement and General Release; or

(c) the Executive’s protected right to disclose any facts necessary to receive unemployment insurance, Medicaid, or other public benefits to which he is entitled;
or

(d) the Executive’s right to enforce the terms of this Agreement and General Release and to exercise his rights relating to any other Excluded Claims.
10. No Admission. Nothing contained in this Agreement and General Release will constitute or be treated as an admission by the Executive, the Company or any of the

other Released Parties of any liability, wrongdoing or violation of law.
1. Miscellaneous

(a) This Agreement and General Release shall inure to the benefit of the Company and the other Released Parties and shall be binding upon the Company and its
successors and assigns. This Agreement and General Release also shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the Executive and his heirs, executors, administrators,
trustees and legal representatives. This Agreement and General Release is personal to the Executive and he may not assign or delegate his rights or duties under this Agreement
and General Release, and any such assignment or delegation will be null and void.

(b) The provisions of this Agreement and General Release are severable. If any provision in this Agreement and General Release is held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable, the remaining provisions of this Agreement and General Release will remain in full force and effect and the invalid, illegal and unenforceable provision shall be

reformed and construed so that it will be valid, legal and enforceable to the maximum extent permitted by law.

(c) The Company and the Executive shall each bear their own costs, fees (including, without limitation, attorney’s fees) and expenses in connection with the
negotiation, preparation and execution of this Agreement and General Release.

(d) The failure of the Company to seek enforcement of any provision of this Agreement and General Release in any instance or for any period of time shall not
be construed as a waiver of such provision or of the Company’s right to seek enforcement of such provision in the future.

(e) Given the full and fair opportunity provided to each party to consult with their respective counsel regarding terms of this Agreement and General Release,
ambiguities shall not be construed against either party by virtue of such party having drafted the subject provision.
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® The headings in this Agreement and General Release are included for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Agreement
and General Release.

(2 This Agreement and General Release may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which together will constitute
one and the same instrument. This Agreement and General Release, or a signature page thereto intended to be attached to a copy of this Agreement and General Release, signed
and transmitted by facsimile machine, telecopier or other electronic means (including via transmittal of a “pdf” file) shall be deemed and treated as an original document. The
signature of any person thereon, for purposes hereof, is to be considered as an original signature, and the document transmitted is to be considered to have the same binding
effect as an original signature on an original document. At the request of any party hereto, any facsimile, telecopy or other electronic document is to be re-executed in original
form by the persons who executed the facsimile, telecopy of other electronic document. No party hereto may raise the use of a facsimile machine, telecopier or other electronic
means or the fact that any signature was transmitted through the use of a facsimile machine, telecopier or other electronic means as a defense to the enforcement of this
Agreement and General Release.

(h) All matters affecting this Agreement and General Release, including the validity thereof, are to be governed by, and interpreted and construed in accordance
with, the laws of the State of California applicable to contracts executed in and to be performed in that State.

13. Opportunity to Review. The Executive represents and warrants that he:

has had sufficient opportunity to consider this Agreement and General Release;

has carefully read this Agreement and General Release and understand all of its terms;

is not incompetent and has not had a guardian, conservator or trustee appointed for him;

has entered into this Agreement and General Release of his own free will and volition and that, except for the promises expressly made by the Company in this
Agreement and General Release, no other promises or agreements of any kind have been made to him by any person or entity whatsoever to cause him to sign this
Agreement and General Release;

understands that he is responsible for his own attorneys’ fees and costs;

has been advised and encouraged by the Company to consult with his own independent counsel before signing this Agreement and General Release;

has had the opportunity to review this Agreement and General Release with counsel of his choice or has chosen voluntarily not to do so;

was given at least twenty-one (21) days (forty-five (45) days if required under applicable law) to review this Agreement and General Release before signing it and
understood that he was free to use as much or as little of the review period as he wished or considered necessary before deciding to sign it; and

e understands that this Agreement and General Release is valid, binding, and enforceable against the Executive and the Company according to its terms.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS THIS PAGE]

26




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive has executed this Agreement and General Release on the date set forth below.

Witness:

Jon Niermann
[Address]

Agreed to and accepted on

LOOP MEDIA, INC.

By:

Name:
Title:
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Loop Media. Inc. 10-K
Exhibit 10.5

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the date set forth on the signature page hereto, by and between Loop
Media, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the “Company”), and Liam McCallum (hereinafter, the “Executive”).

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, the Executive is currently employed as the Chief Product and Technical Officer of the Company; and
WHEREAS, the Executive possesses intimate knowledge of the business and affairs of the Company, its policies, methods and personnel; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) recognizes that the Executive has contributed to the growth and success of the Company, and
desires to assure the Company of the Executive’s continued employment and to compensate him therefor; and

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that this Agreement will reinforce and encourage the Executive’s continued attention and dedication to the Company; and
WHEREAS, the Executive is willing to make his services available to the Company on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.

NOW, THEREFORE, for the reasons set forth hereinabove, and in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein and other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby covenant and agree as follows:

1. Employment.

1.1 Employment and Term. The Company hereby agrees to employ the Executive and the Executive hereby agrees to serve the Company on the terms
and conditions set forth herein.

1.2 Duties of Executive. During the Term of Employment under this Agreement, the Executive shall serve as the Chief Product and Technical Officer of
the Company, shall faithfully and diligently perform all services as may be assigned to him by the Board (provided that, such services shall not materially differ from the
services currently provided by the Executive), and shall exercise such power and authority as may from time to time be delegated to him by the Board. The Executive shall
devote his full time and attention to the business and affairs of the Company, render such services to the best of his ability, and use his reasonable best efforts to promote the
interests of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of this Agreement, it shall not be a breach or violation of this Agreement for the Executive to:
(a) serve on corporate, civic or charitable boards or committees; (b) deliver lectures, fulfill speaking engagements or teach at educational institutions; or (c) manage personal
investments, so long as such activities do not significantly interfere with or significantly detract from the performance of the Executive’s responsibilities to the Company in
accordance with this Agreement.

2. Term.
2.1 Initial Term. The initial Term of Employment (as defined below) under this Agreement, and the employment of the Executive hereunder, shall

commence on the date hereof April 1, 2021 (the “Commencement Date”) and shall expire on the date that is three years from the date hereof unless sooner terminated in
accordance with Article 5 hereof (the “Initial Term”).




2.2 Renewal Terms. At the end of the Initial Term, the Term of Employment automatically shall renew for successive three (3) year terms (subject to
earlier termination as provided in Article 5 hereof), unless the Company or the Executive delivers written notice to the other at least three months prior to the Expiration Date of
its or his election not to renew the Term of Employment.

2.3 Term of Employment and Expiration Date. The period during which the Executive shall be employed by the Company pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement is sometimes referred to in this Agreement as the “Term of Employment”, and the date on which the Term of Employment shall expire (including the date on
which any renewal term shall expire), is sometimes referred to in this Agreement as the “Expiration Date.”

3. Compensation.

3.1 Base Salary. The Executive shall receive a base salary at the annual rate of $275,000 (the ‘Base Salary”) during the Term of Employment, with such
Base Salary payable in installments consistent with the Company’s normal payroll schedule, subject to applicable withholding and other taxes. The Base Salary shall be adjusted
for annual merit increases of a minimum of 5% and may, by action and in the discretion of the Board, be increased at any time or from time to time, but may not be decreased.

32 Bonuses.

(a) During the Term of Employment, the Executive shall participate in the Company’s annual cash incentive plan, program and/or arrangements
applicable to senior-level executives as established and modified from time to time by the Compensation Committee of the Board, if one exists, otherwise by the Board in its
sole and absolute discretion. During the Term of Employment, the Executive shall have a threshold bonus opportunity under such plan or program equal to 40 percent of his
current Base Salary, a target bonus opportunity under such plan or program equal to 65 percent of his current Base Salary, and a maximum bonus under such plan or program
equal to 100 percent of his current Base Salary, in each case based on satisfaction of performance criteria to be established by the Compensation Committee of the Board, if one
exists, otherwise by the Board within three (3) months of the entry into this Agreement and within the first three months of each fiscal year that begins thereafter during the
Term of Employment. Payment of cash incentive awards shall be made in the same manner and at the same time that other senior-level executives receive their annual cash
incentive awards.

(b) The Company agrees that during the Executive’s Term of Employment, should shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001
per share (“Common Stock”) be listed on an exchange registered as a national securities exchange under Section 6 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the ‘Uplisting”), the
Company shall pay the Executive a one-time bonus of $250,000. Any bonus payable in connection with the Uplisting pursuant to this Article 3 shall be paid within thirty (30)
days of the Uplisting. Any such payment will be considered an advance against earned Incentive Compensation.

(c) For the Bonus Period in which the Executive’s employment with the Company terminates for any reason other than by the Company for
Cause under Section 5.1 hereof, the Company shall pay the Executive a pro rata portion (based upon the period ending on the date on which the Executive’s employment with
the Company terminates) of the bonus otherwise payable under Section 3.2(a) hereof for the Bonus Period in which such termination of employment occurs; provided, however,
that: (i) the Bonus Period shall be deemed to end on the last day of the fiscal quarter of the Company in which the Executive’s employment so terminates; and (ii) the business
criteria used to determine the bonus for this short Bonus Period shall be annualized and shall be determined based upon unaudited financial information prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, applied consistently with prior periods, and reviewed and approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board, if one exists,
otherwise by the Board. The compensation for this Bonus Period is sometimes hereinafter referred to as the “Termination Year Bonus.”




(d) The Executive shall receive such additional bonuses, if any, as the Compensation Committee of the Board, if one exists, otherwise as the
Board may in its sole and absolute discretion determine.

(e) Any bonuses payable pursuant to this Section 3.2 are sometimes hereinafter referred to as ‘Incentive Compensation.” Each period for
which Incentive Compensation is payable is sometimes hereinafter referred to as a “Bonus Period.”

® Any Incentive Compensation payable pursuant to this Section 3.2 shall be paid by the Company to the Executive within 75 days after the
end of the Bonus Period for which it is payable.

3.3 Review of Agreement. Base Salary and Incentive Compensation. The Company agrees that this Agreement and the Executive’s Base Salary shall be
reviewed in coordination with any Uplisting or a significant financing in an amount of at least $20,000,000. Further, the Company agrees that the Executive’s Incentive
Compensation shall be reviewed upon the final pricing of any Uplisting, or if an Uplisting does not occur, the Executive’s Incentive Compensation shall be reviewed within
twelve (12) months of the Commencement Date.

4, Expense Reimbursement and Other Benefits.

4 .1 Reimbursement of Expenses. Upon the submission of proper substantiation by the Executive, and subject to such rules and guidelines as the
Company may from time to time adopt with respect to the reimbursement of expenses of executive personnel, the Company shall reimburse the Executive for all reasonable
expenses actually paid or incurred by the Executive during the Term of Employment in the course of and pursuant to the business of the Company. The Executive shall account
to the Company in writing for all expenses for which reimbursement is sought and shall supply to the Company copies of all relevant invoices, receipts or other evidence
reasonably requested by the Company.

4 . 2 Compensation/Benefit Programs. During the Term of Employment, the Executive shall be entitled to participate in all medical, dental,
hospitalization, accidental death and dismemberment, disability, travel and life insurance plans, and any and all other plans as are presently and hereinafter offered by the
Company to its executive personnel, including savings, pension, profit-sharing and deferred compensation plans, subject to the general eligibility and participation provisions set
forth in such plans.

4.3 Working Facilities. During the Term of Employment, the Company shall furnish the Executive with an office, administrative assistance and such
other facilities and services suitable to his position and adequate for the performance of his duties hereunder. During any period of time where the Company supports or requires
remote working, including during the COVID-19 pandemic of 2020/2021, the Company shall pay reasonable fees and expenses for the cost of a mobile phone, home/laptop
computer, software, office furniture, internet connection and other items that are reasonably required and appropriate for the performance of his duties hereunder.




4.4 Equity Awards. During the Term of Employment, the Executive shall be eligible to be granted equity awards under (and therefore subject to all
terms and conditions of) the Company’s equity incentive plan or such other plans or programs as the Company may from time to time adopt, and subject to all rules of
regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission applicable thereto. The number and type of equity awards, and the terms and conditions thereof, shall be determined by
the Compensation Committee of the Board, if one exists, otherwise by the Board in its discretion and pursuant to the equity incentive plan. These include annual grants of
Common Stock, restricted stock units and stock options.

4.5 Other Benefits. The Executive shall receive such additional benefits, if any, as the Board shall from time to time determine.

4.6 Withholding. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, all payments required to be made by the Company hereunder to the
Executive or his estate or beneficiaries shall be subject to the withholding of such amounts relating to taxes as the Company may reasonably determine it should withhold
pursuant to any applicable law or regulation. In lieu of withholding such amounts, in whole or in part, the Company may, in its sole discretion, accept other provisions for
payment of taxes and withholding as required by law, provided it is satisfied that all requirements of law affecting its responsibilities to withhold have been satisfied.

5. Termination.

5.1 Termination for Cause. The Company shall at all times have the right, upon written notice to the Executive, to terminate the Term of Employment,
for Cause as defined below. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Cause” shall mean:

(a) an action or omission of the Executive which constitutes a willful and material breach of, or willful and material failure or refusal (other
than by reason of his disability or incapacity) to perform his duties under this Agreement which is not cured within 60 days after receipt by the Executive of written notice of
same;

(b) fraud, embezzlement, misappropriation of funds or breach of trust in connection with his services hereunder;
(c) a conviction of, or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere to, a felony (other than a traffic violation); or
(d) gross negligence in connection with the performance of the Executive’s duties hereunder, which is not cured within 60 days after receipt by

the Executive of written notice of same.

Any termination for Cause shall be made by notice in writing to the Executive, which notice shall set forth in reasonable detail all acts or omissions upon
which the Company is relying for such termination, and providing the Executive with an opportunity to cure (if curable) within a reasonable period of time. No termination of
the Executive’s employment for Cause shall be permitted unless the date of termination occurs during the 120-day period immediately following the date that the events or
actions constituting Cause first become known to the Board. Upon any termination pursuant to this Section 5.1, the Company shall:

1) pay to the Executive any unpaid and accrued Base Salary through the date of termination; and




(ii) pay to the Executive his accrued but unpaid Incentive Compensation, if any, for any Bonus Period ending on or before the date of the
termination of Executive’s employment with the Company.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.1, the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).

5.2 Disability. In the event the Executive shall be unable, or fail, to perform the essential functions of his position, with or without reasonable
accommodation, for any period of six months or more in any 12-month period, the Company shall have the option, in accordance with applicable law, to terminate this
Agreement upon written notice to the Executive. Upon termination pursuant to this Section 5.2, the Company shall:

(a) pay to the Executive any unpaid and accrued Base Salary through the effective date of termination specified in such notice;

(b) pay to the Executive his accrued but unpaid Incentive Compensation, if any, for any Bonus Period ending on or before the date of
termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company at the time provided in Section 3.2(f) hereof;

(c) pay to the Executive a severance payment equal to six (6) months of the Executive’s Base Salary at the time of the termination of the
Executive’s employment with the Company; and

(d) pay to the Executive his Termination Year Bonus, if any, at the time provided in Section 3.2(f) hereof.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.2, the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof.

5.3 Death. Upon the death of the Executive during the Term of Employment, the Company shall:
(a) pay to the estate of the deceased Executive any unpaid and accrued Base Salary through the Executive’s date of death;
(b) pay to the estate of the deceased Executive his accrued but unpaid Incentive Compensation, if any, for any Bonus Period ending on or

before the Executive’s date of death; and
(c) pay to the estate of the deceased Executive, the Executive’s Termination Year Bonus, if any, at the time provided in Section 3.2(f) hereof.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.3, the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of the Executive’s death, subject, however to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).




5.4 Termination Without Cause. The Company shall have the right to terminate the Term of Employment at any time by written notice to the Executive
not less than 60 days prior to the effective date of such termination. Upon any termination pursuant to this Section 5.4 (that is not a termination under any of Sections 5.1, 5.2,
5.3, 5.5 or 5.6 hereof), the Company shall:

(a) pay to the Executive any unpaid and accrued Base Salary through the termination of this Agreement;

(b) pay to the Executive the accrued but unpaid Incentive Compensation, if any, for any Bonus Period ending on or before the termination of
this Agreement;

(c) pay to the Executive his pro rata Termination Year Bonus,, at the time provided in Section 3.2(f) hereof;

(d) pay to the Executive as a single lump sum payment, within 30 days of the date of the Termination of the Term of Employment equal to six

(6) months of the Executive’s Base Salary then in effect; and
(e) ensure that any stock awards still vesting would become fully vested.; and

Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the Executive’s right to receive any severance benefits pursuant to this Section 5.4 shall be subject to his
execution and delivery to the Company of a general release of claims in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (with such changes as may be reasonably required to
such form to help ensure its enforceability in light of any changes in applicable law) not more than twenty-one (21) days (forty-five (45) days if required under applicable law)
after the date the Company provides the final form of release to the Executive (and the Executive’s not revoking such release within any revocation period provided under
applicable law). The Company shall provide the final form of release agreement to the Executive not later than seven (7) days following the date of the termination date.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.4, the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).

5.5 Termination by Executive.

(a) The Executive shall at all times have the right, by written notice not less than 60 days prior to the termination date, to terminate the Term of
Employment.

(b) Upon termination of the Term of Employment pursuant to this Section 5.5 (that is not a termination under Section 5.6 hereof) by the
Executive without Good Reason (as defined below), the Company shall:

@) pay to the Executive any unpaid and accrued Base Salary through the effective date of termination of the Term of Employment
specified in such notice; and

(ii) pay to the Executive his accrued but unpaid Incentive Compensation, if any, for any Bonus Period ending on or before the date on
which the Term of Employment terminates.




Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.5(b), the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).

(c) Upon termination of the Term of Employment pursuant to this Section 5.5 (that is not a termination under Section 5.6 hereof) by the
Executive for Good Reason, the Company shall pay to the Executive the same amounts, and shall continue to provide or compensate for all benefits in the same amounts, that
would have been payable or provided by the Company to the Executive under Section 5.4 of this Agreement if the Term of Employment had been terminated by the Company
without Cause.

Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the Executive’s right to receive any severance benefits pursuant to this Section 5.5(c) shall be subject to his
execution and delivery to the Company of a general release of claims in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (with such changes as may be reasonably required to
such form to help ensure its enforceability in light of any changes in applicable law) not more than twenty-one (21) days (forty-five (45) days if required under applicable law)
after the date the Company provides the final form of release to the Executive (and the Executive’s not revoking such release within any revocation period provided under
applicable law). The Company shall provide the final form of release agreement to the Executive not later than seven (7) days following the date of the termination date.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.5(c), the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).

(d) For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean:

@) the assignment to the Executive of any duties inconsistent in any material respect with the Executive’s position (including status,
offices, titles and reporting requirements), authority, duties or responsibilities as contemplated by Section 1.2 of this Agreement, or any other action by the Company which
results in a diminution in such position, authority, duties or responsibilities, excluding for this purpose an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and
which is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice thereof given by the Executive;

(ii) any material failure by the Company to comply with any of the provisions of Article 3 of this Agreement, other than an isolated,
insubstantial and inadvertent failure not occurring in bad faith and which is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of written notice thereof given by the Executive;

(iii) the Company’s requiring the Executive to be based at any office or location more than 30 miles from the location of the
Company’s office on the Commencement Date, except for travel reasonably required in the performance of the Executive’s responsibilities; and

(iv) any purported termination by the Company of the Executive’s employment otherwise than for Cause pursuant to Section 5.1
hereof, or by reason of the Executive’s disability pursuant to Section 5.2 of this Agreement, prior to the Expiration Date.




5.6 Change in Control of the Company.

(a) In the event that: (i) a Change in Control (as defined in paragraph (b) of this Section 5.6) in the Company shall occur during the Term of
Employment; and (ii) either: (A) prior to the earlier of the Expiration Date and one year after the date of the Change in Control, either: (1) the Term of Employment is
terminated by the Company without Cause, pursuant to Section 5.4 hereof or (2) the Executive terminates the Term of Employment for Good Reason as defined in Section 5.5(d)
hereof, or (B) the Executive terminates the Term of Employment for any reason within 30 days after the Change in Control occurs, the Company shall:

@) pay to the Executive any unpaid Base Salary through the effective date of termination;

(ii) pay to the Executive the Incentive Compensation, if any, not yet paid to the Executive for any year prior to such termination, at
such time as the Incentive Compensation otherwise would have been payable to the Executive;

(iif) pay to the Executive his Termination Year Bonus, if any, at the time provided in Section 3.2 hereof; and

(iv) pay to the Executive as a single lump sum payment, within 30 days of the termination of the Term of Employment, equal to the
sum of (x) two (2) times the sum of the Executive’s annual Base Salary, Incentive Compensation, and the value of the annual fringe benefits (based upon their cost to the
Company) required to be provided to the Executive under Sections 4.2 and 4.4 hereof, for the fiscal year immediately preceding the year in which the Term of Employment
terminates, plus (y) the value of the portion of his benefits under any savings, pension, profit sharing or deferred compensation plans that are forfeited under those plans by
reason of the termination of his employment hereunder.

Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the Executive’s right to receive any severance benefits pursuant to this Section 5.6 shall be subject to his
execution and delivery to the Company of a general release of claims in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (with such changes as may be reasonably required to
such form to help ensure its enforceability in light of any changes in applicable law) not more than twenty-one (21) days (forty-five (45) days if required under applicable law)
after the date the Company provides the final form of release to the Executive (and the Executive’s not revoking such release within any revocation period provided under
applicable law). The Company shall provide the final form of release agreement to the Executive not later than seven (7) days following the date of the termination date.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.6(a), the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Change in Control” shall mean:

@) The acquisition by any Person of Beneficial Ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934) of more than 50 percent of either (A) the then outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company (the “Outstanding Company Capital Stock”); or (B)
the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors (the “Outstanding Company Voting
Securities”) (the foregoing Beneficial Ownership hereinafter being referred to as a ‘Controlling Interest”); provided, however, that for purposes of this Section 5.6(b), the
following acquisitions shall not constitute or result in a Change in Control: (1) any acquisition directly from the Company; (2) any acquisition by the Company; (3) any
acquisition by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any subsidiary of the Company; or (4) any acquisition by any
corporation pursuant to a transaction which complies with clauses (A), (B) and (C) of subsection (iii) below; or




(ii) During any period of two consecutive years (not including any period prior to the Commencement Date) individuals who
constitute the Board on the Commencement Date (the “Incumbent Board”) cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board;provided, however, that any
individual becoming a director subsequent to the Commencement Date whose election, or nomination for election by the Company’s shareholders, was approved by a vote of at
least a majority of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board shall be considered as though such individual were a member of the Incumbent Board, but excluding, for
this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of
directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other than the Board; or

(iii) Consummation of a reorganization, merger, statutory share exchange or consolidation or similar corporate transaction involving
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, or the acquisition of assets or stock of another entity by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries (each a “Business Combination”), in each case, unless, following such Business Combination: (A) all or substantially all of the
individuals and entities who were the Beneficial Owners, respectively, of the Outstanding Company Capital Stock and Outstanding Company Voting Securities immediately
prior to such Business Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 50 percent of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock and the combined voting
power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, as the case may be, of the corporation resulting from such Business
Combination (including, without limitation, a corporation which as a result of such transaction owns the Company or all or substantially all of the Company’s assets either
directly or through one or more subsidiaries) in substantially the same proportions as their ownership, immediately prior to such Business Combination of the Outstanding
Company Capital Stock and Outstanding Company Voting Securities, as the case may be; (B) any Person that as of the Commencement Date owns Beneficial Ownership of a
Controlling Interest beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, more than 50 percent of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock of the corporation resulting from such
Business Combination or the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of such corporation except to the extent that such ownership existed prior to the
Business Combination; and (C) at least a majority of the members of the Board of Directors of the corporation resulting from such Business Combination were members of the
Incumbent Board at the time of the execution of this initial Agreement, or of the action of the Board, providing for such Business Combination; or

(iv)  approval by the shareholders of the Company of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

(c) For purposes of Section 5.6(b) hereof, the term ‘Person” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, and shall include a “group” as defined in Section 13(d) thereof.

5.7 Resignation. Upon any termination of employment pursuant to this Article 5, the Executive shall be deemed to have resigned as an officer of the
Company and its subsidiaries, and if he was then serving as a director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, be deemed to resign as a director of the Company and its

subsidiaries, and if required by the Board, the Executive shall upon such termination execute a resignation letter to the applicable board of directors.

5.8 Survival. The provisions of this Article 5 shall survive the termination of the Term of Employment or expiration of the term of this Agreement.




6. Restrictive Covenants.
6.1 Confidential Information.

(a) Executive hereby understands and acknowledges that because of Executive’s experience with and relationship to the Company, in the
course of his Term of Employment he will acquire knowledge and will have access to and learn about confidential, secret and proprietary documents, materials, data, and other
information, in tangible and intangible form, of and relating to the Company and its businesses (“Confidential Information”). Executive further understands and acknowledges
that this Confidential Information and the Company’s ability to reserve it for the exclusive knowledge and use of the Company is of great competitive importance and
commercial value to the Company, and that improper use or disclosure of the Confidential Information by the Executive might cause the Company to incur financial costs, loss
of business advantage, liability under confidentiality agreements with third parties, civil damages and criminal penalties.

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, Confidential Information includes, but is not limited to, all information not generally known to the public,
in spoken, printed, electronic or any other form or medium, relating directly or indirectly to: business processes, practices, methods, policies, plans, publications, documents,
research, operations, services, strategies, techniques, agreements, contracts, terms of agreements, transactions, potential transactions, negotiations, pending negotiations, know-
how, trade secrets, computer programs, computer software, source codes, object codes, applications, operating systems, software design, web design, databases, device
configurations, embedded data, compilations, metadata, technologies, manuals, records, articles, systems, content, sources of content, vendor information, financial information,
results, accounting information, accounting records, legal information, marketing information, advertising information, pricing information, credit information, payroll
information, personnel information, employee lists, content provider lists, vendor lists, developments, reports, internal controls, security procedures, graphics, drawings,
sketches, market studies, sales information, revenue, costs, notes, communications, algorithms, product plans, service plans, ideas, audiovisual programs, inventions,
unpublished patent applications, original works of authorship, discoveries, experimental processes, experimental results, specifications, distributor lists, customer information,
customer lists, client information and client lists of the Company or its businesses or any existing or prospective customer, content provider, investor or other associated third
party, or of any other person or entity that has entrusted information to the Company in confidence.

(c) The Executive understands and acknowledges that the above list is not exhaustive, and that Confidential Information also includes other
information that is marked or otherwise identified as confidential or proprietary, or that would otherwise appear to a reasonable person to be confidential or proprietary in the
context and circumstances in which the information is known or used.

(d) The Executive understands and acknowledges that Confidential Information developed by him in the course of his employment by the
Company shall be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement as if the Company furnished the same Confidential Information to the Executive in the first instance.
Confidential Information shall not include information that is generally available to and known by the public at the time of disclosure to the Executive, provided that such
disclosure is through no direct or indirect fault of the Executive or person(s) acting on the Executive’s behalf.

(e) For purposes of this Agreement, all information regarding specific prospective and existing customers and clients of the Company and other
individuals and businesses with whom the Company does business is collectively referred to as “Customer/Client Information” and includes, but is not limited to, names,
phone numbers, addresses, email addresses, order history, order preferences, chain of command, pricing information, and other information identifying facts and circumstances
specific to the customer/client and relevant to sales/services. All books, records, accounts and information relating in any manner to the Customer/Client Information, whether
prepared by the Executive or otherwise coming into the Executive’s possession, shall be the exclusive property of the Company and shall be returned immediately to the
Company on termination of the Executive’s employment hereunder or on the Company’s request at any time.
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6.2 Disclosure and Use Restrictions.

(a) Executive covenants and agrees to treat all Confidential Information as strictly confidential, and:

(ii) not to directly or indirectly disclose, publish, communicate, or make available Confidential Information, or allow it to be disclosed,
published, communicated or made available, in whole or part, to any entity or person whatsoever (including other employees of the Company) not having a need to know and
authority to know and to use the Confidential Information in connection with the business of the Company and, in any event, not to anyone outside of the direct employ of the
Company except as required in the performance of any of the Executive’s authorized employment duties to the Company; and

(iii) not to access or use any Confidential Information, and not to copy any documents, records, files, media, or other resources
containing any Confidential Information, or remove any such documents, records, files, media, or other resources from the premises or control of the Company, except as
required in the performance of any of the Executive’s authorized employment duties to the Company. The Executive understands and acknowledges that the Executive’s
obligations under this Agreement regarding any particular Confidential Information begin immediately and shall continue during and after the Executive’s employment by the
Company until the Confidential Information has become public knowledge other than as a result of the Executive’s breach of this Agreement or a breach by those acting in
concert with the Executive or on the Executive’s behalf.

(b) Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to prevent disclosure of Confidential Information as may be required by applicable law or
regulation, or pursuant to the valid order of a court of competent jurisdiction or an authorized government agency, provided that the disclosure does not exceed the extent of
disclosure required by such law, regulation, or order. The Executive shall promptly provide written notice of any such order to an authorized officer of the Company.

(c) Nothing in this Agreement prohibits or restricts the Executive (or the Executive’s attorney) from initiating communications directly with,
responding to an inquiry from, or providing testimony before the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA), any other
self-regulatory organization, or any other federal or state regulatory authority regarding a possible securities law violation.

6.3 Duration of Confidentiality Obligations. The Executive understands and acknowledges that his obligations under this Agreement with regard to any
particular Confidential Information shall commence immediately upon the Executive first having access to such Confidential Information (whether before or after he begins
employment by the Company) and shall continue during and after his employment by the Company until such time as such Confidential Information has become public
knowledge other than as a result of the Executive’s breach of this Agreement or breach by those acting in concert with the Executive or on the Executive’s behalf.
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6.4 Non-solicitation of Customers/Clients and Employees. Executive specifically understands and acknowledges that he will have access to Confidential
Information, including, specifically, without limitation, Customer/Client Information and trade secrets. Executive covenants and agrees that during the Restricted Period, except
as otherwise approved in writing by the Company, Executive shall not, either directly or indirectly, for himself, or through, on behalf of, or in conjunction with any person,
persons, partnership, association, corporation, or entity:

(a) Use any Confidential Information, including, specifically, any Customer/Client Information and/or trade secrets to directly or indirectly
solicit the customers/clients of the Company, or use to disrupt, disturb, or interfere with the relationships of the Company with its customers/clients; or

(b) Disrupt, disturb or interfere with the business of the Company by directly or indirectly soliciting, recruiting, attempting to recruit, or raiding
the employees of the Company, or otherwise inducing the termination of employment of any employee of the Company. Executive also agrees and covenants not to use any
Confidential Information to directly or indirectly solicit the employees of the Company.

6.5 Definition of Company. Solely for purposes of this Article 6, the term “Company” also shall include any existing or future subsidiaries of the
Company that are operating during the time periods described herein and any other entities that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, control, are controlled
by or are under common control with the Company during the periods described herein.

6.6 Acknowledgment by Executive. The Executive acknowledges and confirms that the restrictive covenants contained in this Article 6 (including
without limitation the length of the term of the Restricted Period) are reasonably necessary to protect the legitimate business interests of the Company, and are not overbroad,
overlong, or unfair and are not the result of overreaching, duress or coercion of any kind. The Executive further acknowledges and confirms that the compensation payable to the
Executive under this Agreement is in consideration for the duties and obligations of the Executive hereunder, including the restrictive covenants contained in this Article 6, and
that such compensation is sufficient, fair and reasonable. The Executive further acknowledges and confirms that his full, uninhibited and faithful observance of each of the
covenants contained in this Article 6 will not cause him any undue hardship, financial or otherwise, and that enforcement of each of the covenants contained herein will not
impair his ability to obtain employment commensurate with his abilities and on terms fully acceptable to him or otherwise to obtain income required for the comfortable support
of him and his family and the satisfaction of the needs of his creditors. The Executive acknowledges and confirms that the Confidential Information is such as would cause the
Company serious injury or loss if he were to use such Confidential Information to the benefit of a competitor or were to compete with the Company in violation of the terms of
this Article 6. The Executive further acknowledges that the restrictive covenants contained in this Article 6 are intended to be, and shall be, for the benefit of and shall be
enforceable by, the Company’s successors and assigns. The Executive expressly agrees that upon any breach or violation of the provisions of this Article 6, the Company shall
be entitled, as a matter of right, in addition to any other rights or remedies it may have, to: (a) temporary and/or permanent injunctive relief in any court of competent jurisdiction
as described in Section 6.9 hereof; and (b) such damages as are provided at law or in equity. The existence of any claim or cause of action against the Company or its affiliates,
whether predicated upon this Agreement or otherwise, shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement of the restrictions contained in this Article 6.

6.7 Restricted Period. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Restricted Period” shall mean, and be the same length as, the Term of Employment;
provided, however, if the Term of Employment is terminated by: (i) the Company for Cause (as defined in Section 5.1 hereof); or (ii) the Executive for other than Good Reason
(as defined in Section 5.5(d) hereof), then the Restricted Period shall also include the 12-month period immediately following the termination of the Term of Employment.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Restricted Period shall end in the event that the Company fails to make any payments or provide any benefits required by Article 5 hereof
with 15 days of written notice from the Executive of such failure.
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6.8 Reformation by Court. In the event that a court of competent jurisdiction shall determine that any provision of this Article 6 is invalid or more
restrictive than permitted under the governing law of such jurisdiction, then only as to enforcement of this Article 6 within the jurisdiction of such court, such provision shall be
interpreted or reformed and enforced as if it provided for the maximum restriction permitted under such governing law.

6.9 Extension of Time. If the Executive shall be in violation of any provision of this Article 6, then each time limitation set forth in this Article 6 shall
be extended for a period of time equal to the period of time during which such violation or violations occur. If the Company seeks injunctive relief from such violation in any
court, then the covenants set forth in this Article 6 shall be extended for a period of time equal to the pendency of such proceeding including all appeals by the Executive.

6.10 Injunction. It is recognized and hereby acknowledged by the parties hereto that a breach by the Executive of any of the covenants contained in
Article 6 of this Agreement will cause irreparable harm and damage to the Company, the monetary amount of which may be virtually impossible to ascertain. As a result, the
Executive recognizes and hereby acknowledges that the Company shall be entitled to an injunction from any court of competent jurisdiction enjoining and restraining any
violation of any or all of the covenants contained in Article 6 of this Agreement by the Executive or any of his affiliates, associates, partners or agents, either directly or
indirectly, and that such right to injunction shall be cumulative and in addition to whatever other remedies the Company may possess.

6.11 Noncompetition. Except as may otherwise be approved by the Board, duringthe Restricted Period, the Executive shall not have any ownership
interest (of record or beneficial) in, or have any interest as an executive, salesman, consultant, officer or director in, or otherwise aid or assist in any manner, any firm,
corporation, partnership, proprietorship or other business that engages in any county, city or part thereof in the United States and/or any foreign country in a business which
competes directly or indirectly (as determined by the Board) with the business of the Company in such county, city or part thereof, so long as the Company or any successors in
interest to the business and goodwill of the Company, remains engaged in such business in such county, city or part thereof or continues to solicit customers or potential
customers therein; provided, however, that Executive may own, directly or indirectly, solely as an investment, securities of any entity if Executive (x) is not a controlling person
of, or a member of a group which controls, such entity; or (y) does not, directly or indirectly, own five percent (5%) or more of any class of securities of any such entity.

6.12 Survival. The provisions of this Article 6 shall survive termination of this Agreement and the Term of Employment in accordance with the terms
herein.

7. Section 409A of the Code.

(a) The provisions of this Agreement are intended to comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and any final
regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder (“Section 409A”) and shall be construed in a manner consistent with the requirements for avoiding taxes
or penalties under Section 409A. The Company and Executive agree to work together in good faith to consider amendments to this Agreement and to take
such reasonable actions which are necessary, appropriate or desirable to avoid imposition of any additional tax or income recognition prior to actual
payment to Executive under Section 409A.
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To the extent that Executive will be reimbursed for costs and expenses or in-kind benefits, except as otherwise permitted by Section 409A, (a) the right to
reimbursement or in-kind benefits is not subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit, (b) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-
kind benefits, provided during any taxable year shall not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided, in any other
taxable year; provided that the foregoing clause (b) shall not be violated with regard to expenses reimbursed under any arrangement covered by
Section 105(b) of the Code solely because such expenses are subject to a limit related to the period the arrangement is in effect and (c) such payments shall
be made on or before the last day of the taxable year following the taxable year in which the expense was incurred.

A termination of employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of any provision of this Agreement providing for the payment of any
amounts or benefits upon or following a termination of employment unless such termination constitutes a “separation from service” within the meaning of
Section 409A and, for purposes of any such provision of this Agreement references to a “termination,” “termination of employment” or like terms shall
have such meaning.

Each installment payable hereunder shall constitute a separate payment for purposes of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b), including Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b)(2)(iii). Each payment that is made within the terms of the “short-term deferral” rule set forth in Treasury Regulation
Section 1.409A-1(b)(4) is intended to meet the “short-term deferral” rule. Each other payment is intended to be a payment upon an involuntary termination
from service and payable pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii), et. seq., to the maximum extent permitted by that regulation, with
any amount that is not exempt from Code Section 409A being subject to Code Section 409A.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if the Executive is a “specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409A at the time of
Executive’s termination, then only that portion of the severance and benefits payable to Executive pursuant to this Agreement, if any, and any other
severance payments or separation benefits which may be considered “deferred compensation” under Section 409A (together, the “Deferred Compensation
Separation Benefits”), which (when considered together) do not exceed the Section 409A Limit (as defined herein) may be made within the first six (6)
months following Executive’s termination of employment in accordance with the payment schedule applicable to each payment or benefit. Any portion of
the Deferred Compensation Separation Benefits in excess of the Section 409A Limit otherwise due to Executive on or within the six (6) month period
following Executive’s termination will accrue during such six (6) month period and will become payable in one lump sum cash payment on the date six (6)
months and one (1) day following the date of Executive’s termination of employment. All subsequent Deferred Compensation Separation Benefits, if any,
will be payable in accordance with the payment schedule applicable to each payment or benefit. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if
Executive dies following termination but prior to the six (6) month anniversary of Executive’s termination date, then any payments delayed in accordance
with this paragraph will be payable in a lump sum as soon as administratively practicable after the date of Executive’s death and all other Deferred
Compensation Separation Benefits will be payable in accordance with the payment schedule applicable to each payment or benefit.
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For purposes of this Agreement, “Section 409A Limit” will mean a sum equal (x) to the amounts payable prior to March 15 following the year in which
Executive is terminated plus (y) the lesser of two (2) times: (i) Executive’s annualized compensation based upon the annual rate of pay paid to Executive
during the Company’s taxable year preceding the Company’s taxable year of Executive’s termination of employment as determined under Section 409A
and any IRS guidance issued with respect thereto; or (ii) the maximum amount that may be taken into account under a qualified plan pursuant to
Section 401(a)(17) of the Code for the year in which Executive’s employment is terminated.

If any payment provided to Executive pursuant to this Agreement is subject to adverse tax consequences under Code Section 409A, then Company shall
make such additional payments to Executive (“409A Gross Up Payments”) as are necessary to provide Executive with enough funds to pay the additional
taxes, interest, and penalties imposed by Code Section 409A (collectively, the “409A Tax”), as well as any additional taxes, including but not limited to
additional 409A Tax, attributable to or resulting from the payment of the 409A Gross Up Payments, with the end result that Executive shall be in the same
position with respect to his tax liability as he would have been in if no 409A Tax had ever been imposed; provided, however, that the Company’s
obligation to make payments under this Section 7 shall be limited to an amount equal to three times the 409A Tax (not including for this purpose 409A Tax
attributable to the payment of any portion of the 409A Gross Up Payment). The Company shall make any payments required by this paragraph no later than
the last day of Executive’s taxable year next following the Executive’s taxable year in which the 409A Tax is remitted to the taxing authority.

Section 280G of the Code: Limitation on Payments.

@

(b)

The provisions of this Agreement are intended to comply with Section 280G of the Code and any final regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder
(“Section 280G”) and shall be construed in a manner consistent with the requirements for avoiding taxes or penalties under Section 280G. The Company
and Executive agree to work together in good faith to consider amendments to this Agreement and to take such reasonable actions which are necessary,
appropriate or desirable to comply with Section 280G.

If any payment or benefit Executive will or may receive from the Company or otherwise (a “280G Payment”) would (i) constitute a “parachute payment”
within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, and (ii) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the
“Excise Tax”), then any such 280G Payment pursuant to this Agreement (a ‘Payment”) shall be equal to the Reduced Amount. The “Reduced Amount”
shall be either (x) the largest portion of the Payment that would result in no portion of the Payment (after reduction) being subject to the Excise Tax, or
(y) the largest portion, up to and including the total, of the Payment, whichever amount (i.e., the amount determined by clause (x) or by clause (y)), after
taking into account all applicable federal, state and local employment taxes, income taxes, and the Excise Tax (all computed at the highest applicable
marginal rate), results in Executive’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, of the greater economic benefit notwithstanding that all or some portion of the Payment
may be subject to the Excise Tax. If a reduction in a Payment is required pursuant to the preceding sentence and the Reduced Amount is determined
pursuant to clause (x) of the preceding sentence, the reduction shall occur in the manner (the “Reduction Method”) that results in the greatest economic
benefit for Executive. If more than one method of reduction will result in the same economic benefit, the items so reduced will be reduced pro rata (the
“Pro Rata Reduction Method”).




©

(d

©

Notwithstanding any provision of paragraph (a) to the contrary, if the Reduction Method or the Pro Rata Reduction Method would result in any portion of
the Payment being subject to taxes pursuant to Section 409A of the Code that would not otherwise be subject to taxes pursuant to Section 409A of the
Code, then the Reduction Method and/or the Pro Rata Reduction Method, as the case may be, shall be modified so as to avoid the imposition of taxes
pursuant to Section 409A of the Code as follows: (A) as a first priority, the modification shall preserve to the greatest extent possible, the greatest
economic benefit for Executive as determined on an after-tax basis; (B) as a second priority, Payments that are contingent on future events (e.g., being
terminated without cause), shall be reduced (or eliminated) before Payments that are not contingent on future events; and (C) as a third priority, Payments
that are “deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code shall be reduced (or eliminated) before Payments that are not deferred
compensation within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code.

Unless Executive and the Company agree on an alternative accounting firm or law firm, the accounting firm engaged by the Company for general tax
compliance purposes as of the day prior to the effective date of the Change in Control shall perform the foregoing calculations. If the accounting firm so
engaged by the Company is serving as accountant or auditor for the individual, entity or group effecting the Change in Control, the Company shall appoint
a nationally recognized accounting or law firm to make the determinations required hereunder. The Company shall bear all expenses with respect to the
determinations by such accounting or law firm required to be made hereunder. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the
accounting or law firm engaged to make the determinations hereunder to provide its calculations, together with detailed supporting documentation, to
Executive and the Company within fifteen (15) calendar days after the date on which Executive’s right to a 280G Payment becomes reasonably likely to
occur (if requested at that time by Executive or the Company) or such other time as requested by Executive or the Company.

If Executive receives a Payment for which the Reduced Amount was determined pursuant to clause (x) of Section 8(b) and the Internal Revenue Service
determines thereafter that some portion of the Payment is subject to the Excise Tax, Executive shall promptly return to the Company a sufficient amount of
the Payment (after reduction pursuant to clause (x) of Section 8(b)) so that no portion of the remaining Payment is subject to the Excise Tax. For the
avoidance of doubt, if the Reduced Amount was determined pursuant to clause (y) Section 8(b), Executive shall have no obligation to return any portion of
the Payment pursuant to the preceding sentence.




9. Assignment. The Company shall have the right to assign this Agreement and its rights and obligations hereunder in whole, but not in part, to any corporation
or other entity with or into which the Company may hereafter merge or consolidate or to which the Company may transfer all or substantially all of its assets, if in any such case
said corporation or other entity shall by operation of law or expressly in writing assume all obligations of the Company hereunder as fully as if it had been originally made a
party hereto, but may not otherwise assign this Agreement or its rights and obligations hereunder. The Executive may not assign or transfer this Agreement or any rights or
obligations hereunder.

10. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the State of California, without
regard to principles of conflict of laws.

1. Jurisdiction and Venue. The parties acknowledge that a substantial portion of the negotiations, anticipated performance and execution of this Agreement
occurred or shall occur in Los Angeles County, California, and that, therefore, without limiting the jurisdiction or venue of any other federal or state courts, each of the parties
irrevocably and unconditionally: (a) agrees that any suit, action or legal proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement which is expressly permitted by the terms of this
Agreement to be brought in a court of law, shall be brought in the courts of record of the State of California in Los Angeles County or the court of the United States, Central
District of California; (b) consents to the jurisdiction of each such court in any such suit, action or proceeding; (c) waives any objection which it or he may have to the laying of
venue of any such suit, action or proceeding in any of such courts; and (d) agrees that service of any court papers may be effected on such party by mail, as provided in this
Agreement, or in such other manner as may be provided under applicable laws or court rules in such courts.

12. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and, upon its
effectiveness, shall supersede all prior agreements, understandings and arrangements, both oral and written, between the Executive and the Company (or any of its affiliates)
with respect to such subject matter. This Agreement may not be modified in any way unless by a written instrument signed by both the Company and the Executive.

13. Notices. All notices required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered by courier, sent by registered or certified
mail, return receipt requested or sent by confirmed electronic transmission addressed as set forth herein. Notices personally delivered, sent by facsimile or e-mail or sent by
overnight courier shall be deemed given on the date of delivery and notices mailed in accordance with the foregoing shall be deemed given upon the earlier of receipt by the
addressee, as evidenced by the return receipt thereof, or three days after deposit in the U.S. mail. Notice shall be sent: (a) if to the Company, addressed to 700 N. Central Ave.,
Suite 430, Glendale, California 91203, Attention: Chairman of the Board and Chief Legal Officer; and (b) if to the Executive, to his address as reflected on the payroll records of
the Company, or to such other address as either party shall request by notice to the other in accordance with this provision.

14. Benefits; Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be for the benefit of and binding upon the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives,
legal representatives, successors and, where permitted and applicable, assigns, including, without limitation, any successor to the Company, whether by merger, consolidation,
sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise.

15. Right to Consult with Counsel; No Drafting Party. The Executive acknowledges having read and considered all of the provisions of this Agreement
carefully, and having had the opportunity to consult with counsel of his own choosing, and, given this, the Executive agrees that the obligations created hereby are not
unreasonable. The Executive acknowledges that he has had an opportunity to negotiate any and all of these provisions and no rule of construction shall be used that would
interpret any provision in favor of or against a party on the basis of who drafted the Agreement.
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16. Severability. The invalidity of any one or more of the words, phrases, sentences, clauses, provisions, sections or articles contained in this Agreement shall not
affect the enforceability of the remaining portions of this Agreement or any part thereof, all of which are inserted conditionally on their being valid in law, and, in the event that
any one or more of the words, phrases, sentences, clauses, provisions, sections or articles contained in this Agreement shall be declared invalid, this Agreement shall be
construed as if such invalid word or words, phrase or phrases, sentence or sentences, clause or clauses, provisions or provisions, section or sections or article or articles had not
been inserted. If such invalidity is caused by length of time or size of area, or both, the otherwise invalid provision will be considered to be reduced to a period or area which
would cure such invalidity.

17. Waivers. The waiver by either party hereto of a breach or violation of any term or provision of this Agreement shall not operate nor be construed as a waiver
of any subsequent breach or violation.

18. Damages; Attorneys Fees. Nothing contained herein shall be construed to prevent the Company or the Executive from seeking and recovering from the
other damages sustained by either or both of them as a result of its or his breach of any term or provision of this Agreement. In the event that either party hereto seeks to collect
any damages resulting from, or the injunction of any action constituting, a breach of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement, then the party found to be at fault shall
pay all reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees of the other.

19. Section Headings. The section and paragraph headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the
meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

20. Rules of Interpretation. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, the following rules shall apply to this Agreement: (a) words in the
singular include the plural and words in the plural include the singular; (b) words importing the use of any gender shall include all genders where the context or the party
referred to so requires, and the rest of the sentence shall be construed as if the necessary grammatical and terminological changes had been made; (c) the word “or” is not
exclusive and “include” and “including” are not limiting; (d) a reference to any agreement or other contract includes any permitted supplements and amendments; (e) a
reference to a section or paragraph in this Agreement shall, unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary, refer to all sub-parts or sub-components of any said section or
paragraph; and (f) words such as “hereunder”, “hereto”, “hereof”, and “herein”, and other words of like import shall, unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary, refer to
the whole of this Agreement and not to any particular clause hereof

21. No Third Party Beneficiary. Nothing expressed or implied in this Agreement is intended, or shall be construed, to confer upon or give any person other than
the Company, the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, legal representatives, successors and permitted assigns, any rights or remedies under or by
reason of this Agreement.

22 . No Set-off or Mitigation. The Company’s obligation to make the payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its obligations
hereunder shall not be affected by any compensation earned by the Executive as a result of his employment by another employer or otherwise, or any set-off, counterclaim,
recoupment, defense or other claim, right or action which the Company may have against the Executive or others. In no event shall the Executive be obligated to seek other
employment or take any other action by way of mitigation of the amounts payable to the Executive under any of the provisions of this Agreement.
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23. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which taken together shall
constitute one and the same instrument. A signed copy of this Agreement (including any digital or electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000,
e.g., www.docusign.com) delivered by electronic mail or other means of electronic transmission of a .pdf or similar file shall be deemed to have the same legal effect as
delivery of an original signed copy of this Agreement.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Employment Agreement as of the date first above written.
COMPANY:
Loop Media, Inc.

By: /s/Jon Niermann

Name: Jon Niermann.

Title: Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
Date: April 8, 2021

EXECUTIVE:

By: /s/ Liam McCallum

Liam McCallum
Chief Product and Technical Officer
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EXHIBIT A
FORM OF AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE

THIS AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE (the “Agreement and General Release”) is entered into on [*], 20[¢], by and between Loop Media, Inc. (the
“Company”) and Liam McCallum (the “Executive”).

WHEREAS, Executive has been employed by the Company and the parties wish to resolve all outstanding claims and disputes between them relating to such
employment;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement and General Release, the sufficiency of which the
parties acknowledge, it is agreed as follows:

1. General Release of Claims. In consideration for the Executive’s promises, covenants and agreements in this Agreement and General Release, the Company agrees to
make the payments provided under Section 5 of the employment agreement entered into by the Company and the Executive on [DATE], 2021 (the “Employment Agreement”),
in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions of such Employment Agreement.

In exchange for the payments described in Section 5 of the Employment Agreement, to which the Executive would not otherwise be entitled, the Executive (for himself and his
heirs, executors, administrators, beneficiaries, personal representatives and assigns) hereby completely, forever, irrevocably and unconditionally release and discharge, to the
maximum extent permitted by law, the Company, the Company’s past, present and future parent organizations, subsidiaries and other affiliated entities, related companies and
divisions and each of their respective past, present and future officers, directors, employees, shareholders, trustees, members, partners, attorneys and agents (in each case,
individually and in their official capacities) and each of their respective employee benefit plans (and such plans’ fiduciaries, agents, administrators and insurers, individually
and in their official capacities), as well as any predecessors, future successors or assigns or estates of any of the foregoing (the “Released Parties”) from any and all claims,
actions, charges, controversies, causes of action, suits, rights, demands, liabilities, obligations, damages, costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, damages and obligations of any kind or
character whatsoever, that the Executive ever had, now has or may in the future claims to have by reason of any act, conduct, omission, transaction, agreement, occurrence or
any other matter whatsoever occurring up to and including the date that the Executive signs this Agreement. This general release of claims includes, without limitation, any and
all claims:

e  of discrimination, harassment, retaliation, or wrongful termination;

e forbreach of contract, whether oral, written, express or implied; breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing, both express and implied; promissory estoppel;
negligent or intentional infliction of emotional distress; fraud; negligent or intentional misrepresentation; negligent or intentional interference with contract or prospective
economic advantage; unfair business practices; defamation; libel or slander; negligence; assault; battery; invasion of privacy; personal injury; compensatory or punitive
damages, or any other claim for damages or injury of any kind whatsoever;

e forviolation or alleged violation of any federal, state or municipal statute, rule, regulation or ordinance, including, but not limited to, the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act of 1967, the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act of 1990, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Acts of 1991, the Americans with
Disabilities Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Equal Pay Act, the Lilly Ledbetter Fair Pay Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining
Notification Act, the Family & Medical Leave Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the federal False Claims Act, the Family First Coronavirus Response Act, the New
York State Human Rights Law, the New York City Human Rights Law, the New York Civil Rights Law, the New York Labor Law, New York paid family leave law, the
New York False Claims Act, any New York wage and hour laws, the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, the Unruh Civil Rights Act, the California False
Claims Act, the California Family Rights Act, the California New Parent Leave Act, the California Labor Code, any California Industrial Welfare Commission Wage
Order, any California wage and hour law, in each case, as such laws have been or may be amended,
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e for employee benefits, including, without limitation, any and all claims under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (excluding COBRA);

to any non-vested ownership interest in the Company, contractual or otherwise, including, but not limited to, claims to stock or stock options or incentive units;

e arising out of or relating to any promise, agreement, offer letter, contract (whether oral, written, express or implied), understanding, personnel policy or practice, or
employee handbook;

e relating to or arising from the Executive’s employment with the Company, the terms and conditions of that employment, and the termination of that employment,
including, without limitation any and all claims for discrimination, harassment, retaliation or wrongful discharge under any common law theory, public policy or any
federal state or local statute or ordinance not expressly listed above; and

e any and all claims for monetary recovery, including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees, experts’ fees, costs and disbursements.

The Executive expressly acknowledges that this general release of claims includes any and all claims arising up to and including the date the Executive signs and returns this
Agreement and General Release which the Executive has or may have against the Released Parties, whether such claims are known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected,
asserted or un-asserted, disclosed or undisclosed. By signing this Agreement and General Release, the Executive expressly waives any right to assert that any such claim,
demand, obligation or cause of action has, through ignorance or oversight, been omitted from the scope of this release and further waives any rights under statute or common
law principles that otherwise prohibit the release of unknown claims. The Executive expressly acknowledges that the Executive does not as of the date of execution of this
Agreement and General Release have any known or suspected claim(s) against any of the Released Parties the factual foundation for which involve(s) unlawful
discrimination or harassment.

Further Release By the Executive Of the Released Parties The Executive expressly acknowledges that, in further consideration of the severance payment and opportunity to
receive such payment set forth in the Employment Contract, the Executive waives all rights afforded by Section 1542 of the Civil Code of the State of California (“Section
1542”), or any other law or statute of similar effect in any jurisdiction with respect to the released Claims, with respect to the Released Parties. Section 1542 states: “A
GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS THAT THE CREDITOR OR RELEASING PARTY DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR
HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, THAT IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER WOULD HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER
SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR.” Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 1542 and for the purpose of implementing a full and complete release of all Claims, the
Executive expressly acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement and General Release releases all Claims existing or arising prior to the Executive’s execution of this
Agreement and General Release which the Executive has or suspects he may have against the Released Parties whether such claims are known or unknown and suspected or
unsuspected by him and the Executive forever waives all inquiries and investigations into any and all such claims. The Executive understands and acknowledges that the
significance and consequence of this waiver of Civil Code §1542, is that even if the Executive should suffer additional injuries or damages arising out of the released Claims,
the Executive will not be permitted to make any claim for those injuries or damages.
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This general release of claims does not apply to. waive or affect any rights or claims that may arise after the date the Executive signs and returns this Agreement and General
Release; any claim for workers” compensation benefits (but it does apply to, waive and affect claims of discrimination and/or retaliation on the basis of having made a workers’
compensation claim); claims for unemployment benefits or any other claims or rights that by law cannot be waived in a private agreement between an employer and employee;
or the Executive’s rights to any vested benefits to which the Executive is entitled under the terms of the applicable employee benefit plan (the “Excluded Claims”). This general
release of claims also does not apply to, waive, affect, limit or interfere with the Executive’s preserved rights described in section 9 below.

2. Waiver of Claims under ADEA: Time to Consider/Revoke. The Executive acknowledges, understands and agrees that the general release of claims insection 1 above
includes, but is not limited to, a waiver and release of all claims that the Executive may have under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended
(the “ADEA”) arising up to and including the date that the Executive signs and returns this Agreement and General Release. As required by the Older Workers Benefit
Protection Act of 1990, the Executive is hereby advised that:

e the Executive is not waiving any rights or claims under the ADEA that may arise after the date the Executive signs this Agreement and General Release; and nothing in this
Agreement and General Release prevents or precludes the Executive from challenging (or seeking a determination of) the validity of the waiver under the ADEA.

The Executive acknowledges that (i) he has been given at least twenty-one (21) calendar days (forty-five (45) days if required under applicable law) to consider this Agreement
and General Release and that modifications hereof which are mutually agreed upon by the parties hereto, whether material or immaterial, do not restart the twenty-one day
period; (ii) he has seven (7) calendar days from the date he executes this Agreement and General Release in which to revoke it; and (iii) this Agreement and General Release
will not be effective or enforceable nor the amounts set forth in Section 1 paid unless the seven-day revocation period ends without revocation by the Executive. Revocation can
be made by delivery and receipt of a written notice of revocation to [INSERT NAME/TITLE AND ADDRESS], by midnight on or before the seventh calendar day after the
Executive signs the Agreement and General Release.

The Executive acknowledges that he has been advised to consult with an attorney of his choice with regard to this Agreement and General Release. The Executive hereby
acknowledges that he understands the significance of this Agreement and General Release, and represents that the terms of this Agreement and General Release are fully
understood and voluntarily accepted by him.

3. No Pending Claims. The Executive represents and warrants that he has no charges, lawsuits, or actions pending in his name against any of the Released Parties relating
to any claim that has been released in this Agreement and General Release. The Executive also represents and warrants that he has not assigned or transferred to any third party
any right or claim against any of the Released Parties that he has released in this Agreement and General Release.

4. Covenant not to Sue. Except as provided in section 9 below, the Executive covenants and agrees that he will not report, institute or file a charge, lawsuit or action (or

encourage, solicit, or voluntarily assist or participate in, the reporting, instituting, filing or prosecution of a charge, lawsuit or action by a third party) against any of the Released
Parties with respect to any claim that has been released in this Agreement and General Release.
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5. Cooperation with Investigations/Litigation. The Executive agrees, at the Company’s request, to reasonably cooperate, by providing truthful information, documents
and testimony, in any Company investigation, litigation, arbitration, or regulatory proceeding regarding events that occurred during his employment with the Company. The
Executive’s requested cooperation may include, for example, making himself reasonably available to consult with the Company’s counsel, providing truthful information and
documents, and to appear to give truthful testimony. The Company will, to the extent permitted by applicable law and court rules, reimburse the Executive for reasonable out-
of-pocket expenses that he incurs in providing any requested cooperation, so long as he provides advance written notice to the Company of such request for reimbursement and

provide satisfactory documentation of the expenses. Nothing in this section is intended to. and shall not. preclude or limit the Executive’s preserved rights described in section 9
below.

6 . Confidentiality of this Agreement and General Release; Non-Disparagement. The Executive agrees that he will not disclose to others the existence or terms of this
Agreement and General Release, except to his immediate family, attorneys and bona fide financial advisors and then only after securing the agreement of such individual(s) to
maintain the confidentiality of this Agreement and General Release. The Executive also agrees that he will not at any time make any disparaging or derogatory statements
concerning the Company or its business, products and services. However, nothing in this section is intended to, and shall not, restrict or limit the Executive from exercising his
preserved rights described in section 9 or restrict or limit him from providing truthful information in response to a subpoena, other legal process or valid governmental inquiry.
To the extent required by law, nothing in this section is intended to, and shall not, restrict or limit the Executive from testifying in an administrative, legislative, or judicial
proceeding concerning alleged criminal conduct or alleged sexual harassment on the part of the Company, or on the part of the agents or employees of the Company, when the
Executive has been required or requested to attend the proceeding pursuant to a court order, subpoena, or written request from an administrative agency or the legislature.

7 . Non-Disclosure/Affirmation of Continuing Obligations. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that the confidentiality, intellectual property assignment, non-
competition, non-solicitation and other restrictive covenants contained in the Employment Agreement (the “Restrictive Covenants™) shall remain in full force and effect in
accordance with their terms, and Executive hereby reaffirms Executive’s agreement to comply with such Restrictive Covenants.

8 . Return of Company Documents and Other Property. The Executive confirms that he has returned to the Company any and all Company documents, materials and
information (whether in hardcopy, on electronic media or otherwise) related to Company business and/or containing any non-public information concerning the Company or its
clients, as well as all equipment, keys, access cards, credit cards, computers, computer hardware and software, electronic devices and any other Company property in his
possession, custody or control. The Executive also represents and warrants that he has not retained copies of any Company documents, materials or information (whether in
hardcopy, on electronic media or otherwise). The Executive also agrees that he will disclose to the Company all passwords necessary or desirable to enable the Company to
access all information which he has password-protected on any of its computer equipment or on its computer network or system.

9. Preserved Rights: This Agreement and General Release is not intended to, and shall not, in any way prohibit, limit or otherwise interfere with
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(a) the Executive’s protected rights under federal, state or local employment discrimination laws (including, without limitation, the ADEA and Title VII) to
communicate or file a charge with, initiate, testify, assist, comply with a subpoena from, or participate in any manner in an investigation or proceeding conducted by, the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) or similar federal, state or local government body or agency charged with enforcing employment discrimination laws;
provided, however, the Executive shall not be entitled to any relief or recovery (whether monetary or otherwise), and the Executive hereby waives any and all rights to relief or
recovery, under, or by virtue of, any such filing of a charge with, or investigation, hearing or proceeding conducted by, the EEOC or any other similar federal, state or local
government agency relating to any claim that has been released in this Agreement and General Release; or

(b) the Executive’s protected right to test in any court, under the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, or like statute or regulation, the validity of the waiver of
rights under ADEA in this Agreement and General Release; or

(c) the Executive’s protected right to disclose any facts necessary to receive unemployment insurance, Medicaid, or other public benefits to which he is entitled;
or

(d) the Executive’s right to enforce the terms of this Agreement and General Release and to exercise his rights relating to any other Excluded Claims.
10. No Admission. Nothing contained in this Agreement and General Release will constitute or be treated as an admission by the Executive, the Company or any of the

other Released Parties of any liability, wrongdoing or violation of law.
11. Miscellaneous

(a) This Agreement and General Release shall inure to the benefit of the Company and the other Released Parties and shall be binding upon the Company and
its successors and assigns. This Agreement and General Release also shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the Executive and his heirs, executors, administrators,
trustees and legal representatives. This Agreement and General Release is personal to the Executive and he may not assign or delegate his rights or duties under this Agreement
and General Release, and any such assignment or delegation will be null and void.

(b) The provisions of this Agreement and General Release are severable. If any provision in this Agreement and General Release is held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable, the remaining provisions of this Agreement and General Release will remain in full force and effect and the invalid, illegal and unenforceable provision shall be

reformed and construed so that it will be valid, legal and enforceable to the maximum extent permitted by law.

(c) The Company and the Executive shall each bear their own costs, fees (including, without limitation, attorney’s fees) and expenses in connection with the
negotiation, preparation and execution of this Agreement and General Release.

(d) The failure of the Company to seek enforcement of any provision of this Agreement and General Release in any instance or for any period of time shall not
be construed as a waiver of such provision or of the Company’s right to seek enforcement of such provision in the future.

(e) Given the full and fair opportunity provided to each party to consult with their respective counsel regarding terms of this Agreement and General Release,
ambiguities shall not be construed against either party by virtue of such party having drafted the subject provision.
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® The headings in this Agreement and General Release are included for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Agreement
and General Release.

(2 This Agreement and General Release may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which together will constitute
one and the same instrument. This Agreement and General Release, or a signature page thereto intended to be attached to a copy of this Agreement and General Release, signed
and transmitted by facsimile machine, telecopier or other electronic means (including via transmittal of a “pdf” file) shall be deemed and treated as an original document. The
signature of any person thereon, for purposes hereof, is to be considered as an original signature, and the document transmitted is to be considered to have the same binding
effect as an original signature on an original document. At the request of any party hereto, any facsimile, telecopy or other electronic document is to be re-executed in original
form by the persons who executed the facsimile, telecopy of other electronic document. No party hereto may raise the use of a facsimile machine, telecopier or other electronic
means or the fact that any signature was transmitted through the use of a facsimile machine, telecopier or other electronic means as a defense to the enforcement of this
Agreement and General Release.

(h) All matters affecting this Agreement and General Release, including the validity thereof, are to be governed by, and interpreted and construed in accordance
with, the laws of the State of California applicable to contracts executed in and to be performed in that State.

13. Opportunity to Review. The Executive represents and warrants that he:

has had sufficient opportunity to consider this Agreement and General Release;

has carefully read this Agreement and General Release and understand all of its terms;

is not incompetent and has not had a guardian, conservator or trustee appointed for him;

has entered into this Agreement and General Release of his own free will and volition and that, except for the promises expressly made by the Company in this
Agreement and General Release, no other promises or agreements of any kind have been made to him by any person or entity whatsoever to cause him to sign this
Agreement and General Release;

understands that he is responsible for his own attorneys’ fees and costs;

has been advised and encouraged by the Company to consult with his own independent counsel before signing this Agreement and General Release;

has had the opportunity to review this Agreement and General Release with counsel of his choice or has chosen voluntarily not to do so;

was given at least twenty-one (21) days (forty-five (45) days if required under applicable law) to review this Agreement and General Release before signing it and
understood that he was free to use as much or as little of the review period as he wished or considered necessary before deciding to sign it; and

e understands that this Agreement and General Release is valid, binding, and enforceable against the Executive and the Company according to its terms.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS THIS PAGE]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive has executed this Agreement and General Release on the date set forth below.

Witness:

Liam McCallum
[Address]

Agreed to and accepted on

LOOP MEDIA, INC.

By:

Name:
Title:
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Loop Media. Inc. 10-K

Exhibit 10.6

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the date set forth on the signature page hereto, by and between Loop
Media, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the “Company”), and Andy Schuon (hereinafter, the “Executive”).

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, the Executive is currently employed as the Head of Loop Media Studios for the Company; and
WHEREAS, the Executive possesses intimate knowledge of the business and affairs of the Company, its policies, methods and personnel; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) recognizes that the Executive has contributed to the growth and success of the Company, and
desires to assure the Company of the Executive’s continued employment and to compensate him therefor; and

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that this Agreement will reinforce and encourage the Executive’s continued attention and dedication to the Company; and
WHEREAS, the Executive is willing to make his services available to the Company on the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.

NOW, THEREFORE, for the reasons set forth hereinabove, and in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein and other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby covenant and agree as follows:

1. Employment.

1.1 Employment and Term. The Company hereby agrees to employ the Executive and the Executive hereby agrees to serve the Company on the terms and
conditions set forth herein.

1.2 Duties of Executive. During the Term of Employment under this Agreement, the Executive shall serve as the Head of Loop Media Studios for the

Company, shall faithfully and diligently perform all services as may be assigned to him by the Board (provided that, such services shall not materially differ from the services
currently provided by the Executive), and shall exercise such power and authority as may from time to time be delegated to him by the Board. The Executive shall devote his
full time and attention to the business and affairs of the Company, render such services to the best of his ability, and use his reasonable best efforts to promote the interests of the
Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision of this Agreement, it shall not be a breach or violation of this Agreement for the Executive to: (a) serve on

corporate, civic or charitable boards or committees; (b) deliver lectures, fulfill speaking engagements or teach at educational institutions; or (c) manage personal investments, so
long as such activities do not significantly interfere with or significantly detract from the performance of the Executive’s responsibilities to the Company in accordance with this
Agreement.

2. Term.
2.1 Initial Term. The initial Term of Employment (as defined below) under this Agreement, and the employment of the Executive hereunder, shall

commence on the date hereof (the “Commencement Date”) and shall expire on the date that is three years from the date hereof unless sooner terminated in accordance with
Article 5 hereof (the “Initial Term”).




2.2 Renewal Terms. At the end of the Initial Term, the Term of Employment automatically shall renew for successive three (3) year terms (subject to
earlier termination as provided in Article 5 hereof), unless the Company or the Executive delivers written notice to the other at least three months prior to the Expiration Date of
its or his election not to renew the Term of Employment.

2.3 Term of Employment and Expiration Date. The period during which the Executive shall be employed by the Company pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement is sometimes referred to in this Agreement as the “Term of Employment”, and the date on which the Term of Employment shall expire (including the date on
which any renewal term shall expire), is sometimes referred to in this Agreement as the “Expiration Date.”

3. Compensation.

3.1 Base Salary. The Executive shall receive a base salary at the annual rate of $276,000 (the ‘Base Salary”) during the Term of Employment, with such
Base Salary payable in installments consistent with the Company’s normal payroll schedule, subject to applicable withholding and other taxes. The Base Salary shall be adjusted
for annual merit increases of a minimum of 5% and may, by action and in the discretion of the Board, be increased at any time or from time to time, but may not be decreased.

32 Bonuses.

(a) During the Term of Employment, the Executive shall participate in the Company’s annual cash incentive plan, program and/or arrangements
applicable to senior-level executives as established and modified from time to time by the Compensation Committee of the Board, if one exists, otherwise by the Board in its
sole and absolute discretion. During the Term of Employment, the Executive shall have a threshold bonus opportunity under such plan or program equal to 40 percent of his
current Base Salary, a target bonus opportunity under such plan or program equal to 65 percent of his current Base Salary, and a maximum bonus under such plan or program
equal to 100 percent of his current Base Salary, in each case based on satisfaction of performance criteria to be established by the Compensation Committee of the Board, if one
exists, otherwise by the Board within three (3) months of the entry into this Agreement and within the first three months of each fiscal year that begins thereafter during the
Term of Employment. Payment of cash incentive awards shall be made in the same manner and at the same time that other senior-level executives receive their annual cash
incentive awards.

(b) The Company agrees that during the Executive’s Term of Employment, should shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001
per share (“Common Stock”) be listed on an exchange registered as a national securities exchange under Section 6 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the ‘Uplisting”), the
Company shall pay the Executive a one-time bonus of $250,000. Any bonus payable in connection with the Uplisting pursuant to this Article 3 shall be paid within thirty (30)
days of the Uplisting. Any such payment will be considered an advance against earned Incentive Compensation.

(c) For the Bonus Period in which the Executive’s employment with the Company terminates for any reason other than by the Company for
Cause under Section 5.1 hereof, the Company shall pay the Executive a pro rata portion (based upon the period ending on the date on which the Executive’s employment with
the Company terminates) of the bonus otherwise payable under Section 3.2(a) hereof for the Bonus Period in which such termination of employment occurs; provided, however,
that: (i) the Bonus Period shall be deemed to end on the last day of the fiscal quarter of the Company in which the Executive’s employment so terminates; and (ii) the business
criteria used to determine the bonus for this short Bonus Period shall be annualized and shall be determined based upon unaudited financial information prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, applied consistently with prior periods, and reviewed and approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board, if one exists,
otherwise by the Board. The compensation for this Bonus Period is sometimes hereinafter referred to as the “Termination Year Bonus.”




(d) The Executive shall receive such additional bonuses, if any, as the Compensation Committee of the Board, if one exists, otherwise as the
Board may in its sole and absolute discretion determine.

(e)  Any bonuses payable pursuant to this Section 3.2 are sometimes hereinafter referred to as “Incentive Compensation.” Each period for which
Incentive Compensation is payable is sometimes hereinafter referred to as a “Bonus Period.”

(f)  Any Incentive Compensation payable pursuant to this Section 3.2 shall be paid by the Company to the Executive within 75 days after the end
of the Bonus Period for which it is payable.

3.3 Review of Agreement. Base Salary and Incentive Compensation. The Company agrees that this Agreement and the Executive’s Base Salary shall be
reviewed in coordination with any Uplisting or a significant financing in an amount of at least $20,000,000. Further, the Company agrees that the Executive’s Incentive
Compensation shall be reviewed upon the final pricing of any Uplisting, or if an Uplisting does not occur, the Executive’s Incentive Compensation shall be reviewed within
twelve (12) months of the Commencement Date.

4, Expense Reimbursement and Other Benefits.

4 .1 Reimbursement of Expenses. Upon the submission of proper substantiation by the Executive, and subject to such rules and guidelines as the
Company may from time to time adopt with respect to the reimbursement of expenses of executive personnel, the Company shall reimburse the Executive for all reasonable
expenses actually paid or incurred by the Executive during the Term of Employment in the course of and pursuant to the business of the Company. The Executive shall account
to the Company in writing for all expenses for which reimbursement is sought and shall supply to the Company copies of all relevant invoices, receipts or other evidence
reasonably requested by the Company.

4 . 2 Compensation/Benefit Programs. During the Term of Employment, the Executive shall be entitled to participate in all medical, dental,
hospitalization, accidental death and dismemberment, disability, travel and life insurance plans, and any and all other plans as are presently and hereinafter offered by the
Company to its executive personnel, including savings, pension, profit-sharing and deferred compensation plans, subject to the general eligibility and participation provisions set
forth in such plans.

4.3 Working Facilities. During the Term of Employment, the Company shall furnish the Executive with an office, administrative assistance and such
other facilities and services suitable to his position and adequate for the performance of his duties hereunder. During any period of time where the Company supports or requires
remote working, including during the COVID-19 pandemic of 2020/2021, the Company shall pay reasonable fees and expenses for the cost of a mobile phone, home/laptop
computer, software, office furniture, internet connection and other items that are reasonably required and appropriate for the performance of his duties hereunder.




4.4 Equity Awards. During the Term of Employment, the Executive shall be eligible to be granted equity awards under (and therefore subject to all
terms and conditions of) the Company’s equity incentive plan or such other plans or programs as the Company may from time to time adopt, and subject to all rules of
regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission applicable thereto. The number and type of equity awards, and the terms and conditions thereof, shall be determined by
the Compensation Committee of the Board, if one exists, otherwise by the Board in its discretion and pursuant to the equity incentive plan. These include annual grants of
Common Stock, restricted stock units and stock options.

4.5 Other Benefits. The Executive shall receive such additional benefits, if any, as the Board shall from time to time determine.

4.6 Withholding. Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, all payments required to be made by the Company hereunder to the
Executive or his estate or beneficiaries shall be subject to the withholding of such amounts relating to taxes as the Company may reasonably determine it should withhold
pursuant to any applicable law or regulation. In lieu of withholding such amounts, in whole or in part, the Company may, in its sole discretion, accept other provisions for
payment of taxes and withholding as required by law, provided it is satisfied that all requirements of law affecting its responsibilities to withhold have been satisfied.

5. Termination.

5.1 Termination for Cause. The Company shall at all times have the right, upon written notice to the Executive, to terminate the Term of Employment,
for Cause as defined below. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Cause” shall mean:

(a) an action or omission of the Executive which constitutes a willful and material breach of, or willful and material failure or refusal (other
than by reason of his disability or incapacity) to perform his duties under this Agreement which is not cured within 60 days after receipt by the Executive of written notice of
same;

(b) fraud, embezzlement, misappropriation of funds or breach of trust in connection with his services hereunder;
(c) a conviction of, or entry of a plea of guilty ornolo contendere to, a felony (other than a traffic violation); or
(d) gross negligence in connection with the performance of the Executive’s duties hereunder, which is not cured within 60 days after receipt by

the Executive of written notice of same.

Any termination for Cause shall be made by notice in writing to the Executive, which notice shall set forth in reasonable detail all acts or omissions upon
which the Company is relying for such termination, and providing the Executive with an opportunity to cure (if curable) within a reasonable period of time. No termination of
the Executive’s employment for Cause shall be permitted unless the date of termination occurs during the 120-day period immediately following the date that the events or
actions constituting Cause first become known to the Board. Upon any termination pursuant to this Section 5.1, the Company shall:

1) pay to the Executive any unpaid and accrued Base Salary through the date of termination; and




(ii) pay to the Executive his accrued but unpaid Incentive Compensation, if any, for any Bonus Period ending on or before the date of the
termination of Executive’s employment with the Company.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.1, the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).

5.2 Disability. In the event the Executive shall be unable, or fail, to perform the essential functions of his position, with or without reasonable
accommodation, for any period of six months or more in any 12-month period, the Company shall have the option, in accordance with applicable law, to terminate this
Agreement upon written notice to the Executive. Upon termination pursuant to this Section 5.2, the Company shall:

(a) pay to the Executive any unpaid and accrued Base Salary through the effective date of termination specified in such notice;

(b) pay to the Executive his accrued but unpaid Incentive Compensation, if any, for any Bonus Period ending on or before the date of
termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company at the time provided in Section 3.2(f) hereof;

(c) pay to the Executive a severance payment equal to six (6) months of the Executive’s Base Salary at the time of the termination of the
Executive’s employment with the Company; and

(d) pay to the Executive his Termination Year Bonus, if any, at the time provided in Section 3.2(f) hereof.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.2, the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof.

5.3 Death. Upon the death of the Executive during the Term of Employment, the Company shall:
(a) pay to the estate of the deceased Executive any unpaid and accrued Base Salary through the Executive’s date of death;
(b) pay to the estate of the deceased Executive his accrued but unpaid Incentive Compensation, if any, for any Bonus Period ending on or

before the Executive’s date of death; and
(c) pay to the estate of the deceased Executive, the Executive’s Termination Year Bonus, if any, at the time provided in Section 3.2(f) hereof.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.3, the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of the Executive’s death, subject, however to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).




5.4 Termination Without Cause. The Company shall have the right to terminate the Term of Employment at any time by written notice to the Executive
not less than 60 days prior to the effective date of such termination. Upon any termination pursuant to this Section 5.4 (that is not a termination under any of Sections 5.1, 5.2,
5.3, 5.5 or 5.6 hereof), the Company shall:

(a) pay to the Executive any unpaid and accrued Base Salary through the termination of this Agreement;

(b) pay to the Executive the accrued but unpaid Incentive Compensation, if any, for any Bonus Period ending on or before the termination of
this Agreement;

(c) pay to the Executive his pro rata Termination Year Bonus,, at the time provided in Section 3.2(f) hereof;

(d) pay to the Executive as a single lump sum payment, within 30 days of the date of the Termination of the Term of Employment equal to six

(6) months of the Executive’s Base Salary then in effect;
(e) ensure that any stock awards still vesting would become fully vested; and.

Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the Executive’s right to receive any severance benefits pursuant to this Section 5.4 shall be subject to his
execution and delivery to the Company of a general release of claims in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (with such changes as may be reasonably required to
such form to help ensure its enforceability in light of any changes in applicable law) not more than twenty-one (21) days (forty-five (45) days if required under applicable law)
after the date the Company provides the final form of release to the Executive (and the Executive’s not revoking such release within any revocation period provided under
applicable law). The Company shall provide the final form of release agreement to the Executive not later than seven (7) days following the date of the termination date.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.4, the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).

5.5 Termination by Executive.

(a) The Executive shall at all times have the right, by written notice not less than 60 days prior to the termination date, to terminate the Term of
Employment.

(b) Upon termination of the Term of Employment pursuant to this Section 5.5 (that is not a termination under Section 5.6 hereof) by the
Executive without Good Reason (as defined below), the Company shall:

@) pay to the Executive any unpaid and accrued Base Salary through the effective date of termination of the Term of Employment
specified in such notice; and

(ii) pay to the Executive his accrued but unpaid Incentive Compensation, if any, for any Bonus Period ending on or before the date on
which the Term of Employment terminates.




Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.5(b), the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).

(c) Upon termination of the Term of Employment pursuant to this Section 5.5 (that is not a termination under Section 5.6 hereof) by the
Executive for Good Reason, the Company shall pay to the Executive the same amounts, and shall continue to provide or compensate for all benefits in the same amounts, that
would have been payable or provided by the Company to the Executive under Section 5.4 of this Agreement if the Term of Employment had been terminated by the Company
without Cause.

Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the Executive’s right to receive any severance benefits pursuant to this Section 5.5(c) shall be subject to his
execution and delivery to the Company of a general release of claims in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (with such changes as may be reasonably required to
such form to help ensure its enforceability in light of any changes in applicable law) not more than twenty-one (21) days (forty-five (45) days if required under applicable law)
after the date the Company provides the final form of release to the Executive (and the Executive’s not revoking such release within any revocation period provided under
applicable law). The Company shall provide the final form of release agreement to the Executive not later than seven (7) days following the date of the termination date.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.5(c), the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).

(d) For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean:

@) the assignment to the Executive of any duties inconsistent in any material respect with the Executive’s position (including status,
offices, titles and reporting requirements), authority, duties or responsibilities as contemplated by Section 1.2 of this Agreement, or any other action by the Company which
results in a diminution in such position, authority, duties or responsibilities, excluding for this purpose an isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and
which is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of notice thereof given by the Executive;

(i) any material failure by the Company to comply with any of the provisions of Article 3 of this Agreement, other than an isolated,
insubstantial and inadvertent failure not occurring in bad faith and which is remedied by the Company promptly after receipt of written notice thereof given by the Executive;

(iii) the Company’s requiring the Executive to be based at any office or location more than 30 miles from the location of the
Company’s office on the Commencement Date, except for travel reasonably required in the performance of the Executive’s responsibilities; and

(iv) any purported termination by the Company of the Executive’s employment otherwise than for Cause pursuant to Section 5.1 hereof, or
by reason of the Executive’s disability pursuant to Section 5.2 of this Agreement, prior to the Expiration Date.




5.6 Change in Control of the Company.

(a) In the event that: (i) a Change in Control (as defined in paragraph (b) of this Section 5.6) in the Company shall occur during the Term of
Employment; and (ii) either: (A) prior to the earlier of the Expiration Date and one year after the date of the Change in Control, either: (1) the Term of Employment is
terminated by the Company without Cause, pursuant to Section 5.4 hereof or (2) the Executive terminates the Term of Employment for Good Reason as defined in Section 5.5(d)
hereof, or (B) the Executive terminates the Term of Employment for any reason within 30 days after the Change in Control occurs, the Company shall:

@) pay to the Executive any unpaid Base Salary through the effective date of termination;

(ii) pay to the Executive the Incentive Compensation, if any, not yet paid to the Executive for any year prior to such termination, at
such time as the Incentive Compensation otherwise would have been payable to the Executive;

(iif) pay to the Executive his Termination Year Bonus, if any, at the time provided in Section 3.2 hereof; and

(iv) pay to the Executive as a single lump sum payment, within 30 days of the termination of the Term of Employment, equal to the
sum of (x) two (2) times the sum of the Executive’s annual Base Salary, Incentive Compensation, and the value of the annual fringe benefits (based upon their cost to the
Company) required to be provided to the Executive under Sections 4.2 and 4.4 hereof, for the fiscal year immediately preceding the year in which the Term of Employment
terminates, plus (y) the value of the portion of his benefits under any savings, pension, profit sharing or deferred compensation plans that are forfeited under those plans by
reason of the termination of his employment hereunder.

Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the Executive’s right to receive any severance benefits pursuant to this Section 5.6 shall be subject to his
execution and delivery to the Company of a general release of claims in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (with such changes as may be reasonably required to
such form to help ensure its enforceability in light of any changes in applicable law) not more than twenty-one (21) days (forty-five (45) days if required under applicable law)
after the date the Company provides the final form of release to the Executive (and the Executive’s not revoking such release within any revocation period provided under
applicable law). The Company shall provide the final form of release agreement to the Executive not later than seven (7) days following the date of the termination date.

Upon any termination effected and compensated pursuant to this Section 5.6(a), the Company shall have no further liability hereunder (other than for
reimbursement for reasonable business expenses incurred prior to the date of termination, subject, however, to the provisions of Section 4.1 hereof).

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Change in Control” shall mean:

@) The acquisition by any Person of Beneficial Ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934) of more than 50 percent of either (A) the then outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company (the “Outstanding Company Capital Stock”); or (B)
the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors (the “Outstanding Company Voting
Securities”) (the foregoing Beneficial Ownership hereinafter being referred to as a ‘Controlling Interest”); provided, however, that for purposes of this Section 5.6(b), the
following acquisitions shall not constitute or result in a Change in Control: (1) any acquisition directly from the Company; (2) any acquisition by the Company; (3) any
acquisition by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any subsidiary of the Company; or (4) any acquisition by any
corporation pursuant to a transaction which complies with clauses (A), (B) and (C) of subsection (iii) below; or




(ii) During any period of two consecutive years (not including any period prior to the Commencement Date) individuals who
constitute the Board on the Commencement Date (the “Incumbent Board”) cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board;provided, however, that any
individual becoming a director subsequent to the Commencement Date whose election, or nomination for election by the Company’s shareholders, was approved by a vote of at
least a majority of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board shall be considered as though such individual were a member of the Incumbent Board, but excluding, for
this purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of office occurs as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of
directors or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other than the Board; or

(iii) Consummation of a reorganization, merger, statutory share exchange or consolidation or similar corporate transaction involving
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, or the acquisition of assets or stock of another entity by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries (each a “Business Combination”), in each case, unless, following such Business Combination: (A) all or substantially all of the
individuals and entities who were the Beneficial Owners, respectively, of the Outstanding Company Capital Stock and Outstanding Company Voting Securities immediately
prior to such Business Combination beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 50 percent of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock and the combined voting
power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, as the case may be, of the corporation resulting from such Business
Combination (including, without limitation, a corporation which as a result of such transaction owns the Company or all or substantially all of the Company’s assets either
directly or through one or more subsidiaries) in substantially the same proportions as their ownership, immediately prior to such Business Combination of the Outstanding
Company Capital Stock and Outstanding Company Voting Securities, as the case may be; (B) any Person that as of the Commencement Date owns Beneficial Ownership of a
Controlling Interest beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, more than 50 percent of the then outstanding shares of Common Stock of the corporation resulting from such
Business Combination or the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of such corporation except to the extent that such ownership existed prior to the
Business Combination; and (C) at least a majority of the members of the Board of Directors of the corporation resulting from such Business Combination were members of the
Incumbent Board at the time of the execution of this initial Agreement, or of the action of the Board, providing for such Business Combination; or

@iv) approval by the shareholders of the Company of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

(c) For purposes of Section 5.6(b) hereof, the term ‘Person” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, and shall include a “group” as defined in Section 13(d) thereof.

5.7 Resignation. Upon any termination of employment pursuant to this Article 5, the Executive shall be deemed to have resigned as an officer of the Company
and its subsidiaries, and if he was then serving as a director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, be deemed to resign as a director of the Company and its subsidiaries,

and if required by the Board, the Executive shall upon such termination execute a resignation letter to the applicable board of directors.

5.8 Survival. The provisions of this Article 5 shall survive the termination of the Term of Employment or expiration of the term of this Agreement.




6. Restrictive Covenants.
6.1 Confidential Information.

(a) Executive hereby understands and acknowledges that because of Executive’s experience with and relationship to the Company, in the
course of his Term of Employment he will acquire knowledge and will have access to and learn about confidential, secret and proprietary documents, materials, data, and other
information, in tangible and intangible form, of and relating to the Company and its businesses (“Confidential Information”). Executive further understands and acknowledges
that this Confidential Information and the Company’s ability to reserve it for the exclusive knowledge and use of the Company is of great competitive importance and
commercial value to the Company, and that improper use or disclosure of the Confidential Information by the Executive might cause the Company to incur financial costs, loss
of business advantage, liability under confidentiality agreements with third parties, civil damages and criminal penalties.

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, Confidential Information includes, but is not limited to, all information not generally known to the public,
in spoken, printed, electronic or any other form or medium, relating directly or indirectly to: business processes, practices, methods, policies, plans, publications, documents,
research, operations, services, strategies, techniques, agreements, contracts, terms of agreements, transactions, potential transactions, negotiations, pending negotiations, know-
how, trade secrets, computer programs, computer software, source codes, object codes, applications, operating systems, software design, web design, databases, device
configurations, embedded data, compilations, metadata, technologies, manuals, records, articles, systems, content, sources of content, vendor information, financial information,
results, accounting information, accounting records, legal information, marketing information, advertising information, pricing information, credit information, payroll
information, personnel information, employee lists, content provider lists, vendor lists, developments, reports, internal controls, security procedures, graphics, drawings,
sketches, market studies, sales information, revenue, costs, notes, communications, algorithms, product plans, service plans, ideas, audiovisual programs, inventions,
unpublished patent applications, original works of authorship, discoveries, experimental processes, experimental results, specifications, distributor lists, customer information,
customer lists, client information and client lists of the Company or its businesses or any existing or prospective customer, content provider, investor or other associated third
party, or of any other person or entity that has entrusted information to the Company in confidence.

(c) The Executive understands and acknowledges that the above list is not exhaustive, and that Confidential Information also includes other
information that is marked or otherwise identified as confidential or proprietary, or that would otherwise appear to a reasonable person to be confidential or proprietary in the
context and circumstances in which the information is known or used.

(d) The Executive understands and acknowledges that Confidential Information developed by him in the course of his employment by the
Company shall be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement as if the Company furnished the same Confidential Information to the Executive in the first instance.
Confidential Information shall not include information that is generally available to and known by the public at the time of disclosure to the Executive, provided that such
disclosure is through no direct or indirect fault of the Executive or person(s) acting on the Executive’s behalf.

(e) For purposes of this Agreement, all information regarding specific prospective and existing customers and clients of the Company and other
individuals and businesses with whom the Company does business is collectively referred to as “Customer/Client Information” and includes, but is not limited to, names,
phone numbers, addresses, email addresses, order history, order preferences, chain of command, pricing information, and other information identifying facts and circumstances
specific to the customer/client and relevant to sales/services. All books, records, accounts and information relating in any manner to the Customer/Client Information, whether
prepared by the Executive or otherwise coming into the Executive’s possession, shall be the exclusive property of the Company and shall be returned immediately to the
Company on termination of the Executive’s employment hereunder or on the Company’s request at any time.
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6.2 Disclosure and Use Restrictions.

(a) Executive covenants and agrees to treat all Confidential Information as strictly confidential, and:

(ii) not to directly or indirectly disclose, publish, communicate, or make available Confidential Information, or allow it to be disclosed,
published, communicated or made available, in whole or part, to any entity or person whatsoever (including other employees of the Company) not having a need to know and
authority to know and to use the Confidential Information in connection with the business of the Company and, in any event, not to anyone outside of the direct employ of the
Company except as required in the performance of any of the Executive’s authorized employment duties to the Company; and

(iii) not to access or use any Confidential Information, and not to copy any documents, records, files, media, or other resources
containing any Confidential Information, or remove any such documents, records, files, media, or other resources from the premises or control of the Company, except as
required in the performance of any of the Executive’s authorized employment duties to the Company. The Executive understands and acknowledges that the Executive’s
obligations under this Agreement regarding any particular Confidential Information begin immediately and shall continue during and after the Executive’s employment by the
Company until the Confidential Information has become public knowledge other than as a result of the Executive’s breach of this Agreement or a breach by those acting in
concert with the Executive or on the Executive’s behalf.

(b) Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to prevent disclosure of Confidential Information as may be required by applicable law or
regulation, or pursuant to the valid order of a court of competent jurisdiction or an authorized government agency, provided that the disclosure does not exceed the extent of
disclosure required by such law, regulation, or order. The Executive shall promptly provide written notice of any such order to an authorized officer of the Company.

(c) Nothing in this Agreement prohibits or restricts the Executive (or the Executive’s attorney) from initiating communications directly with,
responding to an inquiry from, or providing testimony before the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA), any other
self-regulatory organization, or any other federal or state regulatory authority regarding a possible securities law violation.

6.3 Duration of Confidentiality Obligations. The Executive understands and acknowledges that his obligations under this Agreement with regard to any
particular Confidential Information shall commence immediately upon the Executive first having access to such Confidential Information (whether before or after he begins
employment by the Company) and shall continue during and after his employment by the Company until such time as such Confidential Information has become public
knowledge other than as a result of the Executive’s breach of this Agreement or breach by those acting in concert with the Executive or on the Executive’s behalf.

6.4 Non-solicitation of Customers/Clients and Employees. Executive specifically understands and acknowledges that he will have access to Confidential
Information, including, specifically, without limitation, Customer/Client Information and trade secrets. Executive covenants and agrees that during the Restricted Period, except
as otherwise approved in writing by the Company, Executive shall not, either directly or indirectly, for himself, or through, on behalf of, or in conjunction with any person,
persons, partnership, association, corporation, or entity:




(a) Use any Confidential Information, including, specifically, any Customer/Client Information and/or trade secrets to directly or indirectly
solicit the customers/clients of the Company, or use to disrupt, disturb, or interfere with the relationships of the Company with its customers/clients; or

(b) Disrupt, disturb or interfere with the business of the Company by directly or indirectly soliciting, recruiting, attempting to recruit, or raiding
the employees of the Company, or otherwise inducing the termination of employment of any employee of the Company. Executive also agrees and covenants not to use any
Confidential Information to directly or indirectly solicit the employees of the Company.

6.5 Definition of Company. Solely for purposes of this Article 6, the term “Company” also shall include any existing or future subsidiaries of the
Company that are operating during the time periods described herein and any other entities that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, control, are controlled
by or are under common control with the Company during the periods described herein.

6.6 Acknowledgment by Executive. The Executive acknowledges and confirms that the restrictive covenants contained in this Article 6 (including
without limitation the length of the term of the Restricted Period) are reasonably necessary to protect the legitimate business interests of the Company, and are not overbroad,
overlong, or unfair and are not the result of overreaching, duress or coercion of any kind. The Executive further acknowledges and confirms that the compensation payable to the
Executive under this Agreement is in consideration for the duties and obligations of the Executive hereunder, including the restrictive covenants contained in this Article 6, and
that such compensation is sufficient, fair and reasonable. The Executive further acknowledges and confirms that his full, uninhibited and faithful observance of each of the
covenants contained in this Article 6 will not cause him any undue hardship, financial or otherwise, and that enforcement of each of the covenants contained herein will not
impair his ability to obtain employment commensurate with his abilities and on terms fully acceptable to him or otherwise to obtain income required for the comfortable support
of him and his family and the satisfaction of the needs of his creditors. The Executive acknowledges and confirms that the Confidential Information is such as would cause the
Company serious injury or loss if he were to use such Confidential Information to the benefit of a competitor or were to compete with the Company in violation of the terms of
this Article 6. The Executive further acknowledges that the restrictive covenants contained in this Article 6 are intended to be, and shall be, for the benefit of and shall be
enforceable by, the Company’s successors and assigns. The Executive expressly agrees that upon any breach or violation of the provisions of this Article 6, the Company shall
be entitled, as a matter of right, in addition to any other rights or remedies it may have, to: (a) temporary and/or permanent injunctive relief in any court of competent jurisdiction
as described in Section 6.9 hereof; and (b) such damages as are provided at law or in equity. The existence of any claim or cause of action against the Company or its affiliates,
whether predicated upon this Agreement or otherwise, shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement of the restrictions contained in this Article 6.

6.7 Restricted Period. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Restricted Period” shall mean, and be the same length as, the Term of Employment;
provided, however, if the Term of Employment is terminated by: (i) the Company for Cause (as defined in Section 5.1 hereof); or (ii) the Executive for other than Good Reason
(as defined in Section 5.5(d) hereof), then the Restricted Period shall also include the 12-month period immediately following the termination of the Term of Employment.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Restricted Period shall end in the event that the Company fails to make any payments or provide any benefits required by Article 5 hereof
with 15 days of written notice from the Executive of such failure.




6.8 Reformation by Court. In the event that a court of competent jurisdiction shall determine that any provision of this Article 6 is invalid or more
restrictive than permitted under the governing law of such jurisdiction, then only as to enforcement of this Article 6 within the jurisdiction of such court, such provision shall be
interpreted or reformed and enforced as if it provided for the maximum restriction permitted under such governing law.

6.9 Extension of Time. If the Executive shall be in violation of any provision of this Article 6, then each time limitation set forth in this Article 6 shall
be extended for a period of time equal to the period of time during which such violation or violations occur. If the Company seeks injunctive relief from such violation in any
court, then the covenants set forth in this Article 6 shall be extended for a period of time equal to the pendency of such proceeding including all appeals by the Executive.

6.10 Injunction. It is recognized and hereby acknowledged by the parties hereto that a breach by the Executive of any of the covenants contained in
Article 6 of this Agreement will cause irreparable harm and damage to the Company, the monetary amount of which may be virtually impossible to ascertain. As a result, the
Executive recognizes and hereby acknowledges that the Company shall be entitled to an injunction from any court of competent jurisdiction enjoining and restraining any
violation of any or all of the covenants contained in Article 6 of this Agreement by the Executive or any of his affiliates, associates, partners or agents, either directly or
indirectly, and that such right to injunction shall be cumulative and in addition to whatever other remedies the Company may possess.

6.11 Noncompetition. Except as may otherwise be approved by the Board, duringthe Restricted Period, the Executive shall not have any ownership
interest (of record or beneficial) in, or have any interest as an executive, salesman, consultant, officer or director in, or otherwise aid or assist in any manner, any firm,
corporation, partnership, proprietorship or other business that engages in any county, city or part thereof in the United States and/or any foreign country in a business which
competes directly or indirectly (as determined by the Board) with the business of the Company in such county, city or part thereof, so long as the Company or any successors in
interest to the business and goodwill of the Company, remains engaged in such business in such county, city or part thereof or continues to solicit customers or potential
customers therein; provided, however, that Executive may own, directly or indirectly, solely as an investment, securities of any entity if Executive (x) is not a controlling person
of, or a member of a group which controls, such entity; or (y) does not, directly or indirectly, own five percent (5%) or more of any class of securities of any such entity.

6.12 Survival. The provisions of this Article 6 shall survive termination of this Agreement and the Term of Employment in accordance with the terms
herein.

7. Section 409A of the Code.

(a) The provisions of this Agreement are intended to comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and any final
regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder (“Section 409A”) and shall be construed in a manner consistent with the requirements for avoiding taxes
or penalties under Section 409A. The Company and Executive agree to work together in good faith to consider amendments to this Agreement and to take
such reasonable actions which are necessary, appropriate or desirable to avoid imposition of any additional tax or income recognition prior to actual
payment to Executive under Section 409A.
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©
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To the extent that Executive will be reimbursed for costs and expenses or in-kind benefits, except as otherwise permitted by Section 409A, (a) the right to
reimbursement or in-kind benefits is not subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit, (b) the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-
kind benefits, provided during any taxable year shall not affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided, in any other
taxable year; provided that the foregoing clause (b) shall not be violated with regard to expenses reimbursed under any arrangement covered by
Section 105(b) of the Code solely because such expenses are subject to a limit related to the period the arrangement is in effect and (c) such payments shall
be made on or before the last day of the taxable year following the taxable year in which the expense was incurred.

A termination of employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of any provision of this Agreement providing for the payment of any
amounts or benefits upon or following a termination of employment unless such termination constitutes a “separation from service” within the meaning of
Section 409A and, for purposes of any such provision of this Agreement references to a “termination,” “termination of employment” or like terms shall
have such meaning.

Each installment payable hereunder shall constitute a separate payment for purposes of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b), including Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b)(2)(iii). Each payment that is made within the terms of the “short-term deferral” rule set forth in Treasury Regulation
Section 1.409A-1(b)(4) is intended to meet the “short-term deferral” rule. Each other payment is intended to be a payment upon an involuntary termination
from service and payable pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii), et. seq., to the maximum extent permitted by that regulation, with
any amount that is not exempt from Code Section 409A being subject to Code Section 409A.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if the Executive is a “specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409A at the time of
Executive’s termination, then only that portion of the severance and benefits payable to Executive pursuant to this Agreement, if any, and any other
severance payments or separation benefits which may be considered “deferred compensation” under Section 409A (together, the “Deferred Compensation
Separation Benefits”), which (when considered together) do not exceed the Section 409A Limit (as defined herein) may be made within the first six (6)
months following Executive’s termination of employment in accordance with the payment schedule applicable to each payment or benefit. Any portion of
the Deferred Compensation Separation Benefits in excess of the Section 409A Limit otherwise due to Executive on or within the six (6) month period
following Executive’s termination will accrue during such six (6) month period and will become payable in one lump sum cash payment on the date six (6)
months and one (1) day following the date of Executive’s termination of employment. All subsequent Deferred Compensation Separation Benefits, if any,
will be payable in accordance with the payment schedule applicable to each payment or benefit. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if
Executive dies following termination but prior to the six (6) month anniversary of Executive’s termination date, then any payments delayed in accordance
with this paragraph will be payable in a lump sum as soon as administratively practicable after the date of Executive’s death and all other Deferred
Compensation Separation Benefits will be payable in accordance with the payment schedule applicable to each payment or benefit.
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For purposes of this Agreement, “Section 409A Limit” will mean a sum equal (x) to the amounts payable prior to March 15 following the year in which
Executive is terminated plus (y) the lesser of two (2) times: (i) Executive’s annualized compensation based upon the annual rate of pay paid to Executive
during the Company’s taxable year preceding the Company’s taxable year of Executive’s termination of employment as determined under Section 409A
and any IRS guidance issued with respect thereto; or (ii) the maximum amount that may be taken into account under a qualified plan pursuant to
Section 401(a)(17) of the Code for the year in which Executive’s employment is terminated.

If any payment provided to Executive pursuant to this Agreement is subject to adverse tax consequences under Code Section 409A, then Company shall
make such additional payments to Executive (“409A Gross Up Payments”) as are necessary to provide Executive with enough funds to pay the additional
taxes, interest, and penalties imposed by Code Section 409A (collectively, the “409A Tax”), as well as any additional taxes, including but not limited to
additional 409A Tax, attributable to or resulting from the payment of the 409A Gross Up Payments, with the end result that Executive shall be in the same
position with respect to his tax liability as he would have been in if no 409A Tax had ever been imposed; provided, however, that the Company’s
obligation to make payments under this Section 7 shall be limited to an amount equal to three times the 409A Tax (not including for this purpose 409A Tax
attributable to the payment of any portion of the 409A Gross Up Payment). The Company shall make any payments required by this paragraph no later than
the last day of Executive’s taxable year next following the Executive’s taxable year in which the 409A Tax is remitted to the taxing authority.

Section 280G of the Code: Limitation on Payments.

@

(b)

The provisions of this Agreement are intended to comply with Section 280G of the Code and any final regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder
(“Section 280G”) and shall be construed in a manner consistent with the requirements for avoiding taxes or penalties under Section 280G. The Company
and Executive agree to work together in good faith to consider amendments to this Agreement and to take such reasonable actions which are necessary,
appropriate or desirable to comply with Section 280G.

If any payment or benefit Executive will or may receive from the Company or otherwise (a “280G Payment”) would (i) constitute a “parachute payment”
within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, and (ii) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the
“Excise Tax”), then any such 280G Payment pursuant to this Agreement (a ‘Payment”) shall be equal to the Reduced Amount. The “Reduced Amount”
shall be either (x) the largest portion of the Payment that would result in no portion of the Payment (after reduction) being subject to the Excise Tax, or
(y) the largest portion, up to and including the total, of the Payment, whichever amount (i.e., the amount determined by clause (x) or by clause (y)), after
taking into account all applicable federal, state and local employment taxes, income taxes, and the Excise Tax (all computed at the highest applicable
marginal rate), results in Executive’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, of the greater economic benefit notwithstanding that all or some portion of the Payment
may be subject to the Excise Tax. If a reduction in a Payment is required pursuant to the preceding sentence and the Reduced Amount is determined
pursuant to clause (x) of the preceding sentence, the reduction shall occur in the manner (the “Reduction Method”) that results in the greatest economic
benefit for Executive. If more than one method of reduction will result in the same economic benefit, the items so reduced will be reduced pro rata (the
“Pro Rata Reduction Method”).




©

(d

©

Notwithstanding any provision of paragraph (a) to the contrary, if the Reduction Method or the Pro Rata Reduction Method would result in any portion of
the Payment being subject to taxes pursuant to Section 409A of the Code that would not otherwise be subject to taxes pursuant to Section 409A of the
Code, then the Reduction Method and/or the Pro Rata Reduction Method, as the case may be, shall be modified so as to avoid the imposition of taxes
pursuant to Section 409A of the Code as follows: (A) as a first priority, the modification shall preserve to the greatest extent possible, the greatest
economic benefit for Executive as determined on an after-tax basis; (B) as a second priority, Payments that are contingent on future events (e.g., being
terminated without cause), shall be reduced (or eliminated) before Payments that are not contingent on future events; and (C) as a third priority, Payments
that are “deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code shall be reduced (or eliminated) before Payments that are not deferred
compensation within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code.

Unless Executive and the Company agree on an alternative accounting firm or law firm, the accounting firm engaged by the Company for general tax
compliance purposes as of the day prior to the effective date of the Change in Control shall perform the foregoing calculations. If the accounting firm so
engaged by the Company is serving as accountant or auditor for the individual, entity or group effecting the Change in Control, the Company shall appoint
a nationally recognized accounting or law firm to make the determinations required hereunder. The Company shall bear all expenses with respect to the
determinations by such accounting or law firm required to be made hereunder. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the
accounting or law firm engaged to make the determinations hereunder to provide its calculations, together with detailed supporting documentation, to
Executive and the Company within fifteen (15) calendar days after the date on which Executive’s right to a 280G Payment becomes reasonably likely to
occur (if requested at that time by Executive or the Company) or such other time as requested by Executive or the Company.

If Executive receives a Payment for which the Reduced Amount was determined pursuant to clause (x) of Section 8(b) and the Internal Revenue Service
determines thereafter that some portion of the Payment is subject to the Excise Tax, Executive shall promptly return to the Company a sufficient amount of
the Payment (after reduction pursuant to clause (x) of Section 8(b)) so that no portion of the remaining Payment is subject to the Excise Tax. For the
avoidance of doubt, if the Reduced Amount was determined pursuant to clause (y) Section 8(b), Executive shall have no obligation to return any portion of
the Payment pursuant to the preceding sentence.




9. Assignment. The Company shall have the right to assign this Agreement and its rights and obligations hereunder in whole, but not in part, to any corporation
or other entity with or into which the Company may hereafter merge or consolidate or to which the Company may transfer all or substantially all of its assets, if in any such case
said corporation or other entity shall by operation of law or expressly in writing assume all obligations of the Company hereunder as fully as if it had been originally made a
party hereto, but may not otherwise assign this Agreement or its rights and obligations hereunder. The Executive may not assign or transfer this Agreement or any rights or
obligations hereunder.

10. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the State of California, without
regard to principles of conflict of laws.

1. Jurisdiction and Venue. The parties acknowledge that a substantial portion of the negotiations, anticipated performance and execution of this Agreement
occurred or shall occur in Los Angeles County, California, and that, therefore, without limiting the jurisdiction or venue of any other federal or state courts, each of the parties
irrevocably and unconditionally: (a) agrees that any suit, action or legal proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement which is expressly permitted by the terms of this
Agreement to be brought in a court of law, shall be brought in the courts of record of the State of California in Los Angeles County or the court of the United States, Central
District of California; (b) consents to the jurisdiction of each such court in any such suit, action or proceeding; (c) waives any objection which it or he may have to the laying of
venue of any such suit, action or proceeding in any of such courts; and (d) agrees that service of any court papers may be effected on such party by mail, as provided in this
Agreement, or in such other manner as may be provided under applicable laws or court rules in such courts.

12. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and, upon its
effectiveness, shall supersede all prior agreements, understandings and arrangements, both oral and written, between the Executive and the Company (or any of its affiliates)
with respect to such subject matter. This Agreement may not be modified in any way unless by a written instrument signed by both the Company and the Executive.

13. Notices. All notices required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered by courier, sent by registered or certified
mail, return receipt requested or sent by confirmed electronic transmission addressed as set forth herein. Notices personally delivered, sent by facsimile or e-mail or sent by
overnight courier shall be deemed given on the date of delivery and notices mailed in accordance with the foregoing shall be deemed given upon the earlier of receipt by the
addressee, as evidenced by the return receipt thereof, or three days after deposit in the U.S. mail. Notice shall be sent: (a) if to the Company, addressed to 700 N. Central Ave.,
Suite 430, Glendale, California 91203, Attention: Chairman of the Board and Chief Legal Officer; and (b) if to the Executive, to his address as reflected on the payroll records of
the Company, or to such other address as either party shall request by notice to the other in accordance with this provision.

14. Benefits; Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be for the benefit of and binding upon the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives,
legal representatives, successors and, where permitted and applicable, assigns, including, without limitation, any successor to the Company, whether by merger, consolidation,
sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise.

15. Right to Consult with Counsel; No Drafting Party. The Executive acknowledges having read and considered all of the provisions of this Agreement
carefully, and having had the opportunity to consult with counsel of his own choosing, and, given this, the Executive agrees that the obligations created hereby are not
unreasonable. The Executive acknowledges that he has had an opportunity to negotiate any and all of these provisions and no rule of construction shall be used that would
interpret any provision in favor of or against a party on the basis of who drafted the Agreement.
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16. Severability. The invalidity of any one or more of the words, phrases, sentences, clauses, provisions, sections or articles contained in this Agreement shall not
affect the enforceability of the remaining portions of this Agreement or any part thereof, all of which are inserted conditionally on their being valid in law, and, in the event that
any one or more of the words, phrases, sentences, clauses, provisions, sections or articles contained in this Agreement shall be declared invalid, this Agreement shall be
construed as if such invalid word or words, phrase or phrases, sentence or sentences, clause or clauses, provisions or provisions, section or sections or article or articles had not
been inserted. If such invalidity is caused by length of time or size of area, or both, the otherwise invalid provision will be considered to be reduced to a period or area which
would cure such invalidity.

17. Waivers. The waiver by either party hereto of a breach or violation of any term or provision of this Agreement shall not operate nor be construed as a waiver
of any subsequent breach or violation.

18. Damages; Attorneys Fees. Nothing contained herein shall be construed to prevent the Company or the Executive from seeking and recovering from the
other damages sustained by either or both of them as a result of its or his breach of any term or provision of this Agreement. In the event that either party hereto seeks to collect
any damages resulting from, or the injunction of any action constituting, a breach of any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement, then the party found to be at fault shall
pay all reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees of the other.

19. Section Headings. The section and paragraph headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the
meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.

20. Rules of Interpretation. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, the following rules shall apply to this Agreement: (a) words in the
singular include the plural and words in the plural include the singular; (b) words importing the use of any gender shall include all genders where the context or the party
referred to so requires, and the rest of the sentence shall be construed as if the necessary grammatical and terminological changes had been made; (c) the word “or” is not
exclusive and “include” and “including” are not limiting; (d) a reference to any agreement or other contract includes any permitted supplements and amendments; (e) a
reference to a section or paragraph in this Agreement shall, unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary, refer to all sub-parts or sub-components of any said section or
paragraph; and (f) words such as “hereunder”, “hereto”, “hereof”, and “herein”, and other words of like import shall, unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary, refer to
the whole of this Agreement and not to any particular clause hereof

21. No Third Party Beneficiary. Nothing expressed or implied in this Agreement is intended, or shall be construed, to confer upon or give any person other than
the Company, the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, legal representatives, successors and permitted assigns, any rights or remedies under or by
reason of this Agreement.

22 . No Set-off or Mitigation. The Company’s obligation to make the payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its obligations
hereunder shall not be affected by any compensation earned by the Executive as a result of his employment by another employer or otherwise, or any set-off, counterclaim,
recoupment, defense or other claim, right or action which the Company may have against the Executive or others. In no event shall the Executive be obligated to seek other
employment or take any other action by way of mitigation of the amounts payable to the Executive under any of the provisions of this Agreement.
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23. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which taken together shall
constitute one and the same instrument. A signed copy of this Agreement (including any digital or electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000,
e.g., www.docusign.com) delivered by electronic mail or other means of electronic transmission of a .pdf or similar file shall be deemed to have the same legal effect as
delivery of an original signed copy of this Agreement.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Employment Agreement as of the date first above written.
COMPANY:
Loop Media, Inc.

By: /s/Jon Niermann

Name: Jon Niermann

Title: Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
Date: April 14, 2021

EXECUTIVE:

By:  /s/ Andy Schuon

Andy Schuon
Head of Loop Music Studios
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EXHIBIT A
FORM OF AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE

THIS AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE (the “Agreement and General Release”) is entered into on [*], 20[¢], by and between Loop Media, Inc. (the
“Company”) and Andy Schuon (the “Executive”).

WHEREAS, Executive has been employed by the Company and the parties wish to resolve all outstanding claims and disputes between them relating to such
employment;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement and General Release, the sufficiency of which the
parties acknowledge, it is agreed as follows:

1. General Release of Claims. In consideration for the Executive’s promises, covenants and agreements in this Agreement and General Release, the Company agrees to
make the payments provided under Section 5 of the employment agreement entered into by the Company and the Executive on [DATE], 2021 (the “Employment Agreement”),
in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions of such Employment Agreement.

In exchange for the payments described in Section 5 of the Employment Agreement, to which the Executive would not otherwise be entitled, the Executive (for himself and his
heirs, executors, administrators, beneficiaries, personal representatives and assigns) hereby completely, forever, irrevocably and unconditionally release and discharge, to the
maximum extent permitted by law, the Company, the Company’s past, present and future parent organizations, subsidiaries and other affiliated entities, related companies and
divisions and each of their respective past, present and future officers, directors, employees, shareholders, trustees, members, partners, attorneys and agents (in each case,
individually and in their official capacities) and each of their respective employee benefit plans (and such plans’ fiduciaries, agents, administrators and insurers, individually
and in their official capacities), as well as any predecessors, future successors or assigns or estates of any of the foregoing (the “Released Parties”) from any and all claims,
actions, charges, controversies, causes of action, suits, rights, demands, liabilities, obligations, damages, costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, damages and obligations of any kind or
character whatsoever, that the Executive ever had, now has or may in the future claims to have by reason of any act, conduct, omission, transaction, agreement, occurrence or
any other matter whatsoever occurring up to and including the date that the Executive signs this Agreement. This general release of claims includes, without limitation, any and
all claims:

e  of discrimination, harassment, retaliation, or wrongful termination;

e forbreach of contract, whether oral, written, express or implied; breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing, both express and implied; promissory estoppel;
negligent or intentional infliction of emotional distress; fraud; negligent or intentional misrepresentation; negligent or intentional interference with contract or prospective
economic advantage; unfair business practices; defamation; libel or slander; negligence; assault; battery; invasion of privacy; personal injury; compensatory or punitive
damages, or any other claim for damages or injury of any kind whatsoever;

e forviolation or alleged violation of any federal, state or municipal statute, rule, regulation or ordinance, including, but not limited to, the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act of 1967, the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act of 1990, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Acts of 1991, the Americans with
Disabilities Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Equal Pay Act, the Lilly Ledbetter Fair Pay Act, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining
Notification Act, the Family & Medical Leave Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the federal False Claims Act, the Family First Coronavirus Response Act, the New
York State Human Rights Law, the New York City Human Rights Law, the New York Civil Rights Law, the New York Labor Law, New York paid family leave law, the
New York False Claims Act, any New York wage and hour laws, the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, the Unruh Civil Rights Act, the California False
Claims Act, the California Family Rights Act, the California New Parent Leave Act, the California Labor Code, any California Industrial Welfare Commission Wage
Order, any California wage and hour law, in each case, as such laws have been or may be amended,
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e for employee benefits, including, without limitation, any and all claims under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (excluding COBRA);

to any non-vested ownership interest in the Company, contractual or otherwise, including, but not limited to, claims to stock or stock options or incentive units;

e arising out of or relating to any promise, agreement, offer letter, contract (whether oral, written, express or implied), understanding, personnel policy or practice, or
employee handbook;

e relating to or arising from the Executive’s employment with the Company, the terms and conditions of that employment, and the termination of that employment,
including, without limitation any and all claims for discrimination, harassment, retaliation or wrongful discharge under any common law theory, public policy or any
federal state or local statute or ordinance not expressly listed above; and

e any and all claims for monetary recovery, including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees, experts’ fees, costs and disbursements.

The Executive expressly acknowledges that this general release of claims includes any and all claims arising up to and including the date the Executive signs and returns this
Agreement and General Release which the Executive has or may have against the Released Parties, whether such claims are known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected,
asserted or un-asserted, disclosed or undisclosed. By signing this Agreement and General Release, the Executive expressly waives any right to assert that any such claim,
demand, obligation or cause of action has, through ignorance or oversight, been omitted from the scope of this release and further waives any rights under statute or common
law principles that otherwise prohibit the release of unknown claims. The Executive expressly acknowledges that the Executive does not as of the date of execution of this
Agreement and General Release have any known or suspected claim(s) against any of the Released Parties the factual foundation for which involve(s) unlawful
discrimination or harassment.

Further Release By the Executive Of the Released Parties The Executive expressly acknowledges that, in further consideration of the severance payment and opportunity to
receive such payment set forth in the Employment Contract, the Executive waives all rights afforded by Section 1542 of the Civil Code of the State of California (“Section
1542”), or any other law or statute of similar effect in any jurisdiction with respect to the released Claims, with respect to the Released Parties. Section 1542 states: “A
GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS THAT THE CREDITOR OR RELEASING PARTY DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR
HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, THAT IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER WOULD HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER
SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR.” Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 1542 and for the purpose of implementing a full and complete release of all Claims, the
Executive expressly acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement and General Release releases all Claims existing or arising prior to the Executive’s execution of this
Agreement and General Release which the Executive has or suspects he may have against the Released Parties whether such claims are known or unknown and suspected or
unsuspected by him and the Executive forever waives all inquiries and investigations into any and all such claims. The Executive understands and acknowledges that the
significance and consequence of this waiver of Civil Code §1542, is that even if the Executive should suffer additional injuries or damages arising out of the released Claims,
the Executive will not be permitted to make any claim for those injuries or damages.
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This general release of claims does not apply to. waive or affect any rights or claims that may arise after the date the Executive signs and returns this Agreement and General
Release; any claim for workers” compensation benefits (but it does apply to, waive and affect claims of discrimination and/or retaliation on the basis of having made a workers’
compensation claim); claims for unemployment benefits or any other claims or rights that by law cannot be waived in a private agreement between an employer and employee;
or the Executive’s rights to any vested benefits to which the Executive is entitled under the terms of the applicable employee benefit plan (the “Excluded Claims”). This general
release of claims also does not apply to, waive, affect, limit or interfere with the Executive’s preserved rights described in section 9 below.

2. Waiver of Claims under ADEA: Time to Consider/Revoke. The Executive acknowledges, understands and agrees that the general release of claims insection 1 above
includes, but is not limited to, a waiver and release of all claims that the Executive may have under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended
(the “ADEA”) arising up to and including the date that the Executive signs and returns this Agreement and General Release. As required by the Older Workers Benefit
Protection Act of 1990, the Executive is hereby advised that:

e the Executive is not waiving any rights or claims under the ADEA that may arise after the date the Executive signs this Agreement and General Release; and nothing in this
Agreement and General Release prevents or precludes the Executive from challenging (or seeking a determination of) the validity of the waiver under the ADEA.

The Executive acknowledges that (i) he has been given at least twenty-one (21) calendar days (forty-five (45) days if required under applicable law) to consider this Agreement
and General Release and that modifications hereof which are mutually agreed upon by the parties hereto, whether material or immaterial, do not restart the twenty-one day
period; (ii) he has seven (7) calendar days from the date he executes this Agreement and General Release in which to revoke it; and (iii) this Agreement and General Release
will not be effective or enforceable nor the amounts set forth in Section 1 paid unless the seven-day revocation period ends without revocation by the Executive. Revocation can
be made by delivery and receipt of a written notice of revocation to [INSERT NAME/TITLE AND ADDRESS], by midnight on or before the seventh calendar day after the
Executive signs the Agreement and General Release.

The Executive acknowledges that he has been advised to consult with an attorney of his choice with regard to this Agreement and General Release. The Executive hereby
acknowledges that he understands the significance of this Agreement and General Release, and represents that the terms of this Agreement and General Release are fully
understood and voluntarily accepted by him.

3. No Pending Claims. The Executive represents and warrants that he has no charges, lawsuits, or actions pending in his name against any of the Released Parties relating
to any claim that has been released in this Agreement and General Release. The Executive also represents and warrants that he has not assigned or transferred to any third party
any right or claim against any of the Released Parties that he has released in this Agreement and General Release.

4. Covenant not to Sue. Except as provided in section 9 below, the Executive covenants and agrees that he will not report, institute or file a charge, lawsuit or action (or

encourage, solicit, or voluntarily assist or participate in, the reporting, instituting, filing or prosecution of a charge, lawsuit or action by a third party) against any of the Released
Parties with respect to any claim that has been released in this Agreement and General Release.
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5. Cooperation with Investigations/Litigation. The Executive agrees, at the Company’s request, to reasonably cooperate, by providing truthful information, documents
and testimony, in any Company investigation, litigation, arbitration, or regulatory proceeding regarding events that occurred during his employment with the Company. The
Executive’s requested cooperation may include, for example, making himself reasonably available to consult with the Company’s counsel, providing truthful information and
documents, and to appear to give truthful testimony. The Company will, to the extent permitted by applicable law and court rules, reimburse the Executive for reasonable out-
of-pocket expenses that he incurs in providing any requested cooperation, so long as he provides advance written notice to the Company of such request for reimbursement and

provide satisfactory documentation of the expenses. Nothing in this section is intended to. and shall not. preclude or limit the Executive’s preserved rights described in section 9
below.

6 . Confidentiality of this Agreement and General Release; Non-Disparagement. The Executive agrees that he will not disclose to others the existence or terms of this
Agreement and General Release, except to his immediate family, attorneys and bona fide financial advisors and then only after securing the agreement of such individual(s) to
maintain the confidentiality of this Agreement and General Release. The Executive also agrees that he will not at any time make any disparaging or derogatory statements
concerning the Company or its business, products and services. However, nothing in this section is intended to, and shall not, restrict or limit the Executive from exercising his
preserved rights described in section 9 or restrict or limit him from providing truthful information in response to a subpoena, other legal process or valid governmental inquiry.
To the extent required by law, nothing in this section is intended to, and shall not, restrict or limit the Executive from testifying in an administrative, legislative, or judicial
proceeding concerning alleged criminal conduct or alleged sexual harassment on the part of the Company, or on the part of the agents or employees of the Company, when the
Executive has been required or requested to attend the proceeding pursuant to a court order, subpoena, or written request from an administrative agency or the legislature.

7 . Non-Disclosure/Affirmation of Continuing Obligations. The Executive acknowledges and agrees that the confidentiality, intellectual property assignment, non-
competition, non-solicitation and other restrictive covenants contained in the Employment Agreement (the “Restrictive Covenants™) shall remain in full force and effect in
accordance with their terms, and Executive hereby reaffirms Executive’s agreement to comply with such Restrictive Covenants.

8 . Return of Company Documents and Other Property. The Executive confirms that he has returned to the Company any and all Company documents, materials and
information (whether in hardcopy, on electronic media or otherwise) related to Company business and/or containing any non-public information concerning the Company or its
clients, as well as all equipment, keys, access cards, credit cards, computers, computer hardware and software, electronic devices and any other Company property in his
possession, custody or control. The Executive also represents and warrants that he has not retained copies of any Company documents, materials or information (whether in
hardcopy, on electronic media or otherwise). The Executive also agrees that he will disclose to the Company all passwords necessary or desirable to enable the Company to
access all information which he has password-protected on any of its computer equipment or on its computer network or system.

9. Preserved Rights: This Agreement and General Release is not intended to, and shall not, in any way prohibit, limit or otherwise interfere with
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(a) the Executive’s protected rights under federal, state or local employment discrimination laws (including, without limitation, the ADEA and Title VII) to
communicate or file a charge with, initiate, testify, assist, comply with a subpoena from, or participate in any manner in an investigation or proceeding conducted by, the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) or similar federal, state or local government body or agency charged with enforcing employment discrimination laws;
provided, however, the Executive shall not be entitled to any relief or recovery (whether monetary or otherwise), and the Executive hereby waives any and all rights to relief or
recovery, under, or by virtue of, any such filing of a charge with, or investigation, hearing or proceeding conducted by, the EEOC or any other similar federal, state or local
government agency relating to any claim that has been released in this Agreement and General Release; or

(b) the Executive’s protected right to test in any court, under the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, or like statute or regulation, the validity of the waiver of
rights under ADEA in this Agreement and General Release; or

(c) the Executive’s protected right to disclose any facts necessary to receive unemployment insurance, Medicaid, or other public benefits to which he is entitled;
or

(d) the Executive’s right to enforce the terms of this Agreement and General Release and to exercise his rights relating to any other Excluded Claims.
10. No Admission. Nothing contained in this Agreement and General Release will constitute or be treated as an admission by the Executive, the Company or any of the

other Released Parties of any liability, wrongdoing or violation of law.
11. Miscellaneous

(a) This Agreement and General Release shall inure to the benefit of the Company and the other Released Parties and shall be binding upon the Company and
its successors and assigns. This Agreement and General Release also shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the Executive and his heirs, executors, administrators,
trustees and legal representatives. This Agreement and General Release is personal to the Executive and he may not assign or delegate his rights or duties under this Agreement
and General Release, and any such assignment or delegation will be null and void.

(b) The provisions of this Agreement and General Release are severable. If any provision in this Agreement and General Release is held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable, the remaining provisions of this Agreement and General Release will remain in full force and effect and the invalid, illegal and unenforceable provision shall be

reformed and construed so that it will be valid, legal and enforceable to the maximum extent permitted by law.

(c) The Company and the Executive shall each bear their own costs, fees (including, without limitation, attorney’s fees) and expenses in connection with the
negotiation, preparation and execution of this Agreement and General Release.

(d) The failure of the Company to seek enforcement of any provision of this Agreement and General Release in any instance or for any period of time shall not
be construed as a waiver of such provision or of the Company’s right to seek enforcement of such provision in the future.

(e) Given the full and fair opportunity provided to each party to consult with their respective counsel regarding terms of this Agreement and General Release,
ambiguities shall not be construed against either party by virtue of such party having drafted the subject provision.
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® The headings in this Agreement and General Release are included for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Agreement
and General Release.

(2 This Agreement and General Release may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which together will constitute
one and the same instrument. This Agreement and General Release, or a signature page thereto intended to be attached to a copy of this Agreement and General Release, signed
and transmitted by facsimile machine, telecopier or other electronic means (including via transmittal of a “pdf” file) shall be deemed and treated as an original document. The
signature of any person thereon, for purposes hereof, is to be considered as an original signature, and the document transmitted is to be considered to have the same binding
effect as an original signature on an original document. At the request of any party hereto, any facsimile, telecopy or other electronic document is to be re-executed in original
form by the persons who executed the facsimile, telecopy of other electronic document. No party hereto may raise the use of a facsimile machine, telecopier or other electronic
means or the fact that any signature was transmitted through the use of a facsimile machine, telecopier or other electronic means as a defense to the enforcement of this
Agreement and General Release.

(h) All matters affecting this Agreement and General Release, including the validity thereof, are to be governed by, and interpreted and construed in accordance
with, the laws of the State of California applicable to contracts executed in and to be performed in that State.

13. Opportunity to Review. The Executive represents and warrants that he:

has had sufficient opportunity to consider this Agreement and General Release;

has carefully read this Agreement and General Release and understand all of its terms;

is not incompetent and has not had a guardian, conservator or trustee appointed for him;

has entered into this Agreement and General Release of his own free will and volition and that, except for the promises expressly made by the Company in this
Agreement and General Release, no other promises or agreements of any kind have been made to him by any person or entity whatsoever to cause him to sign this
Agreement and General Release;

understands that he is responsible for his own attorneys’ fees and costs;

has been advised and encouraged by the Company to consult with his own independent counsel before signing this Agreement and General Release;

has had the opportunity to review this Agreement and General Release with counsel of his choice or has chosen voluntarily not to do so;

was given at least twenty-one (21) days (forty-five (45) days if required under applicable law) to review this Agreement and General Release before signing it and
understood that he was free to use as much or as little of the review period as he wished or considered necessary before deciding to sign it; and

e understands that this Agreement and General Release is valid, binding, and enforceable against the Executive and the Company according to its terms.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS THIS PAGE]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive has executed this Agreement and General Release on the date set forth below.

Witness:

Andy Schuon
[Address]

Agreed to and accepted on

LOOP MEDIA, INC.

By:

Name:
Title:
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Loop Media. Inc. 10-K

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jon Niermann, certify that:

L.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Loop Media, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) ) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonable likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial
reporting.

Dated: April 15, 2021 /s/ Jon Niermann

Jon Niermann
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Loop Media. Inc. 10-K

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, James J. Cerna, Jr., certify that:

L.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Loop Media, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) ) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonable likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial
reporting.

Dated: April 15, 2021 /s/ James Cerna

James Cerna
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




Loop Media. Inc. 10-K
Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Loop Media, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, Jon Niermann, the Principal Executive Officer, and James Cerna, the Principal Financial Officer, certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of our knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: April 15,2021

/s/ Jon Niermann
Jon Niermann
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Date: April 15, 2021

/s/ Jim Cerna
Jim Cerna
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

The foregoing certifications are not deemed filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (Exchange Act), and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange
Act, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.




